
Rutland County Council                  
Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP
Telephone 01572 722577 Facsimile 01572 758307 DX28340 Oakham

      

Ladies and Gentlemen,

A meeting of the RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD will be held in the 
Council Chamber, Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP on Tuesday, 18th 
September, 2018 commencing at 2.00 pm when it is hoped you will be able to 
attend.

Yours faithfully

Helen Briggs
Chief Executive

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, 
take photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that 
is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is available at www.rutland.gov.uk/my-
council/have-your-say/

A G E N D A

1) APOLOGIES 

2) RECORD OF MEETING 
To confirm the record of the meeting of the Rutland Health and Wellbeing 
Board held on 26 June 2018 (previously circulated).

3) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
In accordance with the Regulations, Members are invited to declare any 
personal or prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of those 
interests in respect of items on this Agenda and/or indicate if Section 106 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

4) PETITIONS, DEPUTATIONS AND QUESTIONS 
To receive any petitions, deputations and questions received from Members of 
the Public in accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rule 93.

The total time allowed for this item shall be 30 minutes.  Petitions, declarations 
and questions shall be dealt with in the order in which they are received.  

Public Document Pack

http://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-council/have-your-say/
http://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-council/have-your-say/


Questions may also be submitted at short notice by giving a written copy to the 
Committee Administrator 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.

The total time allowed for questions at short notice is 15 minutes out of the 
total time of 30 minutes.  Any petitions, deputations and questions that have 
been submitted with prior formal notice will take precedence over questions 
submitted at short notice.  Any questions that are not considered within the 
time limit shall receive a written response after the meeting and be the subject 
of a report to the next meeting.

5) RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING ANNUAL REPORT 
To receive Report No.156/2018 from the Director for People, Rutland County 
Council.
(Pages 5 - 18)

6) FUTURE IN MIND - CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH 
TRANSFORMATION PLAN 
To receive Report No.157/2018 and a presentation from Chris West, Director 
of Nursing and Quality.
(Pages 19 - 38)

7) BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE 
To receive Report No. 158/2018 from the Director for People (DAS).
(Pages 39 - 64)

8) ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND LOCAL 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARDS 
To receive Report No. 159/2018 from James Fox, Leicestershire & Rutland 
Safeguarding Boards Business Manager.
(Pages 65 - 150)

9) DRAFT JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ANALYSIS 
To receive Report No. 161/2018 from Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health.
(Pages 151 - 370)

10) ANY URGENT BUSINESS 
To receive any other items of urgent business which have been previously 
notified to the person presiding.

11) DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
The next meeting of the Rutland Health and Wellbeing Board will be on 
Tuesday, 4 December 2018 at 2.00 p.m. in the Council Chamber, Catmose.



Proposed Agenda Items:

 Prevalence of heart disease in Rutland

 Update on Leicestershire & Rutland Physical Activity and Sport Strategy

---oOo---

DISTRIBUTION
MEMBERS OF THE RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD:

1 Cllr Alan Walters Rutland County Council
2 Vacancy Rutland County Council
3 Dr Hiliary Fox East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 

Commissioning Group (ELRCCG)
4 Fiona Taylor Spire Homes
5 Insp. Gavin Drummond Leicestershire Constabulary
6 Helen Briggs Rutland County Council 
7 Will Pope Healthwatch Rutland
8 Mike Sandys Rutland County Council - Public Health
9 Rachel Dewar Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
10 Roz Lindridge NHS England Local Area Team
11 Simon Mutsaars Community & Voluntary Sector Rep
12 Dr Tim O’Neill Rutland County Council
13 Tim Sacks East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 

Commissioning Group (ELRCCG)

OTHERS FOR INFORMATION

14 Karen Kibblewhite Rutland County Council
15 Mark Andrews Rutland County Council
16 Sandra Taylor Rutland County Council
17 Simon Pizzey East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical 

Commissioning Group (ELRCCG)
18 Wendy Hoult NHS England Local Area Team



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No: 156/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
18 SEPTEMBER 2018

JOINT HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
Report of the Rutland Health and Wellbeing Board 

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Alan Walters, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding –
Adults, Public Health and Health Commissioning

Contact Officer(s): Karen Kibblewhite, Head of 
Commissioning

01572 758127
kkibblewhite@rutland.gov.uk

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Board:

1. Notes the progress by Rutland’s Health & Wellbeing Board against the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-20 as set out in the Annual Report, and approves it for 
publication to update the public.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The Annual Report provides a high-level overview of the progress by Rutland’s Health 
& Wellbeing Board against the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2020, and 
will be published as part of the Board’s communication to the public of its work.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 Rutland’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is a formal committee of the Council 
charged with promoting greater integration and partnership between bodies from the 
NHS, public health and local government. It has a statutory duty, with East 
Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Groups (ELRCCG), to produce a 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
for the population of Rutland.

2.2 The current Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was signed off in 2016 by Rutland’s 
Health & Wellbeing Board and sets out the priorities for improving health and 
wellbeing in Rutland.

2.3 The Strategy’s vision is to have integrated health and social care services which 

5

Agenda Item 5

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


support communities to live healthy, independent and safe lives.

2.4 Within the Strategy three main priorities were identified. These are:

Priority 1: Extend health life expectancy
Priority 2: Reduce health Inequalities
Priority 3: Integration of health and social care services to support those most at risk.

The Annual report sets out the progress made against these priorities. 

3 CONSULTATION 

3.1 Members of the Health & Wellbeing Board were invited to contribute to the report 
providing updates of work within their organisations which contribute to the priorities.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 There are no financial implications of the Annual Report, it provides an update of 
progress and next steps.

5 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 None. The Annual Report provides an update against the Joint Health and Wellbeing      
Strategy which is the responsibility of the Health & Wellbeing Board.

6 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

6.1 The Board is asked to note the Annual Report, in order that it can provide information 
within the public domain to update on progress against the Board’s priorities.

7 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

7.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

8 APPENDICES 

13.1   Appendix A - Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy Annual Report 2017/18

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

6



 

Rutland Health & Wellbeing Board

Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy
Annual Report 2017/18

7



Contents

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................................3

1.1 The Role of the Health & Wellbeing Board ......................................................................3

2. The Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy .....................................................................................4

3. Progress against our Priorities ...................................................................................................4

Priority 1 - Extend healthy life expectancy .......................................................................................5

Priority 2 - Reduce health inequalities ..............................................................................................7

Priority 3 – Integration of health and social care services to support those most at risk...........9

4. Next Steps...................................................................................................................................11

4.1 Updating the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ..........................................................11

4.2 Demonstrating Impact .......................................................................................................11

4.3 Timescales ..........................................................................................................................11

8



1. Introduction 

This report provides an overview of the progress by Rutland’s Health & Wellbeing Board 
against the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-20.

1.1 The Role of the Health & Wellbeing Board

Rutland’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is a formal committee of the Council charged 
with promoting greater integration and partnership between bodies from the NHS, public 
health and local government.  It has a statutory duty, with East Leicestershire and Rutland 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (ELRCCG), to produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the population of Rutland.  Underneath 
the Board sit two further committees:

- The Integration Executive: responsible for overseeing strategy and operational delivery of 
health and social care integration within Rutland, and more specifically the Better Care 
Fund Programme;

- The Children’s Trust: responsible for setting the direction and vision for the delivery of 
children’s health and care services within Rutland, with partners holding each other to 
account.

The Board draws upon the Strategy to provide leadership and manage change across health 
and social care. We influence the health agenda more broadly across the partner 
organisations and across the county.  Priorities have been identified to focus on making health 
and social care services effective and ensuring they meet the local needs. 

At the outset of the current Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, members of Rutland’s Health 
and Wellbeing Board agreed a set of principles which drive our shared priorities.  These are: 

 Ownership of the Board is shared by all its members (with commitment from their 
nominating organisations) and accountability to the communities it serves for delivering 
our priorities; 

 Commitment to drive real action and change to integrate services and to improve services 
and outcomes; 

 To target resources and prioritise the most vulnerable; 
 Support people to maintain their independence and educate them to look after themselves, 

encouraging people to make informed healthy choices; 
 Share success and learning to make improvements cross-organisationally for the wider 

benefit of Rutland; 
 Be open and transparent in the way that the Board carries out its work - listening to service 

users/patients and the public, and acting on what they tell us 
 Take advantage of Rutland’s small size to utilize our resources and assets; 
 Represent Rutland at LLR, regional and national platforms to ensure Rutland’s voice is 

heard.

9



2. The Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy

The current Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was signed off in 2016 by Rutland’s Health 
& Wellbeing Board and sets out our priorities for improving health and wellbeing in Rutland. 

Our vision:

Integrated health and social care services to support
our communities to live healthy, independent and safe lives.

The Strategy is aimed at all ages, from good health in pregnancy, through to dignity at the end 
of life. It also seeks to ensure that everyone can have the same opportunity to live a healthy 
independent life, as we know that some groups currently have poorer health outcomes and/or 
reduced life expectancy. 

The purpose of the Strategy is to enable: 

a. all Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) partners to be clear about our agreed priorities for 
the next three years 

b. all members of the HWB to embed these priorities within their own organisations and 
ensure that these are reflected in their commissioning and delivery plans 

c. key agencies to develop joined-up commissioning and delivery plans to address these 
priorities 

d. the HWB to challenge and hold member organisations to account for their actions towards 
achieving the priorities within the strategy 

e. members of the HWB to work with and influence partner organisations outside the HWB 
to contribute to the priorities agreed within this strategy; including engaging residents and 
local businesses. 

3. Progress against our Priorities 

The following section sets out our progress against the priorities the Board set itself in 2015.  
The impact under each priority has been set out using the latest available data, however it 
should be noted that for a number of data sets there is a time lag which means that we are 
measuring changes which have occurred prior to, or at the beginning of, our work against the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and consequently, we would not expect the full impact 
of our efforts to be seen within the data until future years.

10



Priority 1 - Extend healthy life expectancy 

Where do we want to get to? 

Overall our goal is to reduce the gap between life expectancy and healthy life expectancy. For 
men, we want to reduce this by 2.5 years over the next ten years. For women, we want to stop 
the gap increasing any further and reduce it by 1 year over the next ten years. 

What have we done so far? 

We have prioritised a clear focus on prevention activities both primary and secondary, and 
allocated a proportion of Better Care Fund monies and activity to this as well as Public health 
funding.  Specific work has included: 

 Development of the Rutland Information Service – a single public facing website to find 
out about services, organisations and activities throughout the county.

 Commissioning of the Rutland Community Wellbeing Service – an overarching service 
which includes a range of prevention, support and interventions to improve people’s 
wellbeing and health.

 Implementation of the LLR Sports Strategy via Active Rutland  - encouraging participation 
in activities and sport across age ranges and abilities, and enabling as many people to 
access physical activity as possible by providing a wide range of options and access 
points, including activities specifically aimed at older people.

Impact

The data currently available for healthy life expectancy in Rutland only goes up to 2016, and 
therefore does not cover the period the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy.  The data indicates 
that for both men and women overall life expectancy increased slightly between 2013-15 and 
2014-16 by 0.4 years and 0.2 years respectively.  Retaining life expectancy in Rutland at a 
higher level than national average.  Healthy life expectancy fell during the same period for 
both men and women: from 71.1 years in 2013-15 to 68.8 years in 2014-16 for men; and from 
70.6 years in 2013-15 to 70.2 years in 2014-16 for women.  Consequently, the gap between 
life expectancy and healthy life expectancy has increased – this is a continuation of the trend 
which led the Board to set this as a priority within our Strategy.

Any changes to healthy life expectancy will emerge over the longer-term and so the impact of 
our interventions will not be immediately clear through this indicator.  Going forward, additional 
proxy indicators which demonstrate both earlier diagnosis of long-term conditions, and 
delayed onset will be used to predict impact on healthy life expectancy.  For example, under 
Priority 2, data indicates that smoking has reduced in Rutland and consequently the impact of 
this longer-term may be a reduction in the physical health problems associated with smoking.

What’s next?

We will continue to build on this prevention focus, exploring further activities and support which 
can be put in place to empower individuals and communities to take a more proactive role in 
their own care and to support themselves across both health and social care.

At a community level, we are establishing a one-off Healthy Rutland Small Grant Scheme with 
Public Health monies to enable local grass-root organisations to bid for funding to support 
prevention activities within their communities.  

11



Active Rutland are continuing to develop their programme of activities, including work during 
2018/19 with businesses and workplaces in Rutland to improve wellbeing amongst Rutland’s 
employees.

12



Priority 2 - Reduce health inequalities 

Where do we want to get to? 

Our focus is on reducing a number of specific inequalities: 
i. Reduce the levels of children living in poverty to 6% by 2020 
ii. Close the gap in levels of smoking by routine and manual workers and the rest of the Rutland 
population by 2% by 2020. 
iii. Reduce the employment gap between all adults, and those with learning disabilities and 
mental health conditions by 5% by 2020. 

What have we done so far? 

We have undertaken a number of key pieces of work to restructure services to maximise 
accessibility for our residents, including:

 Development of a new Children’s Centre building linking a greater range of children and 
families’ support under one roof, and assisting with transport for families who would 
otherwise not be able to access.

 Reviewing the provision for children and young people’s emotional wellbeing and mental 
health, linking with the Future in Mind Mental Health Transformation funding, ensuring a 
range of services for all levels of emotional wellbeing and mental health needs across 
the county. 

 Commissioned specific community-based, non-clinical mental health support in Rutland 
for adults with low level mental health problems.

 Developed digital opportunities with increased use of telecare, text, webchat and 
telephone support for improved access to health and care services, including the 
Community Wellbeing Service. 

 The Council’s Inclusion Development Worker develops employment and training 
opportunities for those with disabilities and supports individuals to access them, within 
the wider pathways to employment.

 Recommissioned Rutland’s Smoking Cessation Service, within the wider Community 
Wellbeing Service, to make it more accessible.

Impact

i Children in Poverty
The current available data on children in poverty indicates that levels have so far remained 
stable, going forward we intend to measure not only the number of children living in poverty, 
but also the impact of this through child development, health outcomes and the educational 
attainment to provide a more rounded picture of our impact. 

ii Smoking prevalence in adults (18+)
Nationally, smoking prevalence generally and in routine and manual occupations has declined 
year on year since 2012.   The proportion of adults smoking in Rutland has decreased from 
12.3% in 2016 to 9.3% in 2017, for routine and manual workers the proportion has decreased 
from 26.2% in 2016 to 15.9% in 2017. This also means that the gap between the general 
population who smoke and routine and manual workers who smoke has also decreased.  

13



Rutland has improved from being similar to the national average in 2016 to significantly better 
in 2017.   Rutland is now the 4th best performing area nationally.  

iii Reducing the employment gap between adults and adults with disabilities
Data for 201617 indicates that the gap in the employment rate between those with a long-term 
health condition and the overall employment rate remained similar, with the gap between those 
with Learning Disabilities and the overall employment rate increasing slightly.  However, during 
the period since the JHWS was written, the overall general employment rate in Rutland has 
improved, and is on an upward trend.  This suggests that both employment rates for those 
with long-term conditions and those with Learning Disabilities will need to also improve in order 
to at least stay with the same gap.   

What’s next?

We will continue to develop our support for children and young people in Rutland, and in 
particular for those who are more vulnerable.  This work will be led by the Children’s Trust. 

The smoking cessation service runs as part of our wider Community Wellbeing Service, and 
our local data indicates that improvements in smoking cessation in Rutland are continuing.  As 
such our response to smoking cessation will remain as is.

We will continue our work to support individuals to achieve their goals and aspirations by our 
value-based practice approach within Adult Social Care.  To build capacity with our Inclusion 
Worker, we have established additional capacity through a new Support Internship Job Coach 
under the Rutland Adult Learning & Skills Service to support internships for individuals aged 
16-24 who have Education, Health and Social Care Plans.  The role will work with employers 
to establish suitable and sustainable internships and with young people to ensure that they 
are able to access them.  

14



Priority 3 – Integration of health and social care services to support 
those most at risk 

Where do we want to get to? 

The key to integration is seamless services that address people’s needs as a whole individual. 
This in turn reduces duplication and ensure greater overall support.  We want a consistency 
in response and approach to care regardless of whether service users are receiving care and 
support from health or from social care, with the emphasis on enabling choice and control and 
sustaining independence, enabling people to age well, whatever their circumstances.

What have we done so far? 

The programme of work to deliver health and social care integration has been coordinated 
through the Better Care Fund Programme, the aims of which are:

- To progress integration and develop an integrated delivery model for health and care.
- To introduce closer working between primary, community and social care.
- To embed coherent person-centred case planning. 
- To develop the workforce.
- To increase joint commissioning across health and social care.

To achieve these aims, we have undertaken a wide range of work, key to which we have: 

 Instigated of a fully integrated RCC LPT hospital discharge team to ensure timely and 
supported return to community settings;

 Established coordination structures such as the GP Multi Disciplinary Team Meetings 
(MDTs) and Care Coordination roles, supplemented by a rapid response social care 
service; 

 Introduced an Admiral Nurse service for individuals with dementia within Adult Social 
Care, one of only two Councils in the country to do this, linking clinical and non-clinical 
support for those with dementia and their carers; 

 Embedded a coherent person-centred case planning approach for people with complex 
health needs which helps to keep these individuals as well as possible, including the 
development of a new care service to support those with complex care needs in their 
own homes, with integral district nursing support.  
 

 Empowered staff to propose and implement change, actively developed their skills to 
align with the changing health and care system, and evolved new roles that offer greater 
job satisfaction, to maximise staff retention.

All the while maintaining Rutland’s ambitions for health and social care integration at the heart 
of our discussions with colleagues across LLR regarding the Sustainability and Transformation 
Plans.

15



Impact

The following measures are used to establish the impact of our integration: 

i. the proportion of individuals over 65 who move into permanent residential or nursing care, 
with the aim being to reduce these numbers by enabling more people remain independent in 
their own homes whenever possible. 
Numbers of people permanently entering residential or nursing care fell from 0.5% of the over 
65 population in 2014-15, to an average of 0.2% per year in the three years following, although 
with variation year on year with variation in cohorts.

ii. sustaining the high proportion of individuals who receive reablement services and are still 
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital. 
We have sustained very high rates of reablement success between 2014-15 and 2017-18, 
with over 95% success in three out of four of those years. Over time, physical reablement for 
people returning from hospital has been supplemented by a number of complementary 
services such as a Housing MOT or support from the Community Wellbeing service, helping 
to ensure that people are equipped in the round to sustain their independence at home. 

iii. a reduction in emergency admissions
Against a strong national trend of rising emergency admissions, the rate of emergency 
admissions has been maintained at a steady level in Rutland, with the 2017-18 rate only 0.5% 
higher than the rate in 2014-15. Non elective admissions rose by 9% in England over the same 
period according to national hospital activity data. 

iv. a reduction in delayed transfers of care (DToCs).
Rutland has been successful in reducing delayed transfers of care by more than 60%, from 
15.3 delays per day per 100,000 adults in 2014-15 to 5.7 in 2017-18. Avoiding discharge 
delays has also contributed to reducing the duration of emergency admissions, particularly 
among older people, which are prolonged unnecessarily when a delay occurs, leading to 
deconditioning and the potential for hospital-related infections.

What’s Next?

We will continue to deliver the Better Care Fund Programme during 2018/19 to build on its 
success so far, continuing to monitor against the metrics shown above.  

The new Health and Care Board governance structure will lead Locality, Better Care Fund and 
GP Primary Care Home plans and provide a platform to progress new areas of joint work 
between primary, community and social care that offer further opportunities to better align 
resources and services. This will include working together to align therapy and nursing 
services and providing improved support to people living with frailty.

In addition further opportunities for integration within adults’ services are being explored 
including joint commissioning of domiciliary care and the formalisation of arrangements for the 
Council to lead commissioning of residential care on behalf of the CCG to provide consistent 
services across both, and to reduce the instances where individuals have to move service 
providers when their funding changes.

The next step is to extend this priority to include children’s health and social care services, 
identifying opportunities for greater integration across both health and care delivery, and 
across health and care commissioning.

16

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/hospital-activity/monthly-hospital-activity/mar-data/


4. Next Steps

4.1 Updating the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018 will be a new document, replacing the 2015 
JSNA.  Going forward, it will be refreshed on an annual basis. The JSNA will consist of:

 A set of chapters which provide an annual assessment of current and future health and 
social care needs. 

 Infographic summaries 
 A data dashboard that is updated on a quarterly basis to allow users to self-serve high 

level data requests 

This will enable HWB members, partners and other stakeholders - including the public - to 
access relevant and current information about the health and care needs of people in Rutland, 
and to enable the HWB to ensure that its priorities remain pertinent.

4.2 Demonstrating Impact

We will continue to monitor the progress we make across the range of data available to us, 
including service user/patient feedback, being mindful that some impact will only become 
apparent over the longer-term. 

We use the data which is regularly collated on a range of health indicators to tell us whether 
the health of our residents is improving. 

We will communicate our successes and our challenges to the public so that they can hold us 
accountable and tell us how it feels to receive health and care services in Rutland, enabling 
us to continue to develop and respond over the life of this Strategy.

4.3 Timescales

The following will be taken to the Health & Wellbeing Board in June 2019:

1. Review and refresh of the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
2. Health & Wellbeing Board Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy Annual Report 2018 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No: 157/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
18 SEPTEMBER 2018

FUTURE IN MIND - CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE’S 
EMOTIONAL, MENTAL HEALTH & WELLBEING 

TRANSFORMATION PLAN IMPLEMENTATION REVIEW 
OCTOBER 2018

Report of the Future in Mind Project Team

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Alan Walters, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding – 
Adults, Public Health, Health Commissioning, 
Community Safety & Road Safety

Contact 
Officer(s):

Elaine Egan-Morris, 
CAMHS Commissioner & Transformational 
Lead, Leicester City CCG.

Elaine.Egan-
morris@leicesterCityC
CG.nhs.uk
 

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Board:

1. Endorses the implementation plan review October 2018

2. Notes the plans for 2018-2021.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the progress made in relation to 
implementation of the Local Transformation Plan and to agree proposed next steps 
for 2019-21.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS

2.1 The Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing National Taskforce 
(2014) focussed on how to make it easier to access help and support when needed 
and to improve how children and young people’s mental health services are 
organised, commissioned and provided. 

The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland’s Transformational Plan aims to:-- 

19

Agenda Item 6

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS
mailto:Elaine.Egan-morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Elaine.Egan-morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk
mailto:Elaine.Egan-morris@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk


 Develop in partnership with children and young people (C&YP) and key 
stakeholders 

 Set out a multi-agency approach to improve mental health and wellbeing in 
C&YP

 Address gaps in current service provision

2.2 Our vision is that children & young people will have access to the right help at the 
right time through all stages of their emotional and mental health development. 
For this to happen, we have developed a whole system approach to delivering a 
range of emotional, mental health and wellbeing services that meet all levels of 
need. 

2.3 We have engaged with all stakeholders, including education, social care, health, 
police, housing and justice, and children & young people and their families. We have 
developed a shared work plan with key priorities, including joint commissioning. We 
have improved the interfaces between our agencies to reduce fragmentation in 
commissioning and service delivery so that organisational boundaries are not 
barriers to care.

2.4 We continue to monitor progress and implementation of the Transformation Plan 
through our monthly Future in Mind Governance Meetings. This presentation is 
intended to provide an update on our progress this year (2018-19) and our plans for 
2019-21

2.5 In 2017-18 we have been focussed on a system-wide ‘children & young people’s 
emotional, mental health and wellbeing’ pathway.  Services include:

 Primary Mental Health Teams
 Resilience (including resilience in schools, 0-19 healthy child programmes)
 Online counselling
 Social Care & Early Help (Local Authority Services)
 Early Intervention (working with voluntary sector)
 Specialist Mental Health (working with CAMHS and specialist teams e.g. early 

psychosis, eating disorders)
 Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment
 Learning Disability Assertive Outreach
 Family Action Post Sexual Abuse Counselling
 Liaison Psychiatry
 City Early Intervention Psychology Support (CEIPS)

2.6 In 2019-20 we will continue working in partnership with children, young people, 
families, carers and professionals to shape the pathway. We have already identified 
investments for the next year to help transform services further, these include: 

 Interventions for children & young people who have Autism with or without 
Learning Disability

 ADHD
 Triage & Navigation Service
 Trailblazer Mental Health Support Teams working in partnership with education 

providers

20



 The Mistle Project developing a ‘wraparound’ service for looked after children 
(LAC)

 Support for children & young people who have come into contact with the 
criminal justice system and developing trauma focussed interventions

3 CONSULTATION 

3.1 Stakeholder consultation has been undertaken throughout the implementation of the 
transformation programme. The following stakeholders have been represented in 
our Future in Mind (FIM) Steering Group:

 Leicester City Local Authority Director of Children’s Services 
 Leicestershire Local Authority, Director of Children’s Services 
 Rutland Local Authority Children and Family Services Director 
 Leicester City Public Health Consultant 
 Leicestershire Public Health Consultant 
 Director of Nursing & Quality 
 Leicester City CCG Finance Officer 
 Leicester City CCG CAMHS and Future in Mind Transformation Lead. 
 GP Representative 
 Children & young people (through participation & involvement activity)

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 None

5 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 The implementation plan review (October 2018) should be published on all Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and Local Authority Health and Wellbeing Boards websites 
in line with NHSE governance arrangements.

6 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 DIPD assessments and considerations undertaken by services

7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

7.1 Throughout the delivery of the Transformation Plan, consideration has been given 
to ensure that health inequalities are appropriately identified and addressed. Actions 
are taken as appropriate through the completion of equality impact assessments.

8 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 All services are delivered within a safe environment and this is monitored through 
key performance meetings.

9 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 It is expected that children & young people will have better access to services to 
meet their needs. Through the development of our local workforce, children and 
young people will have access to evidence based outcomes which will lead to better 

21



health outcomes.

10 ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1   None

11 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

11.1 See attached presentation (Appendix A)

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

13 APPENDICES 

13.1 Appendix A - Presentation

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

22



Future in Mind 
Transforming Emotional, Mental  Health  & Wellbeing Services 

for Children and Young People

Rutland

Elaine Egan Morris
CAMHS Commissioner & Transformation lead 

October 2018

23



National Ambition

The Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 

National Taskforce (2014) focussed on how to make it easier to 

access help and support when needed and to improve how 

children and young people’s mental health services are 

organised, commissioned and provided

Self-care and Prevention

Early Help/Intervention  

Easy Access to Specialist Care

Urgent Care and Crisis Response

24



• The Transformation Plan has been designed and 

built around the needs of all children, young people 

and their families, that have or may develop a range 

of emotional and wellbeing problems, requiring low 

level mental health or specialist CAMHS services

• We have considered local intelligence and evidence 

bases e.g. JSNA

• We have involved Children, Young People and 

Families in shaping the pathway of services

• We have worked in partnership with stakeholders to 

develop a pathway that meets all levels of need

Developing a Local Transformation Plan

25



Our Transformation Journey  2015-17

2015-16

• Developed LLR Transformation 
Plan

• Established governance 
structure

• Reviewed services

• Identified  a pathway with 6 
schemes of work

2016-17

• Designed new services to meet 

local gaps in provision

- CRHTx

-Enhanced Access to CAMHS  -

- Eating Disorder Service

• Introduced concept od a whole 
system pathway

26



27



28



Our Transformation Journey  This Year .

• Worked in partnership to  design services and to take a 

whole system approach to care 

• Pathway revised to include a range of services to meet all 

levels of need 

• Procurement and delivery of 

o Resilience, 

o Online Counselling,  

o Early Intervention

29



Our Transformation Journey  This Year .

• Established the Workforce Development Partnership Group 

to oversee delivery of a shared Workforce Development 

Strategy

• Established the Participation & Involvement Network to 

improve opportunities for partnership working and engaging 

Children & Young People

• Established Data Flow  group 75% of providers are flowing 

data onto MHDS

30



The next steps in our 

Transformation Journey 2018-2131



32



Next Steps-

Commissioning investments & 

transforming  services

1. Transforming Care  - interventions for 

complex children & young people with Autism  

with or with out Learning Disability 

2. ADHD joint commission with shared service 

specification to reduce service fragmentation

3. Triage and Navigation Service – to reduce 

inappropriate referrals to CAMHS and to ensure 

CYP get the right help at the right time.

33



4. Trailblazer Mental Health Support Teams –

Partnership Bid to develop wave 1 teams to 

work with designated school mental health 

leads.

5. The Mistle Project- developing a  

‘wraparound’ service for Looked After Children 

(LAC) aged 5-18  - County LA Led 

6. Youth Offending Service (YOS)  - support 

for children & young people providing specialist 

trauma focused interventions e.g. those who 

have been in contact with the paediatric sexual 

assault referral centre (SARC)

34



Our C&YP produced a leaflet to share with stakeholders

Resilience
0-19 healthy child              

programmes provided 

by professionals

Early Help 
(is in each area)

Youth & Family    

Support

Welfare Education

Connexions Advice

Children Centres

Youth Offending

Online          

Counselling
Anonymous online help 

& support for Young 

People

Chat & Forums

Messaging 

Information & advice

Parent/Carers help

Specialist Mental 

Health Services
Help for children & 

young people with    

emotional & behavioural 

difficulties that need  

specialist support

Early Intervention
Relate Counselling   

Support

ADHD Solutions, ADHD 

family support/parenting 

groups

Centres for Fun &    

Families offer group work 

to help with anxiety 

0-19 

Visit our website
www.leicspart.nhs.uk 

Text ChatHealth
Leicester 07520615381

Leicestershire &       

Rutland 07520615382

11-19 Any age

•Leicester                   
0116 454 1004 
•Leicestershire          
0116 3050005 
•Rutland  
www.rutland.gov.uk/educatio

n_and_learning/family_infor

mation_service

01572 722577 

0116 2543011 Kooth.com Speak to your GP, 

School Nurse or a 

Social Worker 

Referrals need to be made 

by  a Healthcare    

Professional

Young People can     

access service directly
Referrals need to be made by Professionals 

working with  Children & Families

5-18

Only GPs and CAMHS can 

refer

Where 

can I get 

help?

We work 

with�

Refer�

Getting 

In Touch 

With Us

35



Rutland Activity Q1

Activity Q1 Target Q1 Total Rutland Total Rutland %

Total No. Referrals 425 425 6 1.5%

Source of Referrals CAMHS 199 6 3%

GPs 226 0 0%

Total No. CYP Therapeutic Groups 200 1 0.5%

Total No. CYP Counselling (121) 225 5 2%

Activity July 2018 Total New 

Registrations

Total Logins Total Chat 

Sessions

Out of Hours 

Logins (%)

Returning 

Logins (%)

Rutland Total 5 69 7 80% 93%

Online Counselling (Kooth XenZone)

R2R in Schools

Activity Total Schools 

Engaged (Year 1)

Total Schools Signed

Up (Year 2)

Total Faith Schools Signed 

Up (Year 2)

Rutland Total 1 7 3

Early Intervention Service

36



CAMHS Activity Q1

Activity Target Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Total

CAMHS Access Total No. Routine + Urgent Referrals Increase (Av 

210 per month)
244 265 141

CAMHS Access Referrals seen within 13 weeks (%) 92% 82% 87% 95%

CAMHS Eating Disorders Total No. Routine + Urgent 

Referrals

Increase (Av 8 

per month)
7 8 15

CAMHS Eating Disorders Referrals seen within 4 weeks (%) 95% - 100% 100%

CAMHS Eating Disorders Referrals seen within 6 weeks (%) 95% 100% 85.7% 84.6%

CAMHS CRHT Total No. Referrals Increase (Av 

110 per month)
131 158 137

CAMHS CRHT Total No. Referrals Accepted Increase (Av 88 

per month)
131 158 137

CAMHS CRHT Total No. Referrals 2 Hour Tel Assessment Increase (Av 46 

per month)
33 41 27

CAMHS CRHT Total No. Referrals 24 Hours Face to Face Increase (Av 55 

per month)
58 62 24

The Commissioner is working with the provider to improve quality of performance data and to ensure this is robust within 

the contract monitoring. Current CAMHS waiting list for routine referrals is up to 6 months. CAMHS is reporting that all 

access referrals are seen within 13 weeks.

We remain concerned about the CAMHS waiting list and the impact on children & young people.

37



Any Questions?

38



Report No: 173/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
18 SEPTEMBER 2018

BETTER CARE FUND PROGRAMME 2018-19: PLAN AND Q1 
PERFORMANCE

Report of the Director for People (DAS) Rutland County Council

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Alan Walters, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding – 
Adults, Public Health,  and Health Commissioning, 

Contact Officer(s): Mark Andrews, Director for People 
(DASS)

Sandra Taylor, Health & Social Care 
Integration Manager

01572 758339
mandrews@rutland.gov.uk

01572 758202
Staylor@rutland.gov.uk

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Board:

1. Endorses the proposed adjustments to the programme in terms of scope and targets, 
as recommended to them by the signatory partners (RCC and ELRCCG).

2. Endorses the proposed new governance approach, with the dissolution of the 
Integration Executive and the creation of the Rutland Health and Care Board.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To provide an update on the status and performance of the Rutland Better Care 
Fund Plan for 2018-19.

1.2 To seek Rutland Health and Wellbeing Board endorsement that the budget and 
target adjustments to the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for 2018-19 will deliver 
against the outcomes anticipated.

1.3 To review and endorse proposals to renew the operational governance of the Better 
Care Fund programme.

2 BCF PROGRAMME REVISIONS FOR 2018-19

2.1 The current Better Care Fund (BCF) programme spans the two year period 2017-
19. The Rutland plan for this period was submitted to NHS England on 11 
September 2017, in line with the national timetable, and approved on 20 December 

39

Agenda Item 7

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2017, and has been being implemented ongoing.

2.2 National BCF operating guidance for 2018-19 was published on 18 July 2018. This 
is available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/better-care-fund-operating-
guidance-for-2017-19.

2.3 Most of the requirements of the programmes remain the same in 2018-19, the main 
change being a new focus on reducing extended hospital stays, including by 
continuing to minimise Delayed Transfers of Care (DToCs).

2.4 There is no requirement this year to update and resubmit narrative plans unless 
local changes are significant. Instead, a light touch assurance process is in place 
for programme adjustments.

2.5 Any changes to plans that impact on schemes or spending in the assured BCF 
template were to be jointly agreed between the LA and the CCGs that are signatory 
to the plan. A short narrative description of programme adjustments and a budget 
summary was then to be submitted to the East Midlands Regional BCF lead for 
initial review by 24 August 2018.

2.6 On this basis, alongside ongoing delivery of the 2018-19 programme, the local 
partnership put together budget proposals (see Appendix 1) and target 
adjustments (to DToC targets, aligning them with the new national expectation 
figures, and Non Elective Admission (NEA) targets, aligning them with revised CCG 
targets). These were reviewed by the Section 75 Partnership Board, then submitted 
to the regional Better Care Fund lead for the 24 August deadline for ‘light touch’ 
assurance to confirm that they continue to meet the requirements of the Funds.

2.7 The endorsement of the Health and Wellbeing Board is now sought for these 
changes.

Updated Expenditure Proposals
2.8 The guidance provided the opportunity to introduce, decommission, expand or 

contract schemes in 2018-19 based on performance and local needs.

2.9 The Board is invited to review and endorse the programme and budget set out in 
Appendix 1. The proposed 2018-19 budget is largely as originally anticipated. 
Adjustments are of three types:

 Adding detail to the delivery approach for some original allocations
 Timetable adjustments for original budget allocations
 Plans to extend selected areas of the programme using funding carried forward 

to respond to evolving local needs.

2.10 The Rutland BCF contingency fund of £136k has been sustained, and will continue 
to be held in reserve, as recommended nationally, to be governed by the Section 75 
agreement.

2.11 The most significant proposals are as follows:

 to increase the resource available to the Admiral dementia nursing service as 
part of an expanded virtual flexible support team closely connected with the GP 
surgeries, and embracing carer support and Integrated Care Coordination (1.2);

40

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/better-care-fund-operating-guidance-for-2017-19
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/better-care-fund-operating-guidance-for-2017-19


 to continue the MICARE complex care pilot and to extend it to two teams, 
therefore able to operate in two parts of Rutland and generate increased learning 
about successful management of complex care needs in the community (2.3); 

 to use a planned community health allocation to introduce community nursing 
to MICARE supporting the delegation of health tasks and closer health monitoring 
(3.1);

 to allocate explicit funding to falls prevention in order to apply elements of the 
LLR falls prevention programme locally (2.5);

 to reserve up to £59k of one-off funding to support new areas of work on local 
coordinated care for complex patients arising from the proposed combined 
Sub-Locality, BCF and Primary Care Home governance and joint working (see 
Section 3 below) (2.1).

2.12 Changes were shaped:

 to respond to national policy priorities set out in the new BCF Operating 
Guidance, notably the continuing emphasis on minimising delayed transfers of 
care and the new priority to reduce lengthy hospital stays.

 to improve performance in areas where early 2018-19 BCF targets are not 
currently being met, namely rates of DToC and in the local metric of falls-related 
hospital admissions (see Appendix 2).

 to retain some flexibility for local partners to reshape local health and care 
services to sustainably meet needs, including those of complex patients, also 
contributing to Home First aims. This activity is to be shaped and delivered 
through new operational governance arrangements starting in September 2018 
which will establish unified governance for the Rutland Better Care Fund, Sub-
Locality partnership and Primary Care Home programmes (see Section 3). 

2.13 Table 1 summarises available resources, excluding the contingency fund of £136k, 
while Table 2 sets out how these resources have been distributed across the 
programme’s priorities, with a particular emphasis on increasing support for complex 
health needs and prevention.

Table 1: 2018-19 BCF available resources (excluding contingency fund)

Funding source

2018-19 
original 
allocation (£k)

Allocated 
underspend 
(£k)

Total (£k)

CCG BCF 699.5 699.0
RCC BCF 1438.6 1438.6
I-BCF 167.9 15.8 183.7
DFG 220.7 220.7
ASC one-off grant 61.8 61.8
RCC BCF 16-17 carry 55.0 74.7 129.7
CCG BCF 16-17 carry 29.0 75.7 104.7
RCC BCF 17-18 carry 0.0 97.6 97.6
CCG BCF 17-18 carry 20.0 20.0
Grand Total 2610.7 345.6 2956.3

41



Table 2: Original and additional resources per priority

By BCF priority

Sum of 
2018-19 
original 
allocation 
(£k)

Allocated 
underspend 
(£k)

Total (£k)

1. Prevention 337.0 56.0 393.0
2. Long Term 
Conditions 1126.8 258.7

1385.5

3. Hospital Flow 1043.0 1043.0
4. Enablers 103.9 30.9 134.8
Grand Total 2610.7 345.6 2956.3

Updated Targets
2.14 Targets were set in 2017 for key BCF metrics for 2017-18 and 2018-19.

2.15 The 2018-19 targets for reablement success, permanent admissions to care homes, 
falls prevention and service user satisfaction are still stretching and will remain as 
originally agreed in 2017 (see Appendix 2).

2.16 Non Elective Admissions (NEA) targets have been revised to align with updated 
CCG Operating Plans, using newly published national data which updates the 
ceiling targets per Health and Wellbeing Board area. The impact of this is to revise 
the Rutland NEA target upwards, reflecting the national trend of rising NEAs. The 
change has increased the ceiling target for NEAs in Rutland by 19%, from 3189 
admissions across the year to 3793. While the ceiling target has been raised, it 
remains the ambition in Rutland to minimise Non Elective Admissions, particularly 
of people who are frail or at the end of their life, if there are more suitable local care 
options available./

2.17 For DToCs, Rutland has adopted its national ‘expectation target’ calculated for 
2018-19 based on DToC performance in Q3 of 2017-18. As Rutland was performing 
well last year relative to many other areas, the requirement this year is for Rutland 
to maintain its average Q3 rate of 1.5 days of DToC per day or fewer (equivalent 
to 4.5 DToCs per day per 100,000 adults). This equates to a ceiling of ca45 actual 
days of delay per calendar month.

3 BCF PROGRAMME GOVERNANCE

3.1 To support programme delivery, an enhanced governance model is proposed, for 
consideration and endorsement by the HWB. 

3.2 The Rutland Better Care Fund programme is now being delivered alongside two 
other significant local health and care change programmes, with considerable 
potential for synergies between them: the GP Primary Care Home strategy and the 
work programme of the Rutland Locality Team, under the Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP) Home First workstrand.

3.3 The opportunity has arisen, in close coordination with the RCC Portfolio Holder for 

42



Adult Social Care and Health, to update governance structures to coordinate more 
of the change effort across Rutland more effectively in order to increase agility, 
involvement, ownership and accountability across key local partners.

3.4 Under the proposals, the governance mechanisms for these sets of work would be 
combined into a more strategic health and care coordination structure (see Figure 
1), ensuring that the synergies between the parallel programmes are achieved, and 
more fully engaging all key stakeholders in accelerating local health and care 
change. The new structure would be called the Rutland Health and Care Board 
(RHCB), and would continue to report on BCF progress to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and to work alongside the BCF s75 Partnership Board.

 
Figure 1: Rutland Health and Care Board as part of wider health and care governance

3.5 The aim of the Board would be to work in partnership to further progress the 
integration and enhancement of health and care services in Rutland for the benefit 
of the population, with a particular focus on the governance of key local change 
programmes contributing to this aim.

3.6 While there are not plans to formally transition to a Multispeciality Community 
Provider model in Rutland, this group would bring together stakeholders with the 
ability to operate through collaborative leadership, providing an engine room for 
change steered to meet the needs of the population, taking a tangible step towards 
the aim set out by the BCF partnership at the outset, that “by 2018 there will be an 
integrated social and health care service in Rutland”.

3.7 The Terms of Reference would be agreed at the first meeting of the new Board, 
confirming its function, tasks and operating principles.

3.8 Initial proposals for the RHCB are as follows:

(a) The Board would be chaired by Rutland County Council, with the secretariat 
provided by RCC Business Support.

(b) It would meet monthly to start with and keep its frequency under review.
(c) Participation would consist of:

a. Rutland County Council Senior Officer (chair) 

43



b. East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG representation
c. Public Health (RCC)
d. Adult Social Care (RCC)
e. Leicestershire Partnership Trust, scope to be agreed
f. Representation of each practice, detail to be confirmed
g. HealthWatch Rutland
h. Citizens Advice Rutland (representing the Community and Voluntary 

Sector)
i. Meeting support

 Health and Care Integration Manager (RCC)
 East Leicestershire and Rutland GP Federation
 Business support

(d) Going forward, some current representatives would elevate their membership to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board only, notably:

a. University Hospitals of Leicester
b. Peterborough City Hospital
c. Housing sector representative

(e) Delivery leads would take part in working groups or operational change teams 
as required, reporting into the RHCB.

(f) The RHCB would continue to be a non-public meeting, with public scrutiny 
achieved as required via the Health and Wellbeing Board.

(g) Participants (and their nominated deputies) would be required to have decision 
making ability on behalf of their organisation. 

3.9 The RHCB will confirm a set of principles for its locality working. The following 
principles have worked well in progressing change to date:

 Shared ownership and accountability
 Time and space to strengthen mutual understanding
 Evidence-based change – opportunity to pool data for fresh insights
 Maximum creativity within statutory or commissioned boundaries
 Front line freedom to innovate in delivery – and continuing innovation within 

business as usual
 Pace through incremental change
 All parties enabled to play to their strengths
 Value generated to the system is fed back into the system
 Taking a broad view on the scope of good health and care.

3.10 An important aim in helping to shape the next steps in health and care integration 
will be to avoid establishing a plethora of new initiatives, instead defining ‘units of 
action or change’ within which roles and services can adapt and reshape relative to 
each other, to become more flexible, responsive and tailored, and to absorb and 
adapt to ongoing learning on the ground.

4 Q1 PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE

4.1 Alongside planning the programme adjustments set out above, Rutland BCF 
implementation progressed well overall in Q1 of 2018-19.

44



4.2 We are continuing to deliver the agreed 2017-19 programme, both through ongoing 
BCF interventions that are now business as usual, and the start-up of activities 
planned in the 2017-19 programme but not yet live, including: the Healthy Rutland 
community grant fund under Priority 1 (Prevention) which aims to bring forward 
sustainable community projects that enhance health and wellbeing; and the launch 
of a self care toolkit in Rutland GP practices and initiation of a number of care home 
improvement projects under Priority 2 (Long Term Condition Management).

4.3 Innovation continues in areas of business as usual activity. For example, under 
Priority 3 (Hospital Flows), we have recently introduced a more focussed early triage 
process for transfers of care, which identifies which patients are likely to need more 
support and under what discipline (nursing, social work, therapy), ensuring a clearer 
goal and end point to the involvement of the discharge team. This was designed to 
respond to workload pressure from increasing numbers of patients needing 
discharge support. We have also ensured that, where a service user is already 
known to social care, they undergo a short review of their needs in the context of 
their pre-existing detailed assessment, rather than a fresh, albeit simplified, 
assessment. These changes have quickly reduced caseloads per worker. This 
appears to be translating through into improved discharge delay numbers and offers 
service users a clearer, more efficient process – and improved continuity if they were 
already social care service users.

4.4 Facilitated by closer creative working between primary, community and social care, 
we are looking to progress a number of new elements to improve care for those 
living with multimorbidity, with a particular focus on frail individuals.  The reshaping 
of the local response to frailty complements a new LLR STP acute frailty 
programme. The local aim is to be able to intervene more consistently before 
patients need to step up to acute services. This is in the context of Rutland’s non 
elective admissions which continue to rise slowly, both in terms of the overall 
number of nights of admission and the number of admissions themselves, and 
admissions due to falls injuries which are currently over target. The aim is to identify 
ways to intervene earlier and more effectively.

4.5 Some of the proposed additional interventions can be progressed via existing 
funding streams in the current programme, including proposals set out above to 
increase the capacity of the new Admiral dementia nurse service and to include 
community nursing in the complex care pilot, enabling more health tasks to be 
delegated to care workers who can then deliver more holistic care at home to people 
with complex needs. Other proposals ask existing services to evolve new ways of 
working together, for example aiming to achieve synergies across community and 
primary care nursing capacity, and across the therapy capacity in social care and 
community health.

4.6 Good Q1 progress – and areas of challenge – are reflected in the programme’s key 
metrics:

The social care related national metrics are on track
 The target for reablement success was met in Q1, with 90.2% success 

relative to a target of 90%. Reablement has been enhanced recently by 
complementary services e.g. the Housing MOT, being offered to people on 
their return from hospital.

 There were 7 permanent admissions to residential care in Q1 of 2018-19 
relative to a Q1 target of 7, marking continued success with sustaining 

45



people’s ability to remain living independently at home, but leaving no margin 
for deterioration in rates. 

Non Elective Admission rates are rising, but are within updated 2018-19 targets
 We are seeing a continuing slow rise in non elective admission numbers, 

albeit at a much lower rate of increase than is being experienced nationally.  
(The 2017-18 rate of emergency admissions in Rutland was only 0.5% higher 
than the rate in 2014-15, while non elective admissions rose by 9% in England 
over the same period according to national hospital activity data). Working to 
avoid more NEAs remains a local priority, which will be progressed further as 
part of closer working between primary, community and social care, with a 
particular emphasis on those who are frail or at end of life. 

 We have now obtained access to more detailed data on NEAs, which will start 
to offer broader insights into patterns. In terms of overall patterns, numbers of 
admissions are increasing more quickly than the overall associated length of 
stay, as average lengths of stay have decreased recently, potentially due to 
changes in hospital based care.

Our updated DToC targets are very challenging, and performance is currently 
extremely variable month on month
 Draft ‘expectation targets’ for Delayed Transfers of Care (DToCs) were shared 

with BCF areas in May, calculated relative to 2017-18 Q3 performance. As set 
out above, the Rutland expectation target is 1.5 DToCs per day, equating to 
45 in a 30 day month.  We substantially exceeded this rate in April (at 60 days) 
and May (at 112 days) but have performed significantly better in June (17 
days) and July (43 days).  

 To address a growing discharge workload, a new triage approach was 
introduced in June, as set out above which, based on the above data, appears 
to be helping to reduce DToC numbers. 

 It is also important to note that some ca25 of the May days are still contested 
as they relate to patients whose discharge need was not notified at the time to 
the Rutland Integrated Discharge Team. We are still seeing a disjoint between 
the DToC numbers that are signed off locally each week and those reported 
by hospitals to the NHS England data team at the end of each month. Work is 
ongoing to more closely align this tracking, the key issue being to ensure that 
the Discharge Team is made aware in a timely fashion of any patient in need 
of transfer support.

The local falls target is being exceeded
 Finally, we are still exceeding our locally set ceiling target for falls injuries, 

currently by 19%. A number of interventions are continuing eg. active work 
with care homes on falls risk, accelerated referral to the falls clinic, and Steady 
Steps classes, and we are looking at extending falls assessments including 
through a ‘QTUG’ testing tool that enables non experts to accurately gauge 
falls risk based on an ‘up and go’ standing and walking test. The proposed 
wider work on frailty is also anticipated to have a positive impact on falls 
prevention. 

46



5 CONSULTATION 

5.1 The changes set out above have been informed and reviewed by key stakeholders 
in the local health and care economy, through the Rutland Integration Executive. 
This includes main health and care stakeholders plus Citizens Advice Rutland on 
behalf of the wider Voluntary and Community sector, and HealthWatch Rutland.

5.2 As an innovative delivery model with the ability to inform future delivery of adult 
social care support in Rutland, the MICARE complex care pilot has also been 
scrutinised by RCC’s Cabinet.

6 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

6.1 In regard to programme governance, the main alternative option would be to sustain 
the status quo of parallel governance structures shaping health and care change in 
Rutland.  However, this would be inefficient, and increase the overall cost of health 
and care integration change while reducing its pace, coherence and effectiveness. 
The current proposal is highly streamlined, builds greater mutual understanding and 
alignment between key stakeholders, and so better supports progress with fully 
integrated services, which in turn are anticipated to enhance the health and 
wellbeing of local residents.

6.2 The programme has adopted externally defined DToC and NEA targets. 

i) Non-adoption of the DToC expectation targets set by NHS England would 
have led to escalation of the Rutland Better Care Fund programme into a 
remedial assurance process. Although challenging, the targets are 
considered more realistic than last year’s as derived from Rutland’s average 
DToC performance in Q3 of 2017-18.

ii) If lower Non Elective Admission targets were set in the BCF programme than 
those proposed and agreed between NHS England and the relevant CCGs, 
then, under the BCF rules, a risk share fund would have to be set aside 
equivalent to £1,500 per additional admission in case this target was not met. 
By not proposing a more challenging target, all the programme’s available 
funding can be dedicated directly to delivering and improving health and care 
services in Rutland. It remains the aim of the programme’s partners to work 
together to reduce emergency admission levels wherever possible.

6.3 The budget changes set out in Appendix 2 are the conclusion of an interactive 
process of review informed by the performance of programme activities (some of 
which will be extended or adapted) and understanding of potential gaps and 
opportunities. Proposals were prioritised which meet identified needs or 
opportunities as confirmed by the Integration Executive and Section 75 Partnership 
Board, and which could be implemented rapidly, given that the national programme 
update process was only launched in Q2 of 2018-19.

7 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The 2018-19 programme is on track overall in terms of implementation, with good 
momentum, but it is critical that new areas of spend as set out above are underway 
as soon as possible.

47



8 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS

8.1 The Rutland BCF programme is jointly funded by Rutland County Council and East 
Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group, with funding managed 
under a Section 75 Agreement under the National Health Service Act 2006. This 
Agreement is to be renewed following confirmation of the changes proposed herein. 

9 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The overriding purpose of the BCF programme is to enhance health and care 
services in Rutland making them more sustainable and effective, to the benefit of 
Rutland residents.  

9.2 The governance and budgetary adjustments have been designed to enhance the 
ability of the current BCF programme to support local health and wellbeing, ranging 
through prevention services to sustainably meeting the needs of residents with more 
complex health and care needs. 

10 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

10.1 BCF areas were invited by NHS England in July 2018 to review their progress at the 
mid point of their two-year programmes and to confirm any required adjustments to 
budget allocations and targets to ensure successful delivery, with a light-touch 
approval process in place where changes were not significant to avoid any loss of 
momentum in programme implementation.

10.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board guides the implementation of the BCF in Rutland 
and is invited to endorse the ensuing changes proposed to the Rutland BCF 
programme, which aim to sustain both the level of ambition of the Rutland 
programme and its ability to deliver on this ambition. The proposed changes relate 
to DToC and NEA targets, spend allocations and governance arrangements.

11 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

11.1 National BCF operating guidance for 2018-19 was published on 18 July 2018 and 
is available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/better-care-fund-operating-
guidance-for-2017-19

12 APPENDICES 

12.1 Appendix 1 - Rutland BCF 2018-19 Budget

12.2 Appendix 2 – BCF Performance Dashboard: Q1 2018-19

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

48

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/better-care-fund-operating-guidance-for-2017-19
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/better-care-fund-operating-guidance-for-2017-19


Rutland Better Care Fund Programme: 2018-19 budget proposal

Code Priorities and 

measures

Activity Proposal Funding 

source

2018-19 

original 

allocation 

(£k)

Additional 

resource 

(£k)

Total in 

2018-19 

(£k)

Priority 1: Prevention

4514 1.1 

Communication 

and coordination: 

RIS website, brochure, 

advisor network
Continue as per BCF plan RCC BCF 16-

17 carry

£2.00 - £2.00

4502 1.2 Community 

wellbeing advisors

Contract: Community 

wellbeing and prevention 

services - RAP

Continue as per BCF plan RCC BCF £147.00 - £147.00

1011 1.2 Community 

wellbeing advisors

Staff - social care rapid 

response  (VARM)
Continue as per BCF plan, with £2k adjustment i-BCF £79.00 - £79.00

1012 1.2 Community 

wellbeing advisors

Replace wellbeing advisors in 

primary care (ended) with 

additional Admiral Nurse 

capacity.

Recruit additional Admiral Dementia Nurse to 

respond to high demand for this holistic service. 

Delvery including via GP practices. 

CCG BCF 16-

17 carry

£29.0 £56.0 £85.00

4489 1.3 Active and 

connected

Non recurrent: Healthy 

Rutland projects notably via 

grant fund

Continue as per BCF plan, with delivery 

supported this year through the launch of a 

Healthy Rutland grant fund approved by RCC 

Cabinet in June. This combines Public Health 

and BCF funds. 

RCC BCF £80.00 £80.00

Priority 2: Long term condition management

4510

5609

2.1 Integrated 

health and care 

services

Staff: Community care 

services for LTCs, frailty, 

complex needs, including the 

Integrated Care Coordinator. 

Continue as per BCF plan CCG BCF £420.14 £420.14

Continue as per BCF plan RCC BCF £163.92 £163.92

4515 Innovation support Dedicate up to £59k of additional one-off 

resource to progress innovation in integrated 

health and care services. 

RCC BCF 17-

18 carry

£28.6 £28.60

CCG BCF 17-

18 carry

£20.0 £20.00

RCC BCF 16-

17 carry

£5.7 £5.70

i-BCF £4.6 £4.57

1010 2.2 Self care Self care - via the GP. 

Vitrucare
Continue the self care pilot as per BCF plan, but 

with 

(a) adjustment to the timetable of funding to 

accommodate the delayed start

(b) an increase of £10k to the originally planned 

funding to cover VAT costs not reclaimable in 

primary care.

RCC BCF 16-

17 carry

£44.00 £54.0 £98.00

1006 2.3 Holistic 

homecare

MICARE holistic ‘whole care’ 

model of domiciliary care 
Extend the MICARE complex care pilot to two 

teams (urban and rural). Total anticipated cost 

£136k. Builds on the initial pilot which improved 

the wellbeing of service users with complex care 

needs and helped to reduce the demand for 

acute health support.

i-BCF £15.00 £15.00

RCC BCF 17-

18 carry

- £59.00 £59.00

ASC one-off 

grant

£61.8 £61.80

4515 2.4 health and 

wellbeing in care 

homes

Care home projects Continue as per BCF plan. Funding timetable 

adjustment.

RCC BCF 16-

17 carry

£9.00 £5.0 £14.00

4498 2.5 Support for 

wellbeing and 

independence

Staff and contract: Dementia 

care via Admiral Nurse and 

AgeUK dementia support

Continue as per BCF plan - but also see 1.2. RCC BCF £102.00 £102.00

49



Rutland Better Care Fund Programme: 2018-19 budget proposal

Code Priorities and 

measures

Activity Proposal Funding 

source

2018-19 

original 

allocation 

(£k)

Additional 

resource 

(£k)

Total in 

2018-19 

(£k)

Capital 2.5 Support for 

wellbeing and 

independence

Disabled Facilities Grants Continue as per BCF plan. DFG £220.73 £220.73

4511 2.5 Support for 

wellbeing and 

independence

Care packages: Carer 

support, including respite
Continue as per BCF plan. RCC BCF £87.00 £87.00

4509 2.5 Support for 

wellbeing and 

independence

Contract: Assistive 

technology
Continue as per BCF plan. RCC BCF £65.00 £65.00

4509 2.5 Support for 

wellbeing and 

independence

Falls prevention PROPOSAL: Progress local rollout and 

adaptation of elements of the LLR falls 

prevention programme, including potential 

purchase of 'QTUG' falls risk testing tools. 

RCC BCF 17-

18 carry

- £10.00 £10.00

- PROPOSAL: Under Falls Prevention, £10k is 

also required for Housing MOT costs. Strong 

take-up of the scheme which encourages falls 

prevention.

RCC BCF 16-

17 carry

- £10.0 £10.00

Priority 3: Hospital flows

4494 3.1 Crisis 

response

Staff: 7 day crisis response 

services
Continue as per BCF plan - while revisiting local 

working around crisis prevention. 

CCG BCF £119.30 £119.30

Continue as per BCF plan - while revisiting local 

working around crisis prevention. 

RCC BCF £129.67 £129.67

1008 3.1 Crisis 

response

Managing crisis without 

hospitalisation. Actions (TBC) 

offering potential CCG 

savings.

0.5 fte community nursing resource to support 

the MICARE pilot in routine care of complex 

patients, delegation of health tasks to care staff, 

and preventing hospital admissions.

CCG BCF £20.00 £20.00

4505 3.2 Transfer of 

care and 

reablement

Staff: transfer of care 

improvements
Continue as per BCF plan while progressing the 

High Impact Change Model.

RCC BCF £581.97 £581.97

4505 Continue as per BCF plan, while looking to 

ensure that mental health provision is tailored to 

local needs and learning from MICARE. 

CCG BCF £140.05 £140.05

1009 Continue as per BCF plan. i-BCF £52.00 £52.00

Priority 4: Enablers

4504 4.1 Programme 

management, 

analytics and 

enabling actions

Staff: programme 

management and analytics
Continue as per BCF plan. RCC BCF £82.00 £82.00

4504 4.1 Programme 

management, 

analytics and 

enabling actions

IT for mobile working and 

single assessment - LL S1 

integration

Potential IT project: automatic upload of the new 

discharge assessments from SystmOne to 

LIquidLogic enabling swift onward care.

i-BCF £7.87 £11.23 £19.10

4504 4.1 Programme 

management, 

analytics and 

enabling actions

Improved IT - LHIS Discharge 

module, smart cards etc
PROPOSAL: Further work on the IT tools 

needed to give Adult Social Care staff access to 

health systems including the GP Summary Care 

Record. 

CCG BCF 16-

17 carry

£0.0 £19.7 £19.70

4504 4.1 Programme 

management, 

analytics and 

enabling actions

User experience research Continue as per BCF plan. Commission to 

support Health and Care Board priorities.

i-BCF £14.00 £14.00

50



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric 1 - Residential Admissions
TARGET: The 2018-19 residential admissions ceiling target is 28, 7% lower than last year's target of 30, which was just met with 29 admissions. The targets aim to 

be ambitious while avoiding undue pressure to avoid residential admissions where they are appropriate or an individual's choice.  

Q1 2018-19 Performance: GREEN. There were 7 Council funded permanent admissions to care homes in Q1 of 2018-19, which matches the Q1 ceiling target. 

The emphasis of the Rutland social care approach remains one of supporting people to live independently in the community for as long as possible.

Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing care homes

Outcome Sought: 

Reducing inappropriate admissions of older people (65+) into residential care

Rationale:
Avoiding permanent placements in residential and nursing care homes is a good measure of delaying dependency, and the inclusion of this measure in the 

scheme supports local health and social care services to work together to reduce avoidable admissions. Research suggests that, where possible, people prefer to 

stay in their own home rather than move into residential care.

Definition:

The number of council-supported permanent admissions of older people to residential and nursing care, excluding transfers between residential and nursing care 

(aged 65 and over).

Reporting Schedule:

7

14

21 28

46

22

11

29

41

33 33
30 28

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Full year Full year Full year Full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

TH
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

co
u

n
ci

l s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 
ad

m
is

si
o

n
s 

o
f 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e

o
p

le
 t

o
 

re
si

d
e

n
ti

al
 a

n
d

 n
u

rs
in

g 
ca

re
. Cumulative quarterly

actual/forecast

Annual actual

Cumulative quarterly target

Annual target

1

51



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric will be reported quarterly. Q2 2018-19 update will be confirmed early Nov 2018.

2

52



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric 2 - Reablement 
TARGET: The reablement target rises to 90% success in 2018-19. The target is already very stretching and has not been raised further as, in an area of low 

population, the varying characteristics of cohorts receiving reablement can have a disporportionate impact on performance.

2018-19 Q1 Performance: GREEN. Initial figures indicate that this indicator is on track: in Q1, 90.2% of service users were still at home 91 days after discharge 

from hospital into reablement, over the 90% target.

Percentage of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services

NB: Q4 data forms the official annual return

Outcome Sought:

Increase in effectiveness of these services whilst ensuring that those offered service does not decrease

Rationale:
Improving the effectiveness of these services is a good measure of delaying dependency, and the inclusion of this measure in the scheme supports local health 

and social care services to work together to reduce avoidable admissions. Ensuring that the rate at which these services are offered is also maintained or 

increased also supports this goal

Definition: 

100.0 87.0

97.0 95.2
90.2

73.3
83.3 83.3 88.9 90

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Q4 Q4 Q4 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Th
e

 p
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 o

f 
o

ld
e

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 

w
e

re
 s

ti
ll 

at
 h

o
m

e
 9

1
 d

ay
s 

af
te

r 
d

is
ch

ar
ge

 f
ro

m
 h

o
sp

it
al

Quarterly actuals (%)

Final Q4 actual per year

Annual Q4 target

3

53



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

This measures the number of older people aged 65 and over discharged to their own home or to a residential or nursing care home during a 3 month period 

(October-December), who are at home or in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme  setting three months (91 days) after the date of their discharge 

from hospital as a percentage of all those who were offered rehabilitation services following discharge from hospital.

Reporting Schedule:

Formally, the metric is updated annually. The number of older people aged 65 and over offered rehabilitation services following discharge from acute or 

community hospital is collected 1st October to 31st December for the relevant year. Same individuals are then checked  91 days later (i.e. January to March). 

Next formal update April/May 2019.

Local quarterly updates are calculated alongside this. Q1 2018-19 update early Nov 2018.

4

54



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric 3 - Delayed Transfers of Care
TARGET: Rutland DToC targets in 2018-19 are as set out in the Department of Health expectation targets. These targets require Rutland to sustain its Q3 2017-18 

average performance of 1.5 delays per day, or 4.5 days per 100,000 adults per day. This equates to 45 actual days in a 30 day month. 

See chart 3.2 below (yellow line) for anticipated month by month targets.  

2017-18 performance: AMBER. Overall, Q1 DToC performance exceeded our national expectation target of 1.5 DToCs per day by 38%. May 2018 was the worst 

month for some time, and June the best. Excess May days were not entirely compensated for by June's dramatic improvement. Some May days are currently 

being contested as they relate to patients who were not notified to the Rutland integrated discharge team at the time of their delay.  However, this does not 

acccount for the full increase in DToCs. We have introduced a triage mechanism which is helping to ensure a focussed response to discharge needs to expedite 

discharges. In addition, we are renewing working relationships including with UHL and Kettering to ensure that the Rutland team is notified in good time of all 

potential delays, whether NHS, ASC or jointly atributable. Discrepancies appear to be continuing between local and national statistics whch mean that locally 

compiled statistics are still not a reliable gauge of the current position. We now have advance access to the aggregate figures collated nationally to aid 

investigation prior to national publication. 

NB: There will be a national review of September's DToC performance when that data is published in November. 

3.1. Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital (aged 18+), per 100,000 population - performance by quarter

622

5571

3218

3742

2097

449
903

1357
1801

4275

2977 2926
1801

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Full year Full year Full year Full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Th
e

 t
o

ta
l n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
d

e
la

ye
d

 d
ay

s 
(f

o
r 

p
at

ie
n

ts
 a

ge
d

 1
8

 a
n

d
 o

ve
r)

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

Cumulative quarterly
actual/forecast per 100,000

Annual actual per 100,000

Cumulative quarterly target per
100,000

Annual target per 100,000

5

55



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

3.2. Delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital (aged 18+), per 100,000 population - performance by month

3.3 Cumulative DToC position against target and per sector (NHS, Social Care, Joint), actual nights, Apr 2018-Jun 2018

168
148

313

241

145 148 148

76

221 211

72

204 197

368

56

141

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Rutland total DTOCs per 100,000 adults per month, 
actual vs target (provisional targets for 2018-19)

Nights per 100,000
adults

Target per 100,000
adults

185.0

2.0

2.0

189.0

118.3

18.2

0.0

136.5

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0 120.0 140.0 160.0 180.0 200.0

NHS

ASC

Joint

Total

Target Apr-Jun

Actual Apr-Jun

6

56



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Outcome Sought:

Effective joint working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) and community-based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all 

hospitals for all adults.

Rationale:

This is an important marker of the effective joint working of local partners, and is a measure of the effectiveness of the interface between health and social care 

services. Minimising delayed transfers of care and enabling people to live independently at home is one of the desired outcomes of social care.

Definition:

Delayed transfer of care per 100,000 adult population per month. 

Reporting Schedule:

Full Q2 data available mid Nov 2018.

7

57



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric 4 - Non-Elective admissions (general and acute)
TARGET: 2018-19 Rutland NEA targets have been raised by 19% to reflect the higher NEA targets agreed for 2018-19 in the new CCG Operating Plans. 

2018-19 Q1 Performance: NEA levels have been rising for the last two years, albeit more slowly than would have been the case without interventions, and slower 

than the national rise. This trend appears to be continuing. Therefore, while NEA levels are now within the CCG ceiling target which has been raised by 19%, we 

are anticipating that there could be 13% more non elective admissions in Rutland this year than last. We will be working locally to identify actions across primary, 

social and community care with potential to reduce the number of (particularly) older people needing to be admitted in crisis. To support the design and 

monitoring of interventions, we now have access to a broader range of NEA data. 

Linked to the NEA metric, there is a new policy priority to reduce the number of hospital stays over 21 nights, although monthly data are not available at this 

stage to support monitoring of these patterns. 

Total non-elective admissions in to hospital (general and acute), all ages. Per 100,000 population - quarterly

2109

4198

6348

8484

7548

2476

4928

7451

9959

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

Full year Full year Full year Full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

d
ay

s 
o

f 
n

o
n

 e
le

ct
iv

e
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

s 
fo

r 
R

u
tl

an
d

 P
ra

ct
ic

e
s,

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

.0
0

0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

Cumulative quarterly
actual/forecast per
100,000

Annual actual per
100,000

Cumulative quarterly
target per 100,000

Annual target per
100,000

8

58



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Total non-elective admissions in to hospital (general and acute), all ages. Per 100,000 population - monthly

Outcome sought:

Reduce non-elective admissions which can be influenced by effective collaboration across the health and care system

Rationale: 

Good management of long term conditions requires effective collaboration across the health and care system to support people in managing conditions and to 

promote swift recovery and reablement after acute illness. There should be shared responsibility across the system so that all parts of the health and care system 

improve the quality of care and reduce the frequency and necessity for non-elective admissions

Definition:

Non-Elective admission data are derived from the Monthly Activity Return, which is collected from the NHS. It is collected by providers (both NHS and IS) who 

provide the data broken down by Commissioner.

Reporting Schedule:

Updated quarterly from non elective admission statistics for Rutland practices by Leics CC.  Next quarter available Nov 2018.

824
1649

2476
3292

4109
4928

5768

6609

7451

8286

9121

9959

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Cumulative
actual/forecast

Cumulative
monthly target

N
o

n
 e

le
ct

iv
e

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
s 

p
er

 1
0

0
,0

0
0

 p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 

9

59



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric 5 - Local Metric - Patient/Service User Experience
User experience is no longer a mandatory metric, but continues to be reported for the BCF as it is recognised to be an important yardstick of the quality of local 

health and care services. The user experience target set by the BCF programme has been extremely challenging. The target for 2017-18 and 2018-19 is an 

ambitious 90%.

2017-18 performance: This target was met comfortably for 2017-18, for the first time in four years, with the survey reflecting an extremely high 97% satisfaction 

wtih care services. 

2018-19 performance: No data available.

Do care and support services help you to have a better quality of life?

Outcome Sought:

To take steps to begin to understand patient experience in relation to the delivery of integrated care.
Rationale:

Effective engagement of patients, the public and wider partners in the design, delivery and monitoring of services.

Definition:

90.8

87

91.4

97
92.1 93.1 93.1

90 90

70

80

90

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 w

h
o

 r
e

sp
o

n
d

e
d

 y
e

s 
to

 Q
u

e
st

io
n

 2
b

 o
f 

A
d

u
lt

 S
o

ci
al

 C
ar

e
 s

u
rv

e
y

Actual

BCF Projection

10

60



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Based on the percentage who responded yes to survey Adult Social Care survey question 2b. " Do Care and Support Services help you to have a better quality of 

life". 

Reporting Schedule:
Data reported from annual Adult Social Care users survey. Next update will be April/May 2019.

11

61



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Metric 6 - Local Metric - Over 65s Falls Injuries
TARGET: We have sustained the local focus on falls prevention, although it is no longer a national obligation, as falls have such a significant impact 

on independence.  The 2017-19 target is to equal 2016-17 performance (a rate of falls at or under 1632 falls injuries per 100,000 65+ population for 

the year). 

2018-19 Q1 Performance: AMBER: The 2018-19 falls injuries target is being exceeded by 19%. Falls prevention activities have been enhanced in a 

number of ways. We are also reviewing activity to identify further areas of potential intervention and looking to obtain a more robust dataset 

around falls.

Rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in persons aged 65+, per 100,000 population - quarterly

485

970

1455

1939
1760 1796

1632

1866

408

816

1224

1632
1657 1632

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Full year Full year Full year Full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

R
at

e
 o

f 
 e

m
e

rg
e

cn
y 

h
o

sp
it

al
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

s 
fo

r 
in

ju
ri

e
s 

d
u

e
 t

o
 f

al
ls

 in
 p

e
rs

o
n

s 
ag

e
d

 6
5

+

Cumulative quarterly
actual/forecast per 100,000

Annual actual per 100,000

Cumulative quarterly target
per 100,000

Annual target per 100,000

12

62



Appendix 2: Rutland County Council BCF Metrics and Performance - 2018-19 Q1 performance

Outcome Sought:

To reduce the number of admissions for injuries due to falls

Rationale:

Falls are frequent but often preventable events, rather than an inevitable part of ageing, and preventing them supports the other objectives of the BCF plan, 

including the prevention agenda, avoiding non-elective admissions to hospital and avoiding or posponing permanent admissions to residential homes.  Once a fall 

has occurred, reablement activities can also help to ensure people remain out of hospital once discharged.

Definition:

Age-sex standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in persons aged 65+, per 100,000 population

Reporting Schedule:

Sourced from Public Health Outcomes Framework. 

Monthly data obtained via the CSU and processed by Leicestershire County Council Public Health analysts. Next full quarter of data due mid Nov 2018.

 -

 5

 10

 15

 20

 25

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18

Rutland over 65s hospital admissions due to falls injuries (blue) vs monthly target (red)

13

63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report No: 159/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
18 September 2018

LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN AND SAFEGUARDING ADULT BOARDS 

ANNUAL REPORTS
Report of the Chairmen, Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Boards

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Richard Foster, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding – 
Children & Young People

Mr Alan Walters, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding – Adults

Contact Officer(s): James Fox, Safeguarding 
Boards Business Office Manager

Telephone: 0116 3057130
email: james.fox@leics.gov.uk

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Board:

1. Considers the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Boards Annual Reports 
for 2017/18 and their key messages and makes any comment for amendment to be 
considered by the Boards.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the draft Annual Reports for the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) and 
Safeguarding Adult Board (LRSAB) for 2017/18 for noting and comment by the 
Health and Well-being Board.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 The Annual Reports provide a full assessment of performance on the local approach 
to safeguarding adults or children in line with the requirements of the legislation and 
statutory guidance.

2.2 The key purpose of each Annual Report is to assess the impact of the work 
undertaken in 2017/18 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for children 
and adults respectively in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically they evaluate 
performance against the priorities that were set out in the LRLSCB and LRSAB 
Business Plans for 2017/18.

65

Agenda Item 8

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2.3 The two draft Annual Reports can be found at Appendix A and B to this report, and 
both include:

(i) A foreword from the Independent Chair;
(ii) A summary of the work and findings of the Board during the year;
(iii) An overview of the Boards’ governance and accountability arrangements and 

local context;
(iv) Two separate outlines of safeguarding performance, activity and outcomes for 

Leicestershire and Rutland;
(v) Analysis of performance against the key priorities in the 2017/18 Business 

Plan;
(vi) An overview of the Boards work on engagement, assurance, learning and 

development and training;
(vii) The challenges ahead including the Business Development Plan Priorities for 

2018/19

2.4 Risk assessment:

Time L The Annual Reports will be published 
following sign-off by the SAB and LSCB at 
their meetings in October 2018.

Viability L The Annual report looks back at past 
performance.  The areas for development 
have been included in the Business 
Development plans of the Safeguarding 
Boards for 2018/19. Partner agencies have 
committed capacity both financial and human 
to the delivery of actions within the plans.

Finance M The budgets of the boards are detailed under 
Financial Implications. The LRSLCB and 
LRSAB have a budget to which constituent 
agencies contribute. The Business Plans for 
2018/19 have been developed in line with 
resources available

Profile L The LRSAB became a statutory body on 1st 
April 2015. There is currently no regulatory 
framework in place to judge its performance. 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards no 
longer have a specific strand within Ofsted 
inspections.  Local areas will be required to 
develop Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Arrangements in place of LSCBs to be in 
place by September 2019.  The Safeguarding 
Partners under the Children & Social Work 
Act 2017 are progressing the development of 
new arrangements.

Equality & Diversity L Safeguarding children, young people and 
adults concerns individuals who are likely to 
be disadvantaged in many ways. Specific 

66



views of different groups are considered in 
the work of the LRLSCB and LRSAB 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) in 
assessing performance and effectiveness 
regarding safeguarding.

3 KEY MESSAGES

3.1 The key messages from the LRLSCB Annual Report regarding Rutland are:

a) Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard children in Rutland.
b) Capacity of workers is impacting upon their ability to attend development 

opportunities and put learning into practice.
c) Notable reductions in referrals to social care and children on child protection 

plans need to be further understood.
d) Understanding of Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks and the Local 

Authority Designated Officer (LADO) needs to be improved within the voluntary 
and community sector.

e) Consistency of practice within agencies across a range of areas of work still 
requires improvement.  This includes quality of assessment, recording, 
information sharing and hearing and responding to the voice of children.

f) The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding of 
children, preparing for the changes in legislation which will require the 
establishment of new safeguarding arrangements by 2019 led by three statutory 
partners; the local authorities, the clinical commissioning groups for the area 
and the police.

3.2 The key messages from the LRSAB Annual Report regarding Rutland are:

a) Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard adults in Rutland.
b) ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) is influencing practice across agencies 

and more people in Rutland have more say in the enquiries about their 
safeguarding.

c) Financial Abuse remains a prevalent area of abuse of adults in Rutland. 
d) Good and consistent understanding of and responses to Mental Capacity is a 

development need across the workforce.
The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding of 
adults, including developing its own approach to engagement and participation 
of adults with care and support needs.

3.3 The Annual Reports are being presented to a range of forums including the 
Cabinets, Children and Adults and Scrutiny Panels or Committees and the Health 
and Well-Being Boards in both local authority areas.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Annual report is a retrospective report, so there are no resource implications 
arising from the recommendation in this report.  The LRSAB and LRLSCB operate 
with a budget of £100,878 and £240,263 respectively for 2018/19 to which partner 
agencies contribute. 

67



4.2 The budget for 2018/19 no longer includes funding for Serious Case Reviews for 
the LSCB or Safeguarding Adults Reviews for the SAB.  These are to be funded 
through the reserves of the Safeguarding Boards.  The reserves are sufficient to 
cover current reviews underway.  The Board has agreed that any additional costs 
would be covered proportionally by safeguarding partners.

4.3 The budget requirement for future years will be considered in the work to agree new 
multi-agency arrangements for safeguarding children and parallel consideration of 
safeguarding adults board support arrangements.

5 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 The LRSAB is a statutory body established as a result of the Care Act 2014, which 
requires that the Annual Report of the LRSAB be presented to the Chair of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  The main purpose of the LRSAB is to ensure effective, 
co-ordinated multi-agency arrangements for the safeguarding of vulnerable adults.

5.2 The LRLSCB is a statutory body established by Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 
and currently operates under statutory guidance issued in Working Together 2015 
which requires that the Annual Report of the LRLSCB be presented to the Chair of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board.

5.3 Under the Children and Social Work Act 2017, LSCBs are due to cease and local 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements will be established in line with statutory 
guidance issued in Working Together 2018.  Until Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Arrangements are in place LSCBs will continue to function under Working Together 
2015 and Transition guidance.

5.4 The Business Plans for 2018/19 for the LRLSCB and LRSAB were presented to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on 26th June 2018.

6 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 Safeguarding children, young people and adults concerns individuals who are likely 
to be disadvantaged in many ways. Specific views of different groups are considered 
in the work of the LRLSCB and LRSAB Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) in 
assessing performance and effectiveness regarding safeguarding

7 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.  Health and care needs can be linked to 
safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have 
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in 
other agencies.

7.2 Safeguarding Adults and Children cut across all areas of the Rutland Health & Well-
Being Strategy and Better Care Fund Priorities.

8 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The LRSAB and the LRLSCB are statutory bodies established as a result of the 
Care Act 2014 and Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 respectively which require 
that Annual Reports be presented to the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

68



9 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

There are no additional background papers to the report.

10 APPENDICES 

10.1 Appendix A: Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board: Annual Report

Appendix B: Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board: Annual 
Report

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

69



This page is intentionally left blank



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 1

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 
SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 
(LRSAB)

Annual Report 
2017/18

Document Status 

First draft completed: 21/06/2018

Approved by Executive:

Approved by Board:

Published:

Report Author: Safeguarding Boards Business Office,
Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and SAB 

Independent Chair: Robert Lake

71



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 2

Foreword

I am pleased to present the 2017/18 Annual Report for the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local Safeguarding Adult Board (LRSAB). This is the first occasion on which 
I am presenting this report. I became the Independent Chair of the Board in April 
2018 taking over from Simon Westwood who had served the Board with distinction 
and skill.  Clearly, the work of the Board, as reflected in this Annual Report, was 
undertaken under Simon’s stewardship.  On behalf of all of those involved in or 
receiving safeguarding services in Leicestershire and Rutland, a very big thank you 
to Simon for all his hard work.

The report is published at the same time as the Annual Report for the Safeguarding 
Children’s Board (of which Simon is still the Independent Chair). The report includes 
commentary on areas of cross-cutting work we undertaken through a joint business 
plan between the two Boards.

The key purpose of the report is to assess the impact of the work we have 
undertaken in 2017/18 on safeguarding outcomes for vulnerable adults in 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  The report concludes that:

 Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard adults in Leicestershire 
and Rutland.

 ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) is influencing practice across agencies 
and more people in Leicestershire and Rutland have more say in the enquiries 
about their safeguarding.

 Financial Abuse remains a prevalent area of abuse of adults in Leicestershire 
and Rutland and will be given continued attention.

 Good and consistent understanding of and responses to Mental Capacity is a 
development need across the workforce. (Research shows that this problem 
is experienced by several Boards across the country.)

 The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding 
of adults, including developing its own approach to engagement and 
participation of adults with care and support needs.

The LRSAB is a strategic body: much of the detailed work of the Board is taken 
forward by our various sub-groups/task and finish groups. These are the real 
workhorses for safeguarding and I must take this opportunity on behalf of the Board 
to thank all members of these groups for their continued commitment as well as to 
thank their employing agencies for contributing their participation. I would also want 
to place on record my appreciation of the work done by the members of the Board’s 
Business Office, without whom the Board would struggle to be as effective as it is.

We can never eliminate risk entirely. We need to be as confident as we can be that 
every vulnerable adult is supported to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect.  As 
stated earlier, the Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, 

72



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 3

agencies are working well together to safeguard adults in Leicestershire and Rutland 
and are committed to continuous improvement.

I trust that you will find this report informative and readable. If you have any 
comments you would wish to raise with me, I can be contacted via the SAB’s 
Business Office sbbo@leics.gov.uk.

Robert Lake

Independent Chair of the Board.

73

mailto:sbbo@leics.gov.uk


LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 4

Contents

Foreword 2
Summary 5
Board Background 7
Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire 9
Safeguarding Adults in Rutland 11
Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire and Rutland 12
Business Plan 2017/18 Achievements 13
Operation of the Board

 Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 17
 Challenge and Assurance 18
 Learning and Improvement 20
 Co-ordination and Procedures 23
 Training and Development 24

Income and Expenditure 2017/18 25
Business Plan Priorities 2018/19 26
Partner updates 27

74



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 5

Summary
The Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies and 
workers are working well together to safeguard adults in Leicestershire and Rutland.

In reaching this conclusion, we have: 

Challenged those who work directly with adults with care and support needs to listen 
to what they are saying, respond to them appropriately and Make Safeguarding 
Personal.

Monitored data and information on a regular basis. Learning from this includes, in 
both areas: 

- Fewer safeguarding enquiries from the cause for concern alerts received by 
Local Authorities. 

- An increase in the proportion of people being asked about what they want to 
happen in their safeguarding enquiries and whose desired outcomes are met 
in those enquiries 

- Numbers of referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards continue to rise

Worked on and reviewed progress against our Business Development Plan for 
2017/18; 

Conducted a series of formal audits of our safeguarding arrangements, including: 
- A Safeguarding Adults Audit Framework (SAAF) process;
- Case reviews of frontline practice regarding safeguarding and domestic 

abuse. 

Carried out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR), other reviews of cases and 
disseminated learning from these across the partnership.  

Supported the ongoing use of and confidence in the Vulnerable Adults Risk 
Management (VARM) tool to support consistent responses to vulnerable adults who 
do not meet thresholds for access to safeguarding services, particularly in relation to 
self-neglect; 

Sought assurance from partners regarding the work they have carried out over the 
year to safeguard adults with care and support needs;

More information on all of these areas can be found throughout the Annual Report

The nature of the Board is holding partners to account and promoting learning and 
improvement therefore the Board is always considering how it can further improve 
safeguarding practice.  The key areas for further development include:

 Developing prevention approaches 
 Supporting confident and consistent understanding of Mental Capacity
 Strengthening the participation of and engagement with adults with care and 

support needs and frontline practitioners in the work of the Board.

Key Messages

75



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 6

 Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard adults in Leicestershire 
and Rutland.

 ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) is influencing practice across agencies 
and more people in Leicestershire and Rutland have more say in the enquiries 
about their safeguarding.

 Financial Abuse remains a prevalent area of abuse of adults in Leicestershire 
and Rutland. 

 Good and consistent understanding of and responses to Mental Capacity is a 
development need across the workforce.

 The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding 
of adults, including developing its own approach to engagement and 
participation of adults with care and support needs.

76



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 7

Board Background

The Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) serves the 
counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  It became a statutory body on 1st April 
2015 as result of the Care Act 2014.

Safeguarding Adults Board Arrangements
The Care Act requires that the SAB must lead adult safeguarding arrangements 
across its locality and oversee and coordinate the effectiveness of the safeguarding 
work of its member and partner agencies.  It requires the SAB to develop and 
actively promote a culture with its members, partners and the local community that 
recognises the values and principles contained in ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’.  It 
should also concern itself with a range of issues which can contribute to the well-
being of its community and the prevention of abuse and neglect.

The Annual Report presented here sets out how effective the Board has been in 
delivering its objectives set out in its Business Plan.  The report also includes an 
outline of the Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) and other reviews carried out by 
the LRSAB, the learning gained from these reviews and the actions put in place to 
secure improvement.

The LRSAB normally meets four times a year alongside its partner Board: the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board.  Each of the four 
meetings comprises an Adults Board meeting, a Children Board meeting and a Joint 
meeting of the two Boards.  The Board is supported by an integrated Safeguarding 
Adults and Children Executive Group and a range of subgroups and task and finish 
groups formed to deliver the key functions and Business Plan priorities.

During the year the decision was taken by the SAB to increase join up with the 
Leicester City SAB, including a joint chair for the 2 SABs.  The practicalities of this 
and impact on the joint arrangements between Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and 
SAB are being worked out in 2018/19 alongside work to set the new Multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements for safeguarding children.  From July 2018 the LRSAB 
will no longer meet alongside the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding 
Children Board, as the SAB aligns its operation more closely with the Leicester City 
Safeguarding Adults Board (LCSAB).

The LRSAB works closely with LCSAB on many areas of work to ensure effective 
working across the two areas.  The LRSAB and the LCSAB have established a joint 
executive that oversees joint areas of business for the two Boards.

The SAB is funded through contributions from its partner agencies.  In addition to 
financial contributions, in-kind contributions from partner agencies are essential in 
allowing the Board to operate effectively.  In-kind contributions include partner 
agencies chairing and participating in the work of the Board and its subgroups and 
Leicestershire County Council hosting the Safeguarding Boards Business Office. 
The income and expenditure of the Board is set out on Page 25 of this report. 

77



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 8

Independent Chair
The LRSAB is led by a single Independent Chair.  The independence of the Chair of 
the SAB is a requirement of the Care Act 2014.  

During 2017/18 Simon Westwood operated as the Independent Chair for both 
Safeguarding Adults and Children Boards in Leicestershire and Rutland.  From 
2018/19 Robert Lake has been appointed as a joint Independent Chair between the 
Leicestershire & Rutland and Leicester City Safeguarding Adults Boards as part of 
aligning safeguarding adults work across the two areas. 

The Independent Chair provides independent scrutiny and challenge of agencies, 
and better enables each organisation to be held to account for its safeguarding 
performance.

The Independent Chair is accountable to the Chief Executives of Leicestershire and 
Rutland County Councils.  They, together with the Directors of Children and Adult 
Services and the Lead Members for Children and Adult Services, formally 
performance manage the Independent Chair.

The structure of the LRSAB and membership of the Board can be found on the 
Board’s website www.lrsb.org.uk.

SAB Business Plan Priorities 2017/18
Priorities set by the LRSAB for development and assurance in 2017/18 were to:

 Develop a clear approach for Prevention of harm to adults, including 
increasing the unacceptability of abuse across the community

 Further embed Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) across the Partnership 
 Ensure adult safeguarding thresholds are understood and being utilised 

correctly
 Develop a clear consistent response to self-neglect and safeguarding for front 

line workers

In addition, the LRSAB shared the following priorities for development and 
assurance with the LRLSCB:

 To be assured that in situations where domestic abuse, substance misuse 
and mental health difficulties are all present (toxic trio) the impact is 
recognised and responded to using robust multi-agency risk assessment, 
information sharing and sign posting to resources

 Children and vulnerable adults have effective, direct input and participation in 
the work of the Boards 

 The Board is assured that the emotional health and well-being of adults and 
children and safeguarding risk is understood 

 To strengthen multi-agency risk management approaches

78

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 9

Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire
From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the Leicestershire and Rutland SAB 
assesses that organisations are working well together in Leicestershire to safeguard 
adults with care and support needs.

Adult Safeguarding snapshot for Leicestershire:

105,423 individuals (of any age) who report their day-to-day activities are 
limited and 130,084 adults aged 65 and over live in Leicestershire1 (16% and 
19% of the population respectively).

By 2037 the population aged over 85 is predicted to grow by 190%, to 45,600 
people, and the population aged 65 to 84 is predicted to grow by 56%, from 
to 164,900 people. This compares to an overall population growth of 15%.

It is estimated that there are around 9,700 people aged 18-64 with learning 
disabilities in Leicestershire2.  These numbers are predicted to stay fairly 
stable in Leicestershire over the next 12 years to 2030.

4,530 safeguarding alerts to Adult Social Care.

19% of alerts became safeguarding (s42) enquiries.

46% of enquiries were substantiated, at least in part.

Financial abuse became one of the three most common categories of abuse 
alongside Neglect and Omission and Physical Abuse.

768 alerts from the public.

70% of people were asked about what they wanted to happen from the 
safeguarding enquiry.

In 96% of cases the persons desired outcomes were met, at least in part.

97% of people felt listened to in conversations and meetings with people 
about helping them feel safe 

13% of enquiries were ceased at the request of the individual

4,669 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)

1,555 cases on the waiting list for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

Paid Persons Representatives allocated to 49% of DoLS.

The number of calls to Adult Social Care, from professionals and the public, 
regarding a safeguarding concern stayed at a similar level to last year, greater than 
the year before.  

1 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014
2 Figures from www.pansi.org.uk

79

http://www.pansi.org.uk/


LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 10

Fewer alerts met the threshold for a safeguarding enquiry to be undertaken than in 
the previous year, however more of the enquiries that were carried out found that 
abuse probably took place (were substantiated, at least in part) than last year.

Making Safeguarding Personal is becoming more embedded in safeguarding 
practice with a greater proportion of people being asked about what they wanted to 
happen from the enquiry regarding their welfare.  A greater proportion of these 
people’s desired outcomes were met this year than last year.  More enquiries being 
ceased at the individuals request than last year suggests Making Safeguarding 
Personal is being implemented robustly, however the SAB case-file audit noted 
potential difficulties with this with regard to domestic abuse.

There was a continued increase in referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS).  Despite an increase in service capacity for assessments to be carried out 
overall there was an increase in the waiting list for DoLS in Leicestershire.

More people for whom there has been an application for Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards were allocated a Paid Persons Representative to advocate on their 
behalf in the assessment process than in previous years.

Leicestershire Adult Social Care has established a new Safeguarding Team to 
improve consistency in application of safeguarding thresholds and addressing initial 
areas of risk relating to safeguarding adults referrals. Initial indications are that, 
because this team can make additional enquiries than were possible in the customer 
service centre, this has meant that it is possible to gather additional information to 
enable more effective application of SA thresholds and MSP principles, and has 
resulted in less safeguarding enquiries requiring transfer to Locality Teams. Data on 
the direct impact of this is being sought by the Board.

Following ongoing positive joint work with Trading Standards around prevention of 
financial fraud and scams, Leicestershire are establishing an Adult Social Care post 
in the County Council Trading Standards team to further embed this effective work.

80



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 11

Safeguarding Adults in Rutland
From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the Leicestershire and Rutland SAB 
assesses that organisations are working well together in Leicestershire to safeguard 
adults with care and support needs.

Adult Safeguarding snapshot for Rutland:

5,788 individuals (of any age) who report their day-to-day activities are 
limited and 8,830 adults aged 65 and over live in Rutland3 (15% and 23% of 
the population respectively).

It is estimated that there are around 500 people aged 18-64 with learning 
disabilities in Rutland4.  These numbers are predicted to drop by around 7% 
over the next 12 years to 2030.

235 safeguarding alerts to Adult Social Care.

22% of alerts became safeguarding (s42) enquiries.

60% of enquiries were substantiated, at least in part.

‘Neglect and Omission’ has become more prevalent as the most common 
category of abuse, present in two thirds of cases.

39 alerts from the public.

96% of people were asked about what they wanted to happen from the 
safeguarding enquiry.

In 95% of cases the persons desired outcomes were met, at least in part. 

15% of enquiries were ceased at the request of the individual

223 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)

8 cases on the waiting list for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

Paid Persons Representatives allocated to 49% of DoLS.

The number of calls to Rutland Adult Social Care, from professionals and the public, 
regarding a safeguarding concern reduced compared to the previous year, this is an 
ongoing reduction in calls from professionals over the last two years.  

Fewer alerts met the threshold for a safeguarding enquiry to be undertaken than in 
the previous year, however more of the enquiries that were carried out found that 
abuse probably took place (were substantiated, at least in part) than last year.

Making Safeguarding Personal is becoming more embedded in safeguarding 
practice with a greater proportion of people being asked about what they wanted to 

3 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014
4 Figures from www.pansi.org.uk

81

http://www.pansi.org.uk/


LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 12

happen from the enquiry regarding their welfare.  A greater proportion of these 
people’s desired outcomes were met this year than last year.  

There was a continued increase in referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS), however an increase in service capacity for assessments to be carried out 
supported a reduction in the waiting list for DoLS in Rutland.  

More people for whom there has been an application for Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards were allocated a Paid Persons Representative to advocate on their 
behalf in the assessment process than in previous years.

Rutland has carried out some positive joint work with the LADO to improve the 
quality of a children’s residential school which also accommodated over 18s.

In response a number of safeguarding adult enquiries regarding financial abuse 
Rutland County Council has initiated monthly meetings with Community Care 
Finance and Revenues and Benefits department to raise awareness and support 
early identification and prevention.

Rutland County Council have expanded their Prevention and Safeguarding team to 
provide a social worker and an Assistant Care Manager to provide a rapid response 
around cases where self-neglect and safeguarding are indicated

Safeguarding Adults across Leicestershire and Rutland

Following challenge the Board asked for an assessment of notification of Section 42 
enquiries in healthcare settings to the local authorities.  Health agencies reviewed 
cases and referrals and assurance was provided to the Board that notifications were 
generally, being made where appropriate, but some process issues existed.  This 
resulted in a revision of guidance and the set-up of regular meetings between health 
in-patient settings and Adult Social Care.

The Police, Leicestershire County Council and Leicester City Council are working 
together to establish an Social Care post in the planned Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC) hub, to help ensure that there is an effective and  
multi-agency approach to manage high risk domestic abuse cases on a daily basis 
and therefore early identifications of which cases also meet safeguarding thresholds.

Our partners provide assurance regarding safeguarding practice and development 
throughout the year to our Safeguarding Effectiveness Group, key points and 
developments are included in relevant sections of the report.

82



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 13

Business Development Plan Priorities

Progress on the Boards priorities is outlined below.

SAB Priority 1 – Develop a clear approach for Prevention of harm to adults, 
including increasing the unacceptability of abuse across the community

We planned to consider what prevention strategies and practice were in place relating to 
Safeguarding and develop a Prevention approach to support effective safeguarding (e.g. 
community awareness and resilience).

We brought together a group of key frontline professionals across Leicestershire and 
Rutland who identified and assessed current approaches to safeguarding prevention, areas 
of good practice and areas for further development.

The scoping work identified a broad multi-agency desire to support prevention, but a lack of 
knowledge of tools and services already in place.

We started to pilot an approach to effective multiagency Prevention work in local areas 
through an existing multi-agency group, Rutland Joint Action Group linked to the Safer 
Rutland Partnership. 

We plan to implement and assess the development of the JAG as a forum for prevention 
and develop further community awareness raising regarding safeguarding adults.

SAB Priority 2 – Further embed Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) across 
the Partnership

We planned to embed principles of MSP across multi-agency safeguarding practice through 
awareness-raising, training and service development.  We also planned to assess use of 
MSP in safeguarding and the impact of MSP through audits and performance information.

We assessed use of MSP in the multi-agency audits and monitored local authority data on 
MSP in our Safeguarding Effectiveness Group.

The audit showed that MSP was being used in practice.  MSP data for local authorities 
regarding whether people are asked about the outcomes they would like from enquiries and 
whether those outcomes are achieved was higher than last year, but has shown a levelling 
off in performance after a steady increase in the previous year.

In Leicestershire the Local Authority is looking at how MSP approaches tie in with Signs of 
Safety in Children’s Safeguarding

We plan to understand partner agencies work on MSP in future years through the 
Safeguarding Adults Audit Framework (SAAF).

83



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 14

SAB Priority 3 – Ensure adult safeguarding thresholds are understood and 
being utilised correctly

We planned to monitor compliance against local guidance on Section42 enquiries and 
monitor partner data to understand the effect of Leicestershire Adult Social Care pathway 
restructure and identify other areas requiring further development.  We also planned to 
assess understanding and use of thresholds through our multi-agency audits.

We finalised guidance for the Oversight Process of S42 Enquiries in NHS Settings was 
finalised and put into practice.

The Clinical Commissioning Groups, Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust and University 
Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust carried out a review of practice regarding Section 42 
safeguarding enquiry notification in specific settings that identified improvements in 
processes to be applied.

We monitored adult safeguarding alerts to the local authorities from different sources, 
including health settings through our Safeguarding Effectiveness Group.

The multi-agency audit focussed on domestic abuse considered application of thresholds 
and found that in almost all of the eighteen cases thresholds were applied appropriately.

SAB Priority 4 – Develop a clear consistent response to self-neglect and 
safeguarding for front line workers

We planned to develop a clear process across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to 
support decision making in self-neglect cases, and a quality assurance and performance 
management framework to test the impact of this.

We developed Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) guidance across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland to provide more consistent approaches to working with people in 
situations of risk, where they are not engaging with agencies and in particular for working 
with people at high risk in relation to self-neglect.

Leicestershire County Council and Rutland County Council incorporated training on the 
VARM process within their safeguarding training.

We ran four half day multi-agency events at the King Power Stadium to raise awareness 
about the Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) process for frontline staff across 
agencies, including housing, Fire and Rescue, Police, Drug and Alcohol and Domestic 
Abuse services, Community Safety, General Practitioners (GPs) and other health staff.

228 practitioners attended the training events from over twenty different agencies with many 
positive comments.  Confidence levels in understanding and using the VARM process 
increased with 98% of attendees at least fairly confident in using the VARM following training 
and the VARM guidance was revised based upon practitioner feedback from the event. 

Twenty-nine high level self-neglect cases were referred to the VARM process in 
Leicestershire.

We plan to audit use of the VARM across a broad range of agencies in 2018 and agencies 
other than Adult Social Care will consider how their VARM activity will be reported to the 

84



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 15

Board and how awareness raising around the VARM processes continues to be embedded 
on a multi-agency basis

Progress on the four priorities shared with the LRLSCB:

LSCB / SAB Priority 1 – To be assured that in situations where domestic 
abuse, substance misuse and mental health difficulties are all present the 
impact is recognised and responded to using robust multi-agency risk 
assessment, information sharing and sign posting to resources

We planned to develop a coherent, co-ordinated framework that delivers effective 
safeguarding responses where these three factors are present across families.

We researched the issues facing adult and children safeguarding and individual agencies 
with regard to this ‘trilogy of risk’.

We developed a package of customisable materials for agencies to use within their own 
organisations to communicate key messages and improve practice.

We plan to launch the materials in July 2018 and will assess the dissemination of the 
materials and the impact of this work through a quality assurance plan developed alongside 
the materials.

LSCB / SAB Priority 2: Children and Vulnerable Adults have effective, direct 
input and participation in the work of the Boards

We planned to research models of participation for children and vulnerable adults and 
develop an effective model for engagement of adults with care and support needs.

We researched models of engagement in place in other areas with regard to safeguarding 
adults.  Further work is required to develop engagement with adults for the SAB. 

We plan to develop engagement with adults for the SAB as part of the Safeguarding Adults 
Board Engagement priority for 2018/19, in conjunction with work underway with Leicester 
City Safeguarding Adults Board.

LSCB / SAB Priority 3: The Board is assured that the emotional health and 
well-being of adults and children and safeguarding risk is understood.

We planned to produce practice guidance and implement appropriate training and 
development activities to develop common understanding of emotional health and 
safeguarding risk across all agencies and ensure emotional health and safeguarding risk 
with regard to the broader family context is considered in safeguarding work with children 
and adults.

We also planned to review the Safeguarding Risk Assessment of the local Sustainability & 
Transformation plan for health.

85



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 16

We explored the gap in understanding and needs across the workforce with regard to 
emotional health and wellbeing and safeguarding.  The breadth of scope for this piece of 
work meant that this work took longer than anticipated.  

As a result of the assessment work, understanding emotional health needs of parents and 
carers was identified as the key area for work.

Further work will be taken forward by Future in Mind and Better Care Together within the 
Sustainable Transformation plan (STP).

Leicestershire Partnership Trust are developing their ‘Whole family’ approach which will 
support this.

LSCB / SAB Priority 4:  To strengthen multi-agency risk management 
approaches

We planned to develop a structured multi-agency framework to enable a reflective 
supervision session to be used in cases where the issues are complex or entrenched. 

We created an initial process following research into existing models locally and nationally 
and collating ideas and views of staff and tested the process.

We plan to test the process and adopt it by September 2018.

The impact of the process will be tested by reviewing outcomes for cases where the process 
has been used.

86



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 17

Operation of the Board

Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 
Partner Engagement and Attendance
The Board met four times during 2017/18.  The membership of the Board can be 
found on the Boards website www.lrsb.org.uk.  Almost all partners attended all or the 
majority of Board meetings during the year and sent apologies for those they missed. 

Engagement with the Criminal Justice Sector requires improvement.  Whilst the 
Community Rehabilitation Company attended one meeting and sent apologies to all 
others, there was no attendance from the Prison Service or the National Probation 
Service to any SAB Board meetings during the year.

Due to a change in personnel the representative from the private care sector only 
attended the SAB development day considering priorities for 2018/19.

All agencies consistently engage well in the subgroups of the Board.

The new Independent Chair of the Board will engage with agencies to ensure 
appropriate attendance.

Public Engagement & Participation
Despite the shared priority on engagement and participation for the SAB with the 
Safeguarding Children Board work on this for the SAB did not progress as planned 
during the year and further work is required on this.

The Board’s Business office carried out some public engagement and awareness in 
Loughborough town centre in conjunction with Charnwood Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP).   The team shared a market stall with the CSP, provided 
information leaflets and carried out a survey to assess understanding of and raise 
awareness of safeguarding adults issues.

Thirty-one surveys were completed, over half by people aged 65 years or over.

Over half of those surveyed said they knew someone who had been affected by 
abuse and the surveys identified some knowledge of adult abuse and how to 
respond to this.

The issues that concerned people the most were Anti-Social Behaviour and 
Financial Abuse.  Board office staff members were able to advise a number of 
people where to seek advice and follow up on specific concerns.

Four people said that they, or someone they knew had experience of contacting 
services in relation to abuse or neglect, but feedback on the quality of response was 
varied.   Two women praised the Police, Social Services and Women’s Aid with 
regard to their response to Domestic Abuse, however they had had to wait a long 
time for counselling and access to group work

87

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 18

More events like this are planned.

Towards the end of the year the SAB linked in with engagement work being 
undertaken by the Leicester City SAB, and has identified this as a standalone priority 
for 2018/19 that will cut across all of the work of the Board.

Assurance – Challenges and Quality Assurance
Challenge Log
The Board keeps a challenge log to monitor challenges raised by the Board and the 
outcomes of the challenges. During the year the following challenge was raised by 
the Board with safeguarding partners:

 Leicestershire County Council reported that they could not give assurance 
regarding their oversight of S42 safeguarding enquiries carried out by health 
providers, as they felt the numbers they were getting through were lower than 
expected and the council did not have evidence that everything that should be 
referred is being referred.

Following this challenge:
 A review of settings took place and assurance gained from all that their 

reporting procedures were being followed correctly.  
 Thresholds and guidance regarding Section 42 enquiries were revised.
 Documents and processes in Health organisations were changed to support 

reporting
 A bi-annual review meeting for the Oversight Process has been set up.

Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework
The Board operates a four quadrant Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework as outlined overleaf.  This is overseen by the Boards’ 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) shared with the LSCB.  The outcomes of 
and findings from this performance framework are incorporated in the relevant 
sections within the report.
  

88



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 19

Audits
During 2017-18 the SAB, along with Leicester City SAB carried out a Safeguarding 
Adults Audit Framework (SAAF) audit that tests agencies compliance against their 
safeguarding duties within Care Act 2014 through an organisational assessment 
against safeguarding standards.  

Audit returns from the seven agencies that work in Leicestershire or Rutland identify 
that most agencies consider that they are ‘effective’ or ‘excelling’ across the majority 
of the compliance questions that are relevant to them.  

 Clinical Commissioning Groups are working towards effectiveness with regard 
to managing increasing demand for DoLS and embedding the Mental 
Capacity Act in safeguarding.

 Leicester Partnerships NHS Trust (LPT) are working towards effectiveness 
regarding Mental Capacity Act within safeguarding and processes and 
regarding restrictions and restraint under this Act.

 Leicestershire County Council are excelling in embedding Making 
Safeguarding Personal, alignment with multi-agency procedures and 
safeguarding adults leads advising and supporting commissioning. 

The Fire & Rescue Service and Public Health did not submit a response this year.

Commentary on audit returns from agencies identifies that a good level of testing is 
taken out in completing the audit.  There is currently no direct challenge element to 
self-reporting of progress.  The SAB process for SAAF compliance assurance will be 
reviewed in 2018/19 to consider how the process can be streamlined and more peer 
review and challenge of compliance findings can be introduced.

In addition to its ‘SAAF’ audit process the Board continued its approach to multi-
agency auditing.  During the year two safeguarding multi-agency case file audits 
were planned focussing on the following priorities:

 Domestic Abuse
 Strategy Meetings

Due to bad weather the final multi-agency discussion and analysis part of the 
Strategy Meetings audit did not take place by the end of the year.  The findings of 
this will be reported in the next annual report.

The audit process involves individual agencies auditing a sample of their own case 
files using a common tool, and bringing audits and learning to a multi-agency 
meeting to be reviewed across partners.  The cases are selected at random by the 
individual agencies.  An independently selected random case sample will be 
considered by the SAB in future.

The Domestic abuse audit of 18 cases found that:
 Overall there was good recognition on a multi-agency basis of when domestic 

abuse concerns are also safeguarding issues and good knowledge of 
domestic abuse processes and specialist support services. 

 In all cases where risk was identified it was felt that this was reduced, 
although there were cases where the adult at risk then chose to re-establish 

89



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 20

contact with the perpetrator and further safeguarding enquiries/measures 
were then required.

 Due to the fact that adults at risk within safeguarding enquiries will have 
needs for care and support, perpetrators of domestic abuse may also be 
carers. This is clearly a complex situation as the adult at risk will often feel 
reliant on their carer and be fearful of losing the support they provide.

 Perpetrators of domestic abuse may also be family members, and the adult at 
risk may feel responsibility towards them, particularly where they are a parent 
of the perpetrator. This can be difficult as with two cases within the audit 
where the adult child had no alternative accommodation and the parent felt 
they are unable to ask them to leave their property.

 In the above situations and due to the care and support needs of adults at risk 
within safeguarding enquiries relating to domestic abuse, it can be difficult for 
the worker to speak to the adult at risk alone, and also be clear about the 
concerns, as the perpetrator will often also be present in the home, and it may 
not easy for the adult at risk to leave the property to meet elsewhere, for 
example where the person may have dementia or there are mobility needs. 
There were positive examples of practice identified within the audit where 
creative approaches were used such as meeting at a GP surgery.

 In at least one case there was evidence of the ‘Trilogy of Risk’-domestic 
abuse, mental health issues and substance misuse being present. Whilst 
there were no concerns about risks to children identified within the audit that 
had not been responded to, adult workers require ongoing support to 
recognise the additional risks that the presence of the Trilogy of Risk poses to 
children and other vulnerable people. 

 In some cases the adult at risk within a safeguarding enquiry relating to 
domestic abuse will not want any further action to be taken, and as with all 
enquiries this requires careful consideration by agencies involved about 
whether it is appropriate to cease the enquiry taking into account Making 
Safeguarding Personal (MSP) principles but also the risk within the situation.

Agencies have taken away these learning points to embed this within their practice.   
An audit regarding the Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) tool is planned 
for 2018/19.  

Learning and Improvement
Safeguarding Adults Reviews and other Learning Reviews
The SAB Safeguarding Case Review Subgroup (SCR Subgroup) receives 
information from agencies about serious incidents of abuse and considers if a 
Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) or alternative review process is required to ensure 
multi-agency learning is captured and implemented. 

Making Safeguarding Personal is an element of all reviews through a standard 
question set within terms of reference for reviews.

In 2017/18 the SCR Subgroup received two referrals for consideration and the table 
overleaf outlines their progress as of April 2018:

90



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 21

Gender Age Harm Factors Type of 
Review

Progress

Female 20 Mental Ill-health - 
Suicide

SAR Author appointed and Panel 
process underway 

Female 69 Elderly couple query 
attempted and assisted 
suicide – both survived

Potential 
SAR

Did not meet the criteria. 
SCR Subgroup assured that 
safeguards were put in place

The Subgroup also continued work on four cases referred in 2016/17:

Gender Age Harm Factors Type of 
Review

Progress

Male 90 Neglect in Care - Died Potential 
SAR

Awaiting Crown 
Prosecution Service 
decision

Female 34 Substance Misuse – Died 
following an assault

SAR 1st Draft out for 
consultation

Female 54 Chronic Self-Neglect - Died SAR Review completed 
Female 66 Domestic Abuse Mental Ill 

Health, Alcohol – serious 
injury

SAR Final Report out for 
consultation

Learning from reviews
Learning from the reviews that commenced in 2016/17 contributed to the six 
learning themes reported in last year’s annual report as follows:  

Theme 1 – ‘Better Conversations’: Staff in all agencies to be reminded of the 
importance of ‘Better conversations’ at the point of referral so they result a shared 
understanding of what the concerns, desired outcome for service user and next 
steps are.

Theme 2 – ‘Service users reluctant to engage’: This can be a very complex and 
challenging area for staff to deal with. Staff should consider creative and partnership 
solutions to development engagement.

Theme 3 – ‘Understanding Domestic Abuse and Older People’: Staff to be 
reminded that in assessing Domestic Abuse situations they have a good 
understanding of aspects and impact of domestic abuse and consider specific 
vulnerabilities and relationship dynamics for individuals.

Theme 4 – ‘Understanding Mental Capacity’: Staff should have knowledge of the 
Mental Capacity Act relevant to their role; however, in practice, staff are supporting 
decision making all the time, so need to assume capacity unless there are indicators 
to the contrary for that individual and be clear who is accessing capacity, and what is 
the impact of Mental ill-health on daily living.

Theme 5 – ‘The impact of Alcohol misuse’: Supporting people who misuse drugs 
and alcohol can be challenging, complex and unpredictable. The issues are closely 

91



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 22

linked to Themes 1, 2 and 4. Staff should additionally consider resources and expert 
advice available and how they may be accessed.

Theme 6 – Self-Neglect: Staff need to be able to recognise Self-Neglect and be 
familiar with how to respond

The importance of use of the Threshold Guidance for Adult Safeguarding was 
highlighted through these themes.

Domestic Homicide Reviews
The LSCB and SAB manage the process for carrying out Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs) on behalf of and commissioned by the Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. This is managed through the joint 
Children and Adults section of the Boards’ SCR Subgroup.  

One DHR was completed during the year.  Two further potential DHRs were 
considered, one is being taken forward as a DHR locally and the other is being 
reviewed in another geographical area. 

Development Work and Disseminating Learning
The SAB produces a quarterly newsletter in conjunction with the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board, called Safeguarding Matters.   This is used to disseminate key 
messages including from reviews and audits across the partnership and to front-line 
practitioners.  

The September 2017 Edition of Safeguarding Matters was a ‘Learning from Reviews’ 
Special.  This edition was relevant to all staff whether the workers focus is on adults 
or children, front line or practice supervisor/manager

Learning has also been shared through the Trainers Network and single agency 
internal and single agency internal processes, including to GPs via the Primary Care 
Safeguarding Children Quality Markers (SCQM) tool.

The Board carried out a review of Safeguarding Matters and the Board website with 
practitioners across partners.  Feedback included that Safeguarding Matters was a 
useful tool for keeping up to date with safeguarding learning, and also for 
disseminating safeguarding information across teams. Some areas for improvement 
were identified regarding design and highlighting items of interest for specific 
audiences.

The Boards website was felt to be easy to access and find relevant information on, 
but not so easy to find out what had been updated.  Some areas for improvement 
were identified with regard to colours used and adding Board papers to the site.

Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme
The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme was established to 
support local areas to review the deaths of people with learning disabilities, identify 
learning from those deaths, and take forward the learning into service improvement 
initiatives. The programme is led by the University of Bristol, and commissioned by 
the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) on behalf of NHS England.

92



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 23

Locally the programme reports into the Joint Executive of the Leicestershire & 
Rutland and Leicester City Safeguarding Adults Boards.  After initial work to 
commence the programme in 2016-2017 the programme went fully live in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) on 1 October 2017.

The programme received 42 referrals between 1 October 2017 and 17 July 2018 
across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland, three reviews have been completed.

Indicative findings from these referrals and reviews include:

 Average age of death for those with Learning Disabilities is lower than the life 
expectancy for the general population.

 Twice as many deaths of people with learning disabilities occur in hospital 
than in the community

 The most prevalent causes of death are respiratory related conditions.

The priorities for the programme locally are to:

 Recruit further LeDeR reviewers 

 Continue to raise awareness of the programme with stakeholders

 Begin to formulate Action Plans based upon the findings of completed LeDeR 
reviews

 Integrate LeDeR into LLR’s programme of work to improve services for people 
with learning disabilities (through mechanisms such as the Learning 
Disabilities Partnership Boards & local/regional strategies)

Co-ordination of and Procedures for Safeguarding Adults 
In response to learning from the reviews and audits of practice, alongside research 
findings and review findings nationally, the Board has developed and updated local 
safeguarding procedures as follows:

 Completion and sign-off of the revised Safeguarding Adults Information 
Sharing Agreement (ISA)

 Developed procedures regarding Modern Slavery
 Developed an Advocates policy
 Strengthened reference to mental capacity and best interests processes in the 

section regarding Self-Neglect
 Updated information for practitioners on Preventing Violent Exremism
 More information to support practitioners to recognise and respond to ill 

treatment and wilful neglect  
 Updated the Escalation and Professional Disagreement Process
 Reviewed guidance on Thresholds and Section 42 enquiries in health care 

settings
 Revised guidance on the VARM
 Updated guidance for Managing allegations re persons in positions of trust

Future Work planned includes:

93



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 24

 Review of the structure of procedures to streamline them and support 
practitioners to utilise them more easily. 

Training and Development

The Competency Framework for safeguarding adults in Leicester, Leicestershire & 
Rutland sets out minimum competencies and standards across the adults workforce 
and gives advice as to how practitioners can meet these requirements through 
learning, development and training.   This supports practitioners, managers and 
organisations to ensure a good level of competence across the partnership 
workforce with regard to safeguarding adults. 

The SAB, through its Safeguarding Effectiveness Group regularly requests 
information from its partners regarding the effectiveness of their safeguarding 
training programmes.  All partners have provided information to assure the Board 
that staff are appropriately trained.

The Board does not have general resource to support Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Adults training.  Some multi-agency training is provided through individual agencies 
training programs, such as Leicestershire County Council. 

Leicestershire’s training has included eighteen days of a new ‘Safeguarding Adults in 
Practice’ core day, to approximately 400 front line staff and supporting bolt on 
workshop modules, including Domestic Abuse and Coercive Control.

The Board ran four half-day VARM training courses in conjunction with the Leicester 
City SAB to increase awareness and effective use of the VARM to support 
prevention of safeguarding need.

The Board supports a Safeguarding Adults Trainers Network has met four times with 
regular attendance of forty staff from the Independent, Statutory and Voluntary 
Sector who have a responsibility for developing and delivering learning and 
development opportunities.

The Network continues to give participants the opportunity to discuss and develop 
their organisations approach in light of: National and local developments in practice 
and procedures; Learning from reviews (national and local); Embedding the 
Competency Framework and updates to training materials and resources.

The Network also supports dissemination of information and awareness raising 
materials such as Safeguarding Matters, Leaflets and training events.

Feedback from the group has been sought on levels of understanding of MSP and 
ease of access to the procedures and this feedback has influenced further 
developments to procedures.

94



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 25

Leicestershire & Rutland SAB and LSCB Finance 2017-18

 £ 
SAB Contributions
Leicestershire County Council 52,798
Rutland County Council 8,240
Leicestershire Police 7,970
Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and East 
Leicestershire & Rutland)

15,930

University Hospitals of Leicestershire NHS Trust 7,970
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 7,970
Total SAB Income 103,334

LSCB Contributions
Leicestershire County Council 84,003
Rutland County Council 52,250
Leicestershire Police 43,940
Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and East 
Leicestershire & Rutland)

55,760

Cafcass 1,100
National Probation Service 1,348
Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and Rutland 
Community Rehabilitation Company (Reducing Re-offending 
Partnerships)

3,000

Total LSCB Income 241,401

Total Income (LSCB & SAB) 344,735

£
SAB and LSCB Operating Expenditure
Staffing 214,966 
Independent Chairing 22,500 
Support Services 30,500 
Operating Costs 13,500 
Case Reviews 16,290 
Training Co-ordination and Provision (LSCB) 55,641 

Total SAB & LSCB Operating Expenditure 387,037 

Deficit £8,662

LSCB & SAB Reserve account at end of year* £55,641

*£4,625 charged in 2018/19. 

95



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 26

Business Plan Priorities 2018-19
Review and analysis of learning, performance information and emerging issues have 
led us to identify the following priorities for 2018-19:

Development Priority Summary
1. Prevention Prevention of Safeguarding need through building 

resilience and self-awareness in adults with care 
and support needs

2. Mental Capacity Improve the understanding of capacity to consent 
and the application of the Mental Capacity Act 
across agencies

3. Thresholds Promote a better and more consistent 
understanding and use of adult safeguarding 
thresholds

4. Engagement Ensuring the work of the Safeguarding Adults 
Board is informed by adults with care and support 
needs

For 2018-19 there are no priorities shared with the Leicestershire & Rutland Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.
Action plans are in place for each of these priorities.

96



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 27

Partner Updates

                        

Leicestershire and Rutland and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) are committed to the promotion of safeguarding adults, supporting the work 
of the safeguarding board and to support staff and partners to undertake their 
safeguarding responsibilities. 

In 2017/18 the CCGs demonstrated their support to the promotion of the adult 
safeguarding agenda by increasing the Adult Safeguarding and Mental Capacity Act 
component of a Designated Nurse role with a view to ensuring the voice of the Adult 
at risk is more equitably represented in its work.

We have strengthened internal and external processes to support care homes where 
care may have fallen below the expected standard. 

In an attempt to increase the knowledge of adult safeguarding within our future 
workforce, safeguarding adults training is provided to pre-registration nursing 
students - this includes raising awareness of board procedures and elements of 
board work.

We have worked with GP practices to improve safeguarding adult understanding and 
provide support to GPs, CCG and external staff with regard to management of 
complex cases. 

Relevant policies have been reviewed and amended.  Systems to ensure adult 
safeguarding is integral to our procurement processes have been enhanced and 
safeguarding adults is also a prominent feature in our processes for seeking 
assurance regarding quality of care from providers of commissioned services.

In addition to the production of the Domestic Violence and Abuse Policy that has 
been disseminated to all GP Practices across Leicestershire and Rutland, UAVA 
have been commissioned by the CCGs to deliver Managing Disclosures of Domestic 
Abuse briefings to all GP Safeguarding Leads. UAVA have also provided Train the 
Trainer sessions to all members of the CCG Safeguarding Team to enable the team 
to continue to deliver the Domestic Abuse briefing sessions to GP’s once UAVA 
have delivered their CCG 6 commissioned sessions. 

The CCGs undertake work on an ongoing basis to promote the work of the LRSAB. 
The Safeguarding Team led the arrangements for the Safeguarding Health Network- 
a quarterly meeting of safeguarding leads from all of the CCG commissioned 
services. During Q3 and Q4 two meetings have taken place: discussions included 
the pending changes in DoLS legislation and the delivery of the NHSE highlight 
report for adults safeguarding. 

97



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 28

Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Board / Safeguarding Adults Board 
information has been cascaded to the Safeguarding Health Network that includes 
NHS and Non NHS Providers.

Messages from Adult Serious Case Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews have 
been cascaded to GP’s via the Primary Care Safeguarding Children Quality Markers 
Tool (SCQM).

The CCGs’ commitment to safeguarding and working in partnership will continue into 
2018/19.

There is currently work ongoing with Trading Standards within LCC after some initial 
scoping identified that around 40% of the people Trading Standards are alerted to be 
the national Scam Hub are known to Adult Social Care (ASC). 

Following initial pilot activity in 2017 the Adults and Communities Department has 
agreed to fund two workers to provide awareness-raising of scams and rogue traders 
to vulnerable people and organisations who support them.  Trading Standards 
workers will also provide support to victims and social care workers through co-
working.  ASC are working closely with Trading Standards and have delivered joint 
training to front line staff and managers. 

We have been involved in a review of the MARAC process with the Police and 
agreed to host a Social Care post within the planned MARAC Hub to provide advice 
guidance and support at initial referral stage. The post will help ensure that the is an 
effective and  multi-agency approach to manage high risk domestic abuse cases on 
a daily basis and therefore early identifications of which cases also meet 
safeguarding thresholds. The recruitment process is underway for this post. 

This year has seen a major refresh of our internal training programme with Core 
Modules and e-learning now available to all staff. This has led to a 93% take up of 
the new offer.  Safeguarding audits and views of staff and managers were used in 
shaping the new training offer.  The core training day uses real and live anonymised 
case studies in order to accurately reflect the work and challenges workers can face 
within their practice.  Active participation and discussion is encouraged throughout 
the training sessions.  All practitioners are asked for confidence scores before and 
after the training day and this has evidenced a consistent improvement in confidence 
levels within safeguarding practice.  In addition to the core training the Lead 
Practitioner for Safeguarding and Learning and Development advisors have 
delivered further training and workshops, including around Organisational 
Safeguarding, Financial Fraud, Domestic Abuse and Vulnerable Adults Risk 
Management (VARM). 

98



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 29

In order to respond to increasing numbers of safeguarding referrals, a key area of 
focus for LCC has been be in continuing to develop consistent and robust 
approaches to applying safeguarding thresholds and addressing initial areas of risk 
relating to safeguarding adults referrals.  Therefore the focus of the Safeguarding 
Adults Team has been revised.  

The purpose of the Safeguarding Adult Team is to ensure that there is a consistent 
and timely approach to applying safeguarding thresholds at the ‘front end’ of the 
process, and in identifying and addressing immediate risk and establishing the 
outcomes of the person involved, in line with Making Safeguarding Personal 
principles. The new team has recently become operational and therefore is on-going 
analysis of the impact on throughput and allocation of safeguarding cases. Early 
indications are that the through initial swift responses including meeting with the 
adult at risk as soon as possible, the team are able to more quickly identify where 
safeguarding thresholds are not met and alternative signposting and referrals are 
required to manage any risk. This enables the Locality Teams to focus their 
resources on adults at risks who may be unable to protect themselves from abuse, 
and is likely to result in lower numbers of safeguarding enquiries being reported by 
LCC going forward. 

Discussions are on-going with Signs of Safety (SoS) consultants looking at 
developing this approach for adults, particularly around a model for safeguarding 
meetings.  

We have been working on processes to support staff to effectively evidence robust 
decision making within safeguarding practice, potentially based on SoS model and a 
new case recording template has now been developed and is being piloted across 
several localities, and this will be audited in the next couple of weeks.

Following the development of our database to better record and report on how the 
principles of Making Safeguarding Personal are being applied, we can evidence the 
increasing numbers of people who feel their outcomes are being met and they felt 
listened to within the safeguarding enquiry. 

We have facilitated workshops and training with NHS colleagues to improve the 
shared understanding of Section 42 oversight duties and application of safeguarding 
thresholds within health settings.

We are committed to working with independent providers and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) to improve the quality and safety of care provided. This year has 
seen a reduction in safeguarding investigations in care home settings. 

Our safeguarding data evidences that LCC has effectively worked with Residential 
Care Providers to reduce risk in recent years as the percentage of safeguarding 
enquiries undertaken in care homes in Leicestershire has dropped from 61.6% in 
2015/16 to 38.9% in 2016/17. This work continues and there is also a focus on work 
with domiciliary and supported living provider services.

LCC has active membership of the SAB subgroups and we have had significant 
involvement in the review and update of several key pieces of safeguarding 

99



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 30

guidance, including VARM, People in Positions of Trust (PIPOT) and Thresholds and 
the current review of the Multi-Agency Policy and Procedures. The revised LLR 
thresholds guidance is now being adopted regionally by the East Midlands 
Safeguarding Adults Network (EMSAN) with a proposal that this is taken forward by 
the Association of Directors of Adults Social Services (ADASS) potentially on a 
national basis. 

The SAB Audit Group is also chaired by the LCC Lead Practitioner for Safeguarding 
and has successfully delivered multi-agency audits around Domestic Abuse and 
Strategy meetings in the last year. 

As active members of EMSAN we have delivered guidance on effective safeguarding 
Audit assurance tools and the use of agreed thresholds for front line workers. Shared 
practice across the region helps to embed best practice and influence consistent 
standards.  The work of the EMSAN is fed back to the LRSAB through the 
Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR), Policy and Procedures and Safeguarding 
Effectiveness Group (SEG) subgroups. 

Deprivation of Liberty safeguards have continued to present a challenge in 2017-18 
as demand for sign-offs continue to rise. We have targeted our most experienced 
staff to undertake training and qualification to carry out Best Interest Assessments to 
most effectively manage this demand and continue to prioritise those most at risk for 
urgent assessment and authorisation.

Rutland County Council (RCC) continues to utilise its Adult Social Care role – 
Assistant Care Manager (ACM) – within the Prevention and Safeguarding Team in 
order to provide time limited and person centre outcomes for those adults who are 
deemed at risk of being re-referred as a Safeguarding Adult enquiry.  This service is 
non-means-tested to encourage those at risk of self-neglect to engage with support.

Previous year’s plans to recruit another ACM and a social worker to extend capacity 
and provide a Rapid Response role were agreed and there are now two practitioners 
in these posts fulfilling the remit of the roles to provide a quick response in cases 
where safeguarding, neglect and self-neglect are indicated.  

Case example of the type of support provided;
Practitioners responded to a case of an adult who was self-neglecting, was in poor 
health and who had no support from family. The adult was very resistant to support 
at first and it took regular visits from our ACM over a couple of months to build a 
relationship and trust. The adult did subsequently agree to support in the form of 
assistance in accessing health appointments and the provision of regular personal 
care in a respite bed. RCC also supported to deep clean his property and secured a 

100



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 31

grant to provide him with new furniture. He also agreed to a package of support in 
his home which was personalised to include support to access the community once 
a week and manage his own tasks e.g. shopping. Recent feedback from him would 
suggest that he is recovering well from his acute episode and is happier in his home 
environment. 

RCC continues to monitor and develop its Liquid Logic system to provide accurate 
measures of reporting relating to safeguarding enquiries in order to identify trends 
and themes to shape service development moving forward. East Midlands 
Safeguarding Adults Network questions have been included within the RCC 
Personalisation survey which is completed at the end of any safeguarding enquiry to 
record the adults experience of the process. 

All new Adult Social Care practitioners who are responsible for processing enquiries 
have completed safeguarding adults training at enquiry level. 

All practitioners within the Adult Social Care service in Rutland, including integrated 
Health colleagues, attend Safeguarding Continuous Professional Development 
(CPD) sessions bi-monthly. These sessions are consistently well attended by the 
service and provide updates on Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland multi-agency 
audits, relevant case law, and practice updates. Workers are encouraged to present 
case studies for peer review and peer shared learning.

Adult Safeguarding Basic Awareness Training (in-house) continues to be provided to 
all new starters within Adult Social Care and refresher training ongoing for current 
employees. 

Further development will be ongoing regarding legal literacy, case law as it develops, 
and learning from audits and quality assurance. 

 Building closer links between Adult Social Care, housing and community 
safety colleagues – improving community resilience

 Continuing to develop closer working across ASC and Children’s social care - 
domestic violence and mental health

 CPD on domestic abuse and training provided to embed the trilogy of risk 
suite of resources

101



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 32

Adults At Risk
We have continued to raise the understanding of adults at risk by our frontline staff 
through training and communication strategies. This has resulted in an 8% increase 
in AAR referrals to 14,000 in 2017/2018
HMIC said;
“The force is fully committed to identifying and helping vulnerable people. It now 
works even more effectively with partner organisations. This helps it to get a co-
ordinated view of the number of vulnerable people in the local community and of the 
needs which these people have. Officers and staff recognise when people are at risk 
of harm, and the force provides a comprehensive range of services to deal with the 
effects of mental ill-health, particularly through the work of the proactive vulnerability 
engagement (PAVE) team.” 

Domestic Abuse
We view the increased reporting of Domestic Abuse as positive rising by 12.5% in 
2017/18 to 18,000 incidents. This increased demand does create capacity issues 
with a reduced workforce. We utilise a range of tactical options to resolve situations 
including domestic violence prevention orders (increase of 41%), disclosures under 
Claire’s Law, as well as supporting victims to arrange their own preventative orders.
We take a lead role in multi-agency working both tactically through MARAC and 
strategically through the Domestic and Sexual Violence and abuse Executive and 
Operations group. We have worked with partners to create a, Vision, Strategic 
Objectives, recommendations and a delivery plan, all derived from the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment.

Improvements in how the force deals with domestic abuse have been recognised; 
the force has had two “Good” inspections from HMIC;
“Victims of domestic abuse now receive a better service from the force. This is 
because the force works more closely with partner organisations, has more staff who 
have been trained to carry out safeguarding, and because there are more frequent 
multi-agency meetings to consider high-risk cases. Joint work between the force and 
other organisations has resulted in an exemplary sexual assault referral centre 
(SARC). The centre offers comprehensive professional support to victims of sexual 
assault.”

VAWG & Safeguarding Hub Project
Funding from the Home Office Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy, is 
enabling us, together with partners, to make improvements to MARAC and the 
Domestic Abuse Support Team. The Force has embarked upon a project to create a 
single Safeguarding hub. This will create a holistic process which reviews, 
researches and assigns an appropriate response which is better able to deal with the 
complex needs of service users. Although this will start as predominately a Police 

102



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 33

capability, we are working with partners to exploit opportunities to work together so 
that our collective offer is more effective and efficient for the user. 

We successfully introduced a hospital ‘independent domestic violence advisor’ 
(IDVA) into the Emergency Department at the Leicester Royal Infirmary. The IDVA 
has been instrumental in supporting the team to secure refuge for a woman who had 
no recourse to public funds due to her circumstances. The IDVA has also ensured 
that a number of patients have received specialist domestic abuse support before 
leaving the department. 

We transferred all of our safeguarding records for maternity, children and adults onto 
an electronic database to ensure data is kept in one place. This means that the team 
have ready access to cases and information, to enable us to cross reference 
information that the Trust holds on safeguarding concerns

We delivered accredited PREVENT WRAP training to over 7,475 staff as part of a 
plan to train 87.9% of clinical staff by April 2018, as part of our NHS England 
contractual requirements

We embedded the principles of Making Safeguarding Personal into the core 
business of adult safeguarding. This means that the adult safeguarding nurses can 
ensure the wishes of the adult are central to our investigations. 

We have worked with safeguarding partner agencies to complete 5 multi-agency 
audits.   

We have promoted the use of the NHS England Safeguarding App.  This means that 
staff using the App have immediate access to consistent information about 
safeguarding and the wider agenda such as Mental Capacity Act.

We have worked with local authority partners to review the system for undertaking 
internal safeguarding adult investigations, and to provide assurance that this is 
compliant with the Care Act.  This means that we have good arrangements in place 
to appropriately investigate adult safeguarding concerns which occur within the 
Trust, and that we can demonstrate lessons identified and learned.  

103



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 34

2017/18 has seen significant improvements in the way we work with partners and 
target our activities at the most vulnerable people.

Referrals for Home Fire Safety Checks are now triaged according to risk information 
provided by partner agencies, so we can respond quickly to those people most in 
need. The main role of the Community Safety team is to manage high fire risk cases, 
and work with the occupant and relevant agencies to reduce the risk of fire. In cases 
when there is a direct threat of arson we visit the property the same day. 

We now have a designated adult safeguarding coordinator who triages and follows 
up safeguarding concerns. Cases are predominantly related to neglect or self-
neglect, often in association with fire risks and concerns about health and well-being. 
The co-ordinator is based within the police adult referral team, which facilitates 
information sharing and more efficient partnership working. We conduct joint home 
visits with partners and regularly contribute to Vulnerable Adult Risk Management 
(VARM) meetings to support high-risk cases.

Our Community Safety staff attend relevant multi agency training and contribute to 
the training programme. We offer training to front line staff in partner agencies (e.g. 
domiciliary carers, adult social care, and police) on identifying and reporting fire 
safety. All our public-facing staff have received safeguarding awareness training and 
individual teams receive further training relevant to their role. For example, our Fire 
Safety Officers (who carry out inspections of businesses) requested training on 
modern slavery.

Over the last 12 months LFRS has continued to work with hoarders and has 
contributed to hoarding and self-neglect workshops both locally and nationally. 

Following serious fires we always offer a ‘Post Incident Response’ to help reassure 
the local community and offer fire safety information and home checks to 
neighbouring properties. Our fire station managers attend district community safety 
partnership meetings, in order to work together to reduce those risks to the 
community and to individuals. 

The National Probation Service in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (NPS LLR) 
places adult safeguarding at the heart of our practice, both in relation to preventing 
further victims and in our work with offenders. Adult safeguarding also remains a key 
consideration of the work of Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) 
and, as such, our work in partnership with both statutory and duty-to-cooperate 

104



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 35

partners continues to make a significant contribution to the management of those 
cases where safeguarding is an issue.

The core adult safeguarding e-learning is completed by all staff at all grades. It is a 
requirement for new staff to complete within their probationary period, and is 
refreshed every 3 years across the whole staff group.  For front line staff, this is 
followed by a face to face learning event.  Additional learning opportunities across 
the county are offered to staff as they become available, together with internal 
reflective practice sessions and line management supervision, in which safeguarding 
issues are reviewed, and guidance and oversight provided.

NPS LLR gives consideration to the care and support needs of offenders in the 
community (including pre and post-custody) and work in partnership with offenders 
and local authorities where such needs exist.  Every offender supervised by NPS 
LLR has a full OASys assessment completed, identifying risks posed by and to the 
offender. An ongoing dialogue takes place between the Offender Manager and the 
offender in relation to issues of known vulnerabilities. Action is then taken in 
response to this and recorded appropriately.  Every offender is encouraged and 
supported to complete a self-assessment questionnaire which provides a further 
opportunity to identify adult safeguarding issues. 

Operational managers complete quality assurance audits on risk management and 
sentence plans to ensure oversight of practice capability amongst our staff, with 
identification and action in relation to safeguarding issues forming a key part of these 
quality assurance audits. These audits are due to increase in frequency over the 
year ahead, together with a planned inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Probation. 

At a senior management level, NPS LLR continue to engage positively with the 
Safeguarding Adults Boards, contributing to the Review Sub Group and Domestic 
Homicide Reviews. Learning is shared with staff across NPS LLR in written format 
and in team briefings, together with divisional and national learning from Serious 
Further Offence reviews. 

NPS LLR remain committed to delivering a quality service, and learning from our 
practice and partnerships.

Safeguarding touches everyone’s lives at some time, including the lives of the 
service users and staff of Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). Many of our 
service users have experienced abuse of some kind, or may be at risk of 
experiencing abuse either now or in the future.  Few of these service users exist in 
isolation, which is why in 2017 LPT have continued to build on the work to adopted a 
‘Whole Family’ approach to safeguarding, including moving to a position of a Whole 
Family safeguarding team instead of separate Adult and Children team. 

105



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 36

Training and information for staff has been adapted in relation to Individual and 
organisational responsibilities and in line with promoting a Whole family approach.  
Likewise, LPT has continued to work towards improving health outcomes for Looked 
after Children (LAC) and supporting the Child Death Overview Process (CDOP). 

The Trust has launched a Community Mental Capacity Act Champions Group to 
build on the work of the In-patient Champions group in supporting consistent good 
practice in assessing Mental Capacity.

The PREVENT Statutory Duty was introduced in 2015, placing specific statutory 
obligations on health organisations and other partners to support the protection of 
individuals vulnerable to exploitation by extremist groups. Moving forward LPT will 
have a Prevent Lead and Prevent co-ordinator as part of the Whole Family 
Safeguarding Team, who will ensure compliance with statutory responsibilities 
including training delivery.

Given the vulnerabilities of those we work with in LPT, we must continue to focus on 
‘Early Help’ and Prevention and lesson learning in 2017-18 in order to prevent the 
risk of Abuse to Vulnerable Adults and Children in contact with LPT services. 
LPT is closely monitored in relation to safeguarding activity both internally and 
externally to ensure the organisation is compliant with statutory requirements placed 
upon health organisations.

     

Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire & Rutland Community Rehabilitation 
Company (DLNR CRC) is responsible for the supervision of low and medium risk of 
harm adult offenders, the provision of a range of rehabilitative interventions for CRC 
and National Probation Service (NPS) cases and the delivery of ‘Through the Gate’ 
(TTG) services in Resettlement Prisons. This work involves working with adult 
offenders who are both perpetrators of abusive behaviour and individuals who 
present with multiple vulnerabilities

Safeguarding is a core statutory function of DLNR CRC. Risk assessment and risk 
management is one of its key activities, driving all its activities with service users. 
Safeguarding considerations are considered within assessment and risk 
management plans at all stages. DLNR CRC use specialist risk assessment tools 
such as Offender Assessment System (OASys) and Spousal Assault Risk 
Assessment (SARA) to support defensive decision making across all areas of risk. 
All operational staff are trained in safeguarding as part of their core training and 
DLNR CRC has a competency framework to ensure that all cases are allocated to 
appropriately trained staff on the basis of identified risk and need.

DLNR CRC work with a significant number of cases that are perpetrators of domestic 
abuse. All our case managers are specifically trained for this work and we also 
deliver two programmes dependent upon risk and need. These programmes are 

106



LRSAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 37

called Building Better Relationships Programme and Safer Choices respectively. In 
all this work we also employ partner link workers to provide support to victims of 
abuse through linking them with local specialist agencies. DLNR CRC are a key 
participating partner in local Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
arrangements. We have established protocols for the exchange of information to 
support decision making and also attend all MARAC’s with listed cases.

DLNR CRC recognise that abuse can also occur in other contexts and across other 
vulnerabilities. DLNR CRC is committed to working with its adult social care, 
substance misuse, housing and health partners from both the statutory and voluntary 
sector to support a joined up approach to prevent and reduce the escalation of 
abuse. 

DLNR has quality assurance mechanisms to support the maintenance of effective 
practice standards. All team managers within DLNR CRC attend ‘Quality Days’ on a 
monthly basis during which case records are sampled and quality assured. DLNR 
CRC also have an Internal Audit team who undertakes themed audits across DLNR. 
DLNR CRC are also subject to audits through Her Majesty’s Prison & Probation 
Service (HMPPS) contract management team and HM Inspectorate of Probation 
(HMIP).

107



This page is intentionally left blank



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 1

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 
LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 
BOARD (LRLSCB) 

Annual Report 
2017/18

Document Status 

First draft completed: 21/06/2018

Approved by Executive:

Approved by Board:

Published:

Report Author: Safeguarding Boards Business Office,
Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and SAB 

Independent Chair: Simon Westwood

109



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 2

Foreword

I am pleased to present the Annual Report for the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local Safeguarding Children (LRLSCB) 2017/18.  

The report is published at the same time as the Annual Report for the 
Safeguarding Adults Board.  The reports include commentary on areas of 
cross-cutting work we have undertaken through our joint business plan. 

The key purpose of the report is to assess the impact of the work we 
have undertaken in 2017/18 on safeguarding outcomes for children, and 
young people in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Though the report is joint 
for the two areas it provides distinct findings about practice and 

performance in both Leicestershire and Rutland.

LRSCB Vision
The Board needs to ensure that the strategic vision for safeguarding is actively promoted 
and communicated to all staff in partner agencies.

Purpose of the Safeguarding Children arrangements:

 Promote continuous improvement through a realistic and focused business plan with 
a few key priorities and implementation support appropriately resourced.

 To enable and require partnerships and agencies to account for and evidence what 
they do that safeguards children.

What we want to achieve for children and young people: 
Children are safe, they tell us they feel safe and know who to turn to for help and 
assistance

 We want to find evidence of greater emotional resilience, self-worth/confidence in 
young people 

 Overall, we want to see reductions in adverse childhood experiences e.g. abuse, 
exploitation, neglect, mental ill health, being affected by domestic abuse and 
substance misuse

We can never eliminate risk entirely. We need to be as confident as we can be that every 
child and vulnerable adult, are supported to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. The 
Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies are working well 
together to safeguard adults and children in Leicestershire and Rutland.

I hope that this Annual Report will help to keep you informed and assured that agencies in 
Leicestershire and Rutland are committed to continuous improvement. 

Simon Westwood

Independent Chair 

110



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 3

Contents

Foreword 2
Summary 4
Board Background 6
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire 8
Safeguarding Children in Rutland 11
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Rutland 13
Business Plan 2017/18 Achievements 15
Operation of the Board

- Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 19
- Challenge and Assurance 20
- Learning and Improvement 24
- Child Death Overview Panel 26
- Procedures and Co-ordination 26
- Training and Development 27

Income and Expenditure 2017/18 30
Business Plan Priorities 2018/19 31
Partner Updates 32

111



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 4

Summary
The Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, workers and 
agencies are working well together to safeguard children in Leicestershire and 
Rutland.

In reaching this conclusion, we have: 

Sought assurance that those who work directly with children listen to what they are 
saying and to respond to them appropriately and worked with young people to set up 
a Young People’s Advisory Group to influence and support the work of the Board.

Monitored data and information on a regular basis. Learning from this includes: 
 Whilst there were more calls to children’s services there were fewer referrals 

to social care in Leicestershire and Rutland than previous years.
 There are fewer children on Child Protection Plans in Leicestershire and 

Rutland than previous years.
 The proportion of repeat child protection plans in Leicestershire has increased
 Neglect remains the most prevalent form of abuse in Leicestershire and 

Rutland 
 There was a continued increase in the number of children recorded as home 

educated in Leicestershire, but appropriate safeguarding approaches are in 
place.

Worked on and reviewed progress against our Business Development Plan for 
2017/18;

Conducted a series of formal audits of our safeguarding arrangements, including: 
 A ‘Section 11’ peer review of organisations safeguarding approaches 
 Case audits of frontline practice regarding ‘Early Help’ services and Children 

with Disabilities; 

Carried out Serious Case Reviews and other reviews of cases and disseminated 
learning from these across the partnership. 

Reviewed safeguarding procedures and developed stand-alone procedures, 
including a procedure regarding pre-birth safeguarding; 

Provided training in partnership with Leicester City LSCB on a number of topics 
relevant to safeguarding including our Safeguarding Children Competency 
Framework and learning from Serious Case Reviews.

Commissioned work to assess safeguarding knowledge and practice in the voluntary 
and community sector that identified some areas for improvement and further work.

More information on all of these areas can be found throughout the Annual Report

The nature of the Board is of holding partners to account and promoting learning and 
improvement. Therefore the Board is always considering how it can further improve 

112



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 5

safeguarding practice.  The key areas for further development arising from the 
ongoing work of the LSCB include: 

 Embedding the work of the Young Peoples Advisory Group to enable children 
to influence the LSCB’s priorities and their delivery more fully. 

 Continuing to challenge and support improvement in practice with regard to 
supervision, recording and responding to the lived experience of Children.

 Developing practice across the partnership regarding safeguarding Children 
with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.

 Increasing assurance regarding children missing from home and care and the 
strength of the partnership response to this.

 Improve awareness raising of private fostering across the partnership and 
wider community.

Key Messages

 Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard children in 
Leicestershire and Rutland.

 Capacity of workers is impacting upon their ability to attend development 
opportunities and put learning into practice.

 Understanding of Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks and the Local 
Authority Designated Officer (LADO) needs to be improved within the 
voluntary and community sector.

 Consistency of practice within agencies across a range of areas of work still 
requires improvement.  This includes quality of assessment, recording, 
information sharing and hearing and responding to the voice of children.

 The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding 
of children, preparing for the changes in legislation which will require the 
establishment of new safeguarding arrangements by 2019 led by three 
statutory partners; the local authorities, the clinical commissioning groups for 
the area and the police.

 We will continue to work with other strategic partnerships to further clarify 
governance and leadership 

113



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 6

Board Background

The LRLSCB serves the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  It is a statutory 
body established in compliance with The Children Act 2004 (Section13) and The 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations 2006 to:

a) Coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for 
the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the 
area; and

b) Ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for 
those purposes.

Its work is governed by ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’ statutory 
guidance.

The Board is made up of organisations in the public sector with lay members, 
voluntary sector representation and led by an Independent Chair.  The Board has 
established subgroups and task and finish groups to function effectively and achieve 
its objectives.  The membership and structure of the board can be found on the 
Board’s website www.lrsb.org.uk.

Under the Children and Social Work Act 2017 LSCBs are due to cease and local 
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements will be established.  The detail of the 
requirements for these new arrangements was published in Working Together 2018 
guidance and the new arrangements will be required to be in place by September 
2019.  Until multi-agency safeguarding arrangements are in place LSCBs will 
continue to function under current statutory guidance.

The LRLSCB continued to meet four times a year alongside its partner Board: the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board.  Each of the meetings 
comprises a Children’s Board meeting, an Adults’ Board meeting and a Joint 
meeting of the two Boards.  The Board is supported by an integrated Safeguarding 
Adults and Children Executive Group and a range of subgroups and task and finish 
groups to deliver the key functions and Business Plan priorities.

From July 2018 the LRLSCB will no longer meet alongside the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board, as that Board aligns its operation more closely 
with the Leicester City Safeguarding Adults Board.  

The LRLSCB works closely with Leicester City Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LCLSCB) on several areas of work to support effective working across the two 
areas.  The LRLSCB and the LCLSCB have established a joint executive that 
oversees joint areas of business for the two Boards. 

The LSCB is funded through contributions from its partner agencies.  In addition to 
financial contributions, in-kind contributions from partner agencies are essential in 
allowing the Board to operate effectively.  In-kind contributions include partner 
agencies providing training resource for the inter-agency programme and chairing 
and participating in the work of the Board and its subgroups and Leicestershire 
County Council hosting the Safeguarding Boards Business Office.  The income and 
expenditure of the Board is set out on Page 30 of this report.

114

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 7

Independent Chair
The LRLSCB is led by an Independent Chair.  The Independence of the Chair of the 
LSCB is a requirement of Working Together 2015.  

During 2017/18 Leicestershire and Rutland continued to have a joint Chair for both 
Safeguarding Adults and Children Boards.  From 2018/19 Simon Westwood will 
continue to Chair the LRLSCB. A new joint Independent Chair has been appointed 
by Leicestershire & Rutland and Leicester City Safeguarding Adults Boards as part 
of aligning safeguarding adults work across the two areas. 

The Independent Chair provides independent scrutiny and challenge and better 
enables each organisation to be held to account for its safeguarding performance.

During this plan period the Independent Chair was accountable to the Chief 
Executives of Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils.  They, together with the 
Directors of Children and Adult Services and the Lead Members for Children and 
Adult Services, formally performance manage the Independent Chair.

The structure of the LRLSCB and membership of the Board can be found on the 
Board’s website www.lrsb.org.uk.

LSCB Business Plan Priorities 2017/18
Priorities set by the LRLSCB for development and assurance in 2017/18 were that:

 Children at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE), trafficking and missing are 
effectively safeguarded 

 Safeguarding risk with regard to children with disabilities is understood and 
responded to

 Consistency of practice is developed across the partnership in delivering the 
Signs of Safety model of practice in Early Help, Child Protection and Care  

In addition the LRLSCB shared the following priorities for joint development and 
assurance with the LRSAB:

 To be assured that in situations where domestic abuse, substance misuse 
and mental health difficulties are all present (toxic trio) the impact is 
recognised and responded to using robust multi-agency risk assessment, 
information sharing and sign posting to resources

 Children and vulnerable adults have effective, direct input and participation in 
the work of the Boards 

 The Board is assured that the emotional health and well-being of adults and 
children and safeguarding risk is understood 

 To strengthen multi-agency risk management approaches

115

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 8

Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the LSCB assesses that whilst there 
are some areas for improvement organisations are working well together in 
Leicestershire to safeguard children.

Safeguarding children snapshot for Leicestershire:

134,800 children and young people aged under-18 live in Leicestershire1 
(20% of the population).

13.7% of children and young people aged 0-17 are from a Black or Minority 
Ethnic (BME) background, slightly above the general population (11.1%).

16,855 contacts to First Response (Children’s services) in Leicestershire 

3,156 referrals to Early Help services

6,609 referrals to Children’s social care

30% of referrals to CSC were re-referrals

2,763 Children in Need at the end of March 2018

394 Children on Child Protection plans at the end of March 2018

284 Child protection plans during the year where Neglect is a factor – 63% of 
all new plans.

24% of Child Protection plans were for children who had previously been on 
a plan.

247 referrals regarding Child Sexual Exploitation 

560 children reported missing 

73% of return interviews completed

496 Children in Elective Home Education (EHE) at the end of March 2018

79% of children in EHE during the year received their statutory visits

548 Children in Care 

4 notifications regarding Private Fostering arrangements 

245 referrals to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO)

4,448 referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

1 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014

116



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 9

While there were more contacts to Children’s Services on 2017/18 than the previous 
year referrals into Social Care, and the number of children in child protection plans 
has reduced.  However more referrals are repeat referrals and more child protection 
plans were for children who have previously been on a plan.  Neglect is recognised 
as a factor in a much larger number and proportion of cases than previously.

The reduction in the number of Child Protection plan starts mainly occurred in the 
last half of the year, and corresponds with an increase in cases assessed for no 
further action.  The Local Authority report this may reflect positive action in the First 
Response Team to try to only put children to an Initial Child Protection Conference 
(ICPC) if they are likely to be put on a Child Protection Plan.  In addition there has 
been an increase in proceedings regarding neglect which may have resulted in the 
reduction in Child Protection plans.  The LSCB have requested further analysis from 
the Local Authority on this. 

The increase in the proportion of plans that were for children who had previously 
been on a plan (second or subsequent plans) has been found to partially relate to 
large sibling groups coming back onto child protection plans, having not been subject 
to a plan for more than two years. 

During the year the LSCB monitored completion of single assessments within 45 
days after a reduction at the start of the year following a change in process.  By the 
end of the year the Local Authority had cleared the resulting backlog and 
performance was back in line with previous years with 82% were being completed on 
time.

Leicestershire County Council have reviewed and revised the service delivery model 
for First Response, strengthening the ‘front door’ into children’s services.  The Local 
Authority is are part of the Signs of Safety England Innovation Project, which is 
supporting ongoing development of the Signs of Safety approach within the authority 
and partnership, engaging practitioners and families.

Leicestershire County Council are reviewing Early Help services due to financial 
constraints.  The Board will monitor the impact of this on safeguarding children.

There have been fewer referrals regarding CSE, fewer reports of children going 
missing and fewer children have gone missing and more return interviews have been 
carried out with children who have gone missing.

Following a concern regarding Police Child Abuse Investigation Unit cases which did 
not appear to have allocated Social Workers a process issue regarding meeting 
notification was identified in the Local Authority.  The process has been changed and 
the impact will be monitored.

The number of children in Elective Home Education continues to rise, and there has 
been a drop in the proportion of children who have had a home visit. 

The LSCB requested a specific report regarding safeguarding and Elective Home 
Education.  The report from the Local Authority outlined processes and procedures 

117



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 10

in place and provided assurance that arrangements in place were supporting 
safeguarding of children who are home educated and known to the authority.

The number of Children in Care has continued to increase.

118



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 11

Safeguarding Children in Rutland

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the LSCB assesses that whilst there 
are some areas for improvement organisations are working well together in Rutland 
to safeguard children.

Safeguarding children snapshot for Rutland:

7,685 children and young people aged under-18 live in Rutland2 (20% of the 
population).

5.7% of the population of Rutland are from a Black or Minority Ethnic (BME) 
background.

1,522 contacts to Children’s services in Rutland 

308 referrals to Children’s social care

26% of referrals to CSC were re-referrals

244 Children in Need at the end of March 2018

19 Children on Child Protection plans at the end of March 2018

11 Child protection plans during the year where Neglect was a factor – 52% 
of all new plans. 

21% of Child Protection plans were for children who had previously been on 
a plan.

Average caseloads of 18 cases per worker

13 referrals regarding Child Sexual Exploitation 

21 children reported missing 

60% of return interviews completed

No Private Fostering referrals

No children in Elective Home Education (EHE) at the end of March 2018

75% of children in EHE during the year received their statutory visits

30 Children in Care 

179 referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

2 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014

119



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 12

While there were more contacts to Children’s Services in 2017/18 than the previous 
year, referrals into Social Care and the number of children on child protection plans 
has reduced.  A similar proportion of referrals were repeat referrals and a smaller 
proportion of child protection plans are for children who have previously been in a 
plan.  Neglect and Emotional Abuse continue to be the main types of abuse.

The LSCB will continue to monitor the notable reductions in referrals and Child 
Protection plans in Rutland. 

There have been more reports of children going missing and more return interviews 
have been carried out with children who have gone missing.

Numbers of children in Elective Home Education (EHE) remains very low.  There has 
been a drop in the proportion of children in EHE who had a statutory home visit.

The LSCB requested a specific report regarding Elective Home Education which 
outlined processes and procedures in place and provided assurance that 
arrangements in place were supporting safeguarding of children who are home 
educated and known to the authority.

The number of Children Looked After has reduced.

Rutland County Council report that creative approaches have resulted in positive 
outcomes for some current and former Children Looked After.

The multi-agency Children Looked After / At Risk Children (CLA/ARC) panel in 
Rutland established in 2016/17 continues to support timely & effective decisions 
through monthly meetings to discuss cases where there has been an escalation of 
concerns.

Rutland County Council have continued to embed the Signs of Safety approach in 
practice through the year, embedding this in Child Protection Conferences & CLA 
reviews, and this is well received by Social workers and other professionals.

The Local Authority consistently holds Practice Workshops which review current 
practice and develop skills and knowledge which impact on practice.

120



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 13

Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Rutland

Voluntary Sector Safeguarding Assurance
As part of its assurance work the Board has commissioned Voluntary Action 
LeicesterShire (VAL) to carry out a survey to assess safeguarding approaches 
across the community, voluntary and independent sector.

The project ran for one year from August 2016 to August 2017 and was promoted 
through voluntary sector communication channels, newsletters and forums 
encouraging voluntary sector groups across the two Counties to complete the 
questionnaire in a paper, online format or by telephone.  In addition, VAL contacted 
and followed up agencies directly by telephone to encourage completion.

During the year there was focused work to engage sports organisations and 
organisations working with children with special educational needs and disabilities in 
line with the Boards priorities.

Overall 188 organisations responded to the survey covering 7,849 volunteers and 
2,096 paid staff across the two counties. With organisations reporting they delivered 
services to almost 45,000 children.

The key findings include:
 Staff or volunteers have received safeguarding training in 86% of 

organisations
 85% of organisations have a designated lead person for safeguarding 

concerns
 86% of organisations have carried out DBS checks, though only 61% have 

carried out DBS checks for both relevant staff and volunteers, though this may 
be impacted by their workforce make up.

 48% of organisations were aware of the LSCB and its procedures and only 
34% of the Threshold guidance

 42% of organisations were aware of their obligations to report incidents to the 
LADO.

 52% of organisations were aware of Prevent (Preventing Violent Extremism) 
and only 26% of organisations had accessed training on this.

 Levels of knowledge of Child Sexual Exploitation and Neglect varied across 
agencies.

 21% of agencies use the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Competency 
framework.

These findings suggest good coverage of safeguarding training and awareness in 
the voluntary and community sector, but a small minority of organisations that do not 
have robust safeguarding training, understanding or procedures. The nature of the 
project means that VAL has been able to signpost and support organisations to 
improve their procedures and practice and gain training as required.  

The LSCB Voluntary and Community Sector reference group are developing a 
communications strategy in response to this report to support communication of key 
messages to the sector to further address some of the apparent gaps in knowledge 

121



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 14

and practice in some areas regarding safeguarding children, particularly regarding 
DBS checks, LADO obligations and Prevent.

Partner updates
Our partners provide assurance regarding safeguarding practice and development 
throughout the year to our Safeguarding Effectiveness Group, key points and 
developments are included in relevant sections of the report and responses from all 
partners are included at the end of the report.

70 children were referred into the LFRS firestarters scheme in 2017/18.  75% were 
referred through an agency working with the child, and 20% were known to social 
care. Engagement in this work is having positive outcomes for vulnerable children.  
One Child in Care having gone through the course is reported by support workers to 
be ‘a different child,’ and the Fire Service is working towards them joining as a fire 
cadet.  The Board are exploring links between this service and mental health 
services.

The partnership has noted a sustained increase in the average caseload of the 
Police Child Abuse Investigation Unit non-recent team, however the Police report 
they are able to appropriately manage cases.

122



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 15

Business Development Plan Priorities

Progress on the Boards priorities is outlined below

LSCB Priority 1 – Children at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), 
trafficking and missing are effectively safeguarded

We planned to review how information from Missing children return interviews is analysed 
and used to support improvements to services and gain assurance that work on Child 
Sexual Exploitation is safeguarding and improving outcomes for children.

We also planned to identify potential areas for action regarding safeguarding compliance 
assessments in sport and other voluntary organisations across Leicestershire and Rutland 
and check that online safety information is supporting safeguarding of children and young 
people online.

The partnership increased oversight of missing cases to support effective operational 
responses and completion of return interviews and the CSE Hub developed a new approach 
to identifying and acting upon key themes from missing interviews and piloted this from 
December 2017.

The partnership continued to carry out communications regarding CSE as part of a 
partnership communication plan. CSE Outreach Workers and the Faith and Communities 
CSE Champion Service (EngageME) worked to engage and raise awareness regarding CSE 
with third sector organisations, sports clubs, voluntary organisations, faith groups and other 
community groups. 

The partnership developed and rolled out ‘In the Net’ resource to appropriately raise 
awareness of CSE and online safety with primary age children. This was seen by almost 
5,500 primary school children across 73 schools in Leicestershire and over 400 children 
across 7 schools in Rutland.  

Chelsea’s Choice theatrical CSE education productions were also further rolled out to 
children of secondary school age. This was seen by 11,000 secondary school children 
across 46 schools in Leicestershire and almost 500 children across 3 schools in Rutland. 

In addition the partnership started to develop an educational campaign to further highlight 
online risks particularly via gaming platforms and ‘Train the trainer’ CSE training was 
delivered to secondary school leads and CSE awareness to primary school leads. 

In Leicestershire there was a 10% reduction in the number of children going missing (68 
fewer) and a 16% reduction in missing episodes (230 fewer) compared to the previous year.

In Rutland there was a 133% increase in the number of children going missing (12 more) 
and a 108% increase the number of missing episodes (13 more) compared to the previous 
year

An increased number and proportion of return from missing interviews were completed 
this year. In Leicestershire 884 interviews were carried out in 2017/18 for 1210 missing 
episodes, compared to 747 for 1440 episodes in 2016/17. In Rutland 15 return from missing 
interviews were carried out in 2017/18 for 21 missing episodes, compared to 3 for 12 
episodes in 2016/17. 

CSE and Missing will remain as a priority of the LSCB into 2018-19.  This will include 
following up the impact of these areas of work and assurance regarding changes to services. 

123



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 16

We plan to carry out case file audits of CSE and Missing cases and follow up the result of 
the analysis of return interviews in 2018.

LSCB Priority 2 – Safeguarding risk with regard to children with disabilities is 
understood and responded to

We planned to carry out an organisational self-assessment to understand the current 
approach to safeguarding children with disabilities across agencies compared with good 
practice and carry out Multi-agency Case File Audits to test the effectiveness of current 
arrangements.  The findings of these would inform an improvement plan that enables us 
better to safeguard Children with Disabilities.

We identified initial areas for improvement in the assessment, but the final report 
incorporating findings from the audit was not completed by the end of the year.  Agencies 
responded to urgent matters identified in the assessment and audit, carrying out 
improvements to case working and procedures.

The final report on the assessment and audit will be reported to the Board in July 2018.

This priority has been carried forward into the Business Plan for the Board for 2018/19 and 
we plan to address key areas for improvement, including safeguarding procedures and 
training as part of this plan.  This will include a learning event in the Autumn of 2018 to 
disseminate learning from the assessment and audit.

LSCB Priority 3 – Consistency of practice across the partnership in delivering 
the Signs of Safety model of practice in Early Help, Child Protection and Care

We planned to promote and support the embedding of Signs of Safety across the 
partnership, particularly increasing schools awareness, engagement and skills in engaging in 
the Signs of Safety model.  We also planned to support development of a quality assurance 
and performance management framework to test the impact of Signs of Safety on the quality 
of safeguarding services and practice and on safeguarding outcomes for children and young 
people.

We revised multi-agency documentation to support all organisations to contribute to the 
Signs of Safety approach and supported briefing sessions in the LSCB and for frontline 
workers on Signs of Safety.

We developed 3 key ‘bottom lines’ for good multi agency practice with the expectation that 
leaders, managers and trainers across the partnership actively promote. These are:

- Agencies attend multi-agency meetings.
- Agencies use the relevant forms to help develop a focused contribution to all multi-

agency meetings.
- Agencies actively contribute to decision making and safety planning.

We embedded Signs of Safety within the LSCB case file audit approach.

The approach incorporating Signs of Safety has become more aligned across Leicester, 
Leicestershire & Rutland and partners, particularly schools, fed back that they found the 
revised documentation helpful and reported that they better understand the Signs of Safety 
process and multi-agency aspects of this.

124



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 17

Adult Social Care services in Leicestershire County Council are actively considering how the 
principles, disciplines and tools of the approach may be used and linked effectively with 
‘Making Safeguarding Personal’

As this is now well understood across the partnership, further development work on this will 
be led by the Local Authorities.

Progress on the four priorities shared with the LRSAB:

LSCB / SAB Priority 1 – To be assured that in situations where domestic 
abuse, substance misuse and mental health difficulties are all present the 
impact is recognised and responded to using robust multi-agency risk 
assessment, information sharing and sign posting to resources

We planned to develop a coherent, co-ordinated framework that delivers effective 
safeguarding responses where these three factors are present across families.

We researched the issues facing adult and children safeguarding and individual agencies 
with regard to this ‘trilogy of risk’.

We developed a package of customisable materials for agencies to use within their own 
organisations to communicate key messages and improve practice.

We plan to launch the materials in July 2018 and will assess the dissemination of the 
materials and the impact of this work through a quality assurance plan developed alongside 
the materials.

LSCB / SAB Priority 2: Children and Vulnerable Adults have effective, direct 
input and participation in the work of the Boards

We planned to research models of participation for children and vulnerable adults and put in 
place an appropriate model of participation for the LSCB so that children have direct input 
into the work of the Board.

We also planned to develop an effective model for engagement of adults with care and 
support needs.

We set up a Young Peoples LSCB Advisory Group following research and engagement with 
young people.

The Advisory group will lead part of the LSCB Board meeting in July 2018 and we plan to 
work with the young people to further develop the group through the coming year.

LSCB / SAB Priority 3: The Board is assured that the emotional health and 
well-being of adults and children and safeguarding risk is understood.

We planned to produce practice guidance and implement appropriate training and 
development activities to develop common understanding of emotional health and 
safeguarding risk across all agencies and ensure emotional health and safeguarding risk 

125



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 18

with regard to the broader family context is considered in safeguarding work with children 
and adults.

We also planned to review the Safeguarding Risk Assessment of the local Sustainability & 
Transformation plan for health.

We explored the gap in understanding and needs across the workforce with regard to 
emotional health and wellbeing and safeguarding.  The breadth of scope for this piece of 
work meant that this work took longer than anticipated.  

As a result of the assessment work, understanding emotional health needs of parents and 
carers was identified as the key area for work.

Further work will be taken forward by Future in Mind and Better Care Together within the 
Sustainable Transformation plan (STP).

Leicestershire Partnership Trust are developing their ‘Whole family’ approach which will 
support this.

LSCB / SAB Priority 4:  To strengthen multi-agency risk management 
approaches

We planned to develop a structured multi-agency framework to enable a reflective 
supervision session to be used in cases where the issues are complex or entrenched. 

We created an initial process following research into existing models locally and nationally 
and collating ideas and views of staff and tested the process.

We plan to test the process and adopt it by September 2018.

The impact of the process will be tested by reviewing outcomes for cases where the process 
has been used.

126



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 19

Operation of the Board

Partner and Public Engagement and Participation
Partner Engagement and Attendance
The Board met four times during 2017/18 with an additional extraordinary meeting to 
discuss the final report for a Serious Case Review.

Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils, the District Council representatives, the 
Police, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, East Midlands Ambulance 
Service and East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group attended 
all ordinary Board meetings during the year. Schools were also represented at all 
ordinary Board meetings.

Attendance by other members at Board meetings remain good across most other 
partners, with some exceptions. The National Probation Service only attended one 
ordinary meeting, sending apologies to two of the other three.  CAFCASS have not 
attended any Board meetings this year.  This is being followed up by the 
Independent Chair of the Board.

Attendance at subgroups of the Board is good across agencies.

The membership of the Board can be found on the Boards website www.lrsb.org.uk.

Voluntary Sector Engagement and Participation
The Board has a Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) Reference Group that 
provides a link to a broad range of voluntary sector groups to communicate key 
messages from the Board to the voluntary and community sector and to feed in the 
views and challenges of the sector into the Board.

As well as follow up to the voluntary sector safeguarding assurance survey the VCS 
Reference Group consistently promoted key single and multi-agency learning events 
and safeguarding resources, such as the Neglect toolkit to the sector.

The group identified the need to set up and then promoted a lunchtime workshop for 
working parents across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to access to raise 
awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation.

The group highlighted issues within the MARAC process framework to the LSCB, 
which was fed into the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Partnership.  As a 
consequence there was a review of the level of resources and improvement in 
consistency of delivery.

Public Engagement & Participation
The Board has developed its approach to engaging children and young people in its 
work, as outlined under the shared engagement priority with LRSAB.

127

http://www.lrsb.org.uk/


LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 20

Young people were directly involved in shaping the set-up of the Safeguarding 
Board’s Young People’s advisory group.  This group will lead agenda items for Board 
meetings and be involved in pieces of work for and with the Board.

Views of children and young people, including from Leicestershire Children in Care 
Council and Rutland Youth Council were considered in the development of the 
Board’s priorities for 2018/19.  This directly influenced the work plan of the Young 
People’s Advisory Group and a continued focus on the voice and ‘lived experience’ 
of children across all Board priorities.

The LSCB has received reports on the voice of children and families and how 
agencies are recording and responding to these through its Safeguarding 
Effectiveness Group.  These show that agencies across the partnership are listening 
to and responding to the voice of children to support safeguarding and broader 
service delivery. 

Assurance – Challenges and Quality Assurance
Challenge Log
The Board keeps a challenge log to monitor challenges raised by the Board and the 
outcomes of the challenges. During the year the following challenges were raised by 
the Board with safeguarding partners regarding the following topics:

 Attendance at Child Protection conferences.  The Board challenged partners 
regarding low attendance at Initial Child Protection Conferences.  The Board 
Chair challenged Police and Leicestershire County Council to cross-reference 
the data they hold with regard to this to provide a definitive picture of the 
issue.

 Child Sexual Exploitation service provision.  The Board Chair, with his 
counterpart in Leicester City requested the Police and Crime Commissioner 
consider continuation of time-limited funding for key elements of the 
partnership response to Child Sexual Exploitation.

 Multiagency Safeguarding Arrangements.  The Board Chair challenged 
statutory partners under the Children and Social Work Act 2017 to have early 
consideration of future structures for multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 
to be brought in with Working Together 2018.

 The Board continued to monitor timeliness of Initial Health Assessments for 
Children coming into care following a challenge in 2016/17.

Following these challenges:
 A Task and Finish Group has been set up to review procedures and set 

agreed parameters for attendance at Child Protection meetings and 
conferences and collate data regarding this. The Police have reported that 
they are committed to supporting ICPCs as appropriate with the resources 
they have. 

 PCC funding for analyst and health posts in the multi-agency CSE team was 
continued into 2018/19.

 Senior Officers from statutory partners met to discuss the new multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements prior to the release of Working Together 2018.

128



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 21

 In Leicestershire more Initial Health Assessments for Looked after Children 
were carried out on time and the Corporate Parenting Board is now 
overseeing performance on this.

Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework
The Board operates a four quadrant Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework as outlined below.  This is overseen by the Boards 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) shared with the SAB.  The outcomes of 
and findings from this performance framework are incorporated in the relevant 
sections within the report.

The detailed elements of this are reviewed each year to ensure this provides 
assurance regarding core safeguarding business as well as business plan priorities 
and other emerging issues.

The overall model is also reviewed and engagement elements of the framework, 
both with staff and service users require some further development in the coming 
year.  

Audits
During 2017-18 the LSCB, along with the Leicester City LSCB trialled a new 
methodology for a ‘Section 11’ peer challenge of agencies’ compliance against their 
duties within Section 11 of the Children Act 2004.  In previous years this has taken 
place as a paper assessment, which has provided limited scope for challenge and 
further scrutiny.

For the peer challenge process agencies reviewed their compliance against the nine 
standards previously tested in our Section 11 processes.  Each agency presented 
their findings to a panel made up of members of the two Safeguarding Children 
Boards, including Independent Chairs and Lay members. Presentations took place 
over three sessions.  This process gave the opportunity for further focussed 
exploration and challenge of agencies assessments and compliance with 
safeguarding duties.

129



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 22

Most agencies provided evidence of good practice which included: website 
development; safeguarding training, raising awareness (including with the public and 
children) and adopting quality assurance frameworks and processes.

The conclusions of the chairs of the panels were that processes for safeguarding 
children are in place across the key agencies, but specific actions were identified for 
all individual agencies to take forward.

The peer challenge process also led to further follow up work with the Community 
Rehabilitation Company and District Councils in 2018/19 to gain assurance 
regarding their safeguarding compliance.

This Peer Challenge approach was found to be a positive experience and more 
informative than the previous document based approach. There was a good 
participation and contribution from partners in this process leading to a balance of 
challenge and support.

This ‘Section 11’ peer challenge process is to be considered as part of a two-year 
model subject to future safeguarding arrangements for Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland.

In addition to its ‘Section 11’ assurance process the Board continued its approach to 
multi-agency auditing.  During the year two safeguarding multi-agency case file 
audits were carried out focussing on the following priorities:

 Early Help (and step up to Social Care)
 Safeguarding Children with Disabilities

Two further audits focussed on domestic abuse and missing children were planned 
to take place, but were delayed due to a reduction in Board office capacity during the 
year.  Audits on these themes will take place in 2018-19.

The audit process follows a Multi-Agency Case File Audit approach.  All relevant 
agencies audit their practice and involvement in a set number of identified cases.  
Each case and the findings of each individual agency’s audit of that case are 
reviewed in a multi-agency meeting to discuss practice and identify further single-
agency and multi-agency learning.

The Early Help audit considered nine cases, seven in Leicestershire and two in 
Rutland and found:

 Gaps in supervision and management oversight led to drift in a number of 
cases

 Significant inconsistencies in practice including regarding:
o Quality of record keeping
o Use of chronologies
o Quality of assessments
o Quality of plans

 Inconsistency in the level of understanding regarding thresholds for step-up to 
Social Care

 A gap in understanding regarding neglect, reducing the effectiveness of the 
response to neglect in some cases

130



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 23

 Whilst there was some good practice with regard to hearing and responding to 
the views of children, the consideration of the voice of the child was not 
evident in many cases

Agencies have taken away these learning points to embed appropriate responses 
within their practice. Progress on actions from the Early Help audit will be reviewed 
by the LSCB in 2018.   

The Children with Disabilities audit considered ten cases, seven from Leicestershire 
and three from Rutland and found:

 Multi-agency information sharing was good in most cases, but there were 
gaps regarding multi-agency co-ordinated assessment.

 Children’s views were sought well in most cases, however how well they were 
taken into account in planning was variable.

 Some gaps evident in recording, management supervision and oversight,
 Many plans were not SMART
 Significant practice issues in a couple of cases that were immediately 

addressed by partners. 

This audit followed an organisational assessment against standards identified within 
national Safeguarding Disabled Children practice guidance.  This organisational 
audit found a number of areas for improvement for individual agencies and the multi-
agency framework for safeguarding children with disabilities.

The recommendations from the organisational assessment and the audit together 
are as follows:

a) The LSCB Task and Finish group representatives communicate the 
findings of the self-assessment and case file audits to their agencies and 
services;

b) Each agency or service and the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB develop 
their own improvement plan and contribute to a multi-agency improvement 
plan based upon the findings of the assessments and audit. Progress in 
implementing the multi-agency plan is then monitored by the LSCB

c) The LSCB Task and Finish group meets on one or two more occasions to 
coordinate this work and the need for continuation of this group is 
reviewed at the end of the year within the new multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements.

d) Multi-agency procedures are reviewed in line with the findings of the 
organisational assessment, specifically considering the risks and needs 
relating to safeguarding children with special educational needs and 
disabilities, and specific responses.

e) The LSCB training sub-group reviews the safeguarding training at all 
levels to ensure it effectively covers disabled children and consider 
broader multi-agency training needs regarding safeguarding children with 
disabilities.

f) The LSCB considers a partnership awareness campaign regarding 
safeguarding children with disabilities

g) Action is taken to integrate the EHCP assessment, care planning and 
review process to promote an holistic picture of the child’s needs and 
reduce the number of meeting parents and young people need to attend;

131



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 24

h) Further case file audits are undertaken on a six-monthly basis to assess if 
there are improvements in practice. 

These recommendations provided the basis for action under this Board priority for 
2018/19.

A multi-agency audit plan has been set in conjunction with the Leicester City LSCB 
for the coming year linked to the Board’s priorities and national Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection themes.

Learning and Improvement
Serious Case Reviews and other Learning Reviews
Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) are described within Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2015 and are statutory reviews undertaken by Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards (LSCBs) for cases where abuse or neglect is known or suspected and either:

 A child dies; or
 A child is seriously harmed and there are concerns as to the way in which 

the authority, their Board partners or other relevant persons have worked 
together to safeguard the child. 

The LSCB has a well-used referral process into its Safeguarding Case Review 
Subgroup that considers whether cases meet SCR criteria or may otherwise be 
appropriate and beneficial to review to support learning and improvement across the 
partnership.   Decisions regarding cases to review and appropriate types of review 
are supported by the Learning and Improvement Framework, shared with between 
the two LSCBs and two SABs across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland. 

The Board completed one SCR in line with Working Together 2015 guidance during 
the year.

Five further SCRs were underway at the end of the year.

The LSCB took the opportunity to gain learning regarding multi-agency safeguarding 
practice from four cases that did not meet the criteria for a SCR.  The LSCB utilised 
alternative review methods including Appreciative Enquiry learning events, Multi-
Agency Panel review of the work undertaken by single agency, Case Management 
Review and Multi-Agency Case Audit.

Learning from reviews
The following arose in the learning and recommendations from all reviews:

 Ensuring that families whose first language is not English are able to 
communicate with emergency services in crises situations.

 Denied/concealed pregnancies present a high risk to the babies, particularly 
at the time of birth, and have statistically significant worse outcomes

 The categories of harm for children in situations of parental domestic abuse 
need to be carefully considered to ensure all risk factors are considered. 

132



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 25

 The importance and specific purpose of parts of the child protection process 
are not always well understood by professionals not regularly involved in child 
protection processes. 

 The Board needs greater assurance that Child Protection plans are both 
SMART and robustly implemented

 All professionals should be supported in considering the impact on them of 
working with people who present as aggressive / challenging behaviour 

The influence of this learning can be seen in the work of the Board in its priorities, 
Training and Development of Procedures this year and in priorities and areas for 
development for 2018/19.

The Safeguarding Case Review Subgroup monitors a master action plan containing 
recommendations and actions arising from all reviews. 

Domestic Homicide Reviews
The LSCB and SAB manage the process for carrying out Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs) on behalf of and commissioned by the Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. This is managed through the joint 
Children and Adults section of the Boards’ SCR Subgroup.  

One DHR was completed during the year.  Two further potential DHRs were 
considered, one is being taken forward as a DHR locally and the other is being 
reviewed in another geographical area. 

Development Work and Disseminating Learning
The LSCB produces a quarterly newsletter in conjunction with the Safeguarding 
Adults Board, called Safeguarding Matters.   This is used to disseminate key 
messages including from reviews and audits across the partnership and to front-line 
practitioners.  

Learning has also been shared through Learning Events and the Trainers Network 
and single agency internal processes, including to GPs via the Primary Care 
Safeguarding Children Quality Markers (SCQM) tool.

The Board carried out a review of Safeguarding Matters and the Board website with 
practitioners across partners.  Feedback included that Safeguarding Matters was a 
useful tool for keeping up to date with safeguarding learning, and also for 
disseminating safeguarding information across teams. Some areas for improvement 
were identified regarding design and highlighting items of interest for specific 
audiences.

The Boards website was felt to be easy to access and find relevant information on, 
but not so easy to find out what had been updated.  Some areas for improvement 
were identified with regard to colours used and adding Board papers to the site.

133



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 26

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)
The CDOP is a key part of the LSCB’s Learning and Improvement Framework since 
it reviews all child deaths in the Local Authority areas and identifies any modifiable 
factors, for example, in the family environment, parenting capacity or service 
provision and considers what action could be taken locally, regionally and nationally 
to address these.

The local CDOP, shared with Leicester City, reviewed all child deaths in the area 
and identified learning from these.  In addition the CDOP supported by Public Health 
completed a review of cases over the past eight years where suicide or self-harm 
was categorised as the cause of death.

The review found the following common factors in local suicides:
 Social isolation 
 Bullying (including online) (30% of cases)
 Autism, personality disorder and ADHD in (40% of cases)
 A number of the cases were struggling to cope with negative changes in their 

environment, for example separation of parents.

These were considered alongside national learning and the following 
recommendations identified:

 Raise awareness with schools-highlight the support services that are available 
to support students, parents and teaching staff. 

 Work with front line staff, teaching staff and commissioners to highlight the 
potential impact on mental health of parental separation – particularly for 
those children with other risk factors

 Target resilience programmes on children and young people with diagnosed 
or suspected neurological developmental issues e.g. Asperger’s/ Autistic 
Spectrum disorders and ADHD. 

 Raise awareness of the potential impact of the pressure to succeed 
academically on mental health and wellbeing with both students and teaching 
staff.

The local CDOP produces its own annual report, which will be published in the 
Autumn of 2018.

Co-ordination of and Procedures for Safeguarding Children 
The Board shares its Multi-agency procedures with the Leicester City LSCB. 
Throughout the year the Board has reviewed and revised Multi-Agency Procedures 
in line with developments in practice and learning from reviews and audits.  

The Board has developed a standalone procedure with regard to pre-birth 
safeguarding.

The Board updated the thresholds document for referral to children’s services and 
has also revised procedures relating to:

 Reports for Child Protection Conference 
 Whole family approach

134



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 27

 Historical abuse and allegations
 Contacts

The Board commenced work on a single Multi-Agency Referral form for all agencies 
to use to refer into children services front door for any of the Local Authorities in the 
area.  This will be completed in 2018/19.

Changes to procedures have been communicated through bulletins, the LSCB and 
SAB’s Safeguarding Matters newsletter and through training events.

Training and Development 
The Competency Framework for Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland, prepared in 
accordance with ‘Working Together 2015’ sets out minimum competencies and 
standards across the children’s workforce and gives advice as to how practitioners 
can meet these requirements through learning, development and training, supported 
by briefing sessions, bespoke training, consultation and advice.   This supports 
practitioners, managers and organisations to ensure a good level of competence 
across the partnership workforce with regard to safeguarding children. 

This framework will be reviewed in 2018/19 in line with Working Together 2018.

The Boards Training and Development Work is led by the Interagency Training, 
Group, which is shared with Leicester City LSCB.

The group leads development and delivery of an annual training and development 
programme. This reflects the priority elements within the two LSCB’s business plans 
and national priorities, as well as the learning from national and local Serious Case 
Reviews.  The training programme is delivered through a ‘mixed economy’ of partner 
contributions, commissioned training and national training opportunities, as set out in 
a partnership agreement.

The LSCB also facilitates a local trainers’ network, which supports development of 
local safeguarding trainers through development sessions and networking.

The LSCB, through its Safeguarding Effectiveness Group, regularly requests 
information from its partners regarding the effectiveness of their safeguarding 
training programmes in line with the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding 
Competency Framework.  

All agencies have been able to provide information to give assurance on training and 
competency during the year.  At the end of the year training data was outstanding 
from the Clinical Commissioning Groups due to a reduced administration resource in 
the CCG safeguarding team.  Earlier returns through the year had consistently given 
assurance, and the availability of data to provide this assurance from the CCGs will 
continue to be monitored by the LSCB.

During 2017/18 evaluation of the interagency training programme was undertaken by 
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire (VAL), on behalf of the two LSCBs. 

135



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 28

During the year 67 themed training events took place within the LSCB Interagency 
programme across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland with 1047 attendees.

This was a 39% decrease in attendees on multiagency training compared with 
2016/17.  This was in line with 40% fewer places available due to running fewer 
large scale events than the previous year.

In addition 25 LSCB funded Essential Awareness training sessions for the voluntary 
and independent sector offering 625 spaces in total supporting consistency in 
knowledge and skills across the wider workforce across Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland.  These were well received and almost all courses were full.

Following introduction of a charging policy for no shows in 2016/17 the number of 
no-shows has reduced further by 25% this year to 106, in addition the number of 
cancellations halved to 71.  

The evaluation includes a three-month follow-up of attendees to support the 
assessment of the impact of training and development on practice.

Analysis of this feedback continues to demonstrate sustained improvements in 
knowledge, skills and confidence in key subject areas and continues to provides a 
greater insight to the ways in which professionals are working together, sharing 
information and taking personal responsibility in respect of safeguarding children and 
young people

Participants are asked to identify post training actions.  There was a continued shift 
from cascading learning to specific practice related actions from previous years’ 
results.  At the three-month follow up 82% of participants reported they had 
implemented the actions they identified in training at least in part. Where these were 
not able to be implemented, the key issue was reported as relating to capacity.

Capacity of workers across the children’s workforce is a barrier to learning, because 
it prevents workers from attending training and/or committing to the learning when 
they are there. ‘Other work priorities’ was given as a non-attendance reason in 42% 
of cases with only sickness at 59% being higher.

The Board undertook some development work with regard to its approach to training 
during the year, including developing a training strategy for 2018/19 and agreeing a 
transfer of the support function from VAL to the Leicester City Safeguarding Board 
Office.

The Board will pause training for April to July 2018 while the support function is 
transferred to Leicester City Safeguarding Board Office.  

An LLR Sharing Learning from Reviews: Research in Practice proposal has been 
accepted to look at disseminating learning from reviews in a timely way, with a 
‘cascade’ pack of information for safeguarding leads, including a synopsis of the 
case, detail of the learning, links to research and relevant articles. This information 
can then be shared widely within agencies.  This will be implemented in 2018/19.

136



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 29

The LSCB would like to express its appreciation to organisations that have 
contributed to the partnership training programme through trainer time or venues.  
The estimated value of the in-kind contribution to the programme from all agencies is 
over £10,000.

137



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 30

Leicestershire & Rutland SAB and LSCB Finance 2017-18

 £ 
SAB Contributions
Leicestershire County Council 52,798
Rutland County Council 8,240
Leicestershire Police 7,970
Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and East 
Leicestershire & Rutland)

15,930

University Hospitals of Leicestershire NHS Trust 7,970
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 7,970
Total SAB Income 103,334

LSCB Contributions
Leicestershire County Council 84,003
Rutland County Council 52,250
Leicestershire Police 43,940
Clinical Commissioning Groups (West Leicestershire and East 
Leicestershire & Rutland)

55,760

Cafcass 1,100
National Probation Service 1,348
Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and Rutland 
Community Rehabilitation Company (Reducing Re-offending 
Partnerships)

3,000

Total LSCB Income 241,401

Total Income (LSCB & SAB) 344,735

£
SAB and LSCB Operating Expenditure
Staffing 214,966 
Independent Chairing 22,500 
Support Services 30,500 
Operating Costs 13,500 
Case Reviews 16,290 
Training Co-ordination and Provision (LSCB) 55,641 

Total SAB & LSCB Operating Expenditure 387,037 

Deficit £8,662

LSCB & SAB Reserve account at end of year £51,016

138



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 31

Business Plan Priorities 2018-19
From analysis of current and emerging issues the following have been identified as 
our priorities for 2018-19:

Development Priority Summary
1. Partnership Transition Influence the development of new multi-

agency safeguarding arrangements.
2. Multiple Risk Factors The impact of multiple risk factors on 

children is recognised, understood and 
responded to across agencies.

3. Safeguarding Children – Access 
to Services

Ensure the pathways for access to 
services for safeguarding children are 
robust and effective

4. Child Exploitation - (Child 
Sexual Exploitation, Trafficking, 
Missing and Gangs)

Children at risk of exploitation are 
effectively safeguarded.

5. Safeguarding Children with 
Disabilities

Improve the approach to safeguarding 
children with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities.

Action plans are in place for each of these priorities.

For 2018-19 there are no specific joint priorities with the Leicestershire & Rutland 
Safeguarding Adults Board though joint working will be promoted where possible.

139



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 32

Partner Updates

                        

Leicestershire and Rutland and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) are committed to the promotion of safeguarding children, supporting the 
work of the safeguarding board and to support staff and partners to undertake their 
safeguarding responsibilities. 

In 2017-18 the CCGs have continued to monitor evidence and assurance from 
commissioned health services. As Commissioners of local health services West 
Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Groups 
are required to evidence compliance with NHS England (NHSE) Accountabilities and 
Assurance Framework Safeguarding Vulnerable People in the NHS (2015).  This 
includes the CCG receiving evidence and assurance from commissioned health 
services about the quality of the safeguarding arrangements in relation to key adult & 
children (including Looked After Children) safeguarding requirements, Deprivation of 
Liberty standards (DoLs) and Mental Capacity Act legislation, and to identify areas 
for development or where additional assurance is required. As part of this process all 
CCG commissioned health services are required to submit the CCG Safeguarding 
Assurance Tool (SAT) together with supporting evidence. 

The CCGs have also demonstrated their support to the promotion of the child 
safeguarding agenda by supporting and/or coordinating a number of initiatives and 
policy developments.

The CCGs Safeguarding team is coordinating across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland the roll out of the NHS England Child Protection – Information Sharing (CP-
IS) programme. This is a nationwide information sharing solution that identifies 
children with Child Protection Plans or Looked After Children who visit NHS 
unscheduled care settings such as accident and emergency wards, ambulance 
service, maternity, minor injury units, out of hours and walk-in centres. 
The outcome of this means that when a child attends a NHS unscheduled care 
setting the CP-IS alert is shown on the child’s medical records about the child’s 
safeguarding or LAC status. The CP-IS alert is then automatically sent to inform the 
child’s social worker about the geographical location of the Out of Hours or Urgent 
Care/Emergency Department. 

The CCG endorsed the work of the CCG Domestic Violence Health Group and the 
production of the Domestic Violence and Abuse Policy that has been disseminated 
to all GP Practices across Leicestershire and Rutland. 
In addition UAVA have been commissioned by the CCGs to deliver Managing 
Disclosures of Domestic Abuse briefings to all GP Safeguarding Leads. UAVA have 
also provided Train the Trainer sessions to all members of the CCG Safeguarding 
Team to enable the team to continue to deliver the Domestic Abuse briefing sessions 
to GP’s once UAVA have delivered their CCG 6 commissioned sessions. 

140



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 33

The CCG Safeguarding Team led the arrangements for the Safeguarding Health 
Network- a quarterly meeting of safeguarding leads from all of the CCG 
commissioned services. Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Children Board 
information has been cascaded to the Safeguarding Health Network that includes 
NHS and Non NHS Providers.

Messages from Serious Case Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews have been 
cascaded to GP’s via the Primary Care Safeguarding Children Quality Markers Tool 
(SCQM).  The CCG Safeguarding Team promotes GP compliance with 
recommendations arising from SCRs and Alternative Reviews through the delivery of 
GP Safeguarding Children Training Programme and discussions at the GP 
Safeguarding Forums.

The CCGs’ commitment to safeguarding and working in partnership will continue into 
2018/19.

Leicestershire County Council children and family services continue to make 
progress against the continuous improvement plan ‘Road to Excellence 2017 to 
2020.’  The plan is closely monitored and driven by the senior leadership team and 
six-monthly progress reports are presented to Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
These show a clear direction of travel and improvement that focuses on improving 
the experiences and outcomes of children in need of help and protection, children 
looked after and care leavers. The plan incorporates developments in line with 
recommendations from Ofsted following their inspection in 2016.

The plan is based around the four building blocks of:
 Being a Learning Organisation
 Embedding Excellent Practice
 Taking the Right Action at the Right Time, and
 Developing Policy and Performance

And is underpinned by four behaviours for all staff:
 Voice; Listening and responding to what children and families say
 Signs of Safety; doing with, rather than ‘for’ or ‘to’
 Outcome focussed; striving to improve children and families lives
 Leadership; everyone is responsible and accountable

The Assistant Director and Heads of Service lead a monthly meeting with service 
managers and all child care managers to focus on practice development and 
performance.

The Council invested to enable a significant increase in staffing to support the 
improvement journey.  Substantial work on recruitment and retention has taken place 

141



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 34

over the last twelve months and despite the national challenges of recruitment in 
social work Leicestershire is beginning to see steady growth. A number of staff have 
been recruited across the teams although many are newly qualified.

Work has taken place in First response and an in-house inspection by Senior 
managers in December 2017 and an independent mock inspection in May 2018 
demonstrated improvements in this key area.  Practice Standards to support the 
‘Growing Quality in Children’s Social Care’ have been launched in all areas and audit 
and improvement work is supporting the embedding of these standards.

The establishment of the Practice Excellence arm of the service to deliver on 
embedding Signs of Safety, quality assurance and improvement, and practice is 
seeing a positive impact. The ASYE (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment) 
programme for newly qualified social workers has been revised and strengthened 
and an ASPIRE programme developed for new team managers and aspiring senior 
practitioners. A progression framework for social workers and a learning offer have 
been agreed.

The second annual social work conference took place in June with a focus on 
‘Making a difference to children and families’. The event celebrated good practice.

The Council has worked to ensure that rigorous management oversight is supported 
by improved performance management arrangements.

Caseload number and workloads are closely monitored. In key areas of the service, 
namely First Response, Children in care, CSE Hub, disabled children workloads are 
now in line with our caseload standard. There is ongoing work to realign the children 
protection and strengthening families teams to ensure reasonable workloads across 
all of these teams.

Performance has improved in key areas: timeliness of response at the Front Door; 
number of assessments completed and of these the number completed within 45 
working days; quality and compliance of strategy discussions/meetings; permanence 
planning; contact with care leavers and care leavers in suitable accommodation. 
There is an improving picture regarding repeat child protection plans.

Participation work with young people including advocacy work to support young 
people in their case conference and work with the children in care councils and care 
leavers is strong. 

The continued work in line with the ‘Road to Excellence’ will support safeguarding 
children and young people in Leicestershire by championing and embedding 
consistently high quality practice and management oversight.  The improvement and 
performance culture and framework will support this and evidence impact for 
children, young people and their families.

Leicestershire will also work to ensure that the Listening Support Service’s return 
interviews for children going missing from home and care are timely and that the 
quality of these is consistent, monitoring demand to ensure resourcing of the service 
is sufficient.

142



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 35

A stable and effective operational and portfolio holder leadership is in place which 
ensures services continue to strive for better. There is committed political support 
expressed through the continued investment in a broad range of children’s services.  
Previous instability in social care teams has meant that some children have had 
several changes of social worker.  Successful recruitment and retention strategies 
have led the service to a more stable position. The service is sufficient and 
caseloads are manageable. We have few vacancies within children’s social care and 
we have significantly reduced the use of agency staff. Small focused social work 
teams enable close working and shared learning; social workers know their children 
well. Social Work and Early Help teams are located together which enables 
professional dialogue and good practice to be shared.

The integrated front door to children’s services, including a Special Education Needs 
(SEND) pathway is established, understood and used appropriately by our partners. 
We have worked with partner agencies and provided a training programme to our 
schools, health service, police and Ministry of Defence staff which is aiding an 
appropriate and timely response to concerns raised. 

We now have a fully embedded children’s services Performance and Quality 
Assurance Framework. Monthly audits assure us that children are safe and 
protected. Managers and senior leaders have a clear line of sight to the quality of 
front line practice.  Performance with regard to assessments and reviews is within 
timescales and outcomes for Children Looked After, Care Leavers and Children with 
SEND are good across education, employment, placements and accommodation.

Our workforce development plan reflects the learning from our Quality Assurance 
and Performance processes and from feedback from children and families. Signs of 
Safety and relationship-based practice is embedded as our model of intervention 
with families across service areas. Our training and development programme is 
aligned to cover the key skills and attributes necessary moving forward into 
accreditation. We have embedded the use of the neglect toolkit and have introduced 
a toolkit with families where the trilogy of risk is evidenced. 

We have developed a strong focus on reflective supervision, with the majority of staff 
being satisfied with its quality.  There is a good range of training and learning 
opportunities that is also well received. This ranges from staff conferences and 
practice learning events based on emerging issues to bespoke training courses. We 
run bi-monthly multi agency learning from Serious Case Reviews (SCR) sessions. 

Decisive action is taken to escalate concerns where necessary improvements and 
timescales are not made for children in care and our care leavers. An effective multi-
agency Children Looked After (CLA) and At Risk Children (ARC) Panel agrees 
threshold being met for proceedings, Public Law Outline (PLO), and reviews all 
those on Supervision Orders.  This panel has prevented drift on cases. We have 

143



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 36

appointed a permanent Head of the Virtual School who is an effective point of 
contact for schools and has good oversight of our CLA attainment. The Virtual Head 
ensures that each young person placed out of county has an identified worker who 
liaises with schools and tracks progress.

We have focused on ensuring our children at risk of sexual exploitation are protected 
through effective multi-agency arrangements. The internal ‘Exploitation Group’ 
considers all children at risk of exploitation and there are strong links with the multi-
agency CSE Hub.  

We have made significant improvements in our fostering service, aligning all areas to 
the Signs of Safety approach and use all the Coram/Baaf materials in our 
assessments. We have a proactive and supportive independent panel that are 
engaged with Rutland carers. There is a strong recruitment campaign to improve in-
house foster carer sufficiency with a strategy in place to increase the local foster 
carers by almost a third which puts us in line with expected national standards. 
‘Staying Put’ is embedded within our fostering service and we have completed our 
Local Offer for Care Leavers recently to include new statutory provision up to 25 
years.  We will build on our existing resource such as our skilled foster carers, such 
as completing life story work and supervising family time and extend our fostering 
service to other Local Authorities.

We have increased our social worker capacity in our children with disabilities team 
and reviewed our ‘offer’ for children with disabilities. Multiagency audits of 
safeguarding children with disabilities (February 2018) rated all good and 
outstanding.

We are reviewing our domestic abuse offer including toolkits and training ensure that 
services are accessible and timely in the Rutland area for victims and perpetrators 
but also the children involved in such experiences to improve outcomes for them.

We have strengthened our Participation and Engagement Framework to ensure we 
have a system of continuous feedback from service users which informs our practice 
and supports our service design and review. Our families and foster carers report 
seeing positive changes and communication and support strengthening.

We have completed our 2017/18 ‘Next Steps’ Action plan, which has addressed the 
17 recommendations from the 2017 Ofsted report. The learning from that and from 
our Peer Challenge May 2018 has enabled us to create a comprehensive Children’s 
Services Continued Development Plan 2018/ 2020 which will provide leadership 
direction and clarity in our service plans supported by a robust needs assessment 
and a coherent commissioning strategy.

Concise recording and analysis are key areas for further development in the coming 
year alongside improving the recording of the lived experience for children and 
young people. Whilst we have good outcomes we are not always good at recording 
how we achieved them. We will continue to build on SMART planning and monitor 
how plans are progressed, we will use data to inform practice further and ensure 
robust Core Groups are being held to progress plans effectively. 

144



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 37

We will continue to strengthen links across the local authority, with elected members, 
children and young people’s fora and the whole partnership system to ensure the 
conditions for excellent partnership working and practice flourish.  Partner agency 
attendance at Child Protection Conferences continues to be an area of concern; 
some agencies are not attending as we would like and this we continue to address 
via the LSCB.
 

Children are at the heart of the strategic priorities of Leicestershire Police which 
include Child Sexual Exploitation and Abuse, Sexual Offences and Domestic Abuse. 
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) in their Child Protection visit in 2017 concluded, 
‘the force continues to demonstrate a strong commitment to reviewing, improving 
and implementing changes to its services and to prioritising child protection.’ 

The Force has continued to demonstrate its commitment to multi-agency working 
taking leading roles in developing executive structures to respond to Child Sexual 
Exploitation, Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse and children linked to ‘Urban 
Street Gangs.’ The Force takes an active role in all Safeguarding Children Board 
activity and has committed an additional Inspector post to support this work. 

The Force has invested significant funds to renovate the Child victim suite in 
consultation with local children.  The Force has continued to develop a culture of 
seeing the child in any incident by creating a ‘Childs Voice’ video which is 
supplemented by a ‘Think victim’ booklet which contains specific advice in respect of 
Children. 

The Force has worked with partners to strengthen the combined assessment of CSE 
concerns through a multi-agency daily management meeting, weekly partnership 
meeting and monthly strategic meeting. Leicestershire Police have redesigned their 
response to missing people. The Missing Persons Operational Team provides 
consistency of assessment, whilst the Missing Persons Engagement Team work with 
partners to reduce the risk to people who repeatedly go missing; children making up 
the majority of these.

The Child Referral Team reviews all public protection notices submitted by frontline 
officers and staff. Through a re-structure and a change in processes it is now able to 
undertake all strategy discussions on behalf of the Force including those relating to 
sexual offences and Domestic Abuse. Part of the process redesign included the 
audio recording of S.47 strategy discussions; HMICFRS described this practice as 
‘innovative’ and ‘good practice.’

145



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 38

HMICFRS, during their re-visit in December 2017, graded over twice as many child 
protection cases as good, and nearly half as many as inadequate compared to their 
original inspection in January 2017. Despite the improvement, there is clearly more 
work to be done. HMICFRS were assured of a continuing commitment to make 
further improvements.

The Forces Paedophile Online Investigation Team (POLIT) has joined the newly 
developed Digital Hub. Enhanced processes within the hub and in POLIT, has led to 
more people who view indecent images of children being identified and more 
children being safeguarded.

The Force is committed to meaningful engagement in Child Protection Conferences, 
particularly pre-birth and initial conferences. Demand in this area has more than 
doubled. Although resources have been increased, those which are attended have 
had to be prioritised; all receive a report in respect of Police information about the 
family. The Force is chairing a multi-agency group tasked to look at alternate options 
to attendance, including video conferencing.

The Force is developing a Children’s Strategy to ensure the voice of the child is 
incorporated into every strand of policing. The Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 
includes a focus on specific areas where children are affected.

The Force is working with Local Authority partners to improve the provision of 
appropriate adults for children in custody and to reduce the amount of children kept 
in Police custody overnight due to a lack of appropriate accommodation. 

The Force is undertaking a project to create a Safeguarding hub encompassing 
Children and Adults. Building upon the innovative processes adopted by the Child 
Referral Team, and the multi-agency CSE team, it will also include Domestic Abuse 
support, MARAC, Adult Vulnerability and Mental Health. It will allow the holistic 
review, research and assessment of cases, ensuring the response considers the 
most appropriate response to often complex situations. Some of the existing teams 
include staff from partner agencies. It is hoped the aligned hub will facilitate further 
co-location and partnership working. 

Leicestershire Police will maintain a regime of internal audits and will engage with 
multi-agency and external reviews in order to continually improve the service to 
provide the best outcome for children and families.

We successfully introduced a hospital ‘independent domestic violence advisor’ 
(IDVA) into the Emergency Department at the Leicester Royal Infirmary. The IDVA 
has been instrumental in supporting the team to secure refuge for a woman who had 
no recourse to public funds due to her circumstances. The IDVA has also ensured 

146



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 39

that a number of patients have received specialist domestic abuse support before 
leaving the department. 

We transferred all of our safeguarding records for maternity, children and adults onto 
an electronic database to ensure data is kept in one place. This means that the team 
have ready access to cases and information, to enable us to cross reference 
information that the Trust holds on safeguarding concerns.

We delivered accredited PREVENT WRAP training to over 7,475 staff as part of a 
plan to train 85% of clinical staff by June 2018, as part of our NHS England 
contractual requirements.

We completed IT preparatory work to support the implementation of the Child 
Information Sharing Project (C-PIS) by April 2018.  This national programme will 
provide real-time alerts about children who are known to be Looked After or on a 
Child Protection Plan.

We have worked with safeguarding partner agencies to complete 5 multi-agency 
audits.   In child safeguarding we were able to demonstrate that we have effective 
processes to share information about children considered at risk with police and 
social care.

We have promoted the use of the NHS England Safeguarding App.  This means that 
staff using the App have immediate access to consistent information about 
safeguarding and the wider agenda such as Mental Capacity Act.

In 2017 the Trust’s safeguarding assurance self-assessment and subsequent CCG 
review identified the following developmental areas:

 To improve compliance with PREVENT WRAP Training
 To explore further methods to capture the ‘Voice of the Child’
 Finalise the revised UHL Safeguarding Supervision Policy and Management 

of Allegations Against Staff Policy.

In response to this the following work has taken place –
 A revised training strategy for PREVENT training was developed together with 

a monthly performance monitoring tool, to ensure that relevant staff attend 
PREVENT training

 In conjunction with the Patient Experience Team and Women’s and Children’s 
CMG, further data was collated to demonstrate how the Voice of the Child is 
captured 

 UHL Safeguarding Supervision Policy has been re developed in line with 
changes in practice. The Trust has also developed and updated policies in 
relation to the “Management of allegations against staff”.

Due to the changing nature of safeguarding work the complexity of cases, together 
with the available resources to manage cases will be reviewed taking into account 
referral patterns and activity data. An option appraisal will be completed during 2018 
to determine the required resource and team structure to deliver the future 
safeguarding service.

147



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 40

The NPS is committed to protecting the right of a person, whether an adult or a child, 
to live in safety, free from harm, abuse and neglect. It recognises that safeguarding 
is everyone’s responsibility and that children are best protected when professionals 
are clear about what is required of them individually and how they need to work 
together. The NPS national policy, “Safeguarding and Promoting the Welfare of 
Children” clearly describes our work, its links to child safeguarding, and how we 
meet our Working Together Section 11 duties.

The National Probation Service continues to engage positively with the LSCB and 
with partnership agencies. 

In the past year, significant work has gone into further developing the safeguarding 
processes in an online repository of process maps, documents, policies and 
guidance called EQuIP - Excellence and Quality In Processes. This outlines to staff 
how to make safeguarding checks, referrals, child protection conference 
responsibilities, and provides aide memoirs and toolkits. It will be used to inform 
Safeguarding Quality Assurance tasks that will be scheduled in coming 12 months. 
Additionally, a new Practice Improvement Tool has been developed to quality assure 
safeguarding referrals.

In relation to training, all NPS staff, regardless of role, have to complete the Child 
Protection and Safeguarding Children, and the Domestic Abuse e-learning modules. 
All front line staff who supervise or have contact with offenders also have to 
complete the two day Safeguarding Children face to face training. 

As of April 2018, no staff have the e-learning outstanding, and only just under 10% of 
staff still require the face to face input. Other training relating to safeguarding 
children has continued to be offered in the past year such as Working with Sex 
Offenders, Domestic Abuse. Whilst additional training offered by partner 
agencies/local authority has been offered to, take-up has been low due to workload 
demands; this is acknowledged as action required for the coming year.

LLR NPS Senior Management have made efforts to maximise attendance at LSCB 
Board Meetings, with additional involvement in a subgroup review of Child Protection 
Conferences and Appeals, and a pending subgroup review of quoracy, partnership 
representation and contribution to CP conferences. Serious incident information 
requests and data trawls have been returned within timescales.

Front line NPS staff continue to manage high risk violent and sexual offenders, some 
of whom will pose a risk to children. Staff make referrals, with NPS management 
support and oversight, where safeguarding concerns arise. There is room however 
to develop our staff’s understanding and links with the Early Help aspect of 
Children’s Social Care so that we are fully utilising the “One Front Door” approach to 
address the needs of all children of service users under NPS’ supervision.

148



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 41

The challenges in the year ahead for NPS remain high workloads; with the 
Leicestershire Cluster being consistently amongst the highest workload in the 
Midlands region. Additionally, there has been a large intake of staff, with more 
trainee Probation Officers joining later in the year. Whilst this will hopefully alleviate 
some of the workload pressure in the future, in the interim two years it presents 
further workload challenges whilst these new staff are developed, supported and 
trained.

NPS LLR remain committed to delivering a quality service, and learning from our 
practice and partnerships.

Safeguarding touches everyone’s lives at some time, including the lives of the 
service users and staff of Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT). Many of our 
service users have experienced abuse of some kind, or may be at risk of 
experiencing abuse either now or in the future.  Few of these service users exist in 
isolation, which is why in 2017 LPT have continued to build on the work to adopted a 
‘Whole Family’ approach to safeguarding, including moving to a position of a Whole 
Family safeguarding team instead of separate Adult and Children team. 

Training and information for staff has been adapted in relation to Individual and 
organisational responsibilities and in line with promoting a Whole family approach.  
Likewise, LPT has continued to work towards improving health outcomes for Looked 
after Children (LAC) and supporting the Child Death Overview Process (CDOP). 

The PREVENT Statutory Duty was introduced in 2015, placing specific statutory 
obligations on health organisations and other partners to support the protection of 
individuals vulnerable to exploitation by extremist groups. Moving forward LPT will 
have a Prevent Lead and Prevent co-ordinator as part of the Whole Family 
Safeguarding Team, who will ensure compliance with statutory responsibilities 
including training delivery.

Given the vulnerabilities of those we work with in LPT, we must continue to focus on 
‘Early Help’ and Prevention and lesson learning in 2017-18 in order to prevent the 
risk of Abuse to Vulnerable Adults and Children in contact with LPT services. 

LPT is closely monitored in relation to safeguarding activity both internally and 
externally to ensure the organisation is compliant with statutory requirements placed 
upon health organisations.

149



LRLSCB Annual Report v0.5 42

Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire & Rutland Community Rehabilitation 
Company (DLNR CRC) is responsible for the supervision of low and medium risk of 
harm adult offenders, the provision of a range of rehabilitative interventions for CRC 
and National Probation Service (NPS) cases and the delivery of ‘Through the Gate’ 
(TTG) services in Resettlement Prisons. This work involves working with adult 
offenders who are both perpetrators of abusive behaviour and individuals who 
present with multiple vulnerabilities

Safeguarding is a core statutory function of DLNR CRC. Risk assessment and risk 
management is one of its key activities, driving all its activities with service users. 
Safeguarding considerations are considered within assessment and risk 
management plans at all stages. DLNR CRC use specialist risk assessment tools 
such as Offender Assessment System (OASys) and Spousal Assault Risk 
Assessment (SARA) to support defensive decision making across all areas of risk. 
All operational staff are trained in safeguarding as part of their core training and 
DLNR CRC has a competency framework to ensure that all cases are allocated to 
appropriately trained staff on the basis of identified risk and need.

DLNR has quality assurance mechanisms to support the maintenance of effective 
practice standards. All team managers within DLNR CRC attend ‘Quality Days’ on a 
monthly basis during which case records are sampled and quality assured. DLNR 
CRC also have an Internal Audit team who undertakes themed audits across DLNR. 
DLNR CRC are also subject to audits through Her Majesty’s Prison & Probation 
Service (HMPPS) contract management team and HM Inspectorate of Probation 
(HMIP). 

150



Report No: 174/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
18 SEPTEMBER 2018

DRAFT RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT
Report of the Director of Public Health 

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Alan Walters, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding – 
Adults, Public Health, Health Commissioning, 
Community Safety & Road Safety

Contact Officer(s): Trish Crowson, Senior Public Health 
Manager 

Trish.crowson@leics.gov.uk

Mike Sandys, Director of Public 
Health

Mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Health and Wellbeing Board members:

1. Advise on the draft versions particularly in relation to the unmet needs and gaps, and 
recommendations and endorse the publication of the chapters.

2. Advise on the scope for the ‘Mental Health’ chapter: to develop this further by including 
information regarding the use and access of mental health services by residents of 
Rutland, including difficulties or barriers in doing so.

3. Advise on the scope for the ‘Ageing Well’ chapter: to develop the chapter further by 
including information regarding hospital discharge and delayed transfer of care; and to 
develop the focus on Ageing Well and on physical and mental wellbeing.

4. Provide any individual detailed comments on the draft chapters by 5th October 2018.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 This paper is to update the Rutland Health and Wellbeing Board on progress in 
updating and renewing the Rutland Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS

2.1 JSNAs are the statutory process by which a Local Authority and Clinical 
Commissioning Group assess the current and future health, care and wellbeing 
needs of the local community to inform local decision making. A JSNA integrates a 

151

Agenda Item 9

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


range of data, on topics such as health, housing, transport, employment and 
education, to identify needs of strategic importance to health and wellbeing.

2.2 The purpose of the JSNA is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
community and reduce inequalities for all ages. It should be viewed as a continuous 
process of strategic assessment and planning with the aim to develop local 
evidence-based priorities for commissioning which will improve the public’s health 
and reduce inequalities.

2.3 It will be used to help to determine what actions Rutland County Council, the local 
NHS and other partners need to take to meet health, wellbeing and social care 
needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health and wellbeing. 
The JSNA informs and underpins the Rutland Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

2.4 The last JSNA for Rutland was produced in 2015 at the below link. Once the JSNA 
2018 is published, it will be available at the same link:

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-
strategic-needs-assessment/

3 RENEWING THE RUTLAND JSNA

3.1 A JSNA Reference Group has been overseeing the JSNA process and ensuring 
that the development of the JSNA meets the statutory duties of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

3.2 The Integration Executive has been overseeing the work of the Reference Group 
and taking on an assurance role.

3.3 Draft subject-specific chapters have been produced. Each chapter gives an 
assessment of current and future health and social care needs. The chapters are: 

• Rutland’s Population 
• The Best Start in Life 
• Children and Young People – Staying Safe and Healthy 
• Achieving Educational Potential
• Physical Health of Adults
• Mental Health of Adults
• Ageing Well

Infographic summary of each chapter will be available online. The online data 
dashboard will be updated on a quarterly basis to allow users to self-serve high 
level data requests.

3.4 The draft Chapters listed above are provided in the appendices. Each chapter 
makes recommendations for action in response to the current and future needs 
identified by the data. Views of the Board are sought on the content, particularly 
regarding unmet needs and gaps, and recommendations. Also regarding the level 
of detail contained in the chapters, particularly in relation to service descriptions.

152

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/


3.5 In addition the Board is asked to advise on the scope of the chapters on Mental 
Health of Adults and Ageing Well as follows:

a) Mental Health of Adults. This chapter currently contains data about mental health 
conditions and information regarding policy and services. Would the Board wish 
to develop this chapter further by including information regarding the use and 
access of mental health services (provided by Leicestershire Partnership NHS 
Trust) by residents of Rutland, including consideration of any difficulties in 
accessing services or barriers to doing so?

b) Ageing Well. At present this chapter mainly focuses on data regarding physical    
illness, mental ill health, hospital admissions and mortality. Would the Board wish 
to:

 Develop the chapter further by including information regarding hospital 
discharge and delayed transfer of care, and interpretation of what this means 
for the population of Rutland and the impact on Ageing Well?

 Develop the focus on Ageing Well and on physical and mental wellbeing? Or 
preserve the chapter as is, with the data focus on illness and hospitalisation?

3.6 Once the JSNA 2018 is published, it is proposed, (where possible) to update the 
chapters, when new data is released. The JSNA Reference Group will be re-formed 
in late 2020 and the status of all chapters will be reviewed at this time.

4 CONSULTATION 

4.1 Individual comments on the draft should be sent to Dr Katherine Packham, 
Consultant in Public Health, Email: Katherine.packham@leics.gov.uk  by 5th 
October 2018.  The amended draft will be brought back to the December Health & 
Wellbeing Board for approval. The approved JSNA will be published by end 
December 2018.

5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The JSNA contributes to sound financial management of public sector budgets by 
helping to ensure that service planning takes into account the evolving pattern of 
need for health and social care services.

5.2 The JSNA supports the matching of services to the population which in turn supports 
sound financial planning. It may highlight additional future financial pressures.

6 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 A JSNA Reference Group has been overseeing the JSNA process and ensuring 
that the development of the JSNA meets the statutory duties of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

153

mailto:Katherine.packham@leics.gov.uk


7 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

7.1 The JSNA contributes to equality by helping to ensure that health and care services 
are tailored to the characteristics of the Rutland population.

8 CONCLUSION 

8.1 The report describes the process for development of the JSNA 2018 and how it is 
used to determine current and future health, care and wellbeing needs of the 
population and used to ensure local evidence-based priorities for commissioning to 
improve the public’s health including that of children and young people and reduce 
inequalities.

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

9.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

10 APPENDICES 

10.1 Appendix A - Achieving Educational Potential
Appendix B - Ageing Well
Appendix C - CYP-Staying Safe & Healthy
Appendix D - Mental Health of Adults
Appendix E - Physical Health of Adults
Appendix F - Rutland’s Population
Appendix G - The Best Start in Life

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.

154



APPENDIX A

RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

ACHIEVING EDUCATIONAL POTENTIAL 
DECEMBER 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

155



i

Business Intelligence

Rutland County Council
Catmose, Oakham, Rutland LE15 6HP
T: 01572 758259

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating 
to the data contained within the report.

156



ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to 
meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health 
and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA has reviewed the data relating to educational attainment in Rutland, from early years 
through to school leaving age. The processes used to oversee progress are outlined and unmet 
needs and recommendations that have arisen from this needs assessment are discussed.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

157



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In this chapter we examine how pupils in Rutland’s state-funded schools perform in comparison 
with pupils nationally in Early Years Foundation Stage, Key stage 1, Key stage 2 and Key stage 4 
statutory assessments.  The chapter includes data trends over the past 5 years to evaluate 
performance over time.  It is important to note that Key stage 1, 2 and 4 had a change of assessment 
measures between 2014-15 and 2015-16 which impacts on data patterns.

158



iv

CONTENTS
1. Level of need in Rutland ............................................................................................................................1

2. Policy and Guidance...................................................................................................................................6

3. Current Services.........................................................................................................................................6

4. Unmet needs/Gaps....................................................................................................................................8

5. Recommendations.....................................................................................................................................8

List of Tables
Table 1: KS1 SATs – Year on year comparison against National – Expected Standard........................2
Table 2: Key Stage 4 GCSEs and Attainment 8 Scores .........................................................................5
Table 3: Absences in primary schools, 2016/17 ..................................................................................5
Table 4: Absences in secondary schools, 2016/17 ..............................................................................5
Table 5: Ofsted ratings for primary schools and secondary schools in Rutland, 2018........................6

List of Figures
Figure 1: % of reception children achieving a good level of development, 2012-2017 ......................1
Figure 2: Key Stage 2 SATs - Expected standard in Reading, Writing & Maths (combined) ................3
Figure 3:  Key Stage 4 GCSEs and Attainment 8 - Five year trend of expected standard ....................4

159



1

1. Level of need in Rutland

It is recognised that many factors impact on children’s educational potential being achieved 
and it is well known that lower educational outcomes are further associated with poorer 
outcomes in later life. More detail on these wider determinants of health are available in the 
‘Children and Young People Staying Safe and Healthy Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’ 
available here: Link to be inserted

1.1. Early year’s foundation (EYFS)

1.1.1. Good Level of Development

Performance at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) is measured by the Good 
Level of Development (GLD) which measures a child’s attainment across the first 12 Early 
Learning Goals. 

School readiness is a measure of how prepared a child is to succeed in school cognitively, 
socially and emotionally. ‘Good level of development’ is used to assess school readiness. It is 
measured at the end of the reception year and covers: communication and language; physical 
development; personal, social and emotional development; literacy; mathematics; 
understanding the world; and expressive arts, designing and making. School readiness starts 
at birth with the support of parents and other caregivers, as children start to acquire these 
skills. School readiness at age 5 (the end of reception year) has a strong impact on future 
educational attainment and life chances.1

Rutland’s scores for ‘Good Level of Development’ remains above that seen nationally.  There 
are inconsistencies in performance over time, however indications are that this may be 
influenced by the characteristics of the cohort. For example, in 2014 the cohort was made up 
of a high proportion of summer born children and in 2016 the cohort had a high percentage 
of boys.  However, there will be continued challenge to those Early Years providers where 
performance is not at a level that would be expected for that cohort, with LA commissioned 
programmes to support the development of a curriculum to meet the needs of all groups of 
pupils.

160



2

Figure 1: Percentage of reception children achieving a good level of development, 2012-20172

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
43

46

49

52

55

58

61

64

67

70

73

76

England East Midlands Rutland

5 Year % - Trend achieving a Good Level of Development (GLD) 2012-
2017

1.1.2. Phonics Screening 

In 2016/17, 83.3% of Year 1 pupils in Rutland achieved the expected level in the phonics 
screening check. This is similar to the England value of 81.1%. Meanwhile, 11 children with 
free school meal status achieved the expected level in the phonic screening check (61.1%). 
This is similar to the England value of 68.4%.3

1.2. Key Stage 1 SATs  

Key stage one performance in reading, writing and mathematics is measured through teacher 
assessment at the end of Year Two.  The performance of pupils in Rutland state-funded 
schools has been consistently above national average for a number of years in all subjects 
although the gap between the local authority and national Key Stage 1 outcomes have 
narrowed in 2017 to broadly in line with pre-2016 levels. Note the change in assessment 
methods in 2015-16.  Prior to that date, attainment had been measured in Levels, with Level 
2 being expected.  This is now referred to as Expected Standard; the percentages refer to 
those children attaining Expected Standard or better. 

161



3

Table 1: KS1 SATs – Year on year comparison against National – Expected Standard4

1.3. Key Stage 2 SATs 

Key stage two performance is measured at the end of year 6. Writing is measured through 
teacher assessment whilst reading, grammar, punctuation and spelling, and mathematics are 
measured by standard assessment tests (SATs).  The 2017 Rutland average for combined Key 
Stage 2 Reading, Writing and Mathematics attainment at expected standard at 67% is higher 
than the national average of 61.0%. Improvement from 2016 in combined Reading, Writing 
and Mathematics attainment is at a rate higher than that seen nationally, with the percentage 
of children in Rutland schools 14% higher than in 2016 compared with 8% improvement 
nationally.

Performance in Rutland schools has considerably improved from 2013 and 2014 when LA 
percentage of expected standards being met across all three subjects were lower than 
national results. Rutland scored higher than the National average in 2015 and 2017. 

Note the change in assessment methods in 2015-16.  Prior to that date, attainment had been 
measured in Levels, with Level 4 being expected.  This is now referred to as Expected 
Standard; the percentages refer to those children attaining Expected Standard or better. 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Key Stage 1
L2+

% point 
differen

ce
L2+

% point 
differenc

e
L2+

% point 
differenc

e

EXS
+

% point 
differenc

e

EXS
+

% point 
difference

Rutland 91% 91% 93
% 80% 79%

Reading
National 89%

2% 
90%

1%  90
%

3% 
74%

6% 
76%

3% 

Rutland 88% 88% 90
% 70% 72%

Writing
National 85%

3% 
86%

2%  88
%

2% 
65%

5% 
68%

4% 

Rutland 94% 95% 96
% 78% 78%

Maths
National 91%

3% 
92%

3%  93
%

3% 
73%

5% 
75%

3% 

162



4

Figure 2: Key Stage 2 SATs - Expected standard in Reading, Writing & Maths (combined)5

1.4. Key Stage 4 GCSEs and Progress 8

As of summer 2016, Key Stage 4 is measured through GCSE examination, the Attainment 8 
score, the Progress 8 score and the English Baccalaureate (EBacc). Prior 2016 the main 
method of measuring of a schools performance was by calculating the percentage of pupils 
who got five or more A* to C grades.  Attainment 8 measures the achievement of a pupil 
across 8 qualifications.  Progress 8 measures the progress students make between the end of 
Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 based on performance in eight qualifications.  The headline EBacc 
attainment measure in 2017 is the percentage of pupils in a school gaining a grade 5 or above 
in English and maths, and a grade C or above in other subjects.

Figure 3 shows the last 5 years average of expected standard for schools in Rutland.

Rutland has exceeded the National average by at least 6% every year. In 2014-15 Rutland 
scored 13.4 percentage points higher than the National average, this was the highest 
difference over the 5 years.

Rutland and England both seem to follow a downwards trend from the year 2016 onwards. 
However, this reflects the changing assessment criteria of Attainment 8. Despite the 
descending line Rutland comfortably sits above the National Average in each year.         

L4+ 2013 L4+ 2014 L4+ 2015 exp 2016 exp 2017
50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

National Rutland

5 Year % Trend meeting a Expected Standard (Reading, Writing & Maths)

163



5

Figure 3:  Key Stage 4 GCSEs and Attainment 8 - Five year trend of expected standard6

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
43.0%

48.0%

53.0%

58.0%

63.0%

68.0%

Rutland National

5 Year % Trend Expected Standards 5 A*- C and Attainment 8

Table 2: Key Stage 4 GCSEs and Attainment 8 Scores

Table 2 shows the percentage point difference per year between the National Average and 
Rutland. 

Table 2: Key Stage 4 GCSEs and Attainment 8 Scores6

Progress 8 is a new measure of progress children make between the end of primary school 
and the end of secondary school. A positive score means the school has made better progress 
than expected. A score below -0.5 will trigger an inspection and a score of 1+ will exempt the 
school from an inspection for a year. Rutland schools’ Progress 8 score of 0.32 compares very 
favourably with the national score of -0.0 in 2016-17.Rutland schools’ Progress 8 score of 0.32 
compares very favourably with the national score of -0.0 in 2016-17.

1.5. Attendance and absences in state-funded Rutland Primary and Secondary 
Schools

Absence from Rutland schools is well below that seen nationally and regionally, however this 
remains a focus of discussion with school leaders to ensure the safeguarding of children and 
young people.

5+ A*-C  GCSEs including Maths and English  Attainment 8  

2012-13  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  Key 
Stage 4

GCSEs % Point 
difference  GCSEs % Point 

difference   GCSEs %  Point 
difference   A8 %  Point 

difference  A8  %  Point 
difference 

 
Rutland 67.2 62.7 67.2 55.2 52.2

National 59.2
8% 

53.4
9.30% 

53.8
13.40% 

48.5
6.70% 

44.6
7.60% 

5+ A*-C  GCSEs including Maths and English  Attainment 8  

2012-13  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  Key 
Stage 4

GCSEs % Point 
difference  GCSEs % Point 

difference   GCSEs %  Point 
difference   A8 %  Point 

difference  A8  %  Point 
difference 

 
Rutland 67.2 62.7 67.2 55.2 52.2

National 59.2
8% 

53.4
9.30% 

53.8
13.40% 

48.5
6.70% 

44.6
7.60% 

5+ A*-C  GCSEs including Maths and English  Attainment 8  

2012-13  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16  2016-17  Key 
Stage 4

GCSEs % Point 
difference  GCSEs % Point 

difference   GCSEs %  Point 
difference   A8 %  Point 

difference  A8  %  Point 
difference 

 
Rutland 67.2 62.7 67.2 55.2 52.2

National 59.2
8% 

53.4
9.30% 

53.8
13.40% 

48.5
6.70% 

44.6
7.60% 

164



6

Table 3: Absences in primary schools, 2016/177

Table 4: Absences in secondary schools, 2016/177

1.6. Exclusions

Rutland has had 2 permanent exclusions in 2017/18: one primary phase child, which was dealt 
with as a managed move, and one secondary phase young person. There have been no 
appeals considered by Independent review panels by reason for exclusion. Rutland County 
Council had a part time Social Inclusion Officer, (SIO) who conducts school meetings and visits 
to the home. The SIO conducts fortnightly meetings with the 3 secondary schools in Rutland 
to discuss cases that may be at risk of coming off roll or at risk of exclusion.   Rutland does not 

Percentage of sessions missed Persistent absenteesPupil 
absence  
2016/17

Overall 
absence

Authorised 
Absence

Unauthorised 
absence

Number Percentage

England
4.0% 3.0% 1.1% 325,230 8.3%

East 
Midlands

4.0% 2.9% 1.1% 27,655 8.2%

Rutland
2.8% 2.4% 0.4% 81 3.2%

Percentage of sessions missed Persistent absenteesPupil 
absence  
2016/17

Overall 
absence

Authorised 
Absence

Unauthorised 
absence

Number Percentage

England
5.4% 3.8% 3.8% 392,200 13.5%

East 
Midlands

5.3% 3.8% 1.5% 34,155 13.6%

Rutland
3.5% 2.8% 0.8% 151 6.0%

165



7

have any Pupil Referral Unit places in the county.

1.7. Ofsted Ratings – Primary and Secondary Schools in Rutland

This section identifies the number of schools in each Ofsted category based on their most 
recent inspection (at August 2018).   The education function of the local authority has a duty 
to ensure there are sufficient high quality school places and works closely with school leaders 
to achieve the aim for all children to attend good or outstanding state-funded schools. This is 
articulated through Rutland County Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-20 which sets out the 
ambition for all children and young people to be able to access high quality education within 
settings where every individual matters equally and is encouraged to aim high and achieve 
their very best.  

Table 5: Ofsted ratings for primary schools and secondary schools in Rutland, 20188

School Type Number of 
schools

Schools 
Rated 

Outstanding

Schools 
Rated Good

Number of 
children 

attending

Primary Schools 17 4 13 2915

Secondary School 3 1 2 2481

Total 20  5  15 5594

The local authority complies with the DfE Schools Causing Concern Guidance which clearly 
identifies the expectations for local authorities to utilise their powers of intervention to those 
schools maintained by the local authority which are underperforming; where an academy or 
free school is of concern to the local authority, this Guidance must be followed.  Strong 
working partnerships have been established with the Department for Education and the 
Regional Schools Commissioner’s office in sharing intelligence about academies within 
Rutland and challenging DfE officers where concerns over the performance of an academy or 
multi academy trust may have been identified.  

1.8. Elective Home Education

Section 7 of Education Act 1996 requires that parents/carers must “cause the child to receive 
efficient full time education suitable to his or her age, ability and aptitude and to any special 
needs he or she may have either by regular attendance at school or otherwise.” Rutland 
County Council operates a voluntary registration scheme for pupils undergoing elective home 
education (EHE) informed by the Council’s Education Otherwise Policy. Local Authorities have 

166



8

no statutory duties in relation to monitoring the quality of EHE on a routine basis.  However, 
under Section 437 (1) of Education Act 1996, local authorities can intervene if it appears that 
parent/carers are not providing a suitable and efficient education.

In Rutland the number of children electively home education (EHE) is small and there is no 
obvious trend emerging. At the end of the academic year 2015/2016 there were no children 
recorded as elective home educated; however through the year the number went up to 5 
pupils. These consisted of 1 primary phase (awaiting a place at an independent school) and 4 
secondary phase children. The reasons presented by parents and the schools included, for 
example, moving into Rutland and awaiting a place at the school of choice, moving into out-
of-county schools. 

At the end of the academic year 2016/2017 there were less than 5 primary school age child 
electively home educated. During the academic year, 4 of the children who were electively 
home educated were Year 11 pupils. The reasons presented by the parents and schools 
included, for example, to progress a music programme at a Conservatory of Music, or to take 
up home tuition, using a virtual school learning site. All of these families allowed Rutland 
County Council’s Social Inclusion officer (SIO) contact at home.  At the end of the 2017/2018 
academic year there were no children electively home educated.

It should be noted that Rutland County Council operates an ‘Education Otherwise’ 
programme of support. This supports children who have significant needs that are not 
electively home educated and are children who need a different intervention to mainstream 
school. These children include those who are permanently excluded or are at risk of 
permanent exclusion, have medical needs, or are undertaking a managed moved and include 
children who present as anxious school refusers.  This may be diverting some children and 
parents from resorting to EHE as an alternative to mainstream school. Rutland currently has 
21 children accessing Education Otherwise support. The Education Otherwise budget is 
£110,000.

The Local Authority is aware of some children in Rutland who are out of school and have 
chosen not to have contact with the LA or not to have ever registered with a school, some 
due to cultural or faith reasons, and therefore, under the current national guidance, the Local 
Authority has no statutory right to conduct visits or make contact. There have been no cases 
of EHE children being investigated (under s.436A of the Education Act 1996 or otherwise) to 
find if children are receiving suitable education and no school attendance orders have been 
issued with regard to children found to be receiving unsuitable EHE (or who have been 
claimed to be receiving EHE).

167



9

1.9. NEET

Young people who are not in education, employment or training (NEET) are more likely to 
suffer from poor health, depression or early parenthood.

In 2015, 2.1% of 16-18 years old in Rutland were not in education, employment or training 
(20 people). This is better than the England value of 4.2%.3

1.10. Special Educational Needs

In Rutland in 2017, there were 347 pupils of primary school age with special educational needs 
(SEN). This is 11.9% of the total number of pupils and is lower than the East Midlands 
proportion of 12.7% and the England proportion of 13.8%.

For secondary schools, there were 374 pupils with special educational needs. This is 14.0% of 
the total number of pupils and is higher than the East Midlands proportion of 11.7% and the 
England proportion of 12.3%.

Percentages of children receiving SEN support in Rutland have risen significantly from 8.5% in 
2015 to 13% in 2018. The rate of SEN support is now ranked third in the East Midlands (of 9 
authorities) having been lowest from 2009 to 2015. 

The demand for, and the spending on, services and support for children with SEND in Rutland 
has grown significantly.  This represents 3% of the total number of pupils in all Rutland 
schools, compared with the England benchmark of 2.8%. However, this figure is predicted to 
rise due to the increase in the number of pupils requiring an Education, Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP) as a result of earlier diagnosis and consequent referrals for support, particularly for 
those with social, emotional and mental health needs.

The spending on Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) services and support in 
Rutland (funded mainly from the Dedicated Schools Grant - High Needs block) has grown by 
16% in the past 3 years, rising from £3,061,000 in 2013/14 to £3,545,000 in 2016/17, and 
continues on an upward trajectory.

Children with Communication and Interaction (C&I) needs, which includes ASD, and those 
with Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs (20% of the population) have some 
of the highest cost education placements.

1.11. Learning Disabilities

In Rutland in 2017, there were 385 pupils with a learning disability. This is 6.9% of the total 
number of pupils and is higher than the England proportion of 5.6%.9

168



10

Further data on the learning disabilities is detailed in the Learning Disability Market Position 
Statement (link still to be added).

A recent review of the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities population identified that 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) accounts for almost a quarter of all SEND children in Rutland 
(87 children or 24%). This is the largest category of disability and this proportion is significantly 
larger than seen nationally.

1.12. Behavioural, emotional and social support needs

In Rutland in 2014, there were 86 pupils with behavioural, emotional and social support 
needs. This is 1.14% of the total number of pupils and is lower than the England proportion 
of 1.66%.10

2. Policy and Guidance

Local Authorities have a series of statutory responsibilities for education which are set out in 
sections 13 and 13a of the Education Act 1996 and the Childcare Act 2006.  The local authority 
also complies with the DfE Schools Causing Concern (February 2018) which is guidance for 
local authorities and Regional Schools Commissioners on how to work with schools to support 
improvements to educational performance, and on using their intervention powers.

The Admissions Code December 2014 sets out the statutory guidance that schools must 
follow when carrying out duties relating to school admissions into primary school at reception 
year and secondary school at year 7 in September each year.

The Children and Families Act 2014 requires every local authority in England to appoint an 
officer employed by the authority to make sure that its duty to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of its children looked after (CLA) by the authority is properly discharged.  That officer 
is referred to as the Head of the Virtual School.

3. Current Services

At the heart of the education framework for Rutland is a commitment to encourage successful 
autonomous schools and to promote the activity of these and wider partners, including Single 
and Multi-Academy Trusts and Teaching School Alliances, to secure: 

• the best possible levels of attainment and progress; 

• outstanding leadership including effective governance; 

• safety, fairness and equity for all pupils and staff; 

169



11

• value for money and the capacity for continuous improvement within a self-
improving system. 

All Early Years providers in the Private, Voluntary, Independent sector and schools work in 
close partnership with the local authority Early Years’ Service.  Inspection outcomes are 
monitored and systematic review (as outlined in the Education Improvement Prioritisation 
and Entitlement document) is undertaken.  Local authority support is targeted to early years’ 
providers in inverse proportion to success to ensure that resources are used effectively, with 
the aim for good practice within the sector to be shared and built upon.  All Early Years 
providers delivering the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) are entitled to an offer of ‘core 
support’ from Rutland County Council Early Years’ Service.  This includes Keep in Touch visits 
to each early years setting, Private, Voluntary or Independent provider, school and 
childminder; access to three EYFS networks; Lead Early Years Providers training day and a 
programme of training.  

An overview of the performance of Rutland schools is maintained through an agreed and 
transparent process articulated through the Education Improvement Prioritisation and 
Entitlement document.  The Learning and Skills Service meets at least three times per year to 
undertake a School Quality Assurance (SQA) desktop review of school effectiveness.  At this 
meeting a range of evidence is considered and a prioritisation agreement made about each 
primary and secondary maintained school or academy.  Schools are informed of the resulting 
priority status, with opportunities offered to maintained schools and academies to discuss 
the basis of the outcome and to review further evidence as required.  The prioritisation 
enables the local authority to understand where there is potential vulnerability and to work 
with maintained schools and offer support to academies to address issues swiftly, including 
supporting these schools to build meaningful school improvement networks with others.  

The Head of the Virtual School Head is also responsible for managing pupil premium funding 
for the children they look after and for allocating it to schools as well as managing the early 
years’ pupil premium and for allocating the premium to the early years’ providers that 
educate CLA who are taking up the free early education entitlement for 3- or 4-year-olds.

It is a statutory requirement that admissions into primary school at Reception Year and 
Secondary School at Year 7 for September each year are co-ordinated by the local authority; 
parents of Rutland resident children apply to Rutland County Council for places.  Applications 
for other year groups throughout the academic year, known as in-year admissions, are 
administered by the admission authority for the preferred school.  In 2018:

• 97% of Rutland resident children have received an offer at their first preference 
primary school

170



12

• 96% of Rutland resident children have received an offer at their first preference 
secondary school

• 100% of Rutland resident children have received an offer at one of their preferred 
primary schools

• 100% of Rutland resident children have received an offer at one of their preferred 
secondary schools

The admissions team works in partnership with the Business Intelligence Team and Property 
Services to ensure there are sufficient school places available in Rutland and to monitor the 
available capacity within schools over the year.  

4. Unmet needs/Gaps

Rutland County Council produces a Learning and Skills Service Annual Review (LaSSAR) which 
acts as both a summary of the previous year’s actions to address previous priorities as well as 
acting as a blueprint for future plans. The LaSSAR draws together a range of self-evaluation 
activities including internal and external review, data analysis, feedback and judgements and 
progress towards addressing local, regional and national priorities.  This process enables the 
Learning and Skills Service to celebrate and build on from successes as well as to identify 
emerging issues and areas for improvement.  It is through this annual process that unmet 
needs or gaps would be identified (see section 5).

5. Recommendations

The Learning and Skills Service identifies areas for further improvement in the Annual 
Education Improvement Plan (AEIP) which is compiled following the annual self-review 
process undertaken at the end of each academic year.  The AEIP expresses the key actions 
required for ensuring the service to schools is effective in supporting and challenging schools 
leaders to sustain educational improvements.  The impact of the AEIP is monitored through 
Rutland County Council’s Education Performance Board, performance reports to Children and 
Young People‘s Scrutiny Panel and the Learning and Skills Service routine self-evaluation 
processes.

The 2018-19 Annual Education Improvement Plan will be completed when school 
performance data becomes available, however early indications are that it will include:

• Continuing to strengthen the capacity of systems leadership across the Local 
Authority through commissioned and brokered CPD programmes for leaders at all 
levels, including governors, and through partnership working with systems leaders 

171



13

to develop rigorous processes to secure robust sector-led, and delivered, school 
improvement.

• Utilising effective challenge and support mechanisms to increase schools’ focus on 
effective provision for all groups of children and young people so that they are 
achieving their best possible standards, taking account of their starting points.

172



14

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
AEIP   Annual Education Improvement Plan
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group
CLA Children Looked After
DfE Department for Education
EYFS Early Years Foundation Stage
EBacc English Baccalaureate
GLD Good Level of Development
LA Local Authority
OFSTED Office for Standards in Education
LaSSAR Learning and Skills Service Annual Review
SATs Standard Assessment Tests
SQA School Quality Assurance

173



15

REFERENCES

1 Public Health England. Improving school readiness: creating a better start for London (2015). At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-school-readiness-creating-a-better-start-for-london 
2 Department of Education (2018). Early years foundation stage profile results: 2016 to 2017. At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2016-to-2017 
3 Public Health England (2018) Public Health Outcomes Framework. At: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework 
4 Department for Education and Standards and Testing Agency (2018). Phonics screening check and key stage 1 

assessments: England 2017. At: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/phonics-screening-check-and-key-stage-1-

assessments-england-2017 
5 Department of Education (2018). Statistics: Key Stage 2. At: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-

key-stage-2#history
6 Department of Education (2018). Statistics: Key Stage 4. At: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-

gcses-key-stage-4
7 Department of Education (2018). Statistics: pupil absence. At: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-

pupil-absence
8 Rutland County Council (2018). Internal Schools System
9 Public Health England (2018) Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing. At: 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/cypmh#gid/1938133096/ati/102 
10 Public Health England. (2018) Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNA. At: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/mh-

jsna#gid/1938132920/ati/102 

174

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-school-readiness-creating-a-better-start-for-london
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2016-to-2017
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/phonics-screening-check-and-key-stage-1-assessments-england-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/phonics-screening-check-and-key-stage-1-assessments-england-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-2#history
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-key-stage-2#history
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/cypmh#gid/1938133096/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/mh-jsna#gid/1938132920/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/mh-jsna#gid/1938132920/ati/102


RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

AGEING WELL – 65 YEARS AND OVER
DECEMBER 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

175



i

Public Health Intelligence

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executive’s Department
Leicestershire County Council
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RA

Tel 0116 305 4266
Email phi@leics.gov.uk 

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating 
to the data contained within the report.

176

mailto:phi@leics.gov.uk


ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to 
meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health 
and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA has reviewed the population health needs for the people of Rutland in respective of a 
person’s later life. This has involved looking at the determinants of health, the health needs of this 
population in Rutland, the impact of services, the policy and guidance supporting the older 
population, the existing services and the breadth of services that are currently provided. The unmet 
needs and recommendations that have arisen from this needs assessment are discussed.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

177



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 The rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in persons aged 80 and 
above has declined year on year for the last four years, at a faster rate than nationally. In 
2016/16, the rate of emergency hospital admissions due to falls for adults aged 80 and over 
was 4,329 per 100,000 population, better than the England average value of 5,363 per 
100,000 population.

 The rate of emergency hospital admissions for hip fractures in persons aged 65 and above 
and in persons aged 80 and above (separately) has increased each year between 2014/15 to 
2016/17. In both age bands the national rate has declined slightly year on year.

 The ratio of excess winter deaths for all ages and in persons aged 85 and above in Rutland 
(over 3 years) has remained similar to the national ratio since August 2001 – July 2004.

 In 2016/17, there were 26 new certifications of visual impairment in Rutland. This relates to 
completions of Certificate of Visual Impairment by a consultant ophthalmologist and initiates 
the process of registration with a local authority. The rate in Rutland is 67.3 per 100,000 
population, significantly worse (higher) than the England rate of 42.4 per 100,000 
population.

 In 2014, approximately 8,000 residents in Rutland were estimated to be affected by hearing 
loss, representing over a fifth (21.0%) of the total population in the county. 

 The prevalence of dementia as recorded on GP registers in Rutland has increased 
significantly over the last seven years, following the national trend. Through this time, the 
prevalence in Rutland has remained significantly higher than the national prevalence. In 
2016/17, 1.0% of the practice population in Rutland were recorded on GP registers with 
dementia, significantly higher than the national percentage of 0.8%. This equates to 362 
patients in Rutland with this diagnosis.

 In Rutland, the directly age standardised rate of emergency inpatient hospital admissions for 
people with a mention of dementia for Rutland’s over 65 population has remained 
significantly lower than the national rate during the last five years.

 In 2016 in Rutland, 84.5% of all deaths of people with a recorded mention of dementia were 
in their usual place of residence (DiUPR). This is significantly higher than the national 
percentage of 67.9%. Almost three-quarters (70.4%) of all deaths of people with a recorded 
mention of dementia in Rutland in 2016 were in a care home, followed by in hospital (15.5%) 
and in the home (14.1%). This pattern of place of death is reflected nationally. The latest 
data shows Rutland has a significantly lower proportion of deaths occurring in hospital and 

178



iv

a significantly higher proportion of deaths of people with a recorded mention of dementia 
in care homes compared to nationally.

 In Rutland, 10.1% of all deaths in 2015 were in those aged under 65. This is significantly lower 
than the national percentage of 14.8% and has decreased year on year from 13.2% in 2012. 
Of all deaths in Rutland, 46.6% were from those aged 85 and above., This is significantly 
higher than the national percentage of 40.4%. The percentage of deaths in this age group 
has increased significantly over time.

 Two-thirds (66.1%) of all deaths from those aged 85 and above in Rutland were in the usual 
place of residence, this is significantly higher than the national percentage of 54.1%. The 
percentage of deaths in usual place of residence in this age group has increased significantly 
over time.

179



v

CONTENTS
1. Who is at risk? ...........................................................................................................................................1

2. Level of need in Rutland ............................................................................................................................2

3. How does this impact? ..............................................................................................................................8

4. Policy and Guidance...................................................................................................................................8

5. Current Services.........................................................................................................................................9

6. Unmet needs/Gaps..................................................................................................................................11

7. Recommendations...................................................................................................................................11

180



1

1. Who is at risk?

There are many factors that influence the health of a person during their older adult years. 

1.1. Income deprivation

A person is classed as income deprived if they receive income support, income based job 
seekers allowance, pension credit or child tax credit. In Rutland, in 2015, 7.9% of people aged 
60 years and over were classed as income-deprived households. This is in the lowest quintile 
nationally and less than half the England average value of 16.2%.1

1.2. Community and residential care

In 2013/14 in Rutland, the rate of older adults who were supported throughout the year by 
receiving community and residential care was 10,709 per 100,000 population. (915 older 
adults). This is higher than the England average value of 9,781 per 100,000 population.

In 2013/14 in Rutland, the rate of older adults who were permanently admitted to nursing 
and residential care homes was 527 per 100,000 population. (45 older adults). This is 
statistically similar to the England average value of 651 per 100,000 population. 
Since 2013/14 the number of permanent admissions to nursing and residential care homes 
has fallen significantly: during 2016-17 11 older adults were admitted.  This equates to 0.2% 
of the over 65 population per year in the three years from 2014-15, although with variation 
year on year with variation in cohorts.

1.3. Reablement

In Rutland, in 2013/14, 2.8% of people aged 65 years and over who were discharged from 
hospital were offered reablement services. This is similar to the England average value of 
3.3%. 

The percentage of people aged 65 years and over who were offered reablement services that 
were still at home after 3 months for Rutland was 66.7%. This is statistically similar to the 
England value of 82.5%. 

Rutland has achieved very high rates of success with reablement services. Between 2014-15 
and 2017-18, over 95% of individuals who received reablement services were still at home 91 
days after being discharged from hospital. 

181



2

1.4. Living alone

According to the 2011 census, 6.25% of households in Rutland were occupied by a single 
person aged 65 and over living alone (2,142 households). This is higher than the England value 
of 5.24%.2

1.5. Quality of life

The health related quality of life index for people 65 years and over in Rutland in 2016/17 was 
0.761. This is similar to the England value of 0.735.Error! Bookmark not defined.

2. Level of need in Rutland

In 2016, Rutland’s population of over 64 year olds was estimated to be a total of 9,389 (5,029 
females and 4,360 males).  This is projected to increase by 49% to around 14,000 by 2039.3

2.1. Loss of hearing

A person who is not able to hear as well as someone with normal hearing, hearing thresholds 
of 25 decibels (dB) or better in both ears, is said to have hearing loss. Unaddressed Hearing 
Loss can have a serious impact on health and wellbeing:

 People with hearing loss are more likely to experience emotional distress and 
loneliness.

 Hearing loss doubles the risk of developing depression.

 People with hearing loss are at least twice as likely to develop dementia.

Action on Hearing Loss have estimated the number of people with hearing loss of at least 25 
dB in each Local Authority area in the UK, using mid-2014 ONS population estimates. In 2014, 
approximately 8,000 people in Rutland were estimated to be affected by hearing loss, over a 
fifth (21.0%) of the total population.4

2.2. Loss of sight

Prevention of sight loss helps people to maintain their independence and reduces the need 
for social care support.

In Rutland, in 2013/14, there were 135 people aged 75 and over that were registered blind or 
partially sighted.  This is a rate of 3,468 per 100,000 population and is lower than the England 
rate of 4,255 per 100,000 population.5 

182



3

In 2016/17, there were 26 new certifications of visual impairment in Rutland. This relates to 
completions of Certificate of Visual Impairment (all causes - preventable and non-
preventable) by a consultant ophthalmologist and initiates the process of registration with a 
local authority and leads to access to services. The rate in Rutland is 67.3 per 100,000 
population, significantly worse (higher) than the England rate of 42.4 per 100,000 
population.5 

There were 12 new certifications of visual impairment due to age related macular 
degeneration (AMD)  for people aged 65 years and over and 6 new certifications of visual 
impairment due to glaucoma in people aged 40 years and over in Rutland. This gives an AMD 
rate of 127.8 per 100,000 population, similar to the England rate of 111.3 per 100,000 
population.Error! Bookmark not defined. The rate of glaucoma is 26.9 per 100,000 
population, statistically similar to the England rate of 13.1 per 100,000 population.5 

2.3. Mental health

2.3.1. Dementia

The prevalence of dementia as recorded on GP registers in Rutland has increased significantly 
over the last seven years, following the national trend. Through this time, the prevalence in 
Rutland has remained significantly higher than the national prevalence. In 2016/17, 1.0% of 
the practice population in Rutland were recorded on GP registers with dementia, significantly 
higher than the national percentage of 0.8%. This equates to 362 patients in Rutland with this 
diagnosis. It must be noted that a higher prevalence could point to effective case finding in 
the practice population, allowing GPs and members of the primary care team to monitor, 
manage and treat the condition to reduce morbidity and mortality.

The recorded prevalence of dementia in Rutland’s over 65 population in September 2017 was 
3.76%. This is significantly lower than the England value of 4.33%.6 

In Rutland, the directly age standardised rate of emergency inpatient hospital admissions for 
people with a mention of dementia for Rutland’s over 65 population has remained 
significantly lower than the national rate during the last five years. The rate has steadily 
increased, albeit at a slower rate than nationally. The latest data shows in 2016/17, the 
directly age standardised rate was 2,203 per 100,000 population (214 admissions), 
significantly lower that the England rate of 3,482 per 100,000 population.6 

In 2016 in Rutland, 84.5% of all deaths of people with a recorded mention of dementia were 
in their usual place of residence (DiUPR). This is significantly higher than the national 
percentage of 67.9%. Almost three-quarters (70.4%) of all deaths of people with a recorded 
mention of dementia in Rutland in 2016 were in a care home, followed by in hospital (15.5%) 

183



4

and in the home (14.1%). This pattern of place of death is reflected nationally. The latest data 
shows Rutland has a significantly lower proportion of deaths occurring in hospital and a 
significantly higher proportion of deaths of people with a recorded mention of dementia in 
care homes compared to nationally. Error! Bookmark not defined.

2.3.2. Suicide

In Rutland between2011-15, there was one male death from suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent in the 65 and over age range. The crude mortality rate from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent in males aged 65 and over was 5.1 per 100,000 population 
during 2011-15, this is statistically similar to the England rate of 12.6 per 100,000 population.7 

2.4. Hospital admissions

2.4.1. Emergency Admissions

Against a strong national trend of rising emergency admissions, the rate of emergency 
admissions has been maintained at a steady level in Rutland, with the 2017-18 rate only 0.5% 
higher than the rate in 2014-15. Non elective admissions rose by 9% in England over the same 
period according to national hospital activity data.8 

2.5. Falls

The largest cause of emergency admissions for older people is falls. Falls impact on long term 
outcomes and the ability for a person to stay living in their own home. The highest rate of 
falls is witnessed in the population aged 80 and above. 

In Rutland, the rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in persons aged 
65+ has declined year on year for the last four years, at a faster rate than nationally. In 
2015/16 the rate has declined from 1,869 per 100,000 population to 1,579 per 100,000 
population in 2016/17. This represents a decrease of 20 admissions from 172 in 2015/16 to 
152 in 2016/17. The latest rate is significantly better than the England value of 2,114 per 
100,000 population.5

Compared to the previous year, the majority of this decrease was witnessed in the population 
aged 65-79 years. The rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in 
persons aged 65-79 years per 100,000 population has declined from 994 per 100,000 
population in 2015/16 to 631 per 100,000 population in 2016/17, reflecting a decline of 22 
admissions.

184

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/hospital-activity/monthly-hospital-activity/mar-data/


5

Meanwhile the rate of emergency hospital admissions for injuries due to falls in persons aged 
80 and above has also declined year on year for the last four years, at a faster rate than 
nationally. In 2016/16, the rate of emergency hospital admissions due to falls for adults aged 
80 and over was 4,329 per 100,000 population. This is better than the England average value 
of 5,363 per 100,000 population. This represents 110 admissions in 2016/17.9 

2.5.1. Fractured neck of femur

Only one in three people that suffer a hip fracture return to their former levels of 
independence. The condition is so debilitating that one in three sufferers end up moving into 
long-term care facilities.

The rate of emergency hospital admissions for hip fractures in persons aged 65 and above 
and in persons aged 80 and above (separately) has increased each year between 2014/15 to 
2016/17. In both age bands the national rate has declined slightly year on year.

Emergency hospital admissions for hip fractures in persons aged 65 and above per 100,000 
population has increased (worsened) from 532 per 100,000 population in 2015/16 to 558 per 
100,000 population in 2016/17, representing an increase of 4 admissions. The latest rate 
performs similar to the national average. In 2016/17, the rate of emergency hospital 
admissions for hip fractures in males aged 65 and above per 100,000 population is 
significantly worse than the national average, whereas the rate in females is significantly 
better than the national average.

Meanwhile in 2016/17, the rate of emergency hospital admissions due to fractured neck of 
femur for adults aged 80 and over was 1,432 per 100,000 population, this is similar to the 
England average value of 1,545 per 100,000 population. The counts of emergency hospital 
admissions for hip fractures in persons aged 80 and above has increased by 5 admissions 
compared to the previous year, from 31 in 2015/16 to 36 in 2016/17.9 

2.6. Excess winter deaths

Excess winter deaths are largely due to circulatory and respiratory diseases. Factors that 
impact on excess winter deaths include: the ability to cope with drops in temperature and the 
level of disease in the population. The excess winter deaths index is the ratio of extra deaths 
from all causes in the winter months compared with the expected number of deaths, based 
on the average number of non-winter deaths.

The ratio of excess winter deaths for all ages in Rutland (over 3 years) has remained similar to 
the national ratio since August 2001 – July 2004. The latest data shows for the period August 
2013 – July 2016, there were 38 winter deaths in Rutland. This gives an excess winter deaths 

185



6

index of 10.9 and is statistically similar to the England value of 17.9.9 Rutland’s excess winter 
deaths index for females was 17.4, and was statistically similar to the England value of 20.2.9 
Meanwhile, the excess winter deaths index for males was 4.4 and was statistically similar to 
the England value of 15.4.9 

The ratio of excess winter deaths for people aged 85 and over in Rutland (over 3 years) has 
remained similar to the national ratio since August 2001 – July 2004. The latest data (for the 
period August 2013 – July 2016) shows there were 18 winter deaths in Rutland for people 
aged 85 years and over. This gives an excess winter deaths index of 11.5 and is statistically 
similar to the England value of 24.6.9 Rutland’s excess winter deaths index for females aged 
85 years and over was 23.5, and was statistically similar to the England value of 25.3.Error! 
Bookmark not defined. Meanwhile, the excess winter deaths index for males aged 85 years 
and over was -5.3, and was statistically similar to the England value of 23.3.9 The ratio for 
males infers there were less deaths in winter compared to non-winter throughout this time 
period.

2.7. Mortality

The directly age standardised mortality rate (ASMR) is calculated to take into account the age 
structures of the population. Since 2004, the ASMR for all ages in Rutland has remained 
significantly lower than the national average. The latest data in 2015 shows when the ASMR 
is broken down into age groups, those under 65, between 65 and 74, between 75 and 84 and 
above 85 years all have a similar rate to the national average.5   

In Rutland, 10.1% of all deaths in 2015 were in those aged under 65. This is significantly lower 
than the national percentage of 14.8% and has decreased year on year from 13.2% in 2012. 
Of all deaths in Rutland, 46.6% were from those aged 85 and above, this is significantly higher 
than the national percentage of 40.4%. The percentage of deaths in this age group has 
increased significantly over time.5 

2.7.1. Place of death

Over a third (38.9%) of all deaths in Rutland in 2016 were in hospital, followed by: in the home 
(27.7%)  in care homes (27.7%), hospices (3.2%) and other places (2.4%). This pattern of place 
of death is reflected nationally. The latest data shows Rutland has a significantly lower 
proportion of deaths occurring in hospital and a significantly higher proportion of deaths in 
care homes compared to nationally. In Rutland the trend is significantly decreasing over time 
for in-hospital deaths and significantly increasing over time for deaths in care homes.5 

In Rutland, over half (51.9%) of deaths in the under 65 years age group occurred in hospital 
in 2016, this is the highest percentage out of all age groups. The lowest percentage of in-

186



7

hospital deaths occurred in those aged over 85 years. In 2016, less than a third of deaths 
(29.8%) in this age group were in hospital, significantly lower than the national percentage of 
43.8%.  The trend of in-hospital deaths has been significantly decreasing across the 65-74 age 
band and 85 and above age band over time.5 

As age increases, the percentage of deaths in care homes increases. Almost half (45.7%) of all 
deaths in the 85 and above age bands occurred in care home, a significantly higher percentage 
to the national average (36.7%).  The trend of care home deaths has been significantly 
increasing in the county across the 85 and above age band over time.5 

Nationally the percentage of deaths at home decreases with age. In 2016 in Rutland, over a 
third (39.7%) of deaths in those aged 65-74 years died at home, similar to the national 
percentage of 30.3%. This was the highest percentage out of all age bands in Rutland 
residents.  In those aged 85 and above, a quarter (24.5%) of all deaths were in the home. This 
is a significantly higher percentage compared to the national average (16.4%).5

In 2016, hospice deaths accounted for 3.2% of all deaths in Rutland.  This is similar to the 
national percentage of 5.7%. In Rutland the trend is significantly increasing over time for 
deaths in hospices.5 

2.7.1.1. Deaths in Usual Place of Residence

In Rutland, over half (52.4%) of all deaths were in usual place of residence (DiUPR) in 2015, 
this is significantly higher than the national percentage of 46.0%. The trend has increased 
significantly in Rutland over time and the percentage of DiUPR has continued to have a 
significantly higher percentage than nationally since 2006. Two-thirds (66.1%) of all deaths 
from those aged 85 and above in Rutland were in the usual place of residence, this is 
significantly higher than the national percentage of 54.1%. The percentage of DiUPR in this 
age group has increased significantly over time.5 

2.7.2. Cancer

Nationally, a steady decline in deaths from cancer among people aged 65 and over has been 
seen since 2001-03. Throughout this time in Rutland, the rate of deaths from cancer among 
people aged 65 and over has remained significantly better (lower). The latest data shows 
during 2014-16, there were 255 deaths from cancer in people in Rutland aged 65 years and 
over. This is a rate of 933.4 per 100,000 population and is better than England’s rate of 1,115.2 
per 100,000 population.Error! Bookmark not defined.

187



8

2.7.3. Cardiovascular disease

The rate of deaths from cardiovascular disease among people aged 65 and over has declined 
each year since 2001-03. Throughout this time, the rate in Rutland has remained lower, 
although not significantly so between 2008-10 to 2012-14. The latest data shows during 2014-
16, there were 251 deaths from cardiovascular disease in people in Rutland aged 65 years and 
over. This is a rate of 894.8 per 100,000 population and is significantly better than England’s 
rate of 1,149.2 per 100,000 population.Error! Bookmark not defined. 

2.7.4. Respiratory disease

Nationally, a steady decline in deaths from respiratory disease among people aged 65 and 
over has been seen since 2001-03. Throughout this time in Rutland, the rate of deaths from 
respiratory disease among people aged 65 and over has remained significantly better (lower). 
The latest data shows during 2014-16, there were 137 deaths from respiratory disease in 
people in Rutland aged 65 years and over. This is a rate of 490.5 per 100,000 population and 
is better than England’s rate of 629.1 per 100,000 population.Error! Bookmark not defined. 

3. How does this impact?

The last few years have seen a steady increase in the prevalence of a range of long term 
conditions in Rutland, many of which are largely preventable and closely associated with 
lifestyle factors including increased levels of obesity, lack of exercise and smoking. Supporting 
people to stay healthy for longer is therefore a key area for action. The number of complex 
cases is also increasing, as  more people are living with more than one long term condition.

4. Policy and Guidance

The Care Act 2014 sets out the primary statutory duties of adult social care.  People have a 
right to a free needs assessment from the council regardless of finances or presenting needs 
or are too low to qualify for help. All councils must use new national eligibility criteria to 
decide whether someone can get help from them. 

If people get social care support, they now have a right to request a personal budget enabling 
people to commission their own care. If the needs assessment shows they don’t qualify for 
help from the council, they must advise people how the care system works and how to pay 
for their own care. Carers too have a legal right to a care assessment from the local council 
and can also get support services if they qualify for them.

If people find it difficult to communicate or to understand the issues being discussed, the 
council must provide an advocate to help when discussing their care. They will represent 

188

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/arranging-care/care-needs-assessment/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/paying-for-care/financial-assessment/personal-budgets-and-direct-payments/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/helping-a-loved-one/getting-a-carers-assessment/


9

people’s interests if they don’t have a friend or relative who can help. 

The council is the lead agency in preventing abuse to vulnerable adults and now has powers 
under section 42 of the Care Act to cause enquiry.  This means the council can ask providers 
of health and domiciliary services to investigate concerns and present the findings to the 
council for scrutiny.  The council works closely with the Police and other statutory agencies at 
these times; always keeping in contact with and supporting the alleged victim.

Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund (BCF) programme was set up in 2014, spanning both the NHS and local 
authorities, to join-up health and care services, in order that people can manage their own 
health and wellbeing, and live independently in their communities for as long as possible.  
Rutland’s Better Care Fund programme aims to shape more integrated, efficient and effective 
health and care services which work well for the people of Rutland. This is so that people 
receive the right care and support at the right time to maintain their health and wellbeing, 
staying well for as long as possible, thus preventing, delaying or reducing their need for care.  
The programme is run jointly by Rutland County Council and East Leicestershire and Rutland 
Clinical Commissioning Group, and overseen by the Rutland Health and Wellbeing Board.

5. Current Services

Rutland Information Service RIS is designed to support people with a wide range of 
information to enable them to access support and information and to help themselves.

Rutland Community Wellbeing (RCWS) Service offers information, support and signposting to 
help residents of Rutland with a range of health and wellbeing needs. This includes self-help 
tools, and onwards referral to a variety of community support, through an interactive 
website,( https://www.rutlandwellbeing.org.uk/) single telephone number and drop-in 
services. They provide a wide range of assistance to help people to overcome some of the 
factors which may have a negative impact on their health and wellbeing, such as poor housing 
and debt. This includes help to access specialist military/veteran support.  RCWS also provides 
support to help people around a range of lifestyle issues such as help to stop smoking, basic 
dietary and weight management advice and referral. 

Active Rutland provides details of all the activity and sports available within the county, 
including those aimed at specific groups such as older people, young people with disabilities 
and those recovering from injury.10

The Exercise Referral Scheme is a programme for adults (16+) with health conditions, who 
could benefit from increased physical activity. It is a partnership between Public Health, 

189



10

Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport, local authorities, GP practices and other healthcare 
professionals. It offers an opportunity for these individuals to exercise in a safe, supervised 
and structured environment.

Rutland operates a Passport to Leisure scheme which allows specific groups the opportunity 
to access daytime services and facilities at the local sports centre at a discounted rate, this 
includes low income families, students and individuals with a disability or impairment.

Rutland County Council, Adult Social Care (ASC) Service has a number of specialist teams 
covering all aspects of adult social care from both a commissioning perspective and a provider 
perspective.

The teams are divided into three service areas and contain a number of professionals and 
support staff. These include social workers, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, nurses 
and care managers.  The areas they cover are Prevention and Safeguarding, Long-term 
Support, and Hospital Discharge.  All of the teams work on an outcome-focused ethos with 
the person at the centre involving and empowering them to take decisions over their own 
lives at often very difficult times for them and their families.   The Hospital Discharge team is 
a fully integrated team which includes health professionals from the community health 
provider (LPT) as well as local authority employed staff.

The teams work closely with other professional agencies, GPs and appropriate third sector 
partners to ensure the best possible outcome for the person concerned and their families.

In addition, Adult Social Care have a reablement team who specialise in helping people back 
to being independent such as after a hospital stay.  The service will support and encourage 
people in their own homes facilitating them to stay there as long as possible. 

Rutland is one of only two local authorities within the UK to directly employ an Admiral Nurse 
to support people following a diagnosis of dementia. Services are being restructured to 
increase provision and support available for dementia. 

The local authority commissions services from other sources to assist it with its statutory 
duties.  This includes advocacy services for those who lack capacity and equipment services 
for occupational therapy and home adaptions.

In addition to adult social care, the local authority commission a number of external providers 
to deliver residential and nursing care, homecare (domiciliary care), and wider support 
services, including specific older people’s support from Age UK Leicester-Shire and Rutland, 
via Rutland Access Partnership (a VSCE consortium).

190

http://www.activerutland.org.uk/passport-to-leisure-scheme
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/leisure-and-culture/active-in-rutland/catmose-sports-centre/


11

6. Unmet needs/Gaps

7. Recommendations

Develop work to extend healthy life expectancy by: 

 Helping people to remain well, active and connected  

 Encouraging and enabling individuals to take a greater role in their own care

 Minimising the impact of ill health and prolonging independence and quality of life

 Raising awareness and take-up of preventative opportunities and services.

 Broadening prevention opportunities, particularly where they promote active and 
connected lifestyles.

Develop holistic health and care services for people with long term conditions by providing 
more coherent integrated services for people with impaired health. To achieve this reshape 
demand for primary, community, social care  and acute health services and treating people 
as close to home as possible and in the community so relieving pressure on acute care

Supporting integrated health and care service development through: 

 Improvements to IT systems and infrastructure, Information Governance assurance, 
and support for workforce planning and development.

 Understanding users’ experience of health and care services to inform and help    
prioritise improvements

 Further progressing integrated commissioning.

191



12

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LSOA Lower Super Output Area

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

PHE Public Health England

192



13

REFERENCES

1 Public Health England. Wider Determinants of Health Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-

determinants 
2 Public Health England. Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNA (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-

group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna 
3 Office for National Statistics, Revised population estimates for England and Wales: mid-2012 to mid-2016 (2018). At 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/an

nualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
4 Action on Hearing Loss. Hearing Matters (2015). At: https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/how-we-

help/information-and-resources/publications/research-reports/hearing-matters-report/ 
5 Public Health England. End of Life Care Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
6 Public Health England. Dementia Profile. (2018) At. https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/dementia 
7 Public Health England. Suicide Prevention Profile (2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/suicide 
8 NHS England (2018) Monthy Hospital Activity Data. At. https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-

areas/hospital-activity/monthly-hospital-activity/mar-data/ 
9 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework.(2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework

10 Active Rutland (2018) At https://www.activerutland.org.uk/

193

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/how-we-help/information-and-resources/publications/research-reports/hearing-matters-report/
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/how-we-help/information-and-resources/publications/research-reports/hearing-matters-report/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/suicide
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/suicide
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/hospital-activity/monthly-hospital-activity/mar-data/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/hospital-activity/monthly-hospital-activity/mar-data/


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE - STAYING 
SAFE AND HEALTHY
DECEMBER 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

195



i

Public Health Intelligence

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executive’s Department
Leicestershire County Council
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RA

Tel 0116 305 4266
Email phi@leics.gov.uk 

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating 
to the data contained within the report.

196

mailto:phi@leics.gov.uk


ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to 
meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health 
and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA has reviewed the population health needs for the people of Rutland in respective of a 
person’s child and teenage years. This has involved looking at the determinants of health, the health 
needs of this population in Rutland, the impact of services, the policy and guidance supporting 
young children, and the existing services and the breadth of services that are currently provided. 
The unmet needs and recommendations that have arisen from this needs assessment are discussed.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

197



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 In 2016/17, the proportion of pupils residing in Rutland with excess weight (classified as 
overweight or obese) in Year 6 (aged 10-11 years) (25.4%) was better than the national 
percentage (34.2%); this has been the case for four of the last six years. In contrast, the 
prevalence of overweight and obese Reception pupils in Rutland (24.0%) is similar to the 
England average (22.6%), and has increased each year for the last three years.

 Compared to last year, the prevalence of excess weight in Year 6 children in Rutland 
improved from 31.4% to 25.4%; this equates to a reduction in 20 pupils in the authority 
classified with excess weight. Whilst the proportions of both overweight and the obese 
categories fell between 2015/16 and 2016/17, the statistical significance of overweight 
pupils has remained similar to England, whereas the statistical significance of obese pupils 
became significantly better than the national average. The proportion of obese pupils in Year 
6 in Rutland is 11.3%; this is the best performing percentage nationally.

 The rate of under 18 conceptions in Rutland has shown a significant decline in line with 
national and since 2013, has remained significantly better than the national rate.

 Rutland continues to perform significantly worse than the national percentage for 
proportion of the population aged 15-24 screened for chlamydia. Meanwhile in 2017, 
Rutland continues to perform significantly worse than the benchmarked goal rate of 1,900-
2,300 per 100,000 population for chlamydia detection rate for 15-24 years olds but has seen 
a year on year increase since 2015.

 Regular drinking is defined as consuming an alcoholic drinking at least once a week. 7.0% of 
15 year olds in Rutland said they were drinking regularly, similar to the England value of 
6.2%.  Meanwhile, 20.6% of 15 year olds in Rutland said they had been drunk in the last 4 
weeks. This is worse than the England value of 14.6%.

 Rutland has a lower level of estimated prevalence of mental health disorders in children aged 
5-16 years compared to England. In 2015, the estimated prevalence in Rutland was 8.2%, 
compared to 9.2% nationally.

198



iv

CONTENTS
1. Who is at risk? ...........................................................................................................................................6

2. Level of need in Rutland ..........................................................................................................................12

3. How does this impact? ............................................................................................................................21

4. Policy and Guidance.................................................................................................................................22

5. Current Services.......................................................................................................................................25

6. Unmet needs/Gaps..................................................................................................................................31

7. Recommendations...................................................................................................................................34

List of Tables
Table 1: Top 25 local authorities with the lowest levels of child poverty across the UK ....................6

List of Figures
Figure 1: System wide pathway of services.......................................................................................28

199



5

1. Who is at risk?

There are many factors that influence the health and care needs of a child during their pre-school 
years. This is a vital time for development of a child whether that be physically, emotionally or 
socially, and many of the factors influencing a child’s health at this time can have an impact on their 
later life.

1.1 Children in poverty

The Marmot Review (2010) suggests there is evidence that childhood poverty leads to premature 
mortality and poor health outcomes for adults. It therefore follows that reducing the numbers of 
children who experience poverty should improve adult health outcomes and increase healthy life 
expectancy.Error! Bookmark not defined.

Under the Child Poverty Act 2010, a household is said to be in relative poverty when their income is 
less than 60% of the current median income. This figure stands at 18.4% before housing costs have 
been considered. 

Rutland are positioned within the 25 local authorities with the lowest levels of child poverty across 
the UK. 

Table 1: Top 25 local authorities with the lowest levels of child poverty across the UK1 

Local authority % of children in poverty 2017 (after 
housing costs)

Isles of Scilly 5.17%

Shetland Islands 9.39%

Wokingham 10.76%

Hart 11.17%

South Northamptonshire 11.79%

Mole Valley 12.08%

Waverley 12.49%

South Oxfordshire 12.50%

Aberdeenshire 12.59%

Rushcliffe 12.89%

Ribble Valley 12.90%

South Cambridgeshire 13.07%

Uttlesford 13.17%

Harborough 13.34%

Mid Sussex 13.37%

West Oxfordshire 13.39%

Elmbridge 13.44%

Rutland 13.52%

Epsom and Ewell 13.56%

200



6

Surrey Heath 13.56%

Horsham 13.94%

Chiltern 14.06%

Winchester 14.08%

West Berkshire 14.27%

Fareham 14.27%

1.1.1 Homelessness

Homelessness often equates to severe poverty which is a social determinant of health. As a result, 
homeless children are often the most vulnerable in society.

Family homelessness (applicant households eligible for assistance (1996 Housing Act) 
unintentionally homeless and in priority need) in 2016/17 was 1.9 per 1,000 households for England, 
and 1.6 per 1,000 households for the East Midlands. Rutland’s rate was 1.2 per 1,000 households 
(19 households) which is significantly better than the England value.2 

1.1.2 Low income families

Low income families are those in receipt of out of work benefits or tax credits where the families’ 
reported income is less than 60% median income.

In 2015, 7.2% of children under 16 years were in low income families (430 children). This is better 
than the England value of 16.8%.3 In 2017, 4.6% of children attending state-funded schools in 
Rutland were eligible and claiming free school meals (256 children). This value is better than the 
England value of 13.9%. 2

1.2 Children in Need

In Rutland in 2016/17, 504 children under the age of 18 were classified as children in need. This 
equates to a rate of 573 per 10,000 population. This is significantly better than the England average 
value of 612 per 10,000 population.4

Of those in need 71.7% were defined as in need due to abuse/neglect or family dysfunction. This is 
significantly worse than the England average value of 68.3%.4

Of those children in need, 21 children (a rate of 27.2 per 10,000 population) were defined as in need 
due to child disability or illness in Rutland in 2017. This is similar to the England value of 31.2 per 
10,000 population.4 

Self-harm was identified as risk in 4.5% of assessments of children in need, slightly higher than the 
national average of 4.1% during 2016/17.4

201



7

1.3 Special Educational Needs

In Rutland in 2017, there were 347 pupils of primary school age with special educational needs 
(SEN). This is 11.9% of the total number of pupils and is lower than the East Midlands proportion of 
12.7% and the England proportion of 13.8%.4

For secondary schools, there were 374 pupils with special educational needs. This is 14.0% of the 
total number of pupils and is higher than the East Midlands proportion of 11.7% and the England 
proportion of 12.3%.4

Percentages of children receiving SEN support in Rutland have risen significantly from 8.5% in 2015 
to 13% in 2018. The rate of SEN support is now ranked third in the East Midlands (of 9 authorities) 
having been lowest from 2009 to 2015.4 

1.4 Children Looked After 

In Rutland on 31 March 2017, 40 children under the age of 18 were classified as looked after. This 
equates to a rate of 51.8 per 10,000 population. This is significantly better than the England average 
value of 62.0 per 10,000 population. The rate of Children Looked After (CLA) per 10,000 children for 
Rutland has increased over the last five years from 40 per 10,000 in 2012 to 52 per 10,000 in 2017. 
The increase in the rate over the last five years has been greater for Rutland than for the national 
and regional comparators, with only a small increase regionally and the national figure remaining 
static over the last four years. This means that the increase over the last six years has brought 
Rutland’s rate of CLA proportionate to its local population much closer to the regional and national 
pictures. 

Rutland has the lowest number of CLA of any local authority in England; no other local authority has 
fewer than 100 CLA – Wokingham is the next smallest with 110 – and the average for a local 
authority is 649 children (average for all authorities over the last 5 years).

In 2017, 96.0% of eligible looked after school aged children (22 children) had an emotional and 
behavioural health assessment. This is higher than the England average value of 76.0%. The 
proportion of eligible children considered ‘of concern’ in 2016/17 was 59.0% (13 children). This is 
worse than the England value of 38.0%.4 

In 2016/17, the rate of children leaving care for Rutland was 25.9 per 10,000 population. This is 
significantly lower than the England average value of 26.5 per 10,000 population.

1.4.1 Health Assessments 

Under the performance assessment framework, local authorities in England are monitored on the 
uptake of annual health checks for children who were being ‘looked after’. Children who have been 

202



8

looked after for 12 or more months are expected to have a health assessment. The health checks 
are a key tool in ensuring the health needs of all looked after children are identified. Initial and 
annual health assessments are important to ensure prompt identification of pre-existing, emerging 
and changing health needs.

In 2017, 96.0% of eligible looked after school aged children (22 children) had an emotional and 
behavioural health assessment. This is higher than the England average value of 76.0%.  The 
proportion of eligible children considered ‘of concern’ in 2016/17 was 59.0% (13 children). This is 
worse than the England value of 38.0%.4

In 2017, 100.0% of looked after children under the age of 5 in Rutland (6 children) had up-to-date 
development assessments, and 100.0% of looked after children under the age of 18 (29 children) 
had an annual health assessment.4 

1.5 Safeguarding of children

In Rutland at the end of March 2017, 20 children were subject to a child protection plan. This 
equates to a rate of 25.9 per 10,000 population. This is lower than the England average value of 43.3 
per 10,000 population.

In Rutland during 2016/17, there were 32 new child protection cases for children aged less than 18 
years of age. This is a rate of 46.6 per 10,000 population. This is similar to the England rate of 56.3 
per 10,000 population. Meanwhile, in Rutland, 36.1% of children aged under 18 years of age (13 
children) became subject of a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time. This is higher 
than the England value of 18.7%.4

1.6 Trilogy of Risk (aka Toxic Trio) 

The term ‘Trilogy of Risk’ has been used to describe the issues of domestic abuse, mental ill-health 
and substance misuse which have been identified as common features of families where harm to 
adults and children has occurred. They are viewed as indicators of increased risk of harm to children 
and young people.

For detailed data on the Trilogy of Risk and its impact for Rutland children and young people 
please refer to the previous Toxic Trio Needs Assessment (2016), which will be updated in the 
latter part of 2018.5 

1.7 Child Sexual Exploitation 

Child sexual exploitation (CSE) is a type of sexual abuse. Children in exploitative situations and 
relationships receive something such as gifts, money or affection as a result of performing sexual 

203



9

activities or others performing sexual activities on them.

Rutland has clear processes in place for addressing CSE aligned to the Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board and led locally by Children’s Social Care.

There is no specific crime of child sexual exploitation. Offenders are often convicted for associated 
offences such as sexual activity with a child, and therefore it is not possible to obtain specific figures 
from statistics of sexual exploitation offences.  National data suggests that almost 560 children were 
trafficked for sexual exploitation in 2017 under the National Referral Mechanism of the National 
Crime Agency.  

The National Referral Mechanism is a victim identification and support process that is designed to 
make it easier for all the different agencies involved in a modern slavery case (for example, the 
police, UK Visa and Immigration, local authorities and non govermental organisations) to cooperate, 
share information about potential victims and facilitate their access to advice, accommodation and 
support.

In 2017 the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) received a total of 5,145 referrals of potential 
victims of trafficking. 2,118 (41%) were children under the age of 18. The most prevalent 
exploitation types for children believed to have been trafficked were labour exploitation (1,026, 48% 
of all children believed to have been trafficked) and sexual exploitation (559, 26%). The exploitation 
type of 414 (20%) of children believed to have been trafficked was recorded as unknown.6

These figures are likely to be under-estimates due to the difficulties in recognising and 
understanding that individuals have been victims of trafficking. It is also not mandatory for a 
professional to make a referral to the NRM.6 

1.8 Education

A child’s performance in school is a key indicator of their development. In addition to exam-related 
performance, engagement in other activities can provide opportunities to enhance a pupil’s mental 
wellbeing. For more information on education, please refer to the ‘Achieving Educational Potential’ 
JSNA Chapter.

1.9 Youth Justice

It is common for children and young people who enter the youth justice system to have more unmet 
health needs than other children.

The combined figure for Leicestershire and Rutland for children who have formally entered the 
youth justice system was 2.5 per 1,000 children aged 10-18 years in 2016/17. This is better than the 
England value of 4.8 per 1,000 children.7

204



10

Meanwhile, the combined figure for Leicestershire and Rutland for first time entrants in the youth 
justice system was 163.4 per 100,000 children aged 10-17 years in 2016. This is better than the 
England value of 327.1 per 100,000 children.7 

Numbers of children and young people from Rutland who access the Youth Offending Service are 
extremely low and consequently the data is suppressed.  The numbers have remained consistent 
over the past three years. 

1.10 Young Carers

In 2011, 60 children aged less than 15 years in Rutland provided 1 or more hours of unpaid care per 
week. This is 0.9% of the total number of children aged less than 15 years. This is similar to the 
England proportion of 1.11%.7 

Three children aged less than 15 years in Rutland provided 20 or more hours of unpaid care per 
week. This is 0.04% of the total number of children aged less than 15 years. This is better than the 
England proportion of 0.21%.2 

In 2011, 146 young people aged 16-24 years in Rutland provided 1 or more hours of unpaid care per 
week. This is 3.6% of the total number of children aged 16-24 years. This is better than the England 
proportion of 4.8%.2 

Meanwhile, 19 young people aged 16-24 years in Rutland provided 20 or more hours of unpaid care 
per week. This is 0.5% of the total number of children aged less than 16-24 years. This is better than 
the England proportion of 1.3%.2 

The number of new young carers referred for assessment to children’s social care was 9 in 2015-16, 
26 in 2016-17 and 21 in 2017-18. The total number of young carers receiving support was 42 in 
2015-16, 56 in 2016-17 and 65 in 2017-18.4 

1.11 Household Issues

Households experiencing issues may have a negative impact on the quality of a child’s housing and 
health.

1.11.1 Lone parent households

714 households in Rutland in 2011 had a lone parent with dependant children. This is 4.8% of the 
total number of households and is lower than the England proportion of 7.1%.8 

1.11.2 No parents in employment

205



11

235 households in Rutland in 2011 had dependent children but no adult in employment.  This is 
1.6% of the total number of households and is lower than the England proportion of 4.2%.7 

1.11.3 Long-term health problem 

In 2011 there were 456 households in Rutland which had dependent children and at least one 
person (which could be an adult or a child) with a long-term health problem or disability.  This is 
3.04% of the total number of households and is lower than the England proportion of 4.62%.7 

1.12 Risky Behaviours

Risky behaviours are those behaviours that are unhealthy as well as some which are illegal. As part 
of the ‘What About YOUth’ survey, 15 year olds were surveyed with respect to their lifestyle 
behaviours. The survey took place in 2014/15 and the unweighted base was 137 respondents in 
Rutland.

In Rutland, 17.9% of 15 years olds reported having undertaken at least three of the following 
unhealthy behaviours: smoking, drinking, smoked cannabis, took other drugs, consumed fewer than 
five portions of fruit and vegetables, not active for 60 minutes or more in the week prior to the 
survey.  Rutland’s value is similar to the England proportion of 15.9%. 9

2. Level of need in Rutland

In 2016, Rutland’s population of 5-19 year olds was estimated to be a total of 6,752 (3,205 females 
and 3,547 males).  This is projected to increase by 6.6% to around 7,200 by 2039.10

Further information regarding Rutland’s population can be seen in the JSNA Population chapter 
here: Add link once published

2.1. Child mortality

Deaths in children after their first birthday are mostly due to injuries and are therefore usually 
preventable. The mortality rate for children aged 1-17 years cannot be calculated for Rutland as 
there were only 3 deaths in this age group during 2014-16.2 Since 2010-12, the highest number of 
child deaths in a three year time period was 3.

2.2. Excess Weight

Excess weight in children can lead to excess weight into adulthood. Childhood obesity can lead to 
health problems such as: increased blood lipids, glucose intolerance, Type 2 diabetes, hypertension, 
increases in liver enzymes associated with fatty liver, exacerbation of conditions such as asthma and 
psychological problems such as social isolation, low self-esteem, teasing and bullying.

206



12

In 2016/17, the proportion of pupils residing in Rutland with excess weight (classified as overweight 
or obese) in Year 6 (aged 10-11 years) (25.4%) was better than the national percentage (34.2%); this 
has been the case for four of the last six years. In contrast, the prevalence of overweight and obese 
Reception pupils in Rutland (24.0%) is similar to the England average (22.6%), and has increased 
each year for the last three years.11

Compared to last year, the prevalence of excess weight in Reception children in Rutland has 
increased from 22.9% to 24.0%; this equates to an increase in four pupils in the authority classified 
with excess weight. This is mainly due to the increase in the prevalence of obese Reception pupils 
from 7.7% to 8.8%. However, the prevalence of overweight pupils in Reception remained reasonably 
stable at 15.2%.11

In contrast, the prevalence of excess weight in Year 6 children in Rutland improved from 31.4% to 
25.4%; this equates to a reduction in 20 pupils in the authority classified with excess weight. Whilst 
the proportions of both of the overweight and the obese categories fell between 2015/16 and 
2016/17, the statistical significance of overweight pupils remained similar to England, whereas the 
statistical significance of obese pupils became significantly better than the national average. The 
proportion of obese pupils in Year 6 in Rutland is 11.3%, this is the best performing percentage 
nationally.11 

Compared to the national picture in 2016/17, the gap narrowed between the difference in 
prevalence of excess weight in Reception and Year 6 children in Rutland, and currently stands at 
+0.9 percentage points. In 2014/15 to 2015/16, this gap increased (+2.1, +8.4).

Most demographic groups demonstrated a higher proportion to England with regards to excess 
weight amongst Reception pupils in 2016/17. Whilst the biggest differences between the authority 
and the national average were found in the overweight category rather than the obese category, 
the proportion of obese Reception pupils appears to have been rising over the last three years at a 
quicker rate than the proportion of overweight pupils. In contrast, the corresponding proportions 
of overweight pupils in Year 6 were similar to the England average across different demographic 
groups, and the proportion of excess weight was significantly lower amongst a number of Year 6 
demographic groups.

Although there was little evidence of an association between level of deprivation and prevalence of 
excess weight in either Reception or Year 6, the prevalence of excess weight in Reception in the 
least deprived areas of Rutland (IMD decile 10) has increased year on year since 2013/14, and has 
been (non-significantly) higher than the England average and Rutland average for the last three 
years.

207



13

2.2.1. Body perception

In Rutland in 2014/15, the percentage of 15 year olds who thought their body was the right size was 
52.5%. This is similar to the England value of 52.4%.9 Over a third (35.9%) of respondents from 
Rutland felt they were too fat and 11.6% felt they were too thin. This is similar to the national 
percentages of 34.4% and 13.2% respectively.9 

2.3. Physical activity

Regular exercise is beneficial to health. In addition to physical benefits, there are psychological 
benefits, such as reduced anxiety and depression. Over two-thirds (68.7%) of 15 year olds said they 
had about 7 or more hours of sedentary behaviours in their free time on a weekday in the previous 
week. This is better than the England value of 70.1%.9 Furthermore, 8.6% of 15 year olds said they 
were physically active for at least an hour per day, 7 days a week. This is worse than the England 
value of 13.9%.9

2.4. Smoking

Smoking in early adulthood is likely to impact on the health and health behaviours later in life. 
Smoking is known to cause preventable morbidity and premature death.

As part of the ‘What About YOUth’ survey, 15 year olds were surveyed with respect to their lifestyle 
behaviours. The survey took place in 2014/15. Regular smokers are those that said they smoked at 
least one cigarette a week. 4.5% of 15 years in Rutland said they were regular smokers. This is similar 
to the England value of 5.5%.9

Occasional smokers are those that said they sometimes smoked, but not as many as one a week. 
5.0% of 15 year olds in Rutland said they were occasional smokers. This is statistically similar to the 
England value of 2.7%.9

13.1% of 15 year olds said they had tried other tobacco products. This is similar to the England value 
of 15.2%.9 15.2% of 15 year olds said they had tried e-cigarettes. This is similar to the England value 
of 18.4%.9

2.5. Tooth decay

Oral health problems in children are largely preventable.  Oral health is an important aspect of a 
child’s overall health status and is seen as a marker of wider health and social care issues, including 
poor nutrition and obesity. A combination of healthy diet and practising good dental hygiene can 
help to ensure a child has healthy teeth and gums.

208



14

2.5.1. Five year olds

In England, 23.3% of five-year-old children had experience of obvious dental decay (caries), having 
one or more teeth that were decayed to dentinal level, extracted or filled because of caries 
(%d3mft>0) in 2016/17. d3mft is the standard measure of dental decay and refers to teeth that are 
decayed, missing and/or teeth with fillings. In Rutland, the percentage of children with obvious 
dental decay is significantly better than the national average at 15.6%. From 2014/15 to 2016/17 
there has been a significant improvement in the percentage of children with obvious dental decay 
(%d3mft>0) in Rutland (28.8% to 15.6%).12

In England, the average (mean) number of teeth per child affected by decay (decayed, missing or 
filled teeth (d3mft)) was 0.8. In Rutland, the average number of teeth per child affected by d3mft 
was 0.4, half the national average. From 2014/15 to 2016/17 there has been a significant 
improvement in the average number of decayed teeth per child in Rutland (0.7 to 0.4).12

Among the children with decay experience, the average number of decayed, missing (due to decay) 
or filled teeth (mean d3mft (% d3mft>0)) in England is 3.4. At upper-tier local authority level there 
is clear variation of this measure with affected children in Rutland and Wiltshire having only 2.3 
teeth affected on average, while those in Harrow had 4.8.12

The presence of substantial amounts of plaque compared with ‘visible’ or no plaque provides a 
proxy measure of children who do not brush their teeth, or brush them rarely. Such children cannot 
benefit from the protective effects of fluoride in toothpaste on dental decay. A ‘substantial amount 
of plaque’ was recorded for 1.5% of volunteers in England compared to 0.0% in Rutland.12 

At the age of five-years, nearly all oral sepsis will be the result of the dental decay process rather 
than originating from gum problems. A small number of cases will be linked to traumatic injury of 
teeth, but no diagnosis of cause was recorded during this survey. Oral sepsis was defined in the 
protocol as the presence of a dental abscess or sinus recorded by visual examination of the soft 
tissues. Oral sepsis was recorded for 1.1% of volunteers in England and 0.0% of volunteers in 
Rutland.12

It is useful to know what proportion of children had dental decay affecting one or more of their 
incisor (front) teeth. This type of decay is usually associated with long term bottle use with sugar-
sweetened drinks, especially when these are given overnight or for long periods during the day. 
Overall, the national prevalence of incisor decay was 5.1%. In Rutland the percentage was 1.3%.12

2.5.2. Twelve year olds

The latest data available for 12 year olds was compiled in 2008/9: 12 year olds in Leicestershire and 
Rutland had an average of 0.85 decayed, missing or filled teeth. This is similar to the England value 

209



15

of 0.74. For the same time period, 58.1% of 12 years olds in Leicestershire and Rutland were free 
from dental decay. This is worse than the England proportion of 66.4%.13

2.6. NHS Dentistry

2.6.1.  Access

A 12 month time period is used for access reporting to reflect National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) guidelines which recommend that the longest interval between oral reviews for 
children should be 12 months.14 In Rutland, 5,324 children saw an NHS dentist in the 12 months to 
30 June 2017, representing 69.0% of all children resident in the county. Nationally the percentage 
was 58.2%.15 

When examining by five year age bands, Rutland has a higher access percentage than the national 
average for 0-4 and 5-9 years. At 10-14 and 15-19 years, Rutland has a lower access percentage than 
the national average.16

2.6.2. Activity

NHS dental treatment is divided into patient charge bands depending on the level and complexity 
of treatment provided. Patient charge bands are associated with a Course of Treatment (CoT) as 
stated in Part 5 Treatment Category of the FP17. Dental care providers submit details of their activity 
on an FP17 form. There are three standard charge bands for all NHS dental treatments: 

• Band 1 course of treatment: covers an examination, diagnosis (including X-rays), advice on 
how to prevent future problems, a scale and polish if needed, and application of fluoride varnish or 
fissure sealant. 

• Band 2 course of treatment: covers everything listed in Band 1 above, plus any further 
treatment such as fillings, root canal work or removal of teeth. 

• Band 3 course of treatment: covers everything listed in Bands 1 and 2 above, plus crowns, 
dentures and bridges. 

• Urgent care is a separate Band 1 category.

In Rutland, there were 9,136 CoT delivered to children in 2016/17. Of these CoTs, 79.0% (7,221) 
were Band 1 treatments indicating children are more likely to receive a general check-up than 
correctional treatments. Aside from examinations, fluoride varnish was the most common Band 1 
treatment provided to children, with 2,343 CoTs delivered. This represents a 66.3% increase (1,409) 
from 2015/16.1517 Between 2014/15-2015/16 a quarter (25.0%) of FP17 claims for children in 
Rutland included fluoride varnish. Nationally, fluoride varnish represents a third of all treatment 

210



16

types in this time period.16

The most common Band 2 treatment provided to children was permanent fillings and sealant 
restorations with 1,181 CoTs delivered. This represents a 7.9% decrease (1,282) from 2015/16. 
‘Other treatment’ accounted for the most common Band 3 treatment for children in Rutland with 
24 CoTs delivered.1517

2.7. Road traffic accidents

Vehicle speed and traffic volumes are seen as reasons why parents are wary of their children walking 
and cycling. By limiting walking and cycling, physical activity is limited.

During 2014-16, one child aged 6-10 years was killed or seriously injured in a road traffic accident in 
Rutland. This equates to a rate of 16.9 per 100,000 population and is similar to the England rate of 
14.8 per 100,000 population.2 

The crude rate of children aged 0-15 years killed or seriously injured in a road traffic accident during 
2014-16 was 5.1 per 100,000 population (1 child). This is similar to the England rate of 17.1 per 
100,000 population.2 In the previous time period of 2013-15, one child was also killed or seriously 
injured in a road traffic accident.

2.8. Sexual Health

2.8.1. HPV Vaccination

Vaccination to protect against the main cause of cervical cancer is offered as part of the human 
papillomavirus (HPV) immunisation programme. It is a two dose programme that is given to females 
in Year 8 and Year 9 of school. 

The population vaccination coverage for females having received one dose of the HPV vaccine at 12 
or 13 years old was 88.8% in 2016/17.  This is similar to the benchmarked target range of 80% to 
90%. Rutland has shown an increase when compared to the previous year, where the coverage was 
86.6%. The national coverage increased slightly compared to the previous year to 87.0%.3 

Meanwhile, the population vaccination coverage for females having received two doses of the HPV 
vaccine at 13 or 14 years old was 75.8% for in 2016/17.  This is worse than the benchmarked target 
range of 80% to 90%. Rutland has shown a decrease since the previous year where the coverage 
was 85.2%, which was similar to the national benchmark (80%-90%).3Error! Bookmark not defined.

2.8.2. Teenage pregnancy 

Teenage pregnancies are largely unplanned and about half end in an abortion. Having a child at an 

211



17

early age can be detrimental to both the teenage parent and child – in terms of the baby’s health, 
the mother’s emotional health and wellbeing and the likelihood of parent and child living in long-
term poverty.

2.8.2.1. Conceptions

The rate of under 18 conceptions in Rutland has shown a significant decline in line with national, 
and since 2013, has remained significantly better than the national rate. In 2016, there were 4 
conceptions for girls aged 15-17 years in Rutland. This equates to a rate of 4.7 per 1,000 females 
aged 15-17 years. This is better than the England rate of 18.8 per 1,000 females aged 15-17 
years.18Error! Bookmark not defined.

2.8.2.2. Deliveries

Factors relating to the mother and method of delivery of a newborn child can have an influence on 
the health needs of a child.  

A child's long-term health can be impacted on as follows: children born to teenage mothers have 
60% higher rates of infant mortality and are at increased risk of low birthweight. The mental health 
effects for a teenage mother are that they are three times more likely to suffer from post-natal 
depression and experience poor mental health for up to three years after the birth – this may impact 
on the child’s health and development. Living in poverty, is also an increased risk for teenage parents 
and their children.

In 2015, the number of births to mothers aged 15-17 years of age in Rutland was 3, a rate of 3.4 per 
1,000 females aged 15-17 years of age. This is similar to the England value of 6.3 per 1,000 females 
aged 15-17 years of age.18

2.8.3. Chlamydia

Chlamydia is known to cause avoidable sexual problems – such as infections, pelvic inflammatory 
disease, ectopic pregnancy and tubal-factor infertility. The National Chlamydia Screening 
Programme recommends annual screening or on change of partner, whichever is more frequent.

Rutland continues to perform significantly worse than the national percentage for proportion of the 
population aged 15-24 screened for chlamydia. The percentage has decreased from 18.6% in 2016 
to 16.2% in 2017, which equates to a decrease of 109 screenings in Rutland in 2017. Nationally the 
percentage screened has also decreased from 21.0% in 2016 and 19.3% in 2017. 18

Meanwhile, in 2017 Rutland continues to perform significantly worse than the benchmarked goal 
rate of 1,900-2,300 per 100,000 population for chlamydia detection rate for 15-24 years olds, but 
has seen a year on year increase since 2015. In Rutland the chlamydia detection rate increased 

212



18

(improved) from a rate of 1,461 per 100,000 population aged 15-24 years in 2016 to 1,614 per 
100,000 population aged 15-24 years in 2017.18 

Like nationally, the chlamydia detection rate in females in Rutland is higher than in males, however, 
the difference in rate between males and females in Rutland is much smaller compared to 
nationally. Locally, males have seen a year on year increase in the detection rate since 2015 whereas 
in females, the rate has been declining throughout this time.

2.9. Substance misuse

2.9.1. Alcohol

Alcohol consumption in teenagers is associated with risky behaviour, particularly in respect of sexual 
activity and the likelihood of teenage pregnancy and contracting a sexually transmitted infection. 
Research has also suggested that people drinking at an early age drink more frequently and more in 
total. They are therefore more likely to develop alcohol problems in adolescence and adulthood. 
For this reason, the Chief Medical Officer for England recommended that under 15s should not drink 
alcohol at all.

As part of the ‘What About YOUth’ survey, 15 year olds were surveyed with respect to their lifestyle 
behaviours. The survey took place in 2014/15. In Rutland, 74.4% of 15 years olds said they had had 
an alcoholic drink.  This is worse than the England value of 62.4%.9Error! Bookmark not defined.

Regular drinking is defined as consuming an alcoholic drinking at least once a week. 7.0% of 15 year 
olds in Rutland said they were drinking regularly. This is similar to the England value of 6.2%.9Error! 
Bookmark not defined.  Meanwhile, 20.6% of 15 year olds in Rutland said they had been drunk in 
the last 4 weeks. This is worse than the England value of 14.6%.9Error! Bookmark not defined.

The rate of hospital admissions for people aged under 18 years due to alcohol-specific conditions 
during 2014/15 - 16/17 are not available for Rutland as the numbers are too small.19 

2.9.2. Drugs

The usage of recreational drugs by young people can lead to mental health issues such as suicide, 
depression and disruptive behaviour disorders.

As part of the ‘What About YOUth’ survey, 15 year olds were surveyed with respect to their lifestyle 
behaviours. The survey took place in 2014/15. In Rutland, 10.8% of 15 year olds had tried cannabis; 
this is similar to the England value of 10.7%. In comparison, 2.7% had taken cannabis in the last 
month. This is also similar to the England value of 4.6%.9 0.9% of 15 year olds in Rutland had taken 
other drugs in the last month. This is similar to the England value of 0.9%.20 

213



19

The rate of hospital admissions for people aged 15-24 years due to substance misuse for the past 
three time periods has remained similar to the national average, with a constant count on 10 
admissions. During 2014/15 - 16/17 for Rutland was 68.1 per 100,000 population. This is statistically 
similar to the England rate of 89.8 per 100,000 population.19 

2.10. Mental health

The emotional health and wellbeing of young people can impact on their development and learning, 
in addition to their physical and social health.

As part of the ‘What About YOUth’ survey, 15 year olds were surveyed with respect to their lifestyle 
behaviours. The survey took place in 2014/15. The proportion of 15 year olds with low life 
satisfaction in Rutland in 2014/15 was 9.5%, this is better than the England value of 13.7%.20 

Bullying in any form can impact on a person’s physical and mental health. It can also impact on 
educational attainment and can pose a suicide risk.9 The proportion of 15 year olds in Rutland in 
2014/15 who said they had been bullied in the past couple of months was 60.2%, this is similar to 
the England value of 55.0%.9 

Rutland has a lower level of estimated prevalence of any mental health disorders in children aged 
5-16 years compared to England. In 2015, the estimated prevalence in Rutland was 8.2%, compared 
to 9.2% nationally.21 The estimated prevalence of emotional disorders (anxiety disorders and 
depression) in children aged 5-16 years in Rutland in 2015 was 3.3%, lower than the England value 
of 3.6%.1

2.10.1. Eating disorders

The estimated prevalence of potential eating disorders in young people aged 16-24 years in Rutland 
in 2015 was 1.2%. The England value was 1.5%.21 

2.10.2. Admissions for self-harm

Between 2012/13 and 2015/16, the rate in hospital admissions as a result of self-harm in Rutland 
increased year on year, peaking in 2015/16, where there were 27 admissions.  In 2016/17 the rate 
declined and 15 young adults aged 10-24 years old in Rutland were admitted to hospital as a result 
of self-harm. This equates to a rate of 230.9 per 100,000 population which is better than the England 
rate of 404.6 per 100,000 population.19 

2.11. Hospital attendances

Many emergency hospital admissions for children are preventable. Emergency hospital activity can 
be an indicator of other issues such as housing and transport, or mental health problems for the 

214



20

child or their parent.

2.11.1. Accident & Emergency (A&E)

Since 2010/11, the rate of A&E attendances for children and young people in Rutland has remained 
significantly better (lower) than the national average. In 2015/16, there were 2,719 attendances at 
Accident & Emergency for children and young adults in Rutland aged 0-19 years old. This equates to 
a rate of 315.2 per 1,000 population and is better than the England rate of 408.5 per 1,000 
population.19 

2.11.2. Emergency admissions

In 2015/16, nationally, the highest rate of emergency admissions in children and young people were 
seen in the 15-19 age group, followed by the 5-9s and the 10-14s. In Rutland, the 5-9s have the 
highest rate, followed jointly by the 10-14s and 15-19s. 

Across all age bands in 2015/16, Rutland has a significantly better (lower) rate than nationally. This 
equates to 58 emergency admissions for children in Rutland aged 5-9 years old, 61 emergency 
admissions for children in Rutland aged 10-14 years old and 77 emergency admissions for children 
and young adults in Rutland aged 15-19 years old.19 

2.11.3. Admissions for injuries

In addition to being a cause of premature mortality, injuries can cause long-term health and mental 
health issues. 

Between 2013/14 and 2015/16, the rate of admissions due to unintentional and deliberate injuries 
in children aged 0-14 years was significantly better (lower) than the national average. In 2016/17, 
the rate increased to 101.0 per 10,000 population to perform similar to the England rate of 101.5 
per 10,000. This equates to 60 children aged 0-14 years in Rutland admitted to hospital due to 
unintentional and deliberate injuries.19 

2.11.4. Admissions for asthma

The rate for hospital admissions for asthma has remained similar to national since 2013/14. The 
latest data shows in 2016/17, 10 people aged under 19 years in Rutland were admitted for asthma. 
This is a rate of 120.6 per 100,000 population and is statistically similar to the England rate of 202.8 
per 100,000 population.19 

3. How does this impact?

People’s health and emotional wellbeing have their roots in early childhood, by providing the right 
level of nurture and support, where needed, at an early stage we can enable children to thrive 

215



21

throughout school and into their adult lives.  Caring and supportive environments that promote 
optimal early childhood development greatly increase children’s chances of a successful transition 
to school. This, in turn, promotes children’s chances of achieving better learning outcomes while at 
school and better education, employment and health after they have finished school.

£7.300 million per 10,000 children aged 0-17 years was spent on Local Authority children and young 
people’s services (excluding education) in Rutland during 2016/17. This is lower than the England 
rate of £7.789 million per 10,000 children.

Of the above, £2.369 million per 10,000 children aged 0-17 years was spent on looked after children 
in Rutland during 2016/17. The England rate was £3.527 million per 10,000 children.

£2.310 million per 10,000 children aged 0-17 years was spent on safeguarding children and young 
people’s services (excluding education) in Rutland during 2016/17. The England rate was £1.981 
million per 10,000 children.

The planned spend on special schools in Rutland during 2017/18 was £1.282 million per 100,000 
children. The England rate was £9.978 million per 100,000 children.

The expenditure on youth justice for children aged 0-17 years in Rutland during 2016/17 was 
£107,000 per 10,000. The England rate was £230,000 per 10,000 children.

4. Policy and Guidance

4.1. The Children and Families Act 2014
The Children and Families Act 2014 puts a much greater emphasis on bringing together support for 
children and young people up to the age of 25, focusing on outcomes beyond school or college.  The 
Act also introduced major changes to support for children and young people with special 
educational needs (SEN), creating education, health and care (EHC) plans to replace SEN statements.  
Families with EHC plans are offered personal budgets for elements of their care. The Act also places 
a duty on local authorities to identify all children in their area who have SEN or disabilities.

The overall aim is to give families a greater involvement in decisions about their support and to 
encourage social care, education and health services to work more closely together in supporting 
those with special needs or disabilities.  As part of the changes local authorities are required to 
publish a ‘local offer’ setting out what support is available to families with children who have 
disabilities or SEN. The local offer should also explain how families can request personal budgets, 
make complaints and access more specialist help. Details of Rutland’s local offer can be found here: 
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/schools-education-and-learning/send-local-offer/

216

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/schools-education-and-learning/send-local-offer/


22

4.2. Rutland SEND and Inclusion Strategy 2017

The Council’s SEND and Inclusion Strategy provides an opportunity to create a shared view of the 
challenges faced by children and young people. This Strategy enables the Council and other 
stakeholders together to identify the gaps in services, and challenge what needs to change and 
improve to achieve better outcomes for children and young people.

This Strategy sets out clear expectations of the Council and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), 
and other partners especially health and education providers, which reflects the statutory 
requirement under primary legislation, regulation and case law as set out in the SEND Code of 
Practice (2015), Section 28 Duty to Co-operate and the Local Safeguarding Board safeguarding 
procedures. 

4.3. Future in Mind (2015) 

The Department of Health and NHS England published ‘Future in Mind: Promoting, protecting and 
improving children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing’ in 2015. Future in Mind sets 
out the Government’s vision for children and young people’s mental health.22 The themes of Future 
in Mind include: 

 Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention
 Improving access to effective support – a system without tiers
 Care for the most vulnerable
 Accountability and transparency
 Developing the workforce

4.4. The Green Paper23

A Green Paper ‘Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health Provision’: was published 
in December 2017. It builds on the government’s vision for children and young people’s mental 
health set out in Future in Mind in 2015, and provides the joint response of the Department for 
Health and Social Care and the Department for Education.The Paper contains three key 
announcements: 

 To provide an incentive for every school and college to have a designated senior lead for 
mental health. All children and young people’s mental health services should have a link for 
schools and colleges to better support them in delivering on child and young people mental 
health and wellbeing needs. They will do this through advice, consultation and signposting 
for children who need it.

 Funding for new mental health support teams, which will be supervised by NHS children and 
young people’s mental health staff, to provide extra capacity for early intervention and 

217



23

ongoing help. 

 A four week waiting time for access to specialist NHS children and young people’s mental 
health services will be trialled. 

4.5. The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)24 

In order to deliver on the vision set out in 2015’s Future in Mind and 2016’s Five Year Forward View 
for Mental Health, the government have: 

• Legislated for parity of esteem between physical and mental health.

• Committed to make an additional £1.4 billion available for children and young people’s 
mental health over five years.

• Committed to recruit 1,700 more therapists and supervisors, and to train 3,400 staff already 
working in services to deliver evidence-based treatments by 2020/21. 

• Improved services for eating disorders, with, 70 new or enhanced Community Eating 
Disorder Teams, and the first ever waiting times for eating disorders and psychosis.

• Funded eight areas to test different crisis approaches for children and young people’s mental 
health.

4.6. Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health25

The Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health is underpinned by an understanding that taking 
a prevention-focused approach to improving the public’s mental health is shown to make a valuable 
contribution to achieving a fairer and more equitable society. The concordat promotes evidence 
based planning and commissioning to increase the impact on reducing health inequalities. 

It represents a public mental health informed approach to prevention, as outlined in the NHS Five 
Year forward view and promotes relevant NICE guidance and existing evidence based interventions 
and delivery approaches, such as ‘making every contact count’.

The Concordat seeks to prevent mental health problems from developing and to promote good 
health through local and national action including addressing the wider determinants of mental 
health and focusing on prevention. It recognises the need to build capacity and capability of the 
workforce to prevent mental health problems and promote good mental health. A Prevention 
Concordant has been adopted for the East Midlands. 

4.7. Suicide Prevention: Policy and Strategy (2018)26 

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health recommends that all local authorities have multi-
agency suicide prevention plans in place in 2017. These should target high-risk locations and support 

218



24

high-risk groups, including men and people in contact with mental health services. The local plans 
should be reviewed annually and supported by new investment.

The LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (LLR SAPG) has been brought together to tackle the 
cause and the impact of suicide across LLR and has developed the LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy 
and Plan 2017-20. This plan includes the STOP Suicide Prevention Campaign, and the development 
of a Suicide Prevention website. 

4.8. NICE Guidance

4.8.1. Social and Emotional Wellbeing in Primary Education PH 12

This guideline covers approaches to promoting social and emotional wellbeing in children aged 4 to 
11 years in primary education. It includes planning and delivering programmes and activities to help 
children develop social and emotional skills and wellbeing. It also covers identifying signs of anxiety 
or social and emotional problems in children and how to address them.27

4.8.2. Social and Emotional Wellbeing in Secondary Education PH20

This guideline covers interventions to support social and emotional wellbeing among young people 
aged 11–19 years who are in full-time education. It aims to promote good social, emotional and 
psychological health to protect young people against behavioural and health problems.28

4.8.3. Social and emotional Wellbeing Early years PH40

This guideline covers supporting the social and emotional wellbeing of vulnerable children under 5 
through home visiting, childcare and early education. It aims to optimise care for young children 
who need extra support because they have or are at risk of social or emotional problems.29

4.8.4. Young People’s Mental Health coalition Guidance30 

Published in 2015 ‘Promoting Children and Young People’s emotional health and wellbeing: a Whole 
School and College Approach guidance has also been included in the green paper. It includes a 
designated lead for mental health in a school or college who will have oversight of the whole school 
approach.

5. Current Services

5.1. Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 

Under the auspices of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, Rutland has a clearly set out 
thresholds document which sets the level of type of interventions to be provided to children and 
young people depending on their level of need.  It breaks down risk factors into developmental; 

219



25

family and Environmental; and parent and carers.

5.2. “Front door” of services

The Council provides the ‘front door’ through which parents and professionals can access     
additional support at any level, including early help advice and support. This includes a multi-
disciplinary holistic approach that brings a range of professional skills and expertise to bear through 
a “Team Around The Family” approach; a relationship with a trusted Lead Professional who can 
engage the child and their family, and/or co-ordinate the support needed from other agencies

The critical features of an effective Early Help Offer which have been identified nationally and on 
which Rutland’s early help process is founded are:

The Early Help Offer recognises the crucial role that all family members – not just mothers and 
fathers, but step parents, grandparents, siblings and other extended family members and carers – 
play in influencing what children experience and achieve as well as the consequences when families 
are in difficulty.

The provision of early help services covers for levels of need: 

Universal need -  Services working with children and families, to promote positive outcomes for 
everyone; midwives, health visitors, schools and early year’s settings, adult learning and 
community voluntary groups.  Practitioners working in these services identify where children 
and families would benefit from extra help at an early stage.

Early Help and Targeted need - Services focus on children, young people and families who may 
need support either through a single service or through an integrated multi-agency response, for 
example, housing, youth options, and community safety. They work with families where there are 
signs that without support a child may not achieve good outcomes and fulfil their potential.

Specialist need -  Services, such as social care, adult mental health services, focus on families 
with individual or multiple complex needs, who are at risk of significant harm or significant 
impairment to their health or development, including where help has been requested through 
Section 17 - a child in need or where a specific disability or condition is diagnosed, and Section 
47 – where there is a need to investigate a significant safeguarding concern. 

By law, Children's Social Care has to give priority of service to children with specific categories of 
need: 

 Those at risk of serious harm and who may need a protection plan 

220



26

 Those who are, or may need to be, looked after by Children's Social Care and are unable to 
remain living at home (birth to 18 years including unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
and young people) 

 Private Fostering - such arrangements have to be notified to the local authority (Children's 
Social Care) 

 Those aged 16 or over who are leaving the care of Children's Social Care or have previously 
left care and are eligible for Leaving Care services 

 Where Children's Social Care involvement is required by the courts 

Specialist services include:

 The recruitment, assessment and supervision of foster carers 
 Placing and supporting children with foster carers 
 Placing children in residential care for children who are no longer able to live at home and 

where that is the appropriate option 
 Supervising children who are privately fostered 

 Supporting young carers Adoption services are provided on Rutland’s behalf by 
Leicestershire County Council.

5.3. Social Care teams and partners

The Social Care teams work in partnership with, and may refer to, other services, including 
education, health, housing, and the police to provide interventions and support on a multi-agency 
basis.  Social Care provision is delivered by three teams:

Referral, Assessment and Intervention Service who provide the front door service including; advice 
and guidance, screening of contacts made to the service and recommendations as to appropriate 
support for families, complete reports requested by the courts for families in Private Family Law 
matters, complete assessments under section 17 and initial child protection investigations under 
section 47.

Permanency and Protection Service – this service is split in to two teams, one working with the 
complex child in need work under section 17 and families subject to child protection plans, the other 
working with children looked after by the Local Authority and any other court work required of the 
Local Authority.

Fostering, Adoption and Care Leavers Service who provide support to current foster carers and 
recruitment of new carers, care leavers, children in care who require a Personal Advisor, and matters 
relating to adoption.

The Local Offer sets out information about services for children and young people with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) with information for parents/carers, children and young 

221



27

people as well as for professionals. https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/schools-education-
and-learning/send-local-offer/

5.4. Promotion of Mental Health and Wellbeing

Services to promote mental health and wellbeing and to identify and support those who are 
experiencing mental health problems need to be co-ordinated and integrated. Locally this has been 
described as a whole system pathway across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, called the Social, 
Emotional, Mental Health and Wellbeing pathway.

5.5. Future in Mind commissioned services

A number of services have been commissioned directly as part of the Future in Mind programme. 
These services have been designed to augment and improve pre-existing mainstream services. This 
is the list of the Future in Mind commissioned services (Commissioned by Leicester City Clinical 
commissioning Groups on behalf of all 3 CCGs across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland):

Figure 1: System wide pathway of services

• Targeted  Early Intervention Emotional health and wellbeing Service for LLR

222

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/schools-education-and-learning/send-local-offer/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/schools-education-and-learning/send-local-offer/


28

• Route to Resilience in Schools - a whole school approach to resilience in schools programme 

• Xenzone -  Kooth deliver an Online Counselling service

• Enhanced Access to Childhood and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS)

• Eating Disorders Service

• Crisis and Home Treatment Service

• Place of safety

• CAMH Service

• Primary Mental Health Team

5.6. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 

The CAMHS service is an LLR wide service and links with the Future in Mind services described above. 
CAMHS help children and young people who have been referred by another healthcare 
professional.  CAMHS website:  http://www.leicspart.nhs.uk/_OurServicesAZ-
ChildandAdolescentMentalHealthServiceCAMHS.aspx 

Referrals are made if it’s thought the child or young person has emotional and/or behavioural 
difficulties at a level which requires specialist support.  The range of services includes initial 
assessments, therapy, group work, emergency assessments and in-patient care. CAMHS also links 
with other children’s services to offer a multi-agency approach. The team is made up of doctors, 
nurses and therapists who specialise in child mental health. The support we provide varies according 
to need, from a one-off appointment to a programme of on-going care which lasts until the child or 
young person feels better and is felt to be safe. 

 CAMHS Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment team provides rapid assessment and 
treatment at home for children and young people in mental health crisis and support for 
their families, providing no physical medical intervention is required. Once a referral is 
received, the team aims to make telephone contact with a family within two hours and to 
assess the child or young person within 24 hours. The service is operational from 8am until 
10pm. Outside of these times, support is provided by the adult crisis team.

 The Primary Mental Health Team works between primary care - for example GPs and public 
health (school) nurses - and specialist CAMHS outpatient teams. The team treats young 
people having difficulties with their mental health or emotional wellbeing, and who may be 
at risk of developing a mental health disorder.

223

http://www.leicspart.nhs.uk/_OurServicesAZ-ChildandAdolescentMentalHealthServiceCAMHS.aspx
http://www.leicspart.nhs.uk/_OurServicesAZ-ChildandAdolescentMentalHealthServiceCAMHS.aspx


29

 The Young Peoples Team works particularly with vulnerable young people in care and those 
who are involved with the youth offending service. 

 The CAMHS Learning Disability Team provide services for children with a moderate to 
profound learning disability as defined in International Classification of Disease 10 
presenting with mental health and or associated behavioural problems.

 The CAMHS Eating Disorders Team, based at Mawson House in Leicester, offers specialist 
outpatient assessment and treatment to young people and their parents affected by eating 
disorders, and manages around 100 new referrals each year. Treatment usually lasts 
between 12 and 18 months, though early intervention is crucial to recovery. 

 The Paediatric Psychology Team, based at Artemis House, offers specialist psychological 
assessment and treatment to children, young people and their families who are 
psychologically affected by living with physical health conditions or disabilities. Referrals are 
from Consultant Paediatricians only

5.7. Healthy Child Programme

The programme helps to build resilience and support emotional health and wellbeing of children 
and young people and maternal mental health. Children’s mental health has been included as high 
impact areas in the delivery of the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme. In this context, Public Health 
nurses (Health Visitors and School Nurses) provide brief interventions, advice, and support for 
children, young people and their families on emotional health and wellbeing.

0-19 Healthy Child Programme have also developed a number of  packages of care and support and 
pathways  in response to need including: anxiety, emotional health and self -harm, emotional 
health, behaviour management 0-5/5-19, domestic violence safeguarding, child sexual exploitation 
referral pathways.

Public health nurses provide face to face support through drop in clinics for young people in 
secondary schools and for parents in primary schools

Young people can also text a public health nurse to access confidential advice via a secure 
messaging service, ChatHealth. In Leicestershire and Rutland, young people can text 07520 
615387

The ChatHealth service is also available for parents and carers if they have concerns about 
their child’s health, and would like to contact a health professional. In Leicestershire and 
Rutland: 07520 615382

224



30

5.7.1. Early Start Programme

The Early Start Programme provides intensive early intervention and support for vulnerable first 
time parents with an infant 0-2 years. Informed by an outreach health visiting model, ESP is 
delivered by health visitors, early childhood practitioners and family nursing support staff and 
provides families with bespoke support. Support can start from 16 weeks pregnancy until the child’s 
second birthday.

The Aim of the Programme is to ensure all children have the best start to life and prepare and equip 
vulnerable parents for parenthood providing them with skills, knowledge, confidence and capability 
to enable them to give their children the best possible start.

 There is information on Emotional health and wellbeing and mental health issues on the 3 Healthy 
Together websites including: 

Health for under 5’s: https://healthforunder5s.co.uk/

Health For Kids: https://www.healthforkids.co.uk/

Health for Teens: https://www.healthforteens.co.uk/

6. Unmet needs/Gaps

6.1. Needs of children and young people

The evidence of local needs, current and emerging indicates:

 There are increasing numbers of referrals to early intervention services and CAMHS for 
children and young people with mental health and emotional health and wellbeing problems 
e.g. self-harm, anxiety.

 There are increasing numbers of children and young people who are exposed to domestic 
violence and other adverse childhood experiences. Research states that children who 
experience domestic violence have a fourfold increased risk of experiencing mental and 
emotional health issues. Therefore, there are a significant number of children in 
Leicestershire who may be experiencing and/or witnessing domestic violence; however their 
emotional and mental health needs are not necessarily being catered for31.

 Public health nurses (school nurses) are also seeing an increasing number of children who 
are self-harming and experiencing anxiety.

 The age at which children and young people are presenting to services with emotional and 
mental health problems has lowered to primary school age.

225

https://healthforunder5s.co.uk/
https://www.healthforkids.co.uk/
https://www.healthforteens.co.uk/


31

 A significant number of referrals to CAMHS are related to behaviour which is taking up 
significant time and resources. It is hoped that the new system wide emotional, mental 
health and wellbeing pathway will help to divert these referrals away from CAMHS, if 
appropriate. The care of children and young people with behavioural issues is better served 
if it is multidisciplinary and focused on the child’s needs rather than a medical diagnosis. 

 There is also emerging recognition that many of the referrals to services are caused by 
attachment issues, therefore there should be an increased focus on parenting programmes 
through the 0-19 healthy child programme the Children and Family Service’s early help 
service and voluntary sector programmes. 

 A recent national ‘Time to change’ survey32 revealed that 90% of young people said that they 
have experienced stigma and discrimination as a result of their mental health issues. This 
has prevented them in some cases, from doing every day activities that they enjoy. Stigma 
and discrimination can also stop people from seeking help and socialising with friends and 
discussing their problems with family or friends because they fear a negative reaction. 

6.2. Mental Health Promotion and Prevention of Mental Health problems and Early 
Intervention

 Across the system there is recognition that there needs to be a greater emphasis on mental 
health promotion, prevention of mental health problems and  early intervention, identifying 
emotional and mental health problems early in order to ‘break the cycle’.

 Resilience also needs to be systematically promoted within all schools through the route to 
resilience programme and through the delivery of personal social health education (PSHE) 
including how to build mental resilience and wellbeing. All schools will have to deliver 
compulsory health education from September 2020.

 Self Help: There may be scope and potential to help and support young people to manage 
emotional health and wellbeing issues themselves. 

 There needs to be more emotional and mental health training and support provided to 
universal services (e.g. Schools, Primary Care (GPs), Health Visiting and School Nursing 
Services) due to sheer numbers of children and young people accessing these services.

 It is recognised that schools need to be helped to take on a greater role in promoting 
emotional health and wellbeing as well identifying children who are at risk of emotional and 
mental health problems. However, in order to do this they need training and support to feel 
competent and confident. Part of compulsory health education (from September 2020) will 
include the need to ensure that children and young people will know how to recognise when 

226



32

they and others are struggling with mental health issues and how to respond 

6.3. Provision of CAMHS Services

There are still significant blockages in terms of access to treatment at every level of CAMHS. 
However, it is also recognised that there have been recent improvements. 

6.4. Emerging gap between children with ADHD and autism with mental health services
A gap in the current commissioned services around children and young people with a diagnosis of 
Autism has been identified. The gap focusses specifically on those children and young people with 
a diagnosis of Autism, but do not also have a diagnosis of a mild to moderate learning disability. The 
children with Autism with mild learning disability are not picked up until situations escalate i.e. in:

• Care and Treatment reviews
• Children with medical need (education meeting)
• Not in education, employment or training (NEET)
• Youth offending Services 

6.5. Children in Care (Looked after Children) 

Children in care have particular emotional needs, related to their earlier experiences before they 
were looked after. These earlier experiences have an influence on brain development and 
attachment behaviour. Rates of: emotional, behavioural and mental health difficulties are at four to 
five times higher amongst children in care (looked after children) than the wider population. 

A Whole System Approach to promoting good emotional health of children in care (looked after 
children) is needed (see NSPCC’s ‘Achieving Emotional Wellbeing for Looked after Children’ (2015)33 
the priorities for change within the system should include: 

 Embed an emphasis on emotional wellbeing throughout the system
 Take a proactive and preventative approach
 Give children and young people a voice and influence
  Support and sustaining children’s relationships
 Support care leavers’ emotional needs 

7. Recommendations

 Target resources in proportion to need to address the needs of any children living in poverty 
and those most vulnerable.

 Increase numbers of children being active, and encouraging them to be active for longer

227



33

 Promote child visits to dentists and increase levels of fluoride varnish treatments to prevent 
tooth decay.

 Work with NHS England, commissioners of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination 
programme, to improve uptake of second dose.

 Better promote the range and availability of Tier 1 and 2 support available in Rutland to 
professionals, young people and parents via the Rutland Information Service, School 
websites and parent training.

 Support training for school staff to assist them with compulsory requirements for all schools 
to provide: relationship education (primary school) and sexual health and relationship 
education (secondary schools) from 2019, and to enable them to deliver health education 
which becomes compulsory from September 2020.

 Adversity and trauma informed care for children and young people should be prioritised for 
those who have Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). ACEs include: parental separation, 
domestic violence, mental illness, alcohol misuse/ drug use. This should form part of an 
overarching partnership strategy and cover both primary and secondary prevention. The 
ACEs model should be used to identify young people and families who perhaps do not reach 
the threshold for a referral into statutory services. 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

A&E Accident & Emergency

ACEs Adverse Childhood Experiences

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

228



34

CLA Children Looked After

CoT Course of Treatment

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

d3mft decayed, missing or filled teeth

EHC Education, Health and Care

HPV Human Papilloma Virus

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LLR Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

LSOA Lower Super Output Area

NEET Not in education, employment or training

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

NRM National Referral Mechanism

PHE Public Health England

SEN Special Educational Needs

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

229



35

REFERENCES

1 Child Poverty Action Group 2015. End Child Poverty. At: http://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/
2 Public Health England. Overview of Child Health (2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/child-health-

overview#gid/1938132992/ati/102 
3 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework (2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework 
4 Rutland County Council. Liquidlogic Children’s Social Care System (2018).
5 Rutland County Council. Toxic Trio Health Needs Assessment (2016). https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-

and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/ 
6 NSPCC. Child sexual exploitation. Facts and statistics. At https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-

and-neglect/child-sexual-exploitation/child-sexual-exploitation-facts-and-statistics/ 
7 Public Health England, Crisis Care Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/crisis-care
8 Public Health England. Perinatal Mental Health Profiles (2018) https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-

health/profile/perinatal-mental-health
9 Public Health England. Child and Maternal Health. Young People (2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-

group/child-health 
10 Office for National Statistics, Revised population estimates for England and Wales: mid-2012 to mid-2016 (2018). At 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/an

nualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016 
11 Public Health England. NCMP and Child Obesity Profile (2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-

measurement-programme 
12 Public Health England. NHS Dental Epidemiological Oral Health Survey of 5-year-old children in England 2016/17. 

(2018). at http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/survey-results%205(16_17).aspx 
13 Dental Public Health Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of twelve year old children (2009). At  

http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/survey-results-12.aspx 
14 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Dental checks: intervals between oral health reviews. Clinical 

guidance [CC19]. (2004). at https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg19/chapter/1-guidance 
15 NHS Digital. NHS Dental Statistics for England, 2016-17. (2017). at http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB30069 
16 NHS Business Services Authority and the PHE Dental Public Health Intelligence Team. NHS Dental Statistics - Access 

and Activity 2014/15 – 2015/16. (2018).
17 NHS Digital. NHS Dental Statistics for England, 2015-16. (2016). at https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21701 
18 Public Health England. Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles (2018). At 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/SEXUALHEALTH 
19 Public Health England. Overview of Child Health (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-

health/profile/child-health-overview
20 Public Health England. Young People (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-

230

http://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/child-health-overview#gid/1938132992/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/child-health-overview#gid/1938132992/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/child-sexual-exploitation/child-sexual-exploitation-facts-and-statistics/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/child-sexual-exploitation/child-sexual-exploitation-facts-and-statistics/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme
http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/survey-results%205(16_17).aspx
http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/survey-results-12.aspx
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg19/chapter/1-guidance
http://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB30069
https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB21701
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/SEXUALHEALTH
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-young-people/data#page/1/gid/1938132999/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000017


36

health-young-people/data#page/1/gid/1938132999/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000017 
21 Public Health England. Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing (2018). At 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/cypmh 
22 Department of Health (2015)  Future in mind: promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people’s 

mental health and wellbeing, NHS England at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Children

s_Mental_Health.pdf
23 Department of Health and Social care, Department for Education (2017) Transforming Children and Young People’s 

Mental health provision : a green paper, DH at https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-

and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper
24 NHS England (2014) Five Year forward view , NHSE at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
25 Public Health England (2017) Prevention Concordat for better mental health planning resource, PHE at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-planning-resource

26 Department of Health & social care (2017) Preventing suicide in England: third progress report of the cross 

government outcomes strategy to save lives, HM Government at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_

report_2016_A.pdf

27   National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2008) Social and emotional wellbeing in   primary education, 

public health guideline 12 at https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph12

28 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2009) Social and emotional wellbeing in secondary  education, 

public health guideline 20 at https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph20

29 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2012) Social and emotional wellbeing : early year settings, public 

health guideline 40 at https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph40

30 Public Health England & Children & Young People’s Mental Health Coalition ( 2015) Promoting Children and Young 

People’s emotional health & wellbeing: a Whole School and College Approach, PHE at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_E

HWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf
31 NSPCC. Child abuse and neglect in the UK today. At: https://www.nspcc.org.uk/services-and-resources/research-and-

resources/pre-2013/child-abuse-and-neglect-in-the-uk-today/
32 Time to Change. Stigma Shout (2008). At: https://www.time-to-change.org.uk/resources 
33 NSPCC. Achieving Emotional Wellbeing for Looked after Children (2015) at: 

https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/achieving-emotional-wellbeing-for-looked-after-

children.pdf 

231

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-young-people/data#page/1/gid/1938132999/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000017
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/cypmh
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-planning-resource
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_report_2016_A.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_report_2016_A.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph12
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph20
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph40
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_EHWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414908/Final_EHWB_draft_20_03_15.pdf
https://www.time-to-change.org.uk/resources
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/achieving-emotional-wellbeing-for-looked-after-children.pdf
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/globalassets/documents/research-reports/achieving-emotional-wellbeing-for-looked-after-children.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D

RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

MENTAL HEALTH OF ADULTS
DECEMBER 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

233



i

Public Health Intelligence

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executive’s Department
Leicestershire County Council
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RA

Tel 0116 305 4266
Email phi@leics.gov.uk 

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating 
to the data contained within the report.

234

mailto:phi@leics.gov.uk


ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to 
meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health 
and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA has reviewed the population health needs for the people of Rutland in respective of an 
adult’s mental health, substance abuse, sexual violence and domestic violence. This has involved 
looking at the determinants of health, the health needs of this population in Rutland, the impact of 
services, the policy and guidance supporting the population, and the existing services and the 
breadth of services that are currently provided. The unmet needs and recommendations that have 
arisen from this needs assessment are discussed.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

235



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 The Annual Population Survey 2015/16 estimates that over three-quarters (76.6%) of 
Rutland’s population report a high happiness score. This is higher than the England average 
of 74.7%. In 2016/17, just over one fifth (21.8%) of Rutland’s residents reported a high 
anxiety score, this is similar to the England value of 19.9%.

 The Quality Outcomes Framework shows the recorded prevalence for depression in the GP 
registered population aged 18 or over has increased year on year both nationally and locally 
since 2013/14. The latest data in 2016/17 shows the recorded prevalence for depression in 
the GP registered population aged 18 or over is 7.9% for Rutland’s population. This is 
significantly lower than the England average of 9.1%.

 The Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 found mixed anxiety and depression to be the 
most prevalent common mental health condition in England, with 7.8% of the population 
estimated to be affected by it in any given week. The IAPT service data shows that in 
2016/17, 34.1% of the referrals entering treatment for ELR CCG were diagnosed with mixed 
anxiety and depression, accounting for 1,145 people. This was the most common recorded 
diagnosis for ELR CCG.

 The latest data for Rutland shows that the percentage of people with severe mental illness 
(0.69%) on GP Practice registers is significantly lower than England (0.92%) in 2016/17. 
Nationally the trend over time is increasing, whereas locally the trend has stabilised. Acute 
mental health admissions recorded at Leicestershire Partnership Trust are significantly lower 
than England average; however acute mental health bed days are significantly higher than 
the England average. This suggests that although less people are going into hospital 
compared to the England average, those that do go in stay there for longer than average. 
This may be associated with the significantly low percentage of Rutland’s adults who were 
in contact with secondary mental health services and lived in stable and appropriate 
accommodation (23.0%) compared to nationally (54.0%).

 The latest data for hospital admissions for self-harm shows Rutland performs significantly 
better than the national rate. Since 2014/15, the rate of admissions for intentional self-harm 
in Rutland have decreased year on year, while the national rate has fluctuated.

 In Rutland, a similar proportion of the population are dying by suicide compared to England. 
As seen in national trends, the rate of suicides in males is at least three times higher than 
the rate of suicides in females. 

236



iv

CONTENTS
1. Who is at risk? ...........................................................................................................................................1

2. Level of need in Rutland ............................................................................................................................8

3. How does this impact? ............................................................................................................................16

4. Policy and Guidance.................................................................................................................................18

5. Current Services.......................................................................................................................................21

6 Unmet needs/Gaps..................................................................................................................................27

7 Recommendations...................................................................................................................................28

List of Tables
Table 1  Estimated number of mental health conditions of postpartum women in Rutland in 2016 .............16

237



1

1. Who is at risk?

Almost 1 in 4 people in the UK experience at least one mental health problem each year, with 
1 in 6 experiencing a common mental health problem, such as anxiety or depression, in any 
given week. The proportion of disease burden, as measured by the number of years lived with 
disability due to mental disorders and self-harm, is 30.3% in the UK. This means, on average, 
people will spend almost a third of their life living with a mental health condition. This figure 
is thought to be a significant underestimate as it excludes several mental disorders.  

1.1. Protected characteristics

1.1.1. Long term health problems or disabilities

It is suggested that people with a long-term health problem or disability are two to three 
times more likely to develop mental health problems, particularly anxiety and depression. 

According to the 2011 Census, 15.5% of Rutland’s population were found to have a long-term 
health problem or disability that limited their day-to-day activities. This is lower than the 
England average of 17.6%.1

1.1.2. Learning disabilities

Adults with a learning disability are estimated to experience double the risk of depression and 
a three-fold increase in the risk of schizophrenia.1 The Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) 
indicates that in 2016/17, 2.03% of Rutland’s population were recorded on a GP register as 
having a learning disability. 60.7% of eligible adults with a learning disability received a GP 
health check. This is similar to the England proportion of 48.9%.2

1.1.3. Gender reassignment and sexual orientation 

Research indicates the increased likelihood of certain mental health problems occurring in 
the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender or others that do not feel they fit into any traditional 
categories of gender or sexuality (LGBT+) population. For example, LGBT+ people are 1.5 
times more likely to develop depression and anxiety compared to the rest of the population.3 
They are also more likely to self-harm.4 

When comparing all the common sexual identity groups, bisexual people were found to have 
increased risks of depression, anxiety, self-harm and attempting suicide.5  When comparing 
to the rest of the population, gay and bisexual men were found to be four times more likely 
to attempt suicide across their lifetime.3   For females, suicidal thoughts and self-harm were 

238



2

also more prevalent in the lesbian and bisexual women populations compared to the general 
population.6  When considering age groups in the LGBT+ population those aged under 26 
were found to be more likely to attempt suicide and self-harm compared to older populations.
7

A transgender mental health study showed that 88% of transgender people had experienced 
depression and 84% had thought of ending their life.8

Despite research showing the link between mental health and the LGBT+ population, it is 
difficult to estimate what percentage of the population this effects. This is because there has 
been no definitive data collection on numbers of the population who identify as LGBT+. 
However, the Office for National Statistics produced experimental statistics on sexual identity 
in the UK by region, and estimates that those people identifying as LGB make up 1.6% of the 
East Midlands population in 2016. When considering the UK population, those aged 16 to 24 
were most likely to identify as LGB with 4.1% doing so. Males were also more likely to identify 
as LGB than females at 2.3% compared to 1.6% respectively.9

1.1.4. Race

The 2011 Census shows 2.9% of the population in Rutland are from black and minority ethnic 
(BME) backgrounds. Examining the population by each ethnic group shows in 2011 in Rutland 
there were 389 residents from Mixed ethnic group (1.0%), 365 from Asian ethnic group 
(1.0%), 251 from Black ethnic group (0.7%) and 63 residents from Other ethnic group (0.2%).  
Research indicates mental health problems are more prevalent in BME populations. For 
example, rates of schizophrenia are 5.6 times higher in the black Caribbean population, 4.7 
times higher in the black African population and 2.4 times higher in Asian groups.10  Black 
populations have the highest rates of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), suicide attempt, 
psychotic disorder and any drug use/dependence while white populations have highest rates 
for suicidal thoughts, self-harm and alcohol dependence. 

1.1.5. Pregnancy and maternity

Perinatal mental health is defined as the antenatal period (during pregnancy) and the 
postnatal period (up to one year after childbirth). Mental health issues that arise during the 
perinatal period can vary in severity from anxiety and depression through to PTSD and 
postpartum psychosis. For women who have had a history of bipolar disorder, there is an 
increased risk of a relapse at this time. Mental health problems in perinatal women can affect 
the foetus, baby, family and the mother’s physical health.11  It is believed that between 10% 
and 20% of women will be affected by mental health problems at some point during their 
pregnancy or the first year after childbirth.12   It is recognised that some fathers may also 

239



3

suffer from mental health issues over this period however there is very little data available to 
evidence this.

1.1.6. Marriage and civil partnerships

Being happily married or in a stable relationship appears to have a positive impact on mental 
health. A 2008 study found that high marital quality was associated with lower stress and less 
depression. However, participants who were single had better mental health outcomes than 
those who were unhappily married.13  The 2011 Census showed that 11.3% of Rutland’s 
adults’ marital status was separated or divorced. This is similar to the England average of 
11.6%.1                                                               

1.2. Education, learning and development 

Low levels of education can impact on stable employment and income opportunities and 
widen health inequalities: these are factors known to influence mental wellbeing and 
common mental health problems.  As with other risk factors, it is difficult to determine cause 
and effect as mental problems during adulthood can lead to poorer outcomes in educational 
achievement, but lower educational achievement can lead to poorer mental health.1415   

The 2011 Census showed that 29.9% of Rutland’s population aged 16 and above had no 
qualifications or a low level of education. This is significantly lower than the England average 
of 35.8%.1

1.3. Childhood 

Half of all lifetime mental health problems (except dementia) arise by the age of 14. This 
increases to over three quarters of all mental health problems by the age of 24.16  However, 
only a minority of those with mental health problems (except psychosis) receive treatment 
during childhood and adolescence, meaning mental health problems in childhood are likely 
to transfer into adulthood. For children and adolescents who do receive treatment, an 
estimated 70% have not had appropriate interventions at a sufficiently early age.17 

1.4. Lifestyle 

Mental health problems are associated with a higher prevalence of risk taking behaviours and 
increased dependency on the use of substances. This includes a lack of exercise, smoking, 
drinking and drug use.18    

Data from the Active Lives Survey in 2015/16 suggests that over a fifth (20.5%) of Rutland’s 

240



4

population aged 19 or over, were classed as inactive. Inactivity is defined through achieving 
less than 30 minutes of moderate intensity exercise, or equivalent, per week, as opposed to 
the Chief Medical Officer guidelines of above 150 moderate intensity equivalent minutes of 
physical activity per week. This is similar to the England average.19

Smokers are significantly more likely to have a mental health problems compared to non-
smokers. The Annual Population Survey estimated that 12.3% of adults in Rutland smoked in 
2016, significantly lower than the England proportion of 15.5%.19

Having a history of alcohol or drug use has been recorded in 54% of all suicides in people 
experiencing mental health problems with only 11% of these in touch with drug treatment 
services at the time of death.20  In 2014/15, Rutland’s estimated prevalence of opiate and 
crack/cocaine use amongst 15-64 year olds was 2.9 per 1,000 population. This is significantly 
lower than the England rate of 8.6 per 1000 population.21  Data on numbers of people who 
have co-morbid mental health problems and substance misuse is not available, however 
estimate of national prevalence rates suggest 20-37% in secondary mental health services and 
6-15% in substance misuse settings.22

1.5. Employment and economic factors 

Unemployed individuals, benefits claimants and those living in households with lowest 
incomes are considered to be at increased risk of common mental health problems, such as 
depression.23

In Rutland in 2016, 2.4% of the working age population were unemployed. This is significantly 
lower than the national proportion of 4.8%.  In August 2016, 0.12% of the working age 
population were classed as long term unemployed in Rutland, significantly lower than the 
England average of 0.09%.1

Out-of-work benefits include Employment Support Allowance (ESA). ESA can be claimed by 
those out of work due to illness or disability. The 2014 APMS also found two thirds of the 
working age population in receipt of ESA had a Common Mental Health Disorder (CMD) 
compared with one in six who were not in receipt of ESA (66.1% compared to 16.9% 
respectively). Of women in receipt of ESA, 81.0% had a CMD, compared to 21.1% of those 
who were not in receipt of ESA. For males, figures were 55.8% and 12.7% respectively.23 
Further analysis revealed that ESA claimants also had a higher prevalence of personality 
disorder, suicidal thoughts and suicidal attempts.

In 2017, the percentage of Rutland’s working age population claiming ESA, incapacity benefit 
or severe disablement allowance was 3.0%, significantly better than England’s average of 

241



5

5.7%.24

Further detail on Employment in Rutland is included within the Population Chapter.

1.6. Housing

Homelessness and poor quality housing result in an increased risk of mental health problems.    
The national Joint Commissioning Panel for mental health estimates that 27% of homeless 
people have probable psychosis.25  

In 2015/16, the rate of statutory homelessness in Rutland is 2.2 per 1,000 population. The 
England average is 2.5 per 1,000 population.1

In 2016/17, 23% of Rutland’s adults who were in contact with secondary mental health 
services lived in stable and appropriate accommodation. This is significantly lower than 
England’s 54%.19

1.7. Crime

1.7.1. Sexual violence

Perpetrators of sexual violence often either have existing mental health or substance misuse 
problems. The victims of the crimes can also suffer from mental health problems following 
the crime.

Between 2010/11 and 2016/17, Rutland has seen a significant increasing trend of sexual 
offences per 1,000 population. The latest data from 2016/17 shows there were 32 sexual 
offences reported in Rutland, this equates to a rate of 0.8 per 1,000 population. The rate for 
England was 1.9 per 1,000 population.19 The directly standardised rate of hospital admissions 
for violent crime (including sexual violence) was 30.0 per 100,000 population during 2014/15 
– 16/17 (31 violent crimes). This is better (lower) than the England rate of 42.9 per 100,000 
population.19

1.7.2. Domestic abuse

Domestic abuse can take a variety of forms – psychological, physical, sexual, financial or 
emotional. Perpetrators of domestic abuse often either have mental health and/or substance 
misuse problems. Furthermore, the victims of the crimes may also suffer from mental health 
problems following the crime. The crude rate of reported domestic abuse-related incidents 
and crimes in Rutland in 2016/17 was 18.7 per 1,000 population, lower than the England rate 
of 22.5 per 1,000 population. This has increased from 2015/16, where the rate was 14.7 per 

242



6

1,000 population.19

1.8. Vulnerable Groups

Pockets of the population can be missed in overarching statistics. These subgroups, who have 
not been mentioned in key statistics above, are more exposed and vulnerable to the 
unfavourable social, economic, and environmental circumstances encompassed in the above 
risk factors. They are therefore at a higher risk of mental health problems than the general 
population.

1.8.1. Prisoners

Prisoners suffer from mental health issues at rates in excess of those in the general 
population. In England and Wales, 54% of women and 34% of men in prison say they are 
affected by emotional wellbeing or mental health issues.26   It is estimated that over a third 
of men and over half of women (33% and 51% respectively) in prison experience depression. 
Just over one fifth of males and just under one third of females (21% and 32% respectively) 
are estimated to have anxiety, whilst personality disorder is estimated to be prevalent in 14% 
of male prisoners, and 50% of female prisoners.27 

Annual self-harm incidents in prison have increased by nearly two-thirds since 2011, while 
self-inflicted deaths have doubled in the same time period.2829   In 2016, more than a third of 
all prison deaths in England and Wales were self-inflicted.30  Released prisoners further have 
a significantly higher risk of suicide compared to the general population.27

In England in 2016/17, 9.2% of people in prison were on a care programme approach plan, 
hence diagnosed with a severe mental illness.19 There is one prison in Rutland. As of 
December 2017, HMP Stocken in Stretton contained 841 males aged 21 and over.31 

1.8.2. Victims of crime

Being a victim of crime, through exposure to unsafe environments, violence, or domestic 
abuse, increases the risk of developing mental health problems.  People with mental health 
problems are estimated to be three times more likely to be a victim of crime than the general 
population and five times more likely to be a victim of assault; this increases to ten times 
more likely for women.32

Research indicates that victimisation among people with severe mental illness (SMI) is more
prevalent and associated with greater psychosocial morbidity than victimisation among the 
general population. Women with SMI are at particularly high risk of both domestic and 
community violence.33  Violence prevention for people with SMI is likely to require an 

243



7

integrated response by mental health professionals, third-sector organisations and the 
Criminal Justice System.33

1.8.3. Migrants 

Migrants, including refugees, asylum seekers, economic migrants, spouses and students may 
be at increased risk of mental health problems prior to, during or after migration to the UK. 
Refugees, asylum seekers and economic migrants have PTSD, anxiety, depression and phobias 
at rates five times higher compared to the general population.   

In 2016, the rate of migrant GP registrations in Rutland was 6.0 per 1,000 population, 
significantly lower than the England average of 12.9 per 1,000 population.1

1.8.4. Carers

Research has shown that the stress and worry, lack of time for one’s self, isolation, money 
worries, lack of sleep, feelings of frustration guilt and low self-esteem can impact on carers’ 
mental health and wellbeing. This can lead to depression, anxiety and obsessive compulsive 
disorder (OCD).34

Results from the Personal Social Services Carers Survey show that in Rutland in 2016/17, 
31.1% of adult carers had as much social contact as they would like, meaning over 2/3s of 
carers were not having as much social contact as they would like. The proportion having as 
much social care as they would like was similar to the England average of 35.5%.19

1.8.5. Adult social care users

The Adult Social Care Users survey estimated that 46.5% of adult social care users in Rutland 
in 2016/17 felt they had as much social contact as they would like. This is similar to the 
England average of 45.4%.19

1.8.6. Living alone

Whilst not all people living alone would be considered to be socially isolated, or considered 
lonely, the 2014 APMS showing that people of working age who were living alone were 
significantly more likely to have a common mental disorder compared to those who lived with 
others. 

The 2011 Census showed that 12.0% of Rutland’s population were living alone, significantly 
lower than the England average of 12.8%.21 

244



8

Meanwhile, 6.26% of households in Rutland were occupied by a single person aged 65 and 
over. This was higher than the national average of 5.24%.21 

1.8.7. Loneliness

Whilst ‘loneliness’ does not account for a specific segment of the population, it is important 
to acknowledge the risk loneliness plays in poor mental wellbeing. Loneliness is defined by an 
individual’s subjective emotional state, based on their personal and subjective sense of 
lacking closeness, affection and social interaction with others.35 

The Community Life Survey shows that 5.4% of people in England reported feelings of 
loneliness often or always in 2016/17. Variations were observed by age group, with 10% of 
16-24 year olds being the highest group to report loneliness, followed by 6% of 25-34 year 
olds. The groups that had the lowest percentage reporting loneliness were the 65-74 and 75 
and over populations with only 3% reporting feeling lonely often or always.36 The 2014 APMS 
further supports this: the study found that the prevalence of CMDs in the 75+ population was 
half the rate of their younger counterparts. 

2. Level of need in Rutland

2.1. Mental wellbeing

Data from the Annual Population Survey 2015/16 estimates that 76.6% of Rutland’s 
population report a high happiness score. This is higher than the England average of 74.7%.21 
In 2016/17, just over one fifth (21.8%) of Rutland’s residents reported a high anxiety score, 
this is similar to the England value of 19.9%.19 

Data from the GP Patient Survey in 2015/16 estimated that 3.8% of Rutland’s GP registered 
population considered themselves to have a long-term mental health problem. This is similar 
to the national value of 5.2%.21 

2.2. Common mental health conditions

2.2.1. Overall common mental health conditions

Common mental health conditions, also known as common mental disorders (CMD) or 
neurotic disorders, encompass different types of depression and anxiety, including 
generalised anxiety disorder (GAD), phobias, obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) and panic 
disorder. While they do not affect cognition, they do cause emotional distress and can 
interfere with a person’s day to day life. 

245



9

In 2014/15, it was estimated that 12.2% of ELR CCG’s registered population, aged 16-74 had 
a common mental disorder.37  The Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 estimates 1 in 6 
people (15.7%) to have a common mental health condition in England, with 1 in 12 reporting 
severe symptoms of common mental health disorders. Self-reported prevalence is higher in 
females (1 in 5 or 19.1%) compared to males (1 in 8 or 12.2%). Over a third of respondents 
(35.6%) were identified by the survey as currently having a CMD, although they had never 
been diagnosed with one. Symptoms were most prevalent in the working age population, 
with them being twice as likely to have symptoms compared to those aged over 65. All anxiety 
disorders in the survey were more common among young women aged 16 to 24 (GAD 9%, 
phobias 5.4%, OCD 2.4%, panic disorder 2.2%) than in any other age-sex group. CMD 
symptoms peaked in the 16-24 age group for females, at a rate almost 3 times higher than 
males (26% compared to 9%). Symptoms remained stable for men during their working age 
and then tailed off after 65. However, a second although less pronounced peak for females 
was evident between the ages of 45-54. 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) is the largest national service to provide 
therapies for those with low level mental health conditions, notably common mental health 
disorders. Published data on IAPT referrals for 2016/17 shows that 6,100 referrals were 
received for ELR CCG. In the same time period, 3,355 referrals entered treatment for ELR CCG. 
Upon receipt of referral, the most common identified diagnosis was ‘unspecified’ making up 
57.3% (3,495) of ELR CCG referrals. Upon entering treatment, 28.9% (970) of diagnosis for ELR 
CCG were classed as ‘unspecified’.38  For this reason, the following IAPT diagnosis data is 
based only upon those entering treatment. 

2.2.2. Depression

Depression is characterised by persistent low mood and a loss of interest and enjoyment in 
things which are normally considered enjoyable. Symptoms can be emotional, physical or 
behavioural and can include sleep disturbance, change in appetite, loss of energy, poor 
concentration, low feelings of self-worth and thoughts of suicide. Depressive episodes can 
range from mild to severe.39  

The Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) is a voluntary annual reward and incentive 
programme for all GP surgeries in England, detailing practice achievement results. The QOF 
shows the recorded prevalence for depression in the GP registered population aged 18 or 
over has increased year on year both nationally and locally since 2013/14. Over this time 
period, the prevalence in Rutland has remained significantly lower than the national average. 
The latest data in 2016/17 shows the recorded prevalence for depression in the GP registered 
population aged 18 or over is 7.9% for Rutland’s population. This is significantly lower than 

246



10

the England average of 9.1%. 

Incidence looks at the rate of new, or newly diagnosed, cases of a particular disease, illness 
or health problem. The QOF shows the recorded incidence for depression in the GP registered 
population aged 18 or over has increased year on year both nationally and locally since 
2013/14. In Rutland, the recorded incidence of depression in the 18 and above age group in 
2016/17 is 1.3% for Rutland. This is significantly lower than the England average of 1.5% in 
2016/17.1  This shows new cases of depression are being diagnosed at a slower rate in Rutland 
compared to nationally.

The IAPT service data shows that in 2016/17, 12.1% of the referrals entering treatment for 
ELR CCG were diagnosed with depression, accounting for 405 people. This was the third most 
common recorded diagnosis for ELR CCG.38

2.2.3. Generalised anxiety disorder (GAD)

GAD is an anxiety disorder characterised by excessive worry, with individuals experiencing 
difficulty in controlling that worry. Symptoms include restlessness, difficulties with 
concentration, irritability, muscular tension and disturbed sleep.39

The Adult Psychiatry Morbidity Survey (APMS) 2014 found GAD to be the second most 
commonly identified CMD in England, with an estimated 5.9% experiencing it in the past 
week. The prevalence in females is statistically significantly higher than in males (6.8% 
compared to 4.9% respectively). The highest age-sex prevalence group was females aged 16-
24 (9.0%) followed by females aged 45-54 (8.5%), followed by females aged 35-44 (7.0%). For 
males the highest prevalence was in the 35-44 age group at 6.8%. The lowest prevalence for 
both males and females was estimated to be in the 75+ population (0.9% and 3.6% 
respectively). 

In 2012, Public Health England estimated that GAD was prevalent in 2.8% of Rutland’s 
population aged 16-74. There are some concerns regarding the quality of this data and it 
should be noted that the estimate was created as an indication of caseload for psychological 
therapy services, hence based on numbers likely to be diagnosable at the time.1

The IAPT service data shows that in 2016/17, 9.1% of the referrals entering treatment for ELR 
CCG were diagnosed with GAD, accounting for 305 people. This was the fourth most common 
recorded diagnosis for ELR CCG.38 

247



11

2.2.4. Mixed anxiety and depression

The APMS 2014 found mixed anxiety and depression to be the most commonly identified 
CMD in England, with 7.8% of the population estimated to be affected by it in any given week. 
Prevalence is statistically significantly higher in females than males. For males, it is estimated 
that the highest prevalence is in the 25-36 age group, with 7.9% being affected. For females, 
the 45-54 age group followed by 16-24 age groups are estimated to have the highest 
prevalence (11.8% and 11.3% respectively), both more than two times higher than males 
which were 5.6% for both these age groups. 

The IAPT service data shows that in 2016/17, 34.1% of the referrals entering treatment for 
ELR CCG were diagnosed with mixed anxiety and depression, accounting for 1,145 people. 
This was the most common recorded diagnosis for ELR CCG.38 

Of the referrals received by IAPT, unspecified diagnosis was the most common. If unspecified 
diagnoses are removed from analysis, mixed anxiety and depression was the most commonly 
diagnosed disorder upon receipt of referrals for ELR CCG. For ELR CCG 1,240 of the 6,105 
referrals received were for mixed anxiety and depression (20.3%).

The 2015/16 GP Patient Survey found that 8.9% of the 18+ population in Rutland felt anxious 
or depressed. This is lower than the England value of 12.7%.21 

2.2.5. Panic disorder

People with panic disorder experience repeated and unexpected attacks of intense anxiety. 
There is a marked fear of future attacks and this can result in avoidance of situations that may 
provoke a panic attack. Symptoms include a feeling of overwhelming fear and apprehension 
often accompanied by physical symptoms such as nausea, sweating, heart palpitations and 
trembling.39

The APMS 2014 found panic disorder to have the lowest prevalence of all surveyed CMDs in 
England, with 0.6% reported symptoms in the past week. The youngest age group, 16-24 year 
olds, were estimated to have the highest prevalence (1.2%), with the majority attributed to 
females with 2.2% and 0.4% for males.  For all other ages, prevalence remained stable 
between 0.3% and 0.7%. Overall, prevalence was statistically significantly higher in females 
than males. While panic disorder prevalence is estimated to be lower than other CMDs, of 
those identified with any CMD 44.6% mentioned having panic attacks. 30.2% reported this 
had been diagnosed by a professional, meaning almost 70% of panic attacks were not 
diagnosed.

248



12

In 2012, the estimated prevalence of panic disorder in 16-74 year olds in Rutland was 0.35%. 
This is lower than the England prevalence of 0.65%.1

The IAPT service data shows that in 2016/17, 2.1% of the referrals entering treatment for ELR 
CCG were diagnosed with panic disorder, accounting for 70 people.38 

2.2.6. Phobias

The APMS 2014 estimated 2.4% of England’s population to have phobia symptoms in any 
given week. Prevalence is statistically significantly higher in females than males. (3.0% 
compared to 1.8% respectively). Phobias were more common in the working age population 
in 2014 than in previous years increasing from 1.8% in 1993 to 2.1% in 2007 to 2.9% in 2014.

In 2012, the estimated prevalence of all phobias in 16-74 year olds in Rutland was 0.96%. This 
is lower than the England prevalence of 1.77%.1 The IAPT service data shows that in 2016/17, 
2.2% of the referrals entering treatment for ELR CCG were diagnosed with phobias, 
accounting for 75 people.38

2.2.7. Obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD)

OCD is an anxiety condition characterised by the presence of either obsessions (repetitive, 
intrusive and unwanted thoughts, images or urges) or compulsions (repetitive behaviours or 
mental acts that a person feels driven to perform), or both. 

The AMPS 2014 found 1.3% of England’s population to have experienced symptoms in the 
past week.  While prevalence is higher in females than males, the difference is not statistically 
significant. (1.5% compared to 1.1% respectively). Only 13.2% of people who identified as 
having OCD had been diagnosed by a professional.

The IAPT service data shows that in 2016/17, 1.8% of the referrals entering treatment for ELR 
CCG were diagnosed with OCD, accounting for 60 people.38

2.3. Suicide and self-harm

2.3.1. Self-harm

Self-harm is defined as an intentional act of self-poisoning or self-injury irrespective of the 
type of motivation or degree of suicidal intent. However, following an episode of self-harm, 
there is a significant and persistent risk of suicide.19

In Rutland in 2016/17, the directly standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions for 

249



13

intentional self-harm for all ages was 102.8 per 100,000 population (37 admissions). This is 
significantly better than the England average of 185.3 per 100,000 population. Since 2014/15, 
the rate has decreased year on year in Rutland whereas the national rate has fluctuated.19 

2.3.2. Suicide

Suicides and injury undetermined is seen as an indicator of underlying rates of mental ill-
health. The definition of suicide includes all deaths from intentional self-harm for persons 
aged 10 and over, and deaths where the intent was undetermined for those aged 15 and over. 
Due to small numbers, suicide rates are measured across five year periods. 

In Rutland the rate of suicides in males is almost four times higher than in females. The crude 
rate for suicides in males aged 35-64 years in Rutland for 2011-15 was 21.6 per 100,000 
population, this is similar to that of England which had a rate of 20.8 per 100,000 population. 
Meanwhile, the crude rate for suicides in females aged 35-64 years in Rutland for 2011-15 
was 5.5 per 100,000 population. The rate is similar to that of England which had a rate of 6.0 
per 100,000 population.40

When considering method of suicide, UK figures for 2016 show that the most common 
method used was hanging/suffocation/strangulation, accounting for 58.7% percent of males’ 
and 42.8% females’ deaths. The second most common method of suicide for both males and 
females was poisoning, with proportions of 18.3% and 36.2% respectively.41 

It is important to note this data is based on those who completed suicides and does not 
account for all suicide attempts. 

2.4. Severe and enduring mental illness 

2.4.1. Overall SMI

The QOF severe mental health register is a count, for each GP practice, of the total number 
of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and other psychoses. The percentage of 
people with severe mental illness on GP Practice registers was 0.69% in Rutland in 2016/17, 
significantly lower than England’s 0.92%. Nationally the trend over time is increasing, whereas 
locally the trend has stabilised.21

The rates of adult acute mental health admissions are only published by NHS Trust. In 
2015/16, Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) recorded 169 acute mental health admissions 
per 100,000 population aged 16-64. This is significantly lower than the England average of 
220 per 100,000 population. LPT also recorded 7,574 acute mental health bed days per 

250



14

100,000 population aged 16-64, significantly higher than the England average of 7,063 per 
100,000 population.37 This suggests that although less people are going into hospital 
compared to the England average, those that do go in stay there for longer. 

In the same time period, Cambridge and Peterborough NHS Trust recorded 272 acute mental 
health admissions per 100,000 population aged 16-64. This is significantly higher than the 
England average of 220 per 100,000 population. The Trust also recorded 5,624 acute mental 
health bed days per 100,000 population aged 16-64, significantly lower than the England 
average of 7,063 per 100,000 population.37 This suggests that although more people are going 
into hospital compared to the England average, those that do go in stay there for a shorter 
time. 

In 2016/17, in the Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan (STP) area, there were 60 detentions under the Mental Health Act giving a crude rate of 
5.7 per 100,000 population. This is the lowest of all STP areas.42  As of 31st March 2016, LPT 
reported 270 people subject to the Mental Health Act 1983. Of these, 190 were detained in 
hospital on 31st March 2016, while 80 people were subject to Community Treatment Orders.
43  There may be some data quality issues with these figures.

Evidence suggests that people with severe mental illness such as schizophrenia, die between 
15 and 25 years earlier than the average for the general population. In 2014/15, the excess 
under 75 mortality rate in adults with a serious mental illness in Rutland was 247.8% 
(expressed as a percentage). This percentage is showing that deaths in the population with 
severe mental illness are almost two and a half times higher than that of the general 
population.19 

Data from the Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) shows that in 2016/17 50.6% of people 
with SMI had a comprehensive care plan in the East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG area. This 
is significantly lower than England average of 79.0%.21

2.4.2. Psychosis

The estimated incidence of new cases of psychosis in 2011 among those aged 16-74 was 17.0 
per 100,000. This is significantly lower than the national rate of 24.2 per 100,000 population.21 

2.4.3. Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is associated with increased mortality from all disease and a reduced life 
expectancy of around 21 years for men and 16 years for women. It is also linked to increased 
risk of suicide and self-harm.44

251



15

In Rutland during 2009/10-11/12, the rate of emergency admissions for schizophrenia, 
schizotypal and delusional disorders was 12.0 per 100,000 population aged over 18 years. This 
is significantly lower than the England value of 57.0 per 100,000 population.45

2.5. Perinatal mental health 

Perinatal mental health is defined as the antenatal period (during pregnancy) and the 
postnatal period (up to one year after childbirth). Mental health issues that arise during the 
perinatal period can vary in severity from anxiety and depression through to post traumatic 
stress disorder and postpartum psychosis. For women who have had a history of bipolar 
disorder, there is an increased risk of a relapse at this time. Although these conditions can 
affect anyone with mental health problems, the concern with mental health problems in 
perinatal women is that it can affect the foetus, baby, family and the mother’s physical 
health.46  It is believed that between 10% and 20% of women will be affected by mental health 
problems at some point during their pregnancy or the first year after childbirth.44

In Rutland, 312 women gave birth in 2016. Table 2 shows that in 2016, the most prevalent 
disorder affecting postpartum women in Rutland was adjustment disorders and distress, 
affecting between 16.0% - 30.4% of mothers. This equates to between 50 and 95 mothers in 
the county. Mild-moderate depressive illness and anxiety was the second most prevalent 
condition affecting between 11.2% - 16.0% of mothers in Rutland. It is estimated that severe 
depressive illness affected 3.2% of postpartum woman (10) in Rutland.47 It is important to 
remember that failure to treat perinatal depression can result in a prolonged and harmful 
effect on the relationship between the mother and baby. Evidence suggests that postnatal 
depression “may be associated with lower cognitive and language achievements” in young 
children.  

Table 1  Estimated number of mental health conditions of postpartum women in Rutland in 201647

 Count*

252



16

Estimated number of women with adjustment disorders and distress 
(upper estimate) 95
Estimated number of women with mild-moderate depressive illness and 
anxiety (upper estimate) 50
Estimated number of women with adjustment disorders and distress 
(lower estimate) 50
Estimated number of women with mild-moderate depressive illness and 
anxiety (lower estimate) 35
Estimated number of women with severe depressive illness 10
Estimated number of women with PTSD 10
Estimated number of women with postpartum psychosis 5
Estimated number of women with chronic SMI 5

Source: NHS Digital, Hospital Episode Statistics

*Figures must not be added together to give an overall estimate as some women may suffer 
from more than one condition

Post-traumatic stress disorder can be associated with mental health disorders when 
experiencing birth related traumas, whether it is from a traumatic birth including 
complications either physically or mentally as well as stillbirth or the death of a baby or 
sometimes from an uncomplicated delivery.  It is estimated there were 10 women in Rutland 
who suffered from PTSD in the perinatal period in 2015/16.47 

3. How does this impact?

While poor mental health affects individuals, it also affects society as a whole through costs 
to public services, including the NHS, social care and employers. Calculations attempting to 
quantify costs have varied dependent on the mental health conditions and impacts 
considered.4849 However, all estimations to date have “failed to take into account the 
additional value to society of improving mental wellbeing or the adverse effects of physical 
health.”50Error! Bookmark not defined. Further, while studies endeavour to account for costs 
to mental health service usage, additional costs to other services, such as chronic illness, are 
not always considered, resulting in underestimation.50  

The health, social and economic consequences of poor mental health are substantial. In 
England, it has been estimated that the government spends around £19 billion every year 
within and beyond the health system on dedicated services for people with mental health 
needs. The NHS alone spent almost £9.2 billion in 2015/16 on mental health problems. 

In 2014 NHS England developed a programme with a set of commitments to promote parity 
of esteem, with the aim of 'valuing mental health equally with physical health'. One of the 
commitments was that CCGs should increase their mental health spending in real terms, by 

253



17

at least the same proportion as their overall budget increase (Parity of Esteem funding 
commitment). With the publication of the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, this 
funding commitment was reiterated as the ‘Mental Health Investment Standard’ in the NHS 
Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance published in September 2016. The Mental 
Health Dashboard shows that NHS England’s actual spend on mental health was 12.5% of 
their total CCG budget in 2015/16, and 12.7% in 2016/17. Locally for 2017/18 the planned 
spend on mental health was 11.9% for ELRCCG.51

These budgetary costs under-estimate the full impact of poor mental health as it also 
increases the risks of poor physical health and poor management of pre-existing physical 
health problems. Studies in the UK and elsewhere indicate that people living with severe 
mental health problems may die up to 20 years younger than the general population.52 53 
These impacts are also felt well beyond the health care system, mainly due to lost economic 
productivity as a result of reduced participation in work, education and community activities. 
There is also the increased risk of premature mortality mainly due to poorer physical health 
but also linked with self-harm and suicide.

“The economic benefits of mental wellbeing are not as well established as the costs of mental 
illness.” However, the impacts that positive mental wellbeing can have, both on a personal 
and societal level, through reduced healthcare utilisation and  lower morbidity and mortality, 
presents a strong case for investment in mental wellbeing through promotion and 
prevention.50 54

The case for seeking to support physical and mental health in a more integrated way is 
compelling, and is based on four related challenges: – high rates of mental health conditions 
among people with long-term physical health problems – poor management of ‘medically 
unexplained symptoms’, which lack an identifiable organic cause – reduced life expectancy 
among people with the most severe forms of mental illness, largely attributable to poor 
physical health – limited support for the wider psychological aspects of physical health 
and illness. Collectively, these issues increase the cost of providing services, perpetuate 
inequalities in health outcomes, and mean that care is less effective than it could be.55 

More information
For further information on spend by local authority or CCG, please visit:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spend-and-outcome-tool-spot

254

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spend-and-outcome-tool-spot


18

2013/14 CCG Programme Budgeting Marketing Tool – showing how much CCG’s spend on 
different healthcare conditions, please visit:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/resources/resources-for-ccgs/prog-budgeting/

For further information on commissioning cost-effective services for the promotion of 
Mental Health and Wellbeing and Prevention of Mental Ill-Health, please visit:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/640714/Commissioning_effective_mental_health_prevention_report.pdf

For further information on this analysis and return on investment through mental health 
promotion and mental illness prevention please visit:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-cost-effective-
commissioning
 
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/32311/1/Knapp_et_al__MHPP_The_Economic_Case.pdf

4. Policy and Guidance

4.1. No Health Without Mental Health; A cross government mental health 
outcomes strategy for people of all ages (2011) - Department of Health4 

Sets out the Government’s ambition to mainstream mental health, and establish parity of 
esteem between services for people with mental health problems and physical health 
problems. The strategy looks to communities as well as the state, to promote independence 
and choice, and a wide range of partner organisations to deliver the strategy. These include 
user and carer groups, service providers, including NHS providers, local government and 
central government departments. 

The strategy sets out six shared objectives to improve mental health outcomes for individuals 
and the population as a whole as follows;

i) More people will have good mental health

ii) More people with mental health problems will recover

iii) More people with mental health problems will have good physical health

iv) More people will have a positive experience of care and support

v) Fewer people will suffer avoidable harm

vi) Fewer people will experience stigma and discrimination

255

https://www.england.nhs.uk/resources/resources-for-ccgs/prog-budgeting/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640714/Commissioning_effective_mental_health_prevention_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640714/Commissioning_effective_mental_health_prevention_report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-cost-effective-commissioning
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-cost-effective-commissioning
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/32311/1/Knapp_et_al__MHPP_The_Economic_Case.pdf


19

4.2. Better Mental Health For All: A Public Health approach to mental health 
improvement (2016)18 Error! Bookmark not defined.

Commissioned from the Mental Health Foundation by the Faculty of Public Health (FPH). The 
report is intended as a resource for public health practitioners. It focuses on what can be done 
to enhance the mental health of individuals, families, and communities by using a public 
health approach.  

4.3. NICE (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) Guidance Documents 

NICE has published a number of relevant guidelines and guidance documents including;  

Common Mental Health Disorders : Identification and Pathways to Care-NICE CG 123 (2011)

Depression in Adults; recognition and management – NICE CG 90 (2009)

Generalised anxiety disorder and panic disorder in adults: management NICE CG 113 (2011)

Obsessive-compulsive disorder and body dysmorphic disorder: treatment NICE CG 31 (2005)

Social anxiety disorder: recognition, assessment and treatment NICE CG 159 (2013)

Post-traumatic stress disorder: management NICE CG 26 (2005)

Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance NICE CG 
192 (2014)  

Transition between inpatient mental health settings and community or care home settings 
NICE NG27 (2016)

4.4. Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016) report of the Mental Health 
Taskforce51

Sets out a ten year transformation plan. It outlines priority actions for the NHS, and 
recommendations for wider action including decent housing, employment opportunities, and 
community engagement. The report focuses on tackling inequalities, recognising that mental 
health problems disproportionately affects people living in poverty, those who are 
unemployed and those who already face discrimination.   

4.5. Care Act 2014 – Department of Health56

The Care Act sets out duties for local authorities and their partners, new rights for individuals 
and carers, and the requirement to integrate care and support offered by local authorities 

256



20

with that of health services. There is now also a requirement to consider an individual’s 
‘wellbeing’. This is a comprehensive and detailed document. An Easy Read version is available. 

4.6. LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan 2017 (STP) Mental Health 
Workstream57 

The aspiration for mental health is to promote recovery from mental illness by developing a 
patient’s understanding of their illness and supporting them to manage their condition more 
effectively. The workstream aims to support people to stay well at home and be independent 
but also have better access to emergency and crisis services when they need them.  

4.7. Improving Physical Healthcare for People living with SMI in Primary Care: 
Guidance for CCG’s (2018) NHS England58 

National guidance to improve the quality of physical healthcare for people with SMI in primary 
care, aimed at reducing risk from preventable serious illness, including cancer, heart disease, 
and diabetes. The guidance details the action and collaboration required by commissioners 
and providers in primary and secondary care to improve access to and the quality of physical 
health checks and ensure appropriate follow-up care is given. 

4.8. Preventing Suicide in England: third progress report HM Government (2017)59

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health recommends that all local authorities have 
multi-agency suicide prevention plans in place in 2017. These plans should target high-risk 
locations and support high-risk groups, including men and people in contact with mental 
health services. The local plans should be reviewed annually and supported by new 
investment.

The All Party Parliamentary Group on Suicide and Self-Harm Prevention (2013) recommended 
that Health and wellbeing boards: 

i. Ensure that suicide and self-harm are addressed in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment beyond being a measure. 

ii. Ensure that the local suicide prevention plan is written into the local health and 
wellbeing strategy and includes provision for bereaved families. 

iii. Investigate opportunities for developing links with neighbouring local 
authorities to co-ordinate work through a regional group that could pool resources 
and expertise. 

A Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Prevention Strategy and Plan 2017-20 is in 

257



21

place.  In addition the LLR Suicide Audit and Prevention Group (LLR SAPG) has been brought 
together to tackle the cause and the impact of suicide across Rutland. The LLR SAPG is a sub-
group of the LLR Better Care Together Mental Health Partnership Group and it also feeds into 
the LLR Crisis Concordat. In addition it reports into local authority Health and Wellbeing 
Boards.

4.9. Other related documents

Mental Health; How do you know if your council is doing all it can to improve mental health. 
Local Government Association (2018)

Creative Health; The Arts for Health and Wellbeing Inquiry Report. APPG (2017) 

Thriving at Work; the Stevenson/Farmer review of mental health and employers. 
DWP/DoH+SC (2017)  

5. Current Services

5.1. Overall service Provision

There is partnership work currently ongoing at a strategic level to deliver improvements 
across mental health services with the aim of shifting the focus to prevention and recovery, 
and delivering services on a locality based model. The strategic direction driven by the 
national Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, and the local Leicestershire Partnership 
Trust (LPT) Transformation Programme is to ensure the right level of care in the right place at 
the right time, with the emphasis on prevention and recovery.

 The approach to delivering service provision is a layered approach with a continued emphasis 
on people being supported towards greater independence. It is summarised in the pyramid 
below.

258



22

Social Care works closely with GPs and inpatient facilities that treat people experiencing 
serious mental illness such as when they are being discharged from hospital and perhaps need 
residential care.  Social care will always try to enable the person to go home and perhaps 
facilitate this by commissioning appropriate support packages such as formal carers to call in 
and support the person.

5.2. Leicestershire Partnership Trust

The Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT) has three clinical directorates. The Adult 
Mental Health and Learning Disability Services directorate provides a range of both inpatient 
adult mental health services, and community mental health services.

5.2.1. Inpatient Adult Mental Health

Inpatient adult mental health services include a number of wards providing different levels of 
care and support depending on individual need. These are based at the Bradgate Mental 
Health Unit on the Glenfield Hospital site. These include; 

Recovery focused general psychiatric care

Ashby Ward – assessment and care for men in the acute stage of their illness.

Aston Ward – female acute needs ward

Beaumont Ward – acute inpatient assessment and care

Bosworth Ward – male acute needs ward

Heather Ward – female acute needs ward

Thornton – male acute needs ward

Psychiatric intensive care

Belvoir Ward – male ward

Griffin Ward – female ward 

Low-secure environment care  

Phoenix Ward

259



23

5.2.2. LPT Community Mental Health Services

Community mental health services include;

Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) – the East Leicestershire and Rutland CMHTs 
receives referrals through a person’s GP or other healthcare professional. Teams include 
Consultant Psychiatrists, Psychiatric Nurses, Occupational Therapists, Social Workers, and 
Psychologists providing a range of interventions and treatments. 

Forensic Mental Health Team – single team covering Leicester, Leicestershire, Rutland (LLR).  
Provides specialist community (and inpatient) service for those individuals who pose a risk of 
harm to others in the context of their mental disorder. The multidisciplinary team includes 
Consultant Psychiatrists, Psychiatric Nurses, Occupational Therapists, Social Workers, and 
Psychologists. Access to the service is by referral from a Consultant Psychiatrist to the Referral 
Panel.

Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Team – provides rapid assessment and care for people 
experiencing a crisis in their mental health that might otherwise result in a hospital admission. 
Intensive home treatment is provided for a short period before care is passed to the GP or 
other secondary care. Referral is primarily through a GP.  

Perinatal mental health care – provides assessment, treatment and support for women 
experiencing severe mental illness during pregnancy and following birth of their child. This 
may be pre-existing conditions that recur in pregnancy, or conditions with their onset during 
pregnancy/following birth. The service includes a perinatal psychiatric liaison consultation 
service to primary care, maternity and mental health services. Service covers Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). The service is accessed through GP, midwife, obstetrician, 
mental health worker, or health visitor.

PIER team (Psychosis Intervention and Early Recovery) – provides treatment and support for 
people (from 14 years of age) who are experiencing their first episode of psychosis. The 
service supports individuals and their families to recover, and manage ongoing difficulties, 
and minimise the chances of relapse/recurrence. The team incudes mental health workers 
and support workers. Service covers LLR. Referral to the service is through GP or other 
healthcare professional.  

Liaison Psychiatry Service – provides assessment and treatment for people who experience 
mental health problems in the context of their physical illness. This will usually take place on 
University Hospitals Leicester (UHL) hospital wards. The service covers LLR. Access is by 
referral only from GP, secondary care providers, clinicians from acute specialities.

260



24

Leicestershire Recovery College – based on a national model the Recovery College provides a 
range of recovery focused educational courses for people with lived mental health 
experience, their families and friends and LPT staff. Courses cover a range of mental health 
and wellbeing subjects. The aim is for people to recognise their own resourcefulness and skills 
and become experts in their own self-care. A course prospectus is available and courses are 
free of charge. People can attend courses by enrolling as a student with a ‘satellite’ hub 
available at Rutland Adult Learning Service, Oakham Enterprise Park, Oakham An evaluation 
is currently taking place of the recovery outcomes for the students of the Recovery College.

Crisis House (Turning Point) - the Crisis House provides short term intensive support for adults 
who need extra support when experiencing a mental health crisis. The service, provided by 
Turning Point, aims to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions. The house provides six beds 
and 24 hour care and support, including a structured recovery focused programme of 
activities. In addition to the Crisis House, the service provides a 24 hour crisis helpline and 
open access drop-in session at Turning Point in Rutland.  

Employment Support (Aspiro) – provides employment support for people using specialist 
mental health support services   

5.3. PAVE Team (Pro-Active Vulnerability Engagement)

The service is a partnership between police, mental health practitioners, and substance 
misuse practitioners providing targeted support for people who intensively use health and 
police services. The aim is to reduce the number of people with mental ill health being held 
inappropriately in police cells. The multi-disciplinary team includes police officers, mental 
health practitioners, and substance misuse Recovery Workers. In addition clinical support is 
available as required from a Consultant Psychiatrist. 

5.4. Rutland Community Wellbeing Service 

This service offers information, support and signposting to self-help tools, and onwards 
referral to a variety of community support. They provide a wide range of assistance to help 
people to overcome some of the factors which may have a negative impact on emotional 
wellbeing, such as poor housing, debt, economic disadvantage, serious illness, bullying, 
abuse, bereavement or isolation.  This includes help to access specialist military/veteran 
support.

Mental Health Matters provides community based support to adults who are experiencing 
emotional and mental health problems, as well as their carers, by providing advice, 

261

http://www.mentalhealthmatters.com/service/leicestershire-rutland-wellbeing-service/


25

information and support. They offer brief interventions and support for low-level and 
moderate mental health issues, and support for those recovering from clinical treatment of 
Serious Mental Illness through both group support and one to one interventions.  The service 
offers both drop-in and appointment based access within Rutland.

Let's Talk-Wellbeing (IAPT service) provides psychological assessment and treatment for mild 
to moderate common mental health problems. The service has specialised skilled and 
accredited practitioners who are able to provide psychological therapies (talking therapies) 
for people experiencing common difficulties including depression, anxiety, panic, phobias, 
obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), trauma and stress.

Social care employs specialist qualified social workers and other support staff to engage with 
people suffering from the effects of serious mental illness in the community.  Social care does 
not provide treatment but helps with the provision of after care and regular visits to ensure 
the person is being correctly supported to help them maintain good mental health after 
treatment.  This approach helps prevent relapse of symptoms and possible return to hospital. 

Health and social care services for people with more serious mental health problems are 
provided by staff based in the Rutland Community Mental Health Team. Services are provided 
on a multidisciplinary basis with input from social care staff where relevant and required. 
Following assessment a number of different services will be available if needed. These 
services range from hospital and medical services through to a range of support services to 
enable people to remain as independent as possible in the community.

Social Care provides specialist staff called Approved Mental Health Professional’s (AMHP’s) 
who alongside section 12 doctors assess people who are at crisis. If the person is assessed to 
be a risk to themselves or others they can be detained under section of the mental health act.  
This service is provided 24 hours a day every day of the year.

Turning Point provide integrated drug and alcohol services across Rutland with a number of 
different treatment pathways and support interventions. These include: Recovery worker 
support and peer mentors, substitute prescribing, community detox, harm reduction and 
needle exchange. Support is provided one to one and in groups and the service works closely 
with housing, employment and wellbeing services to ensure other needs are met. The service 
can advise and support friends and families of people with drug and alcohol problems and has 
a dedicated young peoples’ service. 

Leicestershire Action for Mental Health Project: Works across Leicester, Leicestershire, and 
Rutland. Provides independent mental health advocacy for people who are seeking to be, or 
who are already, involved with mental health services. There is also a specialised service for 

262



26

carers of people with mental illnesses.  http://www.lampadvocacy.co.uk/   

The Carers Centre – Leicestershire & Rutland: Advocacy and support for carers across 
Leicestershire & Rutland http://claspthecarerscentre.org.uk/  

Once, We Were Soldiers: Provides support for former serving members of the British Armed 
Forces including those with mental health needs.  https://owwsoldiers.co.uk/  

Living without Abuse: Domestic abuse charity providing support to men and women 
experiencing domestic abuse across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
https://www.lwa.org.uk/index.htm 

Domestic Violence - There are a range of services available for those who experience domestic 
abuse and their perpetrators. Many are provided on an LLR basis by UAVA who offer support 
for any male or female over 13 years. This includes:  

 A professional support line

 Confidential Helpline 8am to 8pm Monday to Saturday

 Independent Domestic Violence Advisors providing short term, intensive support and 
advocacy which focuses on risk and managing risks.

 Independent Sexual Violence  service  for those 13+ who has experience rape or sexual 
assault

 Outreach – providing emotional and practical support and counselling, and group 
work 

In addition, Freedom programmes and recovery support including for children under 13 who 
have experienced or witnessed domestic violence are provided in Rutland and there is access 
to perpetrator programmes in LLR.

6. Unmet needs/Gaps

6.1. IAPT

There is a lack of qualified staff completing training programmes, particularly Psychological 
Wellbeing Practitioners, meaning the service carries staff vacancies’, and as a result long 
waiting lists.

263

http://www.lampadvocacy.co.uk/
http://claspthecarerscentre.org.uk/
https://owwsoldiers.co.uk/
https://www.lwa.org.uk/index.htm


27

6.2. Community Mental Health Teams

Caseloads within Community Mental Health Teams are an issue and this increases the 
pressure on pathways and systems.

6.3. Acute beds

Whilst the number of available beds across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland compares 
closely with the national average, there is a capacity issue related to the length of stay of 
patients. As a result of these capacity issues there are a number of people that are placed out 
of area. This is an area of concern as the Government has set an ambition for local areas to 
eliminate inappropriate out-of-area placements by 2020/21.

6.4. Dual Diagnosis (substance misuse and mental health)

There are high numbers of substance misusers in treatment services who also have mental 
health problems, putting demand and expectation on the substance misuse treatment 
service.

A large number of adults who access mental health social work teams also have alcohol 
and/or drug problems in addition to their mental health problems.

6.5. Liaison Psychiatry

Current capacity pressures in liaison psychiatry services impacts adversely on other service 
provision. 

6.6. Support for deaf/hearing impaired people

Communication barriers impact of deaf people being able to access the support they need. 
Service users have identified a number of issues with current service provision for people who 
ae deaf or who have hearing impairment. These include a gap in appropriate talking therapies 
for deaf people with mental health problems, and/or lack of resources and isolation for deaf 
people impacting on their mental health. There is a lack of social workers who are able to 
communicate using British Sign Language, staff in a range of services not trained in Deaf 
Awareness. 

7. Recommendations

7.1. Wider Determinants of Mental Health, prevention of mental ill health

 Encourage GPs/primary care and the health and care services more generally to be aware 
of wider determinants that often contribute to poor wellbeing/mental health (e.g. 

264



28

financial problems/debt, unemployment, and work and relationship problems), and use 
social prescribing approaches

 Consider targeted interventions to tackle other potential causes of poor mental health 
e.g. loneliness, social isolation

 Encourage and support our population to engage in activities known to protect mental 
health and wellbeing e.g. Five Ways to Wellbeing

7.2. Services

 CCGs/primary care to increase the numbers of people with common mental disorder who 
are detected and treated using IAPT services

 Capitalise on the growing understanding of the links between poor mental health and 
wellbeing and physical health, thereby Increase uptake of IAPT services.

 Develop a joint programme of work across primary and secondary care to tackle the poor 
health outcomes in people with serious mental illness

 Provide targeted support for patients with mental illness to address poor lifestyle factors 
including smoking, substance and alcohol abuse and inactivity

 Ensure that at  least 60% of people with first episode psychosis starting treatment with a 
NICE-recommended package of care with a specialist early intervention in psychosis (EIP) 
service within two weeks of referral (as recommended in The Five Year Forward View For 
Mental Health)

 Take action to understand (including better data) and to address rising levels of self-harm 
– especially among young females

 Ensure that groups at high risk of mental ill health have their needs properly understood 
and addressed (e.g. as part of procurement processes). This includes socio-economically 
deprived individuals and groups e.g. offenders, people with disabilities, BME, LGBT

 Specifically address the psychological support and intervention needs of deaf people and 
the needs of individuals whose first language is not English  

 Mental Health recovery services should incorporate more involvement of people with 
lived experience in design and delivery of recovery services. Increase opportunities for 
peer support, and self-care

265



29

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

APMS Adult Psychiatry Morbidity Survey

BME Black and Minority Ethnic Groups

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CMHT Community Mental Health Team

CMD Common Mental Disorders

ELR CCG East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group

ESA Employment Support Allowance

GAD Generalised Anxiety Disorder

IAPT Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LGBT+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender or Others

LLR Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland

LLR SAPG Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Suicide Audit and Prevention Group

LPT Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust

LSOA Lower Super Output Area

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

OCD Obsessive Compulsive Disorder

PAVE Pro-Active Vulnerability Engagement

PHE Public Health England

PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

QOF Quality Outcomes Framework

STP Sustainability and Transformation Plan

UHL University Hospitals Leicester

266



30

REFERENCES

1 Public Health England. Common Mental Health Disorders (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-

group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders
2 Public Health England. Learning Disability Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities 
3 King, M., Semlyen, J., See Tai, S., Killaspy, H., Osborn, D., Popelyul, D., et al. (2008) Mental disorders, suicide, and 

deliberate self harm in lesbian, gay and bisexual people: a systematic review. At: 

https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-244X-8-70 
4 Department of Health, No Health Without Mental Health: A cross-government mental health outcomes strategy for 

people of all ages (2011). At 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_124058 
5 Barker M, Richards C, Jones R, Bowes-Catton H, Plowman T, Yockney J, Morgan, M. (2012). The Bisexuality Report: 

Bisexual inclusion in LGBT equality and diversity. At https://bisexualresearch.files.wordpress.com/2011/08/the-

bisexualityreport.pdf 
6 Stonewall. (2008) Prescription for Change: Lesbian and bisexual women’s health check. At  

www.stonewall.org.uk/documents/prescription_for_change.pdf 
7 Nodin, N., Peel, E., Tyler, A., and Rivers, I. (2015) RaRE study, Risk and Resilience Explored. At 

http://www.uktrans.info/attachments/article/400/RARE_Research_Report_PACE_2015.pdf    
8 Ellis, S. J., Bailey, L., & McNeil, J. (2015). Tran’s people's experiences of mental health and gender identity services: A 

UK study. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health, 19(1), 4-20 cited in British Psychological Society. Mental Health and 

LGBT People: Call for Evidence at www.bps.org.uk/system/files/consultationpapers/responses/BPS-response-Mental-

Health-and-LGBT-People-Approved.pdf 
9 Office for National Statistics (2017). Sexual Identity, UK:2016. Experimental Official Statistics on sexual identity in the 

UK in 2016 by region, sex, age, marital status, ethnicity and National Statistics Socio-economic Classification. At 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2016 
10 Kirkbride JB, Errazuriz A, Croudace TJ et al (2012). Systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of schizophrenia 

and other psychoses in England. 
11 NICE. Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance. NICE guidelines (CG192). 

London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014 (cited 2015 Jun 8). Available from: 

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192 
12 NHS Health Education England, The Young Minds Trust (2018) “Addressing Adversity” Available at: 

https://youngminds.org.uk/media/2142/ym-addressing-adversity-book-web.pdf 
13 Holt-Lunstad, J., Birmingham, W., & Jones, B.Q. (2008). Is There Something Unique about Marriage? The Relative 

Impact of Marital Status, Relationship Quality, and Network Social Support on Ambulatory Blood Pressure and Mental 

Health. Annals of Behavioural Medicine, 35, 239–244.
14 Chevalier A, Feinstein L (2006). Sheepskin or prozac: The causal effect of education on mental health. Discussion 

paper. London: Centre for Research on the Wider Benefits of Learning. 
15 World Health Organisation, Calouste Gulbekian Foundation. (2014) Social determinants of mental health.

267

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities
https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-244X-8-70
http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_124058
https://bisexualresearch.files.wordpress.com/2011/08/the-bisexualityreport.pdf
https://bisexualresearch.files.wordpress.com/2011/08/the-bisexualityreport.pdf
http://www.stonewall.org.uk/documents/prescription_for_change.pdf
http://www.uktrans.info/attachments/article/400/RARE_Research_Report_PACE_2015.pdf
http://www.bps.org.uk/system/files/consultationpapers/responses/BPS-response-Mental-Health-and-LGBT-People-Approved.pdf
http://www.bps.org.uk/system/files/consultationpapers/responses/BPS-response-Mental-Health-and-LGBT-People-Approved.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2016
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192
https://youngminds.org.uk/media/2142/ym-addressing-adversity-book-web.pdf


31

16 Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O et al (2005) Lifetime prevalence and the age of onset distributions of DSM-IV 

disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. Archives of Psychiatry.
17 Children’s Society. (2008). The Good Childhood Inquiry: health research evidence. London: Children’s Society.
18 Better Mental Health for All: A Public Health Approach to Mental Health Improvement (2016). London: Faculty of 

Public Health and Mental Health Foundation.
19 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework 
20 The National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness Annual Report 2016: 

England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales October 2016. University of Manchester.  
21 Public Health England. Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNA. (2018) At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-

group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna
22 Carrà G, Johnson S. Variations in rates of comorbid substance use in psychosis between mental health settings and 

geographical areas in the UK. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2009;44:429-47.
23 McManus S, Bebbington P, Jenkins R, Brugha T. (2016). Mental health and wellbeing in England: Adult psychiatric 

morbidity survey 2014. Leeds: NHS digital.
24 Public Health England. Wider Determinants of Health (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-

determinants 
25 Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health. Guidance for Commissioning Public Mental Health Services. (2015) At 

https://www.jcpmh.info/wp-content/uploads/jcpmh-publicmentalhealth-guide.pdf 
26 HM Chief Inspector of Prisons for England and Wales Annual Report 2015-16 (2016).
27 Home Office. Public Health England. (2016) Rebalancing Act. Revolving Doors Agency. At http://www.revolving-

doors.org.uk/file/2049/download?token=4WZPsE8I 
28 Ministry of Justice (2017) MOJ Safety in Custody Statistics. Deaths in prison custody 1978 to 2016: Table 1.1
29 Ministry of Justice (2017) MOJ Safety in Custody Statistics.Self-harm and assaults to December 2016: Table 3
30 Public Health England. (2017) Health and Justice Annual Review 2016/17. At

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642924/PHE_An

nual_Report_1617V2.pdf 
31 Ministry of Justice. Offender Management Statistics Quarterly (2018). At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/676248/prison-population-data-

tool-31-december-2017.xlsx
32 Stuart H. (2003) Violence and mental illness: an overview. World Psychiatry. 2(2):121-4. At

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1525086/ 
33 Violent and non-violent crime against adults with severe mental illness H. Khalifeh, S. Johnson, L. M. Howard, R. 

Borschmann, D. Osborn, K. Dean, C. Hart, J. Hogg and P. Moran  British Journal of Psychology 

https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/BJP-2014-147843.pdf
34 Mind for better mental health (2017) How to cope when supporting someone else factsheet. At

 https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/helping-someone-else/carers-friends-family-coping-support/your-

268

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://www.jcpmh.info/wp-content/uploads/jcpmh-publicmentalhealth-guide.pdf
http://www.revolving-doors.org.uk/file/2049/download?token=4WZPsE8I
http://www.revolving-doors.org.uk/file/2049/download?token=4WZPsE8I
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642924/PHE_Annual_Report_1617V2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642924/PHE_Annual_Report_1617V2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/676248/prison-population-data-tool-31-december-2017.xlsx
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/676248/prison-population-data-tool-31-december-2017.xlsx
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1525086/
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/BJP-2014-147843.pdf
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/helping-someone-else/carers-friends-family-coping-support/your-mental-health/#.WvwE5aQvyM8


32

mental-health/#.WvwE5aQvyM8 
35 AGE UK (2015) Loneliness at Local and Neighbourhood Level. At https://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-

professionals/Research/Age_UK_loneliness_risk_index_summary-(July2015).pdf?dtrk=true 
36 Official Statistics. Community Life Survey 2016/17 (2017). At 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/community-life-survey-2016-17 
37 Public Health England. Crisis Care Profile (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/crisis-care
38 NHS Digital. Psychological Therapies: Annual report on the use of IAPT services in England, further analyses on 2016-

17 (2018) CSV download. 
39 Public Health England. Better Mental Health: JSNA Tooklit (2017). At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-mental-health-jsna-toolkit/6-working-age-adults 
40 Public Health England. Suicide Prevention Profile. 2018. At  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/suicide 
41 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE),Self-harm: longer term management - Evidence Update 

April 2013 at: http://www.evidence.nhs.uk/topic/self-harm 
42 NHS Digital (2018) Mental Health Act Statistics, Annual Figures 2016/17. Data Tables: Table 1d.
43 NHS Digital (2018) Mental Health Act Statistics, Annual Figures 2016/17. Data Tables: Table 5.
44 Brown S, Kim M, Mitchell C et al (2010) Twenty-five year mortality of a community cohort with schizophrenia. BJPsych, 

196, 116-121
45 Public Health England. Severe Mental Illness Profile. 2018. At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/severe-mental-illness 
46 National Institute for Clinical Excellence. (2014) Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and 

service guidance.  At www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192 
47 Public Health England. Mental Health in pregnancy, the postnatal period and babies and toddlers (2017) Report for 

Leicestershire local authority. At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/perinatal-mental-

health/data#page/13/gid/1938132960/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000017/iid/92351/age/179/sex/2 
48 Singh S (2014). Mental Health and Work: United Kingdom Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 

development. At: https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/employment/mental-health-and-work-united-

kingdom_9789264204997-en#page5 
49 Centre for Mental Health. (2010) The Economic and Social Costs of Mental Health Problems in 2009/10, London.
50 Faculty of Public Health (2018) The Cost of Poor Mental Health. At https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-campaigns/special-

interest-groups/special-interest-groups-list/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-

all/the-economic-case/the-costs-of-poor-mental-health/
51 NHS England (2018) Mental Health Five Year Forward View Dashboard. At 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/mental-health-five-year-forward-view-dashboard/ 
52 Chang Chin-Kuo et al (2011) Life Expectancy at Birth for People with Serious Mental Illness and Other Major Disorders 

from a Secondary Mental Health Care Case Register in London. At 

269

https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/helping-someone-else/carers-friends-family-coping-support/your-mental-health/#.WvwE5aQvyM8
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-professionals/Research/Age_UK_loneliness_risk_index_summary-(July2015).pdf?dtrk=true
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-professionals/Research/Age_UK_loneliness_risk_index_summary-(July2015).pdf?dtrk=true
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/community-life-survey-2016-17
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/crisis-care
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/crisis-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/better-mental-health-jsna-toolkit/6-working-age-adults
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/suicide
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/suicide
http://www.evidence.nhs.uk/topic/self-harm
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/severe-mental-illness
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/severe-mental-illness
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/perinatal-mental-health/data#page/13/gid/1938132960/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000017/iid/92351/age/179/sex/2
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/perinatal-mental-health/data#page/13/gid/1938132960/pat/6/par/E12000004/ati/102/are/E06000017/iid/92351/age/179/sex/2
https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/employment/mental-health-and-work-united-kingdom_9789264204997-en#page5
https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/employment/mental-health-and-work-united-kingdom_9789264204997-en#page5
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/mental-health-five-year-forward-view-dashboard/


33

http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0019590 
53 Nordentoft Merete (2013) Excess Mortality, Causes of Death and Life Expectancy in 270,770 Patients with Recent 

Onset of Mental Disorders in Denmark, Finland and Sweden. At 

http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0055176
54 Faculty of Public Health (2018) Better mental health for all: The economic case. At: https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-

campaigns/special-interest-groups/special-interest-groups-list/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-

mental-health-for-all/the-economic-case/
55 The Kings Fund (2016) Bringing together physical and mental health. A new frontier for integrated care. At 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/Bringing-together-Kings-Fund-March-

2016_1.pdf
56 Department of Health (2014). Care Act statutory guidance. At: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-

act-statutory-guidance 
57 Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Social Care (2017). Leciester, Leicestershire & Rutland health and 

social care. Sustainability and Transformation Plan (draft) At 

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665 
58 NHS England (2018) Improving physical healthcare for people living with severe mental illness (SMI) in primary care: 

Guidance for CCGs. At: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/improving-physical-healthcare-for-people-living-with-

severe-mental-illness-smi-in-primary-care-guidance-for-ccgs/
59 HM Government (2017) Preventing suicide in England: Third progress report of the cross-government outcomes 

strategy to save lives. At 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_

report_2016_A.pdf

270

http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0019590
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-campaigns/special-interest-groups/special-interest-groups-list/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-all/the-economic-case/
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-campaigns/special-interest-groups/special-interest-groups-list/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-all/the-economic-case/
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-campaigns/special-interest-groups/special-interest-groups-list/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-all/the-economic-case/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/Bringing-together-Kings-Fund-March-2016_1.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/Bringing-together-Kings-Fund-March-2016_1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/improving-physical-healthcare-for-people-living-with-severe-mental-illness-smi-in-primary-care-guidance-for-ccgs/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/improving-physical-healthcare-for-people-living-with-severe-mental-illness-smi-in-primary-care-guidance-for-ccgs/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_report_2016_A.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_report_2016_A.pdf


APPENDIX E

RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

PHYSICAL HEALTH OF ADULTS
DECEMBER 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

271



i

Public Health Intelligence

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executive’s Department
Leicestershire County Council
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RA

Tel 0116 305 4266
Email phi@leics.gov.uk 

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating 
to the data contained within the report.

272

mailto:phi@leics.gov.uk


ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to 
meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health 
and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA has reviewed the population health needs for the people of Rutland in respective of a 
person’s adult years. This has involved looking at the determinants of health, the health needs of 
this population in Rutland, the impact of services, the policy and guidance supporting adults, and 
the existing services and the breadth of services that are currently provided. The unmet needs and 
recommendations that have arisen from this needs assessment are discussed.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

273



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 Nationally the prevalence of smoking has been declining each year since 2012. In Rutland 
between 2012 and 2015, the smoking prevalence has remained significantly better (lower) 
than the national percentage. In 2016, 12.3% of adults in Rutland were current smokers, 
similar to the England proportion of 15.5%.

 In Rutland, in 2016/17, 60.2% of adults were classified as overweight or obese, this is similar 
to the England value of 61.3%. The percentage has increased (declined) from 2015/16, where 
the prevalence of excess weight in adults in Rutland was 58.0%.

 Rutland has a significantly higher prevalence of coronary heart disease, stroke and diabetes 
as recorded on GP registers in 2016/17. It must be noted that a higher prevalence could 
point to effective case finding in the practice population, allowing GPs and members of the 
primary care team to monitor, manage and treat the condition to reduce morbidity and 
mortality.

 In 2017/18, the proportion of the eligible population who received an NHS Health Check in 
Rutland was 7.0%, this is significantly worse than the England value of 8.3%. The percentage 
of the eligible population in Rutland who were invited for and who received an NHS Health 
Check was 32.4%. This is significantly worse than the England value of 47.9%.

 Over the last six years, cervical cancer screening coverage in Rutland has witnessed a 
significant downward trend, despite continuing to perform significantly better (higher) than 
nationally. This downward trend is witnessed nationally.

 In 2014-16, a higher proportion of deaths from cardiovascular disease are considered 
preventable in Rutland compared to nationally.

 Since 2010-12, the directly-standardised rate of oral cancer registrations in Rutland has 
remained similar to the national rate but has increased year on year, with 11 registrations in 
2010-12 to 25 registrations in 2013-15.  

 In 2016/17 in Rutland the directly standardised rate of alcohol-related admissions to hospital 
was 444 per 100,000 population (177 adults). This is significantly better than the England 
value of 636 per 100,000 population.

 The rate of killed and seriously injured casualties on Rutland's roads has increased year on 
year from 2011-13 to 2014-16. In 2014-16, 80 people were killed or seriously injured on 
Rutland’s roads.  This equates to a rate of 70.1 per 100,000 population and is significantly 

274



iv

worse than the England rate of 39.7 per 100,000 population.

 In Rutland, the rate of total prescribed Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) 
excluding injections has remained significantly higher than the national rate between 2014 
and 2016. Throughout this time, the rate of GP prescribed LARC excluding injections has 
remained significantly higher than the national rate whereas the rate of Sexual and 
Reproductive Health (SRH) Services prescribed LARC excluding injections has remained 
significantly lower than the national rate. This is likely to be due to the rural nature of the 
county.

275



v

CONTENTS
1. Who is at risk? ...........................................................................................................................................1

2. Level of need in Rutland ............................................................................................................................3

3. How does this impact? ............................................................................................................................14

4. Policy and Guidance.................................................................................................................................14

5. Current Services.......................................................................................................................................14

6. Unmet needs/Gaps..................................................................................................................................14

7. Recommendations...................................................................................................................................14

List of Tables
No table of figures entries found.

List of Figures
No table of figures entries found.

276



1

1. Who is at risk?

There are many factors that influence the health of a person during their adult years. 

1.1. Smoking

Smoking is the major cause of preventable ill health and premature mortality in England. 
Tobacco use is a major risk factor for many diseases, such as lung cancer, chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart disease. It is also associated with cancers in other 
organs, including lip, mouth, throat, bladder, kidney, stomach, liver and cervix.

Nationally the prevalence of smoking has been declining each year since 2012. In Rutland 
between 2012 and 2015, the smoking prevalence has remained significantly better (lower) 
than the national percentage. In 2016, 12.3% of adults in Rutland were current smokers, 
similar to the England proportion of 15.5%.1 For the same time period, 26.2% of adults aged 
18-64 years who were in routine and manual occupations were current smokers. This is similar 
to the England proportion of 26.5%.1

Deaths attributable to smoking have been following a downward trend both nationally and 
locally. In Rutland the trend in mortality attributable to smoking has remained significantly 
better (lower) than national over time. The latest data shows during 2014-16, 151 deaths in 
Rutland were attributable to smoking. This is a directly standardised rate of 184.4 per 
100,000. This rate is better than the England value of 272.0 per 100,000 population.1

1.1.1. Smoking cessation

Since 2012, Rutland has had a higher (but not significantly) percentage of ex-smokers 
compared to nationally. The latest data shows over a third (36.3%) of adults in Rutland were 
ex-smokers in 2016. The England proportion was 26.2%.1

In 2016/17, there were 118 people in Rutland using stop smoking services and 69 people quit 
smoking as a result of attending stop smoking services. This equates to a rate of 1,747 per 
100,000 smokers aged 16 and above which falls in the second lowest quintile nationally. 1 In 
the same time period, of those who self-reported quitting smoking at 4 weeks, 39 had 
confirmation by carbon monoxide validation. This equates to a rate of 988 per 100,000 
smokers aged 16 and above which falls in the lowest quintile nationally.1

1.2. Diet

In 2016/17, 62.0% of Rutland’s adult population met the recommended consumption of five 
portions of fruit and vegetables a day, this is better than the England proportion of 57.4%. 

277



2

This percentage has declined from 63.8% in the previous year.7 Please note, this data is taken 
from the Active Lives survey and is self-reported so is likely to be susceptible to response bias. 

Fast food is often high in calories from sugars and fat, and is therefore an unhealthy food 
choice which if eaten often is likely to lead to obesity. In 2014, there were 24 fast food outlets 
in Rutland – a density of 63.1 fast food outlets per 100,000 population. This is a statistically 
similar density to the England value of 88.2.2

1.3. Physical Activity

The percentage of physically active adults in Rutland has remained similar to the national 
average for the last two years. In 2016/17, 68.1% of adults in Rutland reported that they were 
physically active, that is, they engaged in at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity physical 
activity per week. This is similar to the England value of 66.0%.7 However, in 2016/17, a fifth 
(20.5%) of adults in Rutland reported that they were physically inactive, that is, they engaged 
in less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week. This is similar to the England value of 
22.2%.7 

1.4. Physical disabilities

In Rutland, in 2012, the estimated prevalence of physical disability was 12.0% of the 
population aged 16-64; this is in the highest quintile nationally. The England proportion rests 
at 11.1%.3

In 2017, 1,761 residents aged 16-64 years in Rutland were predicted to have a moderate 
physical disability and 540 residents aged 16-64 years in Rutland were predicted to have a 
serious physical disability.4 Please note, these estimates are based on prevalence data for 
moderate and serious disability by age and sex included in the Health Survey for England, 
2001.

1.5. Learning disabilities

A learning disability is a reduced intellectual ability and difficulty with everyday activities, for 
example household tasks, socialising or managing money, which affects someone for their 
whole life. The prevalence of people with learning disabilities as identified on GP registers in 
Rutland has remained significantly lower than the national average for the past three financial 
years. The latest data shows in 2016/17, 135 people in Rutland had been identified on GP 
registers as having a learning disability. This is a prevalence of 0.4% and is significantly lower 
than the England of 0.5%.5

The proportion of eligible adults with a learning disability having a GP health check in Rutland 

278



3

has remained similar to the national average over the past three years. In 2016/17, 82 eligible 
adults with a learning disability in Rutland had a GP health check (60.7%). This is statistically 
similar to the England proportion of 48.9%.5

In Rutland, in 2015/16, there were 15 supported working age adults with learning disability in 
paid employment (16.7%). This is better than the England value of 5.8%.5 This percentage has 
increased from 2014/15, where there 10 (12.5%) supported working age adults with learning 
disability in paid employment.

The trend in adults with learning disabilities living in stable and appropriate accommodation 
has shown no significant change over time. The latest data shows in 2016/17, there were 44 
adults with learning disabilities living in stable and appropriate accommodation (71.0%). This 
is similar to the England proportion of 76.2%.7

1.6. Workplace health

The Labour Force Survey examined sickness absence in the previous working week. Since 
2009-11, the percentage of Rutland employees who had at least one day off work due to 
sickness in the previous week has remained similar to the national average. The latest data 
shows during 2014-16, 2.6% of Rutland employees had at least one day off work due to 
sickness in the previous week.  This is similar to the England proportion of 2.1%.7

The same survey above examines the percentage of working days lost due to sickness 
absence. Since 2009-11, the percentage of working days lost work due to sickness absence in 
the previous week has remained similar to the national average.  The latest data from 2014-
16 shows 1.3% working days were lost due to sickness absence. This is similar to the England 
value of 1.2%.7

1.7. Pollution

1.7.1. Air pollution

Poor air quality impacts on a population’s health and has a significant contributory role in all-
cause mortality, particularly in cardiopulmonary mortality. In 2016, the fraction of adult all-
cause mortality attributable to anthropogenic particulate air pollution (measured as fine 
particulate matter, PM2.5) in Rutland was 5.4%. The England value was 5.3%.7 

Fine particulate matter, also known as PM2.5, has a metric of micrograms per cubic metre 
(µg/m3). In 2016, Rutland had an average of 9.6µg/m3 of fine particulate matter.  The England 
value was 9.3 µg/m3.2

279



4

1.7.2. Noise pollution

Exposure to noise can cause a variety of physical and mental health effects. Noise can cause 
annoyance and stress, as well as sleep disturbance.  Long-term exposure to high levels of 
noise can cause heart attacks. The following indicators examines noise measured in A-
weighted decibels (dB(A)).

In 2011, 0.8% of the Rutland population was exposed to road, rail and air transport noise of 
65dB(A) or more, during the daytime. The England value was 5.2%.7 Meanwhile, for the same 
time period, 1.2% of the Rutland population was exposed to road, rail and air transport noise 
of 65dB(A) or more, during the night-time. The England value was 8.0%. This increase in the 
percentage of the population exposed to noise in the night-time is likely to reflect the 
presence of the A1.7

2. Level of need in Rutland

In 2016, Rutland’s population of 20-64 year olds was estimated to be a total of 20,630 (9,741 
females and 10,889 males).  This is projected to decrease by 11.8% to around 18,200 by 2039.6

Further information regarding Rutland’s population can be seen in the JSNA Population 
chapter here: Link to be inserted once available.

2.1. Obesity

Obesity can lead to several serious health conditions, such as type 2 diabetes, coronary heart 
disease, some types of cancer and stroke. In addition to these physical long term conditions, 
obesity can also affect a person’s quality of life and cause psychological problems. In Rutland, 
in 2016/17, 60.2% of adults were classified as overweight or obese, this is similar to the 
England value of 61.3%. Performance has declined from 2015/16, where the prevalence of 
excess weight in adults in Rutland was 58.0%.7

2.2. Long term conditions

Many long term conditions are avoidable. Preventable mortality is defined as “deaths are 
considered preventable if, in the light of the understanding of the determinants of health at 
the time of death, all or most deaths from the underlying cause (subject to age limits if 
appropriate) could potentially be avoided by public health interventions in the broadest 
sense.” 7 

2.2.1. GP Recorded Prevalence

The Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) is a voluntary annual reward and incentive 

280



5

programme for all GP surgeries in England, detailing practice achievement results. The QOF 
examines the prevalence of certain long term conditions by dividing the counts of patients 
recorded on the disease register by the practice population, excluding exceptions. It must be 
noted that a higher prevalence could point to effective case finding in the practice population, 
allowing GPs and members of the primary care team to monitor, manage and treat the 
condition to reduce morbidity and mortality.

2.2.1.1. Coronary Heart Disease

The most common cause of premature death in England is coronary heart disease. Proper 
management of the condition can reduce the risk of death from the disease, and improve the 
quality of life of the patients.

The prevalence of coronary heart disease as recorded on GP registers in Rutland has remained 
stable for the past five years at 3.7%. The prevalence has remained significantly higher than 
the national prevalence throughout this time.8

2.2.1.2. Stroke

Another common cause of premature death in England is following a stroke. Proper 
management of the condition can reduce the risk of death from the disease, and improve the 
quality of life of the patients.

The percentage of patients with stroke or transient ischaemic attack (TIA), as recorded on 
practice disease registers (proportion of total list size) has remained significantly higher than 
the national percentage for the last five years. The latest data shows the prevalence of stroke 
or transient ischaemic attack as recorded on GP registers is 2.3% for Rutland in 2016/17. This 
is significantly higher than the England proportion of 1.7%.8 Please note, the significantly 
higher prevalence of stroke or transient ischaemic attack (TIA) in Rutland over time is likely to 
be affected by Rutland’s proportionally older population compared to nationally. In 2016, 
almost a quarter (24.2%) of Rutland’s population was over 65 years compared to less than a 
fifth (17.9%) nationally.7

2.2.1.3. Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is a common endocrine disease. It is widely known that if you are 
overweight or obese, you are at greater risk of developing type II diabetes. People with 
diabetes can lead healthy lives with correct management and monitoring of their condition 
by primary care staff. 

The trend of the percentage of patients aged 17 years and over with diabetes mellitus, as 

281



6

recorded on practice disease registers has been significantly increasing both nationally and 
locally. In 2016/17, 1,980 adults in Rutland had been identified on GP disease registers as 
having diabetes. This is a prevalence of 6.6%. The value for England was 6.7%.8

2.2.2. NHS Health Checks

In order to help prevent heart disease, stroke, diabetes and kidney disease, everyone 
between the ages of 40 and 74 who has not been diagnosed with any of those conditions is 
invited to have an NHS Health Check every five years. The Health Check assesses the risk of a 
person developing any of these diseases and identifies interventions to be put in place to 
reduce their risk. 

Work is currently being completed across Rutland to improve the overall quality and data 
accuracy of Health Checks. This includes implementing a clinical template onto the GP 
practice system to support consistent high quality Health Check delivery and utilising data 
software to audit the quality and eligibility of Health Checks.  

The latest data shows in 2017/18, the proportion of the eligible population invited for an NHS 
Health Check in Rutland was 21.6%, this is better than the England value of 17.3%. The 
proportion of the eligible population who received an NHS Health Check in Rutland was 7.0%, 
this is significantly worse than the England value of 8.3%. The percentage of the eligible 
population in Rutland who were invited for and who received an NHS Health Check was 
32.4%. This is significantly worse than the England value of 47.9%.8

2.2.3. Cancer Screening

In Rutland, the breast cancer screening coverage has remained significantly higher than the 
national average since 2010. 80.1% of eligible women were screened adequately for breast 
cancer within the previous 3 years on 31 March 2017. This is better than the England 
proportion of 75.4%.

Over the last six years, cervical cancer screening coverage in Rutland has witnessed a 
significant downward trend, despite continuing to perform significantly better (higher) than 
nationally. This downward trend is witnessed nationally. The latest data shows in Rutland, 
77.9% of eligible women were screened adequately for cervical cancer within the previous 3 
and a half to 5 and a half years on 31 March 2017. This is better than the England proportion 
of 72.0%.7

Over the last three years, Rutland has continued to have a significantly higher bowel cancer 
screening coverage compared to nationally. Throughout this time, the coverage has increased 
each year both nationally and locally. The latest data shows in Rutland, 67.6% of eligible 

282



7

people were screened adequately for bowel cancer within the previous 2 and a half years on 
31 March 2017. This is better than the England proportion of 58.8%.7

2.2.4. Mortality

2.2.4.1. Cardiovascular Disease

One of the major causes of death in under 75s in England is cardiovascular disease. Whilst 
huge improvements have been made in recent decades regarding treatment and lifestyle, 
action needs to continue to reduce the rate of premature mortality from cardiovascular 
disease.

As age increases, the percentage of deaths from circulatory disease also increases at a 
national level. However in Rutland in 2016, the highest percentage of deaths from circulatory 
disease (30.1%) was seen in the 75-84 age group whereas in the 85 year and over age group, 
less than a quarter of deaths (23.8%) were due to circulatory disease in Rutland.  In both these 
age groups, over time there has been a significant decline in the percentage of deaths due to 
circulatory disease in Rutland. Across all age bands, the percentage of deaths from circulatory 
disease was similar to the national average.9

Mortality rates from cardiovascular disease in those aged under 75 years have remained 
significantly better than the national average for the last three time periods. In 2014-16, 
deaths from all cardiovascular disease for those aged less than 75 was 53.5 per 100,000 
population aged less than 75 years, significantly better than the national rate of 73.5 per 
100,000 population aged less than 75 years.7 In the same time period, deaths from 
cardiovascular disease considered preventable for those aged less than 75 was 37.4 per 
100,000 population aged less than 75 years, similar to the national rate of 46.7 per 100,000 
population aged less than 75 years.7 This infers a higher proportion of deaths from 
cardiovascular disease are considered preventable in Rutland compared to nationally.

2.2.4.2. Respiratory disease

Another of the major causes of death in under 75s in England is respiratory disease. Smoking 
is a major contributor to incidences of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease – one the 
biggest respiratory diseases.

In 2016 in Rutland, 11.8% of all deaths were due to respiratory disease, this was similar to the 
national percentage of 13.7%. As age increases, the percentage of deaths from respiratory 
disease also increases at both a national and local level. In 2016 in Rutland, in the under 65s 
age group, the data for deaths from respiratory disease was suppressed. This percentage is 
8.6% in the 65-74 age group, 11.7% in 75-84 age group and 13.9% in the 85 years and over 

283



8

age group. All age bands perform similar to the national percentage.9

Mortality rates from respiratory disease in those aged under 75 years have remained 
significantly better than the national average since 2001-03 (when the indicators were first 
recorded). However, the mortality rate from respiratory disease considered preventable for 
the latest two years (2013-15 and 2014-16) are similar to the national average. In 2014-16, 
respiratory deaths for those aged less than 75 were 19.9 per 100,000 population aged less 
than 75 years and those considered preventable were 12.5 per 100,000 population aged less 
than 75 years.7 The difference in rate infers that over half of the cases of deaths from 
respiratory disease are considered preventable in Rutland and in England.

2.2.4.3. Cancer

In Rutland, just under a third (30.1%) of all deaths were due to cancer in 2016. This is similar 
to the national percentage of 28.0%. In 2016 in the 65-74 age group in Rutland, just over half 
of deaths (53.4%) were due to cancer, this is similar to the national picture (44.1%). This is 
followed by 35.0% of deaths in those aged 75-84 years and a third (33.3%) of deaths in the 
under 65s in the county. Deaths from cancer in the 85 years and over age group accounted 
for 17.2% of all deaths in 2016.9 Of these deaths with an underlying cause of cancer, 50.0% 
occurred in the person’s usual place of residence. This is similar to the England value of 
44.4%.9

Mortality rates from cancer in those aged under 75 years have remained significantly better 
than the national average since 2001-03 (when the indicators were first recorded). Nationally, 
the rate of all premature deaths from cancer has decreased year on year since 2001-03, 
whereas the rate in Rutland has decreased year on year since 2011-13.7 

The under 75 mortality rate from cancers considered preventable in Rutland have increased 
to perform similar to the national average for the two most recent time periods (2013-15 and 
2014-16). In 2014-16, the rate of cancer deaths for those aged less than 75 was 100.0 per 
100,000 population aged less than 75 years and the rate for those cancer deaths considered 
preventable was 65.2 per 100,000 population aged less than 75 years.7 The difference in rate 
infers over half the cases of deaths from cancer are considered preventable in Rutland, this 
percentage is smaller nationally.

2.2.4.3.1. Lung cancer

The third most common cancer in England is lung cancer and is difficult to treat with a low 
five-year survival rate compared to other cancers. It accounts for 1 in 5 cancer deaths. There 
is a link between smoking and lung cancer and therefore, lung cancer registration is a measure 
of smoking-related harm.

284



9

Since 2001-03, the age-standardised rate of lung cancer registrations has remained 
significantly lower (better) than the national average. During 2013-15, the age-standardised 
rate of lung cancer registrations was 39.7 per 100,000 population (52 registrations). This is 
significantly better than the England average value of 78.9 per 100,000 population.1

Since 2001-03, the mortality rate from lung cancer has remained significantly lower (better) 
than the national average. The latest data shows during 2014-16, the age-standardised rate 
of deaths from lung cancer was 32.6 per 100,000 population (44 deaths). This is significantly 
better than the England average value of 57.7 per 100,000 population.7

2.2.4.3.2. Oral cancer

There is a link between smoking and oral cancer and therefore, oral cancer registration is a 
measure of smoking-related harm.

Since 2010-12, the directly-standardised rate of oral cancer registrations in Rutland has 
remained similar to the national rate but has increased year on year, with 11 registrations in 
2010-12 to 25 registrations in 2013-15.  The latest data shows during 2013-15, the directly-
standardised rate of oral cancer registrations was 19.7 per 100,000 population (25 
registrations). This is similar to the England average value of 14.5 per 100,000 population.1

2.2.4.3.3. Breast cancer

Over the last four time periods, the directly standardised rate of mortality from breast cancer 
in females less than 75 years of age has remained similar to the national average. The latest 
data shows during 2014-16, the directly standardised rate of mortality from breast cancer in 
females less than 75 years of age was 31.7 per 100,000 population (18 deaths). This is 
statistically similar to the England average value of 20.9 per 100,000 population.7

2.2.4.3.4. Bowel cancer

Bowel cancer is the second most common cause of deaths from cancer in the UK, and the 
third most common cancer. Since 2011-13, the age-standardised rate of mortality from 
colorectal cancer in persons less than 75 years of age in Rutland has remained similar to the 
national rate. The latest data shows during 2014-16, the directly standardised rate of 
mortality from colorectal cancer in people less than 75 years of age was 14.0 per 100,000 
population (16 deaths). This is statistically similar to the England average value of 11.9 per 
100,000 population.10

2.2.4.3.5 Human papillomavirus 

285



10

The human papillomavirus, or HPV, is a type of virus that infects the skin and the cells lining 
body cavities. Infection with human papillomavirus (HPV) increases the risk of some cancers. 
Most people will be infected with HPV at some point in their lives and it usually doesn’t cause 
any problems at all. In 2016/17, 88.8% of 12-13 year old females in Rutland received the 
primary dose of the human papillomavirus vaccination, this is similar to the benchmark of 
between 80%-90%. Rutland has shown an increase when compared to the previous year, 
where the coverage was 86.6%. The national coverage increased slightly compared to the 
previous year at 87.0%. In 2016/17, 75.8% of 13-14 year old females in Rutland received the 
second dose of the human papillomavirus vaccination, this is significantly worse than the 
benchmark of 80%. Rutland has shown a decrease since the previous year where the coverage 
was 85.2%. This was similar to the benchmark (80%-90%).7

2.3 Substance misuse – alcohol

2.3.1 Hospital admissions

Excess drinking of alcohol can lead to a wide range of conditions which can lead to hospital 
admission or death. 

The directly standardised rate of alcohol-related admissions in England has remained 
reasonably stable since 2008/09. In Rutland, the rate performed similar to the national 
average in 2014/15, but since then, the rate has declined year on year. In 2016/17 in Rutland 
the directly standardised rate of alcohol-related admissions to hospital was 444 per 100,000 
population (177 adults). This is significantly better than the England value of 636 per 100,000 
population.11

Both nationally and locally, the rate of alcohol-related admissions to hospital is higher in 
males than females. For the same time period, the rate for males in Rutland was 527 per 
100,000 population (106 males) which is better than the England rate of 818 per 100,000 
population. Meanwhile, the rate for females in Rutland was 375 per 100,000 population (71 
females) which is statistically similar to the England rate of 473 per 100,000 population.11

Rates of hospital admissions are available for different conditions. In 2016/17 in Rutland the 
directly standardised rate of admissions to hospital for alcohol-related unintentional injuries 
was 115.6 per 100,000 population (45 people). This is statistically similar to the England 
average value of 141.6 per 100,000 population.11 For the same time period, the rate of 
admissions to hospital for alcohol-related cardiovascular disease conditions was 793 per 
100,000 population (357 people). This is better than the England value of 1,127 per 100,000 

286



11

population.11 Meanwhile, the rate of admissions to hospital for alcohol-related cancer was 
40.22 per 100,000 population (50 people). This is statistically similar to the England value of 
38.0s per 100,000 population.11

Alcohol misuse is common amongst people with a mental health problem. In 2016/17 in 
Rutland the directly standardised rate of admissions to hospital for mental and behavioural 
disorders due to the use of alcohol was 149 per 100,000 population (61 people). This is better 
than the England value of 367 per 100,000 population.11

2.3.2 Mortality

For 2014-16, the alcohol-specific mortality rate for Rutland was 9.8 per 100,000, this is similar 
to the England average value of 10.4 per 100,000 population.11 This represents 12 deaths in 
the county due to alcohol between2014-16.

In 2015, the estimated directly standardised rate of years lost due to alcohol-related 
conditions was 553 per 100,000 population (197 years lost for people dying from alcohol-
related conditions before reaching 75 years old). This is statistically similar to the England rate 
of 622 per 100,000 population.11

Liver disease is influenced by alcohol consumption and obesity, as such, it is considered to be 
preventable. For 2014-16, the mortality rate form chronic liver disease for Rutland was 11.8 
per 100,000 (15 people). This is similar to the England average value of 12.0 per 100,000 
population.11

2.3.3 Other impacts

One in seven deaths in reported road traffic accidents in Great Britain are due to drivers being 
over the drink drive limit. 

During 2013-15, there were 7 alcohol related road traffic accidents in Rutland. This equates 
to a crude rate of 26.6 per 1,000 population, and is similar to the England rate of 26.0 per 
1,000 population.11

Alcohol misuse can cause conditions with disabilities. In 2016, 10 claimants of benefits in 
Rutland were claiming incapacity benefit, severe disablement allowance or employment and 
support allowance with alcohol misuse as the main disabling condition. This equates to a rate 
of 46.1 per 100,000 population. This is better than the England rate of 132.8 per 100,000 
population.11

287



12

2.3.4 Treatment

The number of people in specialist alcohol misuse services has decline in Rutland from 30 to 
21 to 9 people between 2014/15 to 2016/17. The latest data shows no-one was waiting more 
than three weeks for alcohol treatment.11 

In 2016/17, the percentage of individuals in concurrent contact with mental health services 
and substance misuse services for alcohol misuse in Leicestershire and Rutland was 21.5%, 
similar to the England average of 22.7%.12 

In 2011/12 in Rutland the rate of parents of children aged 0-15 in alcohol treatment was 106.1 
per 100,000 population (7 parents). This is statistically similar to the England value of 147.2 
per 100,000 population.13 

2.4 Substance misuse - drugs

2.4.2 Mortality

The rate of adult drug-related deaths for Rutland is not available due to the numbers being 
too small to calculate a rate.

2.4.3 Treatment

Structured drug treatment services are vital in order to support people with drug misuse 
problems. Structured treatment can improve the person’s life and that of their family, as well 
as prevent the spread of blood-borne viruses.

For the past three years in Leicestershire and Rutland, the percentage of those entering 
substance misuse treatment services and also receiving mental health support services for a 
reason other than their substance misuse has remained significantly lower than the national 
average. The latest data shows in Leicestershire and Rutland, 15.2% of those entering 
substance misuse treatment services were also receiving mental health support services for 
a reason other than their substance misuse. This is significantly lower than England’s average 
of 24.3%.16 

In 2014/15, in Rutland, the rate of adults in treatment as specialist drug misuse services was 
0.7 per 1,000 population (20 adults). This is significantly lower than the England value of 4.8 
per 1,000 population.14 

In 2016, the number of adult opiate users in Leicestershire and Rutland combined that 
successfully completed drug treatment was 77 (6.6%). This is similar to the England value of 

288



13

6.7%.7 The estimated proportion of opiate users not in treatment for Rutland in 2014/15 was 
78.2% (43 users). This is statistically similar to the England value of 40.8%.15

Whereas in 2016, the number of adult non-opiate users in Leicestershire and Rutland 
combined that successfully completed drug treatment was 81 (35.7%). This is similar to the 
England average value of 37.1%.7 In 2016/17, 1 person in Rutland waited more than three 
weeks for drug treatment.16 

People who inject drugs are at risk of contracting hepatitis C. Approximately a third of people 
with hepatitis C will go on to develop liver cirrhosis, and will have a greater risk of developing 
liver cancer. In 2016/17, 85.7% of eligible people who inject drugs and were in drug misuse 
treatment received a hepatitis C test (6 people). This proportion is similar to the England value 
of 83.3%.17

Substance misuse treatment services also provide hepatitis B testing and vaccination, 
however the data is suppressed for Rutland.

2.5 Avoidable Injury

2.5.2 Road traffic accidents

Road traffic accidents are preventable and can be minimised via improved education, 
awareness, road infrastructure and vehicle safety. The rate of killed and seriously injured 
casualties on Rutland's roads has increased year on year from 2011-13 to 2014-16. In 2011-
13, 58 people were killed or seriously injured on Rutland’s roads and the rate performed was 
similar to the national average. During 2014-16, this rose to 80 people killed or seriously 
injured on Rutland’s roads.  This equates to a rate of 70.1 per 100,000 population and is 
significantly worse than the England rate of 39.7 per 100,000 population.7

Drink driving is responsible for approximately one in seven deaths in road traffic accidents in 
Great Britain. Between 2010-12 and 2013-15, the rate of road traffic accidents in Rutland 
which were alcohol related has declined each year. This equates to a decrease from 18 road 
traffic accidents in 2010-12 to 7 road traffic accidents in 2013-15. The latest data shows a local 
rate of 26.6 per 1,000 road traffic accidents. This is similar to the England rate of 26.0 per 
1,000 road traffic accidents.7

289



14

2.6 Sexual health

2.6.2 HIV

HIV testing coverage is defined as the proportion of ‘eligible new attendees’ in whom a HIV 
test was accepted. In 2017, Rutland performed significantly better than the national average 
for being tested for HIV at a specialist sexual health clinic. The last time Rutland performed 
significantly better than England was 2010. In 2017, 80.6% of patients attending a specialist 
sexual health service accepted a test for HIV compared to 65.7% nationally. When splitting by 
sex, males (86.8%) and females (74.3%) in Rutland perform significantly better than England 
in 2017, compared to 2016 when both sexes performed similar to the national average. 
Meanwhile, HIV testing coverage in Rutland for men who have sex with men (MSM) has 
remained similar to England for the last nine years. In 2017, the coverage for men who have 
sex with men was 89.5% which was similar to the England value of 89.0%.18

HIV testing uptake is defined as the number of ‘eligible new episodes’ where a HIV test was 
accepted as a proportion of those where a HIV test was offered. An individual can have 
multiple episodes of HIV test offer and uptake within a year. For the past three years Rutland 
has performed significantly better than the national percentage of HIV testing uptake. The 
uptake has increased year on year since 2014, with the gap between Rutland and England 
widening year on year. In 2017, HIV testing uptake in Rutland is 91.0% compared to 
77.0% nationally. HIV testing uptake in women in Rutland has remained significantly higher 
than the national average for the past six years.  In men, a significant increasing trend has 
been seen with the uptake performing significantly worse in 2014 to now performing 
significantly better than national uptake in 2017. This followed a year on year increase 
throughout this time. In Rutland, HIV testing uptake in MSM has consistently performed 
similar to the national percentage since recording began in 2009.18

The count of new HIV diagnosis are very low in Rutland, in 2016 there were 2 new cases of 
HIV in the county. The new HIV diagnosis rate for Rutland in 2016 is 6.1 per 100,000 
population aged 15 and over, this is similar to the national rate of 10.3 per 100,000 population 
aged 15.18

The prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection in Rutland has remained significantly better (lower) 
that the benchmark target of benchmarked target of 2 – 5 per 1,000 population aged 15-59 
years since 2011. In 2016, the rate was 0.67 per 1,000 population aged 15-59 years which 
equated to 14 people living with HIV in Rutland.18

2.6.3 STIs

The all new STI diagnosis rate indicator examines the rate of new STI diagnoses among people 

290



15

accessing sexual health services who are residents in Rutland. The rate of all new STI 
diagnoses in Rutland has remained significantly lower than national average since 2012 and 
throughout this time, has shown no significant change in trend. The latest data shows the all 
new STI diagnosis rate for people in Rutland in 2017 was 483 per 100,000 population (188 
people). This is significantly lower than the England rate of 743 per 100,000 population.18

Nationally, the latest data in 2017 shows genital warts followed by gonorrhoea is the most 
prevalent STI, however in Rutland, genital warts in the most prevalent, followed by an 
identical rate of herpes and gonorrhoea.18

2.6.3.1 Genital warts

The rate of first episode of genital warts diagnoses in Rutland has shown a significant decline 
over the past five years. Nationally a declining trend has also been seen. Locally the rate has 
decreased from 92.4 per 100,000 population in 2016 to 64.2 per 100,000 population in 2017, 
this equates to a decrease from 36 to 25 diagnoses. The latest data in 2017 is the first year 
Rutland has performed significantly better than the national rate, previously Rutland have 
always performed similar to England.18

2.6.3.2 Genital herpes

The rate of genital herpes diagnoses in Rutland has shown no significant change over the past 
five years, whereas nationally the rate has declined. The count of genital herpes diagnoses in 
the county are low and range from 9 to 16 diagnoses per year between 2012 to 2017.  
Between 2016 and 2017, the counts of diagnoses decreased from 16 in 2016 to 9 in 2017 and 
the rate has improved from performing similar to the national average to significantly better 
than the national average throughout this time. The latest rate for Rutland in 2017 is 23.1 per 
100,000 population, this is less than half the rate of the national rate of 56.7 per 100,000 
population.18 

2.6.3.3 Gonorrhoea

The rate of gonorrhoea diagnoses in Rutland has remained significantly better than the 
national average since records began in 2012. The local trend has shown no significant change 
throughout this time. The latest data shows in 2017, 23.1 per 100,000 population in Rutland 
had a diagnosis of gonorrhoea, this is significantly better than national rate of 78.8 per 
100,000 population. This equates to 9 diagnoses in the county.18

2.6.3.4 Syphilis

Nationally the rate of syphilis diagnoses has increased year on year from 5.5 per 100,000 

291



16

population in 2012 to 12.5 per 100,000 population in 2017. Throughout this time, Rutland has 
seen no significant change in rate and consistently performed similar to the national average. 
The latest data shows in 2017, the rate of 7.7 per 100,000 population were diagnosed with 
syphilis in Rutland compared to a rate of 20.5 per 100,000 population in 2016, this is a 
decrease of 5 diagnoses from 8 to 3.18

2.6.3.5 Chlamydia

Rutland continues to perform significantly worse than the national percentage for proportion 
of the population aged 15-24 screened for chlamydia. The percentage has decreased from 
18.6% in 2016 to 16.2% in 2017. This equates a decrease of 109 screenings in Rutland in 2017. 
Nationally the percentage screened has also decreased from 21.0% in 2016 and 19.3% in 
2017. Rutland continues to perform significantly worse than the benchmark for chlamydia 
detection rate in 2017, but has seen a year on year increase since 2015.In Rutland the 
chlamydia detection rate increased (got better) from a rate of 1,461 per 100,000 population 
aged 15-24 years in 2016 to 1,614 per 100,000 population aged 15-24 years in 2017. It is worth 
noting that the national rate of 1,882 per 100,000 is now rated significantly worse against the 
benchmark goal of 1,900 per 100,000 population aged 15-24 years.18

In 2017, the chlamydia diagnostic rate in Rutland is 141 per 100,000 population aged 25+, this 
is similar to the national rate of 189 per 100,000 population aged 25+. For the past three years 
Rutland performed lower than the national rate.18

2.6.4 Pelvic inflammatory disease

Pelvic inflammatory disease (PID) is the infection and inflammation of the upper female 
genital tract. It can lead to ectopic pregnancy, tubal factor infertility and chronic pelvic pain. 
Sexually transmitted infections are considered to be major causes of PID and ectopic 
pregnancy. PID can usually be treated in primary care, but may occasionally require a hospital 
admission.

The PID admissions in Rutland has remained similar to the national average since recording in 
2008/09. Nationally, the rate has remained stable throughout this time. The latest data shows 
in 2016/17 there were 7 admissions to hospital for pelvic inflammatory disease. This is a rate 
of 124.6 per 100,000 female population aged 15-44 years, similar to the England rate of 242.4 
per 100,000 population.18

2.6.5 LARC prescriptions

Long acting reversible methods of contraception (LARC) such as contraceptive injections, 
implants, the intra-uterine system and intra-uterine device, are more effective than methods 

292



17

that rely on daily compliance such as the pill and are more cost effective than condoms.

Contraceptive injections have been included from the following analysis as:

1. injections rely on timely repeat visits/administration within the year and consequently 
have a higher failure rate than the other LARC methods

2. injections are easily given thus do not require the resources and training that other 
LARC methods require

3. injections are outside local authority contracts

In Rutland, the rate of total prescribed LARC excluding injections has remained significantly 
higher than the national rate between 2014 and 2016. Throughout this time, the rate has 
declined year on year, a pattern which is reflected nationally. The latest data shows the total 
prescribed LARC excluding injections was a rate of 61.0 per 1,000 female population aged 15-
44 years in 2016. This is significantly higher than the England rate of 46.4 per 1,000 
population.18 

The prescribing rates of LARC excluding injections in Rutland is significantly higher than 
nationally in GPs and significantly lower than nationally in Sexual and Reproductive Health 
(SRH) services. This is likely to be due to the rural nature of the county.

In Rutland, the rate of GP prescribed LARC excluding injections has remained significantly 
higher than the national rate since 2011. Over the last 6 years, locally the rate has increased 
significantly, whereas the national rate has remained stable. The latest data shows the GP 
prescribed LARC excluding injections was a rate of 52.8 per 1,000 female population aged 15-
44 years in 2016. This is significantly higher and almost double the England rate of 46.4 per 
1,000 population

In Rutland, the rate of SRH services prescribed LARC excluding injections has remained 
significantly lower than the national rate between 2014 and 2016. Throughout this time, the 
rate has increased year on year, whereas the national rate has stabilised. The latest data 
shows the SRH prescribed LARC excluding injections was a rate of 8.2 per 1,000 female 
population aged 15-44 years in 2016. This is significantly lower and less than half the England 
rate of 17.6 per 1,000 population.

2.6.6 Abortions

Since 2012, Rutland has continued to have a significantly lower rate of abortions than 
England. Despite witnessing no significant change in trend since 2012, the total abortion rate 
has increased year on year in Rutland over the last four years. The rate of abortions for all 

293



18

ages in Rutland has increased from 9.0 per 1,000 females in 2013 to 11.1 per 1,000 females 
in 2016, this equates to an increase of 10 abortions.18

For women aged under 25 years 15.0% of the abortions in Rutland in 2016 were after a birth, 
this is similar to the England value of 27.4%.18

Meanwhile, the rate of abortions for women over the age of 25 years was 11.9 per 1,000 
population. This is statistically similar to the England rate of 14.5 per 1,000 population.18

Since 2014, the counts of over 25s abortion rate has increased in Rutland from 27 in 2014 to 
43 in 2016. Throughout this time, the national rate has increased, although in Rutland the 
rate has increased faster than nationally. In 2016, the over 25s abortion rate in Rutland was 
11.9 per 1,000 females, statistically similar than the national rate of 14.5 per 1,000 females.18

Since 2013, Rutland has remained statistically similar to England for the percentage of 
abortions under 10 weeks. The count of under 10 weeks abortions has steadily increased in 
Rutland from 34 abortions in 2012 to 46 abortions in 2016, peaking at 52 abortions in 2015. 
Between 2015 and 2016, the percentage of abortions under 10 weeks decreased from 85.2% 
to 73.0%. In 2016, 91.3% of these abortions under 10 weeks were medical. This is a higher 
proportion than the England value of 71.3%.18

2.7 Mortality

2.7.2 Premature mortality

Premature mortality is a high-level indicator of the overall health of a population, being 
correlated with many other measures of population health. Premature mortality examines all 
deaths under the age of 75.  Both nationally and locally the rate for persons has decreased 
year on year from 2010-12. During 2014-16 there were 277 deaths in Rutland for persons 
under 75 years of age. This equates to a directly standardised rate of 238 per 100,000 
population and is better than the England rate of 334 per 100,000 population.19 

The rate of premature mortality in Rutland has remained significantly lower than the national 
average over time for both males and females. The rate was 212 per 100,000 for females and 
263 for males. These rates are better than the England rates of 266 per 100,000 and 405 per 
100,000 respectively.19

2.7.3 Preventable mortality

Preventable deaths are those that are considered that could have been potentially avoided 
by public health interventions. The rate of mortality from causes considered preventable in 
Rutland has remained significantly lower than the national average over time, for both 

294



19

persons and males. In the last two time periods for females (in 2013-15 and 2014-16), the 
rate of mortality from causes considered preventable has increased to perform similar to the 
national rate.  This reflects an increase in 15 and 17 deaths compared to the counts of deaths 
in Rutland in 2012-14.7

2.7.4 Mortality from communicable diseases

Communicable, or infectious diseases, are caused by microorganisms such as bacteria, 
viruses, parasites and fungi that can be spread, directly or indirectly, from one person to 
another. Some are transmitted through bites from insects while others are caused by 
ingesting contaminated food or water. Examples of communicable diseases include influenza, 
tuberculosis (TB) and cholera.

Since 2001-03, the directly standardised rate for mortality from communicable diseases has 
continued to perform similar to the national average (when data is available). The latest data 
shows in 2014-16, in Rutland, there were 10 deaths from certain infectious and parasitic 
diseases, including influenza. This equates to a directly standardised rate of 7.0 per 100,000 
population and is statistically similar to the England rate of 10.7 per 100,000 population.7

3 How does this impact?

Overall, Rutland performs better than the national average on a number of health and 
wellbeing measures. However there are still a number of health challenges facing the Rutland 
population. For instance, 60.2% of adults in Rutland were overweight or obese in 2016/17. 
Obesity increases the likelihood of developing heart disease, type 2 diabetes, some types of 
cancer (such as breast and bowel cancers) and stroke as well as a number of other illnesses. 
Therefore, it is likely that there will be an increase in numbers of people with these medical 
conditions in the next few years as a consequence of adults being obese. Linked to this, 20% 
of adults in Rutland are inactive. If this remains the case this is likely to contribute to levels of 
obesity and chronic medical conditions in the future.

Workplace health is of great importance to the physical health of working age adults. Days 
lost to sickness in Rutland are similar to the national average. Each year in the UK, 140 billion 
days are lost to sickness, costing businesses an estimated £29 billion.20 Supporting working 
age adults in maintaining and improving their physical and mental wellbeing is important for 
business productivity and profitability as well as the obvious benefits to individuals’ wellbeing.

Many long term conditions are avoidable. Many cases of heart disease, lung disease, type 2 
diabetes and many other medical conditions can be avoided, or the impact of them reduced 
through prevention and early intervention, through local authority and NHS and other health 
services and support.

295



20

4 Policy and Guidance

Upper tier authorities have a statutory duty for Public Health under the Health & Social Care 
Act 2012 which requires that they take steps to improve the health and wellbeing of their 
population.

The primary statutory duties of adult social care in respect of vulnerable adults are set out in 
The Care Act 2014.  People have a right to a free needs assessment from the council regardless 
of finances or presenting needs are too low to qualify for help. All councils must use new 
national eligibility criteria to decide whether someone can get help from them. 

If people get social care support, they now have a right to request a personal budget. This is 
a summary of how much the council thinks qualifying peoples care should cost enabling 
people to commission their own care. If the needs assessment shows they don’t qualify for 
help from the council, they must advise people how the care system works and how to pay 
for their own care. Carers too have a legal right to a care assessment from the local council 
and can also get support services if they qualify for them.

If people find it difficult to communicate or to understand the issues being discussed, the 
council must provide an advocate to help when discussing their care. They will represent 
people’s interests if they don’t have a friend or relative who can help. 

The council is the lead agency in preventing abuse to vulnerable adults and now has powers 
under section 42 of the Care Act to cause enquiry.  This means the council can ask providers 
of health and domiciliary services to investigate concerns and present the findings to the 
council for scrutiny.  The council works closely with the Police and other statutory agencies at 
these times always keeping in contact with and supporting the alleged victim.

The Rutland Sexual Health Strategy 2016-2019 (available at: 
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Sexual%20Health%20Strategy%20v0.3.pdf) 
outlines the vision and strategic approach for sexual health services. 

The aim of the strategy is for the Rutland population to have informed, positive relationships 
that result in reduced rates of unplanned pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections (STIs) 
including HIV. There is a regular review of sexual health data to inform planning. The priorities 
in the strategy are:

 A co-ordinated approach to sexual health commissioning and partnership work

 Develop a highly skilled local workforce

 Coordinated, consistent sexual health communications

296

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/arranging-care/care-needs-assessment/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/paying-for-care/financial-assessment/personal-budgets-and-direct-payments/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/care/helping-a-loved-one/getting-a-carers-assessment/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/pdf/Rutland%20Sexual%20Health%20Strategy%20v0.3.pdf


21

 Support schools to deliver high quality relationships and sex education (RSE)

 Increase links between sexual violence prevention and sexual health services. 

 Increase access to sexual health improvement and HIV prevention to at-risk groups

 Strengthen the role of primary care (GPs)

 Utilise new technologies to support sexual health delivery

5 Current Services

Rutland Community Wellbeing (RCWS) Service offers information, support and signposting to 
help residents of Rutland with a range of health and wellbeing needs. This includes self-help 
tools, and onwards referral to a variety of community support, through an interactive 
website, (https://www.rutlandwellbeing.org.uk/) single telephone number and drop-in 
services. They provide a wide range of assistance to help people to overcome some of the 
factors which may have a negative impact on their health and wellbeing, such as poor housing 
and debt. This includes help to access specialist military/veteran support.  RCWS also provides 
support to help people around a range of lifestyle issues such as help to stop smoking, basic 
dietary and weight management advice and referral. 

Turning Point provide integrated drug and alcohol services across Rutland with a number of 
different treatment pathways and support interventions. These include: Recovery worker 
support and peer mentors, substitute prescribing, community detox, harm reduction and 
needle exchange. Support is provided one to one and in groups and the service works closely 
with housing, employment and wellbeing services to ensure other needs are met. The service 
can advise and support friends and families of people with drug and alcohol problems and has 
a dedicated young peoples’ service. http://wellbeing.turning-
point.co.uk/leicestershire/hubs/rutland-hub/ GP’s also provide brief interventions for 
alcohol.

Rutland County Council’s Adult Social Care (ASC) has a number of specialist teams covering all 
aspects of adult social care from both a commissioning perspective and a provider 
perspective.

The teams are divided into three service areas- Prevention and Safeguarding, Long-term 
Support, and Hospital Discharge, with a range of professional and support staff; including 
social workers, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, nurses and care managers.   Teams 
work on an outcome-focused ethos with the person at the centre involving and empowering 

297

https://www.rutlandwellbeing.org.uk/
http://wellbeing.turning-point.co.uk/leicestershire/hubs/rutland-hub/
http://wellbeing.turning-point.co.uk/leicestershire/hubs/rutland-hub/


22

them to take decisions over their own lives at often very difficult times for them and their 
families. The Hospital Discharge team is an integrated team and includes health professionals 
as well as local authority employed staff. They work closely with other agencies, GPs and third 
sector partners to ensure the best possible outcome for the person and their families.

The provider services within ASC include supported living projects for people with learning 
disabilities and day centres for people with learning disabilities.  They ensure people live as 
independently as possible while getting the appropriate support that enables them to do so.  
Such services also give much needed respite to dedicated carers and families.

The reablement team specialise in helping people back to being independent such as after a 
hospital stay.  The REACH team will support and encourage people in their own homes 
facilitating them to stay there as long as possible. 

Rutland Council commissions services to assist it with its statutory duties.  This includes 
advocacy services for example for those who lack capacity and equipment services for 
occupational therapy and home adaptions.  Further services include assistive technology and 
specialist long term care. 

In addition Rutland Council also commission external providers to deliver services to prevent 
physical ill health and promote independence of those with existing conditions.   These 
include residential and home care, community based support services including day services 
and sensory impairment support.

Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport (LRS) is a partnership of the local authorities of 
Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland (LLR) working together with amongst others, schools, 
National Governing Bodies of Sport, clubs, coaches and volunteers. The Physical Activity Sport 
Strategy 2017-2121 sets out areas for action:

 Getting more people to take part in physical activity and sport.

 Improving our citizen's physical and mental well-being.

 Developing our paid and unpaid workforce.

 Creating a strong voice for physical activity and sport.

 Building a physical activity and sport environment that is safe, fair and customer 
focused

https://www.activerutland.org.uk/ provides details of all the activity and sports available 
within the county, including those aimed at specific groups such as older people, young 

298

https://www.activerutland.org.uk/


23

people with disabilities and those recovering from injury. 

The Exercise Referral Scheme is a programme for adults (16+) with health conditions, who 
could benefit from increased physical activity. It is a partnership between Public Health, 
Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport, local authorities, GP practices and other healthcare 
professionals. It offers an opportunity for these individuals to exercise in a safe, supervised 
and structured environment.

Rutland operates a Passport to Leisure scheme which allows specific groups the opportunity 
to access daytime services and facilities at the local sports centre at a discounted rate, this 
includes low income families, students and individuals with a disability or impairment. 

Workplace Health - Active Rutland are starting development of a programme of support to 
several employers around workplace wellbeing and assisting people to improve their health 
whilst at work.

Rutland County Council in collaboration with Leicestershire County and Leicester City 
Councils, has recently recommissioned a new model of integrated sexual health service (ISHS) 
to provide open access services across the three local authority areas. The new service will 
commence 1 January 2019. In addition GP’s provide a range of contraception services and 
pharmacies provide free Emergency Hormonal Contraception for under 25’s

The NHS Health Check is a health check-up for adults in England aged 40-74. It's designed to 
spot early signs of stroke, kidney disease, heart disease, type2 diabetes or dementia.  People 
aged 40-74 without a pre-existing condition, are invited for a free NHS Health Check every 
five years. A review of the NHS Health Check strategy is in progress to improve the proportion 
of those receiving and taking up the offer of an NHS Health check, improve quality of the 
Health Check and increase targeting to improve identification of those at highest risk of 
developing cardiovascular disease.

6 Unmet needs/Gaps

Coronary heart disease, strokes and transient ischaemic attacks are seen at higher levels than 
the national average. This may be due to a higher proportion of Rutland’s population being 
over 65 years old compared with the national average, or increased detection and diagnosis 
of these conditions in primary care compared with other areas. However the prevalence of 
these conditions are higher in Rutland, and so a heightened focus on prevention of these 
illnesses through weight management, physical activity, reductions in smoking and alcohol 
are likely to be beneficial.

As outlined in section 5 above, there are a wide range of health, care and wellbeing services 

299

http://www.activerutland.org.uk/passport-to-leisure-scheme
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/leisure-and-culture/active-in-rutland/catmose-sports-centre/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/nhs-health-check/what-is-an-nhs-health-check-new
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/nhs-health-check/what-happens-at-an-nhs-health-check-new


24

in Rutland. However, better coordination and improved communication across services would 
help to ensure needs are met, more equitable access to services, with service users 
experiencing services seamlessly and thereby improving quality.

7 Recommendations

 Use a tiered approach to prevention and addressing people’s needs: ensuring 
universal services promote wellbeing and self-help, but with targeting of resources 
that is proportionate to need.

 Services across Rutland should focus on improving coordination and communication 
to ensure needs are met, a high quality experience, and  ease of access for Rutland 
residents.

 Focus on getting adults active and keeping them active for longer to prevent or reduce 
the impact of a range of health conditions particularly focused on those aged 45-65 
years to improve healthy life expectancy.

 Undertake a military health needs assessment to include serving personnel and their 
families that are resident in Rutland, including a detailed section on sexual health to 
ensure the needs of this population are appropriately met.

 Develop workplace wellbeing programmes with active engagement with local 
employers.

 Review Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) provision in Rutland to maintain 
and improve LARC prescribing rates as there has been a year on year reduction. 

 Work with NHS England, commissioners of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination 
programme, to improve uptake of second dose. Although this vaccination is given in 
the teenage years, a lower than expected update of the second dose will have an 
impact on the health of the future adult population.

300



25

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

BME Black and Minority Ethnic Group

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LSOA Lower Super Output Area

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

PHE Public Health England

301



26

REFERENCES

1 Public Health England. Local Tobacco Control Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
2 Public Health England. Wider Determinants of Health (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-

determinants 
3 Public Health England. Disease and Risk Factor Prevalence (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/prevalence 
4 Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information. Moderate or serious physical disability: People aged 18-64 predicted 

to have a moderate or serious physical disability, by age, projected to 2035. (2018). At: http://www.pansi.org.uk/ 
5 Public Health England. Learning Disability Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities 
6 Office for National Statistics, Revised population estimates for England and Wales: mid-2012 to mid-2016 (2018). At 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/an

nualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016 
7 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework (2018). At  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework 
8 Public Health England. NHS Health Check Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-

detailed 
9 Public Health England. End of Life Care Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life 
10 Public Health England. Longer Lives Profiles (2018). At https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/ 
11 Public Health England. Local Alcohol Profiles for England. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-

alcohol-profiles 
12 Public Health England. Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNA Dashboard. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/mh-

jsna 
13 Public Health England. Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Dashboard. (2018). At 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/cypmh 
14 Public Health England. Suicide Prevention Profile. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/suicide 
15 Public Health England. Longer Lives Dashboard. (2018). At https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/
16 Public Health England. Co-occurring substance misuse and mental health issues. (2018). At 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/drugsandmentalhealth#gid/1938132792/ati/102 
17 Public Health England. Liver Disease Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/liver-disease 
18 Public Health England. Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles (2018). At 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/SEXUALHEALTH 
19 Public Health England. Health Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 
20 British Heart Foundation. Health at Work. At https://www.bhf.org.uk/how-you-can-help/health-at-work/why-

choose-us 
21 Leicester-Shire and Rutland Sport. Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2017-2021 (2017). At 

https://www.lrsport.org/uploads/lrs-physical-activity-sport-strategy-2017-2021.pdf 

302

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/wider-determinants
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/prevalence
http://www.pansi.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2012tomid2016
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life
https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/mh-jsna#gid/1938132923/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/mh-jsna#gid/1938132923/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/cypmh#gid/1938133095/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/suicide
https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/drugsandmentalhealth#gid/1938132792/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/liver-disease
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/SEXUALHEALTH
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles
https://www.bhf.org.uk/how-you-can-help/health-at-work/why-choose-us
https://www.bhf.org.uk/how-you-can-help/health-at-work/why-choose-us
https://www.lrsport.org/uploads/lrs-physical-activity-sport-strategy-2017-2021.pdf


APPENDIX F

RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

RUTLAND’S POPULATION

DECEMBER 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

303



i

Public Health Intelligence

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executive’s Department
Leicestershire County Council
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RA

Tel 0116 305 4266
Email phi@leics.gov.uk 

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission relating 
to the data contained within the report.

304

mailto:phi@leics.gov.uk


ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take to 
meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on health 
and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

305



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 The total population of Rutland in 2016 was 38,606, an increase of 1.5% since 2015. Rutland 
has an older population with almost a quarter (23.9%) of the population aged over 65 years, 
compared to 17.9% nationally. 

 In 2016, the two wards with the highest populations are: Uppingham (4,788) and Oakham 
North West (4,461). 

 The population of Rutland is projected to grow by 7.9% to 41,100 by 2039, an increase of 
3,000 from 2016. Nationally the population is expected to increase at a faster rate, by 14.6% 
between 2016 and 2039. 

 Nationally the over 65 population is predicted to grow by 53.5% and the over 85 population 
by 127.1% between 2016 and 2039. In Rutland, the over 65 population is predicted to grow 
at a slower rate than nationally, by 48.9% from 9,400 to 14,000 people, whilst the 85 and 
over population is predicted to grow at a faster rate than nationally, by 142.9%.

 The rise in Rutland’s population is projected to gradually increase due to inward migration. 
The number of deaths is expected to exceed the number of births resulting in a fall in natural 
change. 

 The military population accounts for 5.8% of the resident population in the county. In April 
2018, there were 2,250 Armed Forces personnel and entitled civilian personnel registered in 
Rutland. 1,620 individuals (72%) were in the Armed Forces and 630 individuals (28%) were 
entitled civilian personnel. Entitled civilian personnel include service personnel family 
dependents and Ministry of Defence (MOD) employed civilian personnel who are entitled to 
care at MOD primary care facilities.

 HMP Stocken in Stretton, in the north east of the county, is a category C closed training 
prison.  In December 2017, there were 841 male prisoners aged 21 and over in its care.  

 The vast majority of Rutland residents live in less deprived areas; over 26,000 people (67.5% 
of the total population) live in neighbourhoods in the three least deprived deciles nationally. 
Just over 2,034 people live in neighbourhoods in the 50% most deprived deciles nationally, 
out of a total population of over 38,000. 

 Overall, when looked at in the national context, Rutland is not particularly deprived. At a 
local authority level, using the overall Multiple Deprivation measure, the county is ranked 
148th out of 152 upper tier authorities in England, where 1st is the most deprived. 

o Within the Index of Multiple Deprivation, the Barriers to Housing and Services 
domain appears to show some of the most extensive deprivation on a national scale, 

306



iv

with 7 Lower Super Output Areas (areas with fairly consistent areas) in each of the 
top decile in England. This may be a result of the more rural nature of the county, 
and issues around dispersed population being able to access services, in addition to 
housing affordability.

307



v

CONTENTS

1. Introduction...............................................................................................................................................7

2. Local Context .............................................................................................................................................7

3. Population Estimates .................................................................................................................................7

4. Population Projections – 2016-39 .............................................................................................................9

5. Components of Change – Population projections ...................................................................................10

6. Births........................................................................................................................................................12

7. Deaths......................................................................................................................................................13

8. Life Expectancy ........................................................................................................................................17

9. Protected characteristics .........................................................................................................................18

10. Military population ..............................................................................................................................20

11. Prison population.................................................................................................................................21

12. 2011 Rural Urban Classification...........................................................................................................22

13. 2011 Output Area Classification ..........................................................................................................26

14. Pen Portraits ........................................................................................................................................29

15. 2015 Indices of Deprivation.................................................................................................................30

16. Employment ........................................................................................................................................35

17. Recommendations...............................................................................................................................40

List of Tables
Table 1 – Rutland population by main languages, 2011 ...................................................................19
Table 2 – HMP Stocken population by broad ethnic group, December 2017 ...................................21

List of Figures
Figure 1 – Rutland 2016 population estimate by gender and five-year age band ..............................8
Figure 4 – Rutland 2039 population projection by gender and five-year age.....................................9
Figure 5  – Rutland  2016-39 population change by five-year age band...........................................10
Figure 6 – Components of change.....................................................................................................11
Figure 7 – Rutland population by broad ethnic group, 2011 ............................................................18
Figure 8 – Rutland population by religion, 2011 ...............................................................................19
Figure 9 – Rutland population by limiting long-term illness, 2011 ...................................................20

308



vi

Figure 10 - 2011 Urban Rural Classification by LSOA ........................................................................23
Figure 11- 2016 Population estimates by 2011 Rural Urban Classification.......................................24
Figure 12- 2016 Population estimates by age by 2011 Rural Urban Classification ...........................25
Figure 13 - 2011 Output Area Classification by output area .............................................................27
Figure 14- 2016 Population estimates by 2011 Output Area Classification ......................................28
Figure 15 - ID2015 Multiple Deprivation national decile, LSOAs ......................................................30
Figure 16- 2016 population by ID2015 Multiple Deprivation national decile, LSOAs .......................31
Figure 17 - ID2015 Multiple Deprivation county rank.......................................................................32
Figure 18- ID2015 Deprivation domain national decile, LSOAs.........................................................33

309



7

1. Introduction

This chapter presents a collection of indicators, giving a comprehensive overview of the population 
of Rutland. The majority of indicators presented are from national sources so are subject to a time 
lag due to the time required for data collection, data analysis and publication. Where possible, 
comparisons have been made to national averages and local context has been included.

2. Local Context

Rutland is a sparsely populated county with two market towns. Oakham is the larger of the two with 
the highest population density and is the main service centre for Rutland. Uppingham is the smaller 
of the towns and has a more limited range of facilities and fewer employment opportunities. 
Rutland has over forty villages which range in size from small hamlets with a few houses and no 
facilities to larger villages with a school, shop, post office, GP surgery and some employment 
opportunities. The county has large areas of farmland and is dominated by Rutland Water, an 
Anglian Water reservoir located at the centre of the county.

3. Population Estimates

The Office for National statistics released 2016 population estimates on the 22th June 2017. These 
figures are released annually and are available on the ONS website1. The total population of Rutland 
in 2016 was 38,606, an increase of 1.5% since 2015. There are more males (19,744) than females 
(18,862) in Rutland. The population of males has risen by 1.8% and females by 1.1% since the 
previous year. 

In 2016, 4.6% of the population was aged 0-4 (1,766 people), 18.0% was aged 5-19 (6,859 people), 
53.4% was working age (20,320 people aged 20-64) and 23.9% was older than 65, this includes 3.3% 
of the total population that was aged 85 and over (1,249 people).  Compared to nationally, Rutland 
has a higher proportion of the population aged over 65 and 85 respectively.1    

The population pyramid below displays the 2016 population estimates by gender and five-year age 
band.

Figure 1 – Rutland 2016 population estimate by gender and five-year age band

310



8

Source: ONS, 2017

The number of children aged 0-4 has increased by 3.9%. There has been an increase of 1.5% for 
working age population (aged 20-64) and 3.2% increase in the older population (aged 65 and over) 
since 2015.1

From the population pyramid above, Rutland has a higher number of males in 0-4 and 15-44 years 
age bands, while the age bands 55 and over have higher number of females than males. The number 
of people in the 15-24 years of age band experienced a decrease for both genders since 2015. Age 
bands 5-9, 30-34 and 40-44 years of age all saw a decrease for females since 2015. The number of 
people aged 65 and over experienced an increase in both genders across the age bands (3.2%).1

The 15-19 years of age band, the 45-54 years of age bands and the 65-69 years of age band have 
the highest population across all age bands. Rutland’s ageing population has more females than 
males in the 85 plus age band (844 females compared to 457 males).1  

3.1. Further information

For more detailed population estimate data, please view the dashboard at the link below: 
https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/2016DistrictP
opulationEstimatesDashboard/2015-16PopulationEstimates 

4. Population Projections – 2016-39

The Office for National statistics released the 2014-based Subnational population projections on 

311

https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/2016DistrictPopulationEstimatesDashboard/2015-16PopulationEstimates
https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/2016DistrictPopulationEstimatesDashboard/2015-16PopulationEstimates


9

25th May 20162. The 2014-based population projections provide population figures by every year up 
to 2039. These projections provide estimates of the future population of English regions, local 
authorities and clinical commissioning groups. The projections are trend-based and demographic 
assumptions are based on levels of births, changing economic circumstances or other factors that 
might have on demographic behavior. The trends for these projections take into account 
information from the 2011 Census.

The population of Rutland is projected to grow by 7.9% to 41,100 by 2039, an increase of 3,000 from 
2016. Nationally the population is expected to increase at a faster rate than Rutland, by 14.6% 
between 2016 and 2039. In Rutland, the number of females will grow to 20,000, an increase of 8.1% 
by 2039, whilst the number of males will grow to 21,100, and increase of 7.7% by 2039. The 
population pyramid below shows the 2039 Rutland population projections by gender and five-year 
age band.2

Figure 2 – Rutland 2039 population projection by gender and five-year age

Source: ONS, 2016

The chart below shows the actual and percentage change between 2016 and 2039 for Rutland by 
five-year age band.

Figure 3  – Rutland  2016-39 population change by five-year age band

312



10

Nationally the over 65 population is predicted to grow by 53.5% and the over 85 population by 
127.1% between 2016 and 2039. In Rutland, the over 65 population is predicted to grow at a slower 
rate than nationally, by 48.9% from 9,400 to 14,000 people, whilst the 85 and over population is 
predicted to grow at a faster rate than nationally, by 142.9%. The largest change in population is the 
age band 90 years and over, an increase of 1,200. The population 45 to 49 and the 50-54 age bands 
are both projected to decrease by 17.9%. The younger population, aged 10 to 14 years and 15 to 19 
years are predicted to grow by 13.0% and 12.5% respectively.2 

5. Components of Change – Population projections

The main components of population change are births, deaths, and migration. 

Rutland’s population is projected to continue to rise gradually over the time between 2016 and 
2039. The charts show the number of deaths exceeds number of births resulting in a fall in natural 
change. Natural change is the difference between the number of deaths and the number of births 
in a population. The number of births per year is projected to remain at 300 per year by 2039. The 
number of deaths per year is projected to rise from 400 to 500 (25.0%) by 2039.2

Figure 4 – Components of change

313



11

 

5.1. Migration

Net cross-border migration is due to rise from 100 to 300 per year by 2020 and then remain at this 
level. Whilst internal migration out is due to fluctuate over the years from 2,300 per year in 2016 to 
2,100 in 2020 before settling at 2,300 per year in 2035. Internal migration is projected to rise from 
2,400 in 2016 to 2,700 in 2039 (11.1%).2

It is expected that Brexit is likely to affect migration, but to what extent, is unknown. National figures 
from the ONS on long-term international migration showed that in 2016, 117,000 EU citizens 
emigrated (up 31,000 from 2015), the highest level for six years. The exodus was most marked 
among eastern Europeans, with a fall in immigration from the EU8 countries to 48,000 (down 
25,000) and a rise in emigration to 43,000 (up 16,000).3

5.2. Impact of housing developments

The Local Plan sets out the planning policies for Rutland for the period to 2026.  It is currently being 
reviewed and updated to extend the period to 2036.  This will take into consideration the number 
of new homes needed within the county, which at October 2015 was set at c1500 (Housing Supply 
Background Paper, October 2015).  Since this, the MOD confirmed plans to dispose of St Georges 

314



12

Barracks at North Luffenham.  Rutland County Council is currently partnering with the MOD to look 
at a potential Garden Village development on this site, which would comprise of between 1500 and 
3000 additional homes and align with associated infrastructure.  

More information on the Local Plan Review and on the proposed St Georges Development can be 
found at:

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-
policy/local-plan/

https://www.stgeorgesrutland.co.uk/

5.3. Further information

For more detailed population projection data, please view the dashboard at the link below:

https://public.tableau.com/views/2014-basedPopulationProjections/2014-
BasedPopulationProjections?:embed=y&:display_count=yes:showVizHome=no#

6. Births

In 2016 there were 336 live births in Rutland; this is a decrease of 4 births compared to the previous 
year. The General Fertility Rate (GFR) examines the number of live births occurring to females aged 
11 years and over in the respective calendar year divided by female population aged 15-44 years in 
that area. Since 2014, the GFR in Rutland has remained stable and similar to the national average.4 

The Total Fertility Rate (TFR) refers to the total number of children born or likely to be born to a 
woman in her life time if she were subject to the prevailing rate of age-specific fertility in the 
population. In 2016 the TFR was 2.01 in Rutland. This means in 2016, the average number of children 
born or likely to be born to a woman in her life time in Rutland was 2.01, higher than the national 
average of 1.81.5

6.1. Births by Age and Ethnicity

Both nationally and locally, mothers aged 30-34 years have had the highest birth rate over the last 
five years. Those aged 25-29 have the second highest birth rate, followed by those aged 35-39 years. 
In Rutland since 2013, the birth rate in those aged 35-39 has still remained higher than the national 
rate.5 In 2016/17, almost a quarter (23.7%) of deliveries (which takes place anywhere other than at 
home or a non-NHS hospital) were from those aged 35 years or above, a similar percentage to the 
national average of 21.6%.4 Nationally the percentage of deliveries to women aged 35 years and 
above has increased year on year since 2014/15, however in Rutland the percentage has fluctuated. 

315

https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-plan/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-plan/
https://www.stgeorgesrutland.co.uk/
https://public.tableau.com/views/2014-basedPopulationProjections/2014-BasedPopulationProjections?:embed=y&:display_count=yes:showVizHome=no
https://public.tableau.com/views/2014-basedPopulationProjections/2014-BasedPopulationProjections?:embed=y&:display_count=yes:showVizHome=no
https://public.tableau.com/views/2014-basedPopulationProjections/2014-BasedPopulationProjections?:embed=y&:display_count=yes:showVizHome=no


13

This is likely to be due to the small numbers involved.4

Mothers of black and minority ethnic (BME) background made up 6.7% of all deliveries in Rutland 
in 2016/17, this is around quarter the national average of 23.3%.4 The 2011 Census tells us the 
percentage of the population from BME groups in Rutland is 2.9% whereas nationally the 
percentage is 14.6%.6 This infers that both locally and nationally mothers of a BME background may 
be having more children than those from a non-BME background.

6.2. Births by Health Issues

The percentage of caesarean sections in Rutland has fluctuated since 2014/15 whereas nationally 
the rate has been increasing year on year. The latest data shows in 2016/17, caesarean sections 
accounted for 28.8% of all births in Rutland; this is similar to the national average of 27.1%.4

The percentage of all live births at term with low birth weight (<2.5kg) was 2.67% in Rutland in 2016, 
similar to the national average of 2.79%.4 

Between 2014/15 and 2016/17, the rate of hospital admissions for babies under 14 days has 
fluctuated in Rutland due to small numbers, whereas the national rate has increased year on year 
throughout this time. In 2016/17 the rate of hospital admissions of babies fewer than 14 days old in 
Rutland was 64.1 per 1,000 deliveries, similar to the national rate of 71.0 per 1,000 deliveries. This 
equates to 20 hospital admissions locally.4

7. Deaths

Age-standardised mortality rates (ASMRs) are a better measure of mortality than simply looking at 
the number of deaths, as they take into account the population size and age structure. At a national 
level mortality rates have generally been decreasing. This is due to improved lifestyles and medical 
advances in the treatment and diagnosis of many illnesses and diseases. There have also been 
government initiatives to improve health through better diet and lifestyle.

Since 2004, the ASMR for all ages in Rutland has remained significantly lower than the national 
average. The latest data in 2015 shows when the ASMR is broken down into age groups, those under 
65, between 65 and 74, between 75 and 84 and above 85 years all have a similar rate to the national 
average. This is likely to be due to Rutland’s mortality rates based on relatively small populations, 
therefore rates are often subject to random fluctuations and are consequently less robust.

Compared to nationally, a smaller proportion of deaths occurred under to those aged under 65 and 
higher proportion of deaths occurred to those aged 85 and above. In 2015, one in ten (10.1%) of all 
deaths were from those aged under 65. This is significantly lower than the national percentage of 
14.8% and has decreased year on year from 13.2% in 2012.  Of all deaths in Rutland, almost half 

316



14

(46.6%) were from those aged 85 and above, this is significantly higher than the national percentage 
of 40.4%. The percentage of deaths in this age group has increased significantly over time.7

7.1. Deaths from causes considered preventable

The rate of mortality from causes considered preventable in Rutland has remained significantly 
lower than the national average over time, for both persons and males. In the last two recorded 
time periods for females (in 2013-15 and 2014-16), the rate of mortality from causes considered 
preventable has increased to similar to the national rate.  This reflects an increase of 15 and 17 
deaths compared to the counts of deaths in Rutland in 2012-14.8 

7.2. Premature Mortality

Premature mortality is a high-level indicator of the overall health of a population, being correlated 
with many other measures of population health. Premature mortality examines all deaths under the 
age of 75.  The rate of premature mortality in Rutland has remained significantly lower than the 
national average over time for both males and females. Both nationally and locally the rate for 
persons has decreased year on year from 2010-12.9

7.2.1. Deaths from Cancer

In Rutland, just under a third (30.1%) of all deaths were due to cancer in 2016. This is similar to the 
national percentage of 28.0%. In 2016 in the 65-74 age group in Rutland, just over half of deaths 
(53.4%) were due to cancer, this is similar to the national picture (44.1%). This is followed by 35.0% 
of deaths in those aged 75-84 years and a third (33.3%) of deaths in the under 65s in the county. 
Deaths from cancer in the 85 years and over age group accounted for 17.2% of all deaths in 2016.7 

Mortality rates from cancer in those aged under 75 years have remained significantly better than 
the national average since 2001-03 (when the indicators were first recorded). Nationally, the rate 
of all premature deaths from cancer has decreased year on year since 2001-03, whereas the rate in 
Rutland has decreased year on year since 2011-13.8 

The under 75 mortality rate from cancers considered preventable in Rutland has increased to 
perform similar to the national average for the two most recent time periods (2013-15 and 2014-
16). In 2014-16, the rate of cancer deaths for those aged less than 75 was 100.0 per 100,000 
population aged less than 75 years and the rate for those cancer deaths considered preventable was 
65.2 per 100,000 population aged less than 75 years. The difference in rate infers over half the cases 
of deaths from cancer are considered preventable in Rutland, this percentage is lower nationally.8

7.2.2. Deaths from Circulatory Disease

In Rutland, almost a quarter (24.5%) of all deaths were due to circulatory disease in 2016. This is 

317



15

similar to the national percentage of 25.5%. The percentage of deaths from circulatory disease in 
Rutland has significantly declined since 2004, a decline which is reflected nationally.7

As age increases, the percentage of deaths from circulatory disease also increases at a national level. 
However in Rutland in 2016, the highest percentage of deaths from circulatory disease (30.1%) was 
seen in the 75-84 age group whereas in the 85 year and over age group, less than a quarter of deaths 
(23.8%) were due to circulatory disease in Rutland.  In both these age groups, over time there has 
been a significant decline in the percentage of deaths due to circulatory disease in Rutland. Across 
all age bands, the percentage of deaths from circulatory disease was similar to the national average.8

Mortality rates from cardiovascular disease in those aged under 75 years have remained 
significantly better than the national average for the last three time periods. In 2014-16, deaths 
from all cardiovascular disease for those aged less than 75 was 53.5 per 100,000 population aged 
less than 75 years, significantly better than the national rate of 73.5 per 100,000 population aged 
less than 75 years. In the same time period, deaths from cardiovascular disease considered 
preventable for those aged less than 75 was 37.4 per 100,000 population aged less than 75 years, 
similar to the national rate of 46.7 per 100,000 population aged less than 75 years. This infers a 
higher proportion of deaths from cardiovascular disease are considered preventable in Rutland 
compared to nationally.8

7.2.3. Deaths from Respiratory Disease

In 2016 in Rutland, 11.8% of all deaths were due to respiratory disease. his was similar to the 
national percentage of 13.7%. As age increases, the percentage of deaths from respiratory disease 
also increases at both a national and local level. In 2016 in Rutland, in the under 65s age group, the 
data for deaths from respiratory disease was suppressed due to small numbers. This percentage is 
8.6% in the 65-74 age group, 11.7% in 75-84 age group and 13.9% in the 85 years and over age 
group. All age bands perform similar to the national percentage.7

Mortality rates from respiratory disease in those aged under 75 years have remained significantly 
better than the national average since 2001-03 (when the indicators were first recorded). However, 
the mortality rate from respiratory disease considered preventable for the latest two years (2013-
15 and 2014-16) are similar to the national average. In 2014-16, respiratory deaths for those aged 
less than 75 were 19.9 per 100,000 population aged less than 75 years and those considered 
preventable were 12.5 per 100,000 population aged less than 75 years. The difference in rate infers 
that over half of the cases of deaths from respiratory disease are considered preventable in Rutland 
and in England.8

7.3. Place of Death

Over a third (38.9%) of all deaths in Rutland in 2016 were in hospital, followed by in the home 

318



16

(27.7%) and in care homes (27.7%), hospices (3.2%) and other places (2.4%). This pattern of place 
of death is reflected nationally. The latest data shows Rutland has a significantly lower proportion 
of deaths occurring in hospital and a significantly higher proportion of deaths in care homes 
compared to nationally. Like nationally, in Rutland the trend is significantly decreasing over time for 
in-hospital deaths and significantly increasing over time for deaths in care homes, however hospitals 
are still the most common place to die in the county.7 

In Rutland, over half (51.9%) of deaths in the under 65 years age group occurred in hospital in 2016, 
this is the highest percentage out of all age groups. The lowest percentage of in-hospital deaths 
occurred in those aged over 85 years. In 2016, less than a third of deaths (29.8%) in this age group 
were in hospital, significantly lower than the national percentage of 43.8%.  The trend of in-hospital 
deaths has been significantly decreasing across the 65-74 age band and 85 and above age band over 
time.7 

As age increases, the percentage of deaths in care homes increases. Almost half (45.7%) of all deaths 
in the 85 and above age bands occurred in care home, a significantly higher percentage to the 
national average (36.7%).  The trend of care home deaths has been significantly increasing in the 
county across the 85 and above age band over time.7

Nationally the percentage of deaths at home decreases with age. In 2016 in Rutland, over a third 
(39.7%) of deaths in those aged 65-74 years died at home, similar to the national percentage of 
30.3%. This was the highest percentage out of all age bands in Rutland residents.  In those aged 85 
and above, a quarter (24.5%) of all deaths were in the home. This is a significantly higher percentage 
compared to the national average (16.4%).7

In 2016, hospice deaths accounted for 3.2% of all deaths in Rutland, this is similar to the national 
percentage of 5.7%. In Rutland the trend is significantly increasing over time for deaths in hospices.7

8. Life Expectancy

8.1. Life Expectancy

Since 2010-12, life expectancy at birth for males and females in Rutland has remained significantly 
better than the national average.

In 2014-16, the average number of years a newborn in Rutland would survive if he or she 
experienced the age-specific mortality rates for that area and time period throughout his or her life 
was 82.1 years for males and 85.4 years for females. These figures are both better than the values 
for England (79.5 years and 83.1 years respectively).8

In 2014-16, life expectancy at birth for males in Rutland has shown a slight increase from 81.8 years 

319



17

in 2013-15 to 82.1 years in 2014-16. Life expectancy at birth for females in Rutland has shown a 
slight increase from 85.2 years in 2013-15 to 85.4 years in 2014-16. To note, life expectancy in 
females peaked in 2012-14 at 85.7 years. Nationally, life expectancy at birth has remained stable for 
males over the last two time periods and in females over the last three periods, at 79.5 and 83.1 
years respectively.8

8.2. Healthy Life Expectancy

In 2014-16, healthy life expectancy (HLE) at birth in Rutland is significantly better than the national 
average for both males and females.

In males, HLE at birth has decreased from 71.1 years in 2013-15 to 68.8 years in 2014-16. 
Throughout this time the England average has fallen from 63.4 years to 63.3 years. The HLE at birth 
for females in Rutland has decreased from 70.6 years in 2013-15 to 70.2 years in 2014-16. Nationally 
the healthy life expectancy at birth in females has declined from 64.1 years in 2013-15 to 63.9 years 
in 2014-16. In 2014-16, the HLE at birth for females is now higher than males. This was not the case 
in 2013-15.8

8.3. Life Expectancy at 65

Since 2001-03 life expectancy at 65 for males and females in Rutland has remained significantly 
better than the national average.

Life expectancy at 65 for males in Rutland has remained at 20.2 years in 2013-15 and 2014-16. Life 
expectancy at 65 for females in Rutland has remained stable for the last three time periods 23.0 
years. Nationally, male life expectancy at 65 is increasing while female life expectancy is stabilising. 
Male life expectancy at 65 in England has increased year on year from 16.3 years in 2001-03 to 18.8 
years in 2014-16. Female life expectancy at 65 in England has remained stable at 21.1 years for the 
last three time periods.8

9. Protected characteristics 

9.1. Ethnicity

The chart below shows the proportion of Rutland’s population by broad ethnic group. The vast 
majority of the county population (97.1%) belong to White ethnicities, including White British and 
White Irish. This equates to almost 36,000 people. The next largest ethnic groups in Rutland are 
Asian and Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Group, which each constitute 1.0% of the population, followed 
by Black, with 0.7% and Other Ethnic Group with 0.2%.6

Figure 5 – Rutland population by broad ethnic group, 2011

320



18

Source: 2011 Census, ONS

9.1.1. Main Language

Of the 36,309 people over the age of 3 in Rutland, 35,654 (98.2%) have English as their main 
language. This is followed by Other European language (EU), with 0.8% and East Asian Language, 
with 0.3%.10

Table 1 – Rutland population by main languages, 2011

English (English or Welsh if in Wales) 35,654
Other European language (EU) 291
East Asian language 112
Other European language (non EU) 49
South Asian language 40
French 39
Spanish 33
Other language 30
African language 28
Portuguese 22
West/Central Asian language 11
Arabic 0

Source: 2011 Census, ONS

9.2. Religion

The chart below shows the proportion of Rutland’s population by religion. The largest religious 
group in the county is Christian, which constitutes 68.2% of the population. This is followed by No 
Religion,  23.4% and Religion not stated,  7.0%. Muslims and Other religion each constitute 0.4% of 
the Rutland population, followed by Buddhist (0.3%) and Hindu (0.2%).11

Figure 6 – Rutland population by religion, 2011

321



19

Source: 2011 Census, ONS

9.3. Disability

The chart below shows the proportion of Rutland’s population by self-reported limiting long term 
illness. This is commonly used as a proxy for disability. In 2011, 15.5% of the county population 
considered themselves to have a condition that limited their day to day activities.12

Figure 7 – Rutland population by limiting long-term illness, 2011

Source: 2011 Census, ONS

N.B. “Day-to-day activities limited” includes “limited a little/ limited lot”

9.4. Marriage and civil partnership

Marriage and civil partnership formation statistics are derived from information recorded when 
marriages and civil partnerships are registered as part of civil registration, a legal requirement. In 
2015, there were 469 marriages and 2 civil partnership formations that took place in Rutland.13  
Please note this data refers to the area of occurrence of the marriage or civil partnership rather than 
the couple’s area of residence.

9.5. Sexual identity

In 2016, 58,000 (1.6%) of the East Midlands population aged 16 and over identified themselves as 
lesbian, gay or bisexual (LGB), compared to 2.0% nationally. At a national level, more males (2.3%) 
than females (1.6%) identified themselves as LGB in 2016. The age range who were most likely to 
identify as LGB in 2016 were the 16 to 24 age group (4.1%).  The population who identified as LGB 

322



20

in 2016 were most likely to be single, never married or civil partnered, at 70.7%.14 Applying the 
national prevalence estimates of LGB individuals to the Rutland population aged 16 and above in 
2016 would estimate there were 377 LBG males and 252 LGB females.

9.6. Further information

For more detailed Census 2011 data, covering the whole range of topics, please view the dashboard 
at the link below:

https://public.tableau.com/views/LAKeyStatsDashboard/Dashboard?:embed=y&:display_count=n
o&:showVizHome=no

10. Military population

Two British Army barracks are located in Rutland, Kendrew Barracks in Cottesmore and St George's 
Barracks in North Luffenham. The data presented examines summary statistics on the number of 
serving UK Armed Forces personnel and entitled civilian personnel with a Defence Medical Services 
(DMS) registration.  Entitled civilian personnel include service personnel family dependents and 
Ministry of Defence (MOD) employed civilian personnel who are entitled to care at MOD primary 
care facilities. Personnel with a DMS registration have their primary care (GP services) provided by 
the MOD rather than the NHS. 

The military population accounts for 5.8% of the resident population in the county. The military 
population is younger and has a higher proportion of males compared to the resident population of 
Rutland. In April 2018, there were 2,250 Armed Forces personnel and entitled civilian personnel 
registered in Rutland. 1,620 individuals (72%) were in the Armed Forces and 630 individuals (28%) 
were entitled civilian personnel. Of those in the Armed Forces, 85% were male compared to a third 
of the entitled civilian personnel.15

11. Prison population

NHS England Health and Justice is responsible for commissioning healthcare for children, young 
people and adults across secure and detained settings, which includes prisons, secure facilities for 
children and young people, police and court Liaison and Diversion services and immigration removal 
centres. The range of services which are directly commissioned for prisons include primary and 
secondary care services, public health including substance misuse services (under a Section 7a 
Agreement with the Department of Health), dental, ophthalmic services and mental health services.

HMP Stocken in Stretton, in the northeast of the county, is a category C closed training prison.  The 
prison’s operational capacity was 842 in October 2011.16  In December 2017, there were 841 male 

323

https://public.tableau.com/views/LAKeyStatsDashboard/Dashboard?:embed=y&:display_count=no&:showVizHome=no
https://public.tableau.com/views/LAKeyStatsDashboard/Dashboard?:embed=y&:display_count=no&:showVizHome=no


21

prisoners aged 21 and over in its care.17

The table below shows the ethnicity of the prison population in December 2017 by broad ethnic 
group. The largest ethnic group was White with 69.9%, followed by Black with 11.4%, Asian with 
10.9% and Mixed and multiple ethnic groups with 10.9%.18

Table 2 – HMP Stocken population by broad ethnic group, December 2017

White
Mixed/ 

Multiple 
ethnic groups

Asian/ 
Asian 
British

Black/ African/ 
Caribbean/ Black 

British

Other 
ethnic 
group

Not 
stated

Not 
recorded

588 54 92 96 8 3 0

12. 2011 Rural Urban Classification

It is important to distinguish between rural and urban areas when analysing social and economic 
statistics as the populations and businesses can differ in their makeup (for example rural areas tend 
to have higher proportions of older people). The opportunities, challenges and barriers for 
businesses, the services people receive and their quality of life can also differ markedly between rural 
areas and larger towns and cities.

ONS, May 2015

The 2011 Urban Rural Classification (RUC2011) was released by the Office for National Statistics in 
October 2013. This data updates the classification produced for the 2001 Census. The RUC2011 
allows for a consistent rural/urban view of datasets. A suite of classifications has been produced for 
use at a variety of geographic levels, including ward, Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) and output 
area (OA). RUC2011 is a revised version of the classification produced after the 2001 Census. It was 
created by the Department of Town and Regional Planning at the University of Sheffield on behalf 
of a government working group.

RUC2011 for Lower Super Output Areas is built up from the OA level classification, with assignment 
to urban or rural made by reference to the category to which the majority of their constituent OAs 
is assigned.

Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs)
LSOAs were designed to improve the reporting of small area statistics and are built up from groups 

324



22

of output areas (OA). LSOAs have a minimum population of 1,000 people and a maximum population 
of 3,000. They contain a minimum of 400 households and a maximum of 1,200 households. Where 
possible, LSOA boundaries follow natural boundaries such as roads and rivers.

More information on the ONS Area Classifications can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2011-rural-urban-classification

12.1. Exploring the Data

The map below displays 2011 Rural Urban Classification for Rutland at LSOA level. Rutland is 
predominantly rural by area. Overall, 3.3% of the total area of Rutland is classed as Urban City and 
Town, with a further 22.2% classed as Rural Town and Fringe and the remaining area (74.5%) classed 
as Rural Village and Dispersed.19

Urban areas (classed as areas with populations of 10,000 or more at the time of the 2011 Census) 
can be found in Oakham.

Rural Town and Fringe areas cover smaller settlements such as Uppingham, Langham, Ketton, Ryhall 
and Casterton. Finally, Rural Village and Dispersed parts of the classification cover the remaining 
areas of the county, encompassing small villages and hamlets.

Figure 8 - 2011 Urban Rural Classification by LSOA

325

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/2011-rural-urban-classification


23

Source: 2011 Rural Urban Classification, ONS, 2013.

The chart below shows the total population of Rutland split by 2011 Rural Urban Classification. 
Looking at the population of Rutland by Rural Urban Classification, it is clear that while the county 
is rural in terms of area, half the population is concentrated within urban areas. Overall, 28.1% of 
the population of Rutland live in areas classed as Urban City and Town, while 23.8% live in Rural 
Town and Fringe and the remaining 48.1% live in areas classed as Rural Village and Dispersed.

Figure 9- 2016 Population estimates by 2011 Rural Urban Classification

Source: 2011 Rural Urban Classification, ONS, 2013. 2016 mid-year population estimates, ONS, 

326



24

2017.

The chart below shows the total Rutland population by age for Urban and Rural. Overall, rural areas 
tend to be the working age population. This is most noticeable in the 24-39 age bands. In 
comparison, urban areas tend to be either elderly or younger, with higher proportions in the 70-79 
and 0-14 age bands. This is most noticeable in the 10-14 age band with 7.2% of the urban population 
falling within this band, compared with just 5.1% of rural areas. This is most likely due to the public 
schools in Oakham and Uppingham.

Figure 10- 2016 Population estimates by age by 2011 Rural Urban Classification

327



25

Source: 2011 Rural Urban Classification, ONS, 2013. 2016 mid-year population estimates, ONS, 
2017.

12.2. Further Information

Access the 2011 Rural Urban Classification dashboard here:

https://public.tableau.com/views/2011RuralUrbanClassification/2011RUC?:embed=y&:display_co
unt=yes:showVizHome=no#

13. 2011 Output Area Classification

328

https://public.tableau.com/views/2011RuralUrbanClassification/2011RUC?:embed=y&:display_count=yes:showVizHome=no
https://public.tableau.com/views/2011RuralUrbanClassification/2011RUC?:embed=y&:display_count=yes:showVizHome=no


26

In August 2014, the Office for National Statistics released the 2011 Output Area Classification (2011 
OAC). This data updates the classification produced for the 2001 Census. The 2011 OAC categorises 
all UK output areas based on 2011 Census data on a wide range of socioeconomic and demographic 
topics. They aim to identify parts of the UK with similar characteristics using a defined set of 
supergroups, groups and subgroups.

13.1. Further information

Background information on the ONS Area Classifications can be found here:

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/regional-trends/area-classifications/2011-area-classification-for-
output-areas/index.html 

13.2. Census Output Areas

Output areas (OAs) are created for Census data, specifically for the output of census estimates. The 
OA is the lowest geographical level at which census estimates are provided. They had approximately 
regular shapes and tended to be constrained by obvious boundaries such as major roads. OAs were 
required to have a specified minimum size to ensure the confidentiality of data. The minimum OA 
size was 40 resident households and 100 resident people but the recommended size was rather 
larger at 125 households. These size thresholds meant that unusually small wards and parishes were 
incorporated into larger OAs.

13.3. Further information

Background information on census output areas can be found here:

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/beginner-s-guide/census/output-area--
oas-/index.html 

13.4. Exploring the Data

The map below shows the distribution of 2011 OAC supergroups across Rutland. It is clear from the 
map that the majority of the area of Rutland is classified as Rural Residents, building on the analysis 
of rural classification above. In comparison, urban areas are more diverse in the types of 
communities they contain.

329

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/regional-trends/area-classifications/2011-area-classification-for-output-areas/index.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/regional-trends/area-classifications/2011-area-classification-for-output-areas/index.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/beginner-s-guide/census/output-area--oas-/index.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/beginner-s-guide/census/output-area--oas-/index.html


27

Figure 11 - 2011 Output Area Classification by output area

Source: 2011 Output Area Classification, ONS, 2013.

Areas classed as Urbanites can, unsurprisingly, be found across the county in more central urban 
areas, while Suburbanites cover parts of the county in more peripheral urban areas.

Hard-Pressed Living occupy more peripheral, suburban areas of Oakham and Uppingham as well as 
Cottesmore, Ketton, Ryhall and Casterton.

The chart below shows the proportion of the Rutland population by 2011 OAC supergroup. Echoing 
the analysis of rural classification above, the majority of the population (53.9%) live in the largest 
area of Rutland classified as Rural Residents. 20.9% of the population (7,826 people) live in areas 
classified as Urbanites, 15.7% of the population (5,860 people) live in areas classified as 
Suburbanites, and 7.7% of the population (2,892 people) live in areas classified as Hard-Pressed 
Living, 

330



28

Figure 12- 2016 Population estimates by 2011 Output Area Classification20

Source: 2011 Output Area Classification, ONS, 2013. 2016 mid-year population estimates, ONS, 
2017.

In terms of the broad age structure by the main OAC supergroups, Rural Residents areas tend to 
have higher proportions in middle age groups (approximately 45-74) and smaller proportions 
amongst children and younger adults groups (specifically under 15s and 20-39). Multicultural 
Metropolitans - whilst making up a small proportion of the population of the county as a whole - 
contain higher proportions of younger age groups, with the 25-29 and 30-24 age groups making up 
over 27% and 22% of the population respectively of these areas, and the 0-4 age group making up 
20%. Multicultural Metropolitans are also much less likely to contain older age bands compared 
against other supergroups.

Elsewhere, areas classed as Urbanites tend to have higher proportions from teenage and working 
age bands (15-59) and lower proportions from older adults (75+), while for Suburbanites, the 
opposite is generally true. Finally, Hard-Pressed Living areas have the highest proportions of the 10-
14 and 40-44 age bands, and lower proportions of older adults (60-79).

Chart 5 - Proportion of each supergroup population by five-year age band

331



29

Source: 2011 Output Area Classification, ONS, 2013. 2016 mid-year population estimates, ONS, 
2017. N.B. Excludes supergroups with <5% of total Rutland population

14. Pen Portraits

For the 2011 OAC, pen portraits describe the characteristics of the different 
supergroup/group/subgroup clusters, and the radial plots illustrate for each of these clusters the 
values for each of the final census variables, using a scale to represent the difference (either positive 
or negative) from the UK mean and parent supergroup/group (if applicable) for that variable.

14.1. Further information

Full information on the 2011 OAC pen portraits can be found here:

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/products/area-classifications/ns-area-
classifications/ns-2011-area-classifications/pen-portraits-and-radial-plots/index.html 

15. 2015 Indices of Deprivation

The English Indices of Deprivation 2015 (ID2015) are based on 37 separate indicators, organised 

332

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/products/area-classifications/ns-area-classifications/ns-2011-area-classifications/pen-portraits-and-radial-plots/index.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/geography/products/area-classifications/ns-area-classifications/ns-2011-area-classifications/pen-portraits-and-radial-plots/index.html


30

across seven distinct domains of deprivation which are combined, using appropriate weights, to 
calculate the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 (IMD 2015).21 This is an overall measure of multiple 
deprivation experienced by people living in an area and is calculated for every Lower layer Super 
Output Area (LSOA), or neighbourhood, in England. Every such neighbourhood in England is ranked 
according to its level of deprivation relative to that of other areas. It is important to note that these 
statistics are a measure of relative deprivation, not affluence, and to recognise that not every person 
in a highly deprived area will themselves be deprived. Likewise, there will be some deprived people 
living in the least deprived areas.

15.1. Exploring the Data

Overall, when looked at in the national context, Rutland is not particularly deprived. At a local 
authority level, using the overall Multiple Deprivation measure, the county is ranked 148th out of 
152 upper tier authorities in England, where 1st is the most deprived. 

The chart below displays the distribution of Rutland LSOAs nationally, using national rank for 
Multiple Deprivation to place each neighbourhood into deciles (10 percent bands), ordered from 1 
(most deprived) to 10 (least deprived). 

Figure 13 - ID2015 Multiple Deprivation national decile, LSOAs

Source: Indices of Deprivation 2015, MHCLG, 2015.

From the chart, it is clear that overall, Rutland neighbourhoods fall in the less deprived deciles; 22 
of the 23 LSOAs in the county fall within the 50% least deprived areas in England. However, while 
Rutland experiences low levels of deprivation overall, one neighbourhood in the county falls within 
the 50% most deprived in England. This area is Greetham LSOA.

333



31

The chart below displays the distribution of the Rutland population across national Multiple 
Deprivation deciles (10 percent bands), ordered from 1 (most deprived) to 10 (least deprived).

Figure 14- 2016 population by ID2015 Multiple Deprivation national decile, LSOAs

 
Source: Indices of Deprivation 2015, MHCLG, 2015. 2016 Mid-year population estimates, ONS, 2017.

As LSOAs have a fairly consistent population size (1,500 people on average), the distribution of the 
county population by national deciles is consistent with the distribution of LSOAs overall; just over 
2,034 people live in neighbourhoods falling in the 50% most deprived deciles nationally, out of a 
total population of over 38,000. The vast majority of Rutland residents live in less deprived areas; 
over 26,000 people (67.5% of the total population) live in neighbourhoods falling in the three least 
deprived deciles nationally. 

The map below displays the Multiple Deprivation rank for all Rutland LSOAs. This ranks each LSOA 
according to their overall score, from most (1) to least (23) deprived.

Figure 15 - ID2015 Multiple Deprivation county rank

334



32

Source: Indices of Deprivation 2015, MHCLG, 2015.

From the map, we can see that the LSOAs with the highest rank (dark purple) and therefore more 
deprived can generally be found in the main urban area such as Oakham North West as well as 
Exton, Greetham, Braunston and Belton, and Martinsthorpe. As LSOAs have broadly consistent 
populations and urban areas have higher population densities, these areas appear smaller on the 
map, compared with less densely populated rural areas.

In comparison, while some of the least deprived areas of the county can also be found in and around 
the main towns, such as Oakham South, Oakham North East, Oakham East, and in rural areas such 
as Normanton and Empingham, Langham, Ryhall and Whissendine.

15.2. Further information

Full information on the 2015 Indices of Deprivation can be found here:

https://public.tableau.com/views/ID2015DashboardFINAL/ID2015Dashboard?:embed=y&:display_
count=yes&publish=yes:showVizHome=no#

335

https://public.tableau.com/views/ID2015DashboardFINAL/ID2015Dashboard?:embed=y&:display_count=yes&publish=yes:showVizHome=no
https://public.tableau.com/views/ID2015DashboardFINAL/ID2015Dashboard?:embed=y&:display_count=yes&publish=yes:showVizHome=no


33

15.3. Deprivation Domains

The Index of Multiple Deprivation discussed above comprises of seven domains, each focusing on a 
specific aspect of deprivation. These domains cover:

 Income
 Employment
 Education, Skills and Training
 Health Deprivation and Disability
 Crime
 Barriers to Housing and Services
 Living Environment

Deprivation domains can be analysed in the same way as the Index of Multiple Deprivation. The 
charts below show Rutland LSOAs by their national decile for each of the ID2015 domains; 

Figure 16- ID2015 Deprivation domain national decile, LSOAs

 
Source: Indices of Deprivation 2015, MHCLG, 2015.

From the chart, it is clear to see that the same pattern is generally true for deprivation domains as 
for multiple deprivation; Rutland LSOAs tend to fall within lower national deciles, although there 
exists some pockets of significant deprivation within the county on a national scale. 

For Income and Employment deprivation - as with multiple deprivation - there is one LSOA falling 
within the top 50% nationally. In comparison, Education, Skills and Training deprivation is somewhat 
more noticeable within the county; five LSOAs fall within the top 50% nationally.

336



34

The Barriers to Housing and Services domain appears to show some of the most extensive 
deprivation on a national scale, with 7 LSOAs in each of the top decile in England. The overall 
distribution is still skewed towards lower deciles, with 16 LSOAs in total in the top 50% nationally. 
This may be a result of the more rural nature of the county, and issues around dispersed population 
being able to access services, in addition to housing affordability.22

The chart below displays the distribution of the Rutland population across national deciles (10 
percent bands) for each of the ID2015 domains, ordered from 1 (most deprived) to 10 (least 
deprived):

Chart 11 - 2016 population by ID2015 Deprivation domain national decile, LSOAs

Source: Indices of Deprivation 2015, MHCLG, 2015. 2016 Mid-year population estimates, ONS, 2017.

As mentioned above, as LSOAs have fairly consistent population sizes, the distribution of population 
closely follows the distribution of LSOAs across the deciles. The vast majority of the Rutland 

337



35

population live in neighbourhoods in the less deprived deciles, but despite this, large numbers of 
people can be found living in neighbourhoods in the most deprived deciles nationally; most notably 
over 10,000 people who live in areas within the most deprived 10 percent of neighbourhoods 
nationally for Barriers to Housing and Services deprivation, with a further 2,000 people living in the 
second most derived decile. Meanwhile, there are over 23,000 people living in the top two deciles 
nationally for Health Deprivation and Disability, over 17,000 people living in the top two deciles 
nationally for Income, and over 13,000 living in the top two deciles nationally for Education, Skills 
and Training deprivation.

15.4. More Information

Further information and full datasets for the 2015 Indices of Deprivation can be found here:

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015 

16. Employment

Being unemployed for a long period is associated with both physical and mental health problems.

In Rutland in August 2016, 0.09% of people were in long-term unemployment.  This is better than 
the England proportion of 0.37%. Meanwhile, 2.4% of Rutland’s working age population were 
unemployed. This is better than the England value of 4.8%.

23 people aged 16-64 years in Rutland had been claiming Jobseeker’s Allowance for more than 12 
months. This equates to a crude rate of 1.0 per 1,000 population and is better than the England rate 
of 3.7 per 1,000 population.  

In 2016/17, in Rutland, the gap in the employment rate between those with a long-term health 
condition and the overall employment rate was 30.1 percentage points. This is similar to the England 
value of 29.4 percentage points. For the same time period, the gap in the employment rate between 
those with a learning disability and the overall employment rate was 78.7 percentage points. This is 
worse than the England value of 68.7 percentage points.

In 2016, for Rutland, the ratio between the gross median hourly earnings for women and the gross 
median hourly earnings for men was 66.3% compared to England’s value of 79.4%.

338

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015


36

Rate of Unemployment in Rutland 2011-1823

The International Labour Organisation has collated data which shows the rate of unemployment of 
Upper Tier Counties in the Midlands. The graph above highlights Rutland’s consistently low rate of 
unemployment from 2011 to 2018 in comparison to National and Regional averages.

Job Seekers Allowance JSA Claimants from July 2010 - April 201823

  

The above chart shows the rate of people claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) based on population.    
An accurate measure to record the total amount of unemployment is by looking at the how many 
Job Seekers Allowance claimants there are. 
Job Seekers Allowance is a benefit which is paid to help with living expenses whilst the claimant is 
actively looking for work. The claimant must be aged 18 or over. 

339



37

The Education and Skills Act made education or training compulsory for school leavers until the age 
of 17 from 2013 and in 2015 the age went up to 18 years of age. This would explain the drastic of 
drop of claimants between 2013 and 2015 across the Authorities in the above chart. 
Rutland has generally had the lowest JSA claimant rate since 2011. Rutland’s current rate for JSA 
claimants is 0.2, this is lesser than the current Regional and National rate of 1.1. 

Benefit Claimants in Rutland, East Midlands and Great Britain November 201624

0.3

3

0.3
1

0.1 0.5 0.2

3.7

1

6

1
1.8

0.2 0.7 0.2

8

1.1

6.1

1
1.7

0.2
0.8

0.2

8.4

Job seekers ESA and 
incapacity 
benefits

Lone parents Carers Others on 
income 
related 
benefits

Disabled Bereaved Main out-of-
work 

benefits†

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Rutland East Midlands Great Britain

% of main benefit claimants - not seasonally adjusted (November 2016) 

% is a proportion of resident population of area aged 16-64
†   -   numbers are for those aged 16 and over, % are for those aged 16-64

From the above chart, it is clear that Rutland has a lower rate of benefit claimants in every Benefit 
category. 
Rutland’s percentage differences compared to the United Kingdom and the East Midlands:
Jobseekers Allowance: The rate of Job Seekers Allowance claimants in Rutland were 72% less than 
in the United Kingdom overall.  
ESA (Employment and Support Allowance) and incapacity benefits: Rutland had a 50% less rate of 
claimants compared to the Midlands and United Kingdom.  
Lone Parents Benefits: There was a 50% less rate of Lone Parent Claimants in Rutland compared to 
the Midlands and United Kingdom. 
Carers Benefits: The rate of Carers claiming benefits in Rutland were 41% less than in the United 
Kingdom. 
Income related benefits: There were only half as many Income Related benefit claimants in Rutland 
compared to the Midlands and United Kingdom.  
Bereaved Claimants: The rate of Bereaved Claimants were the same across Rutland, Midlands and 
United Kingdom.

340



38

Main out of work benefits: From the above findings we can conclude that overall Rutland had a 
much lower rate of benefit claimants than both the Midlands and United Kingdom in 2016.

 Employment in Rutland, Midlands and Great Britain January 2017 – December 201724  

83.2 81.2

15.7

77.6
74.1

9.2

78.4
74.9

10.6

Economically active† In employment† Self employed†
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Rutland (%) East Midlands (%) Great Britain (%)

Employment January 2017 to December 2017 

†   -   numbers are for those aged 16 and over, % are for those aged 16-64
§   -   numbers and % are for those aged 16 and over. % is a proportion of economically active

Economically active:
Rutland have a higher rate of being economically active than the East Midlands and Great Britain. 
We can also see that a higher percentage of Rutland’s residents were in employment compared to 
the Region and Nation. 

In Employment:
Rutland also has a greater rate of people who are in employment aged between 16 to 64 years of 
age. Rutland have a 9.14% higher rate of employment compared the region and 8.07% greater 
compared to the United Kingdom.  

Self Employed:
The rate of Self-employed residence in Rutland was noticeably higher with a rate which was 52.2% 
higher than the East Midlands and 39.78% higher when compared with the U.K.

Employees jobs in Rutland – 201624

The below table shows Rutland’s working population aged 16-64 categorised by type of industry. 
The table compares Rutland’s percentage rate against the East Midlands and Great Britain. The 

341



39

percentage difference has been calculated to illustrate the variance. 

Employee jobs by industry Rutland East Midlands Great Britain

 (%) (%) (%)
Mining and quarrying 2 0.2 0.2

Manufacturing 11.7 13.1 8.1
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning 
supply 0 0.7 0.4

Water supply; sewerage, waste management 
and remediation activities 1.5 0.6 0.7

Construction 4 5 4.6

Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor 
vehicles and motorcycles 16.7 17.1 15.3

Transportation and storage 3 5.3 4.9

Accommodation and food service activities 13.3 7.5 7.5

Information and communication 2.3 2.2 4.2

Financial and insurance activities 0.5 1.5 3.6

Real estate activities 0.8 0.9 1.6

Professional, scientific and technical activities 6.7 6.5 8.6

Administrative and support service activities 3 9.5 9

Public administration and defence; 
compulsory social security 5.3 3.9 4.3

Education 15 8.7 8.9

Human health and social work activities 6.7 13.1 13.3

Arts, entertainment and recreation 2.3 2.2 2.5

Other service activities 2 1.8 2.1

The Majority of Rutland’s jobs were in the following Industries: 

Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles 16.7%
Education 15%
Accommodation and food service activities 13.3%
Manufacturing 11.7%

The four most common industries in Rutland accounted for 56.7% of the overall jobs. All four 
industries were higher in percentage than in Great Britain. 

342



40

The industries being higher than the national percentage may be a key factor for Rutland’s low 
Unemployment rate. 

17. Recommendations

 That further work is carried out to update population projections and changes in 
demographics, to inform future commissioning intentions and planning of services once 
more detail is known about the nature and extent of new developments.

 Carry out assessments of access to services and the likely impact on social care, health and 
wellbeing of Rutland’s population as necessary once more detail is known about the nature 
and extent of new developments.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

343



41

ASMR Age-Standardised Mortality Rate

BME Black and Minority Ethnic Groups

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

DMS Defence Medical Services

GFR General Fertility Rate

HLE Healthy Life Expectancy

IMD Index of Multiple Deprivation

LGB Lesbian, Gay or Bisexual

LSOA Lower Super Output Area

MOD Ministry of Defence

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

OAC Output Area Classification

PHE Public Health England

TFR Total Fertility Rate

344



42

REFERENCES

1    Office of National Statistics. Mid-year population estimates (2018). At: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
2 Office of National Statistics. Subnational population projections for England: 2014-based (2016). At:  

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/s

ubnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2014basedprojections
3 Office of National Statistics. (2017). Migration Statistics Quarterly Report: May 2017. At:  

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/bulletins/

migrationstatisticsquarterlyreport/may2017 
4 Public Health England. Pregnancy and birth (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-

health/profile/child-health-pregnancy 
5 Office of National Statistics. Births by mothers’ usual area of residence in the UK (2017). At 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsbyare

aofusualresidenceofmotheruk 
6 Office of National Statistics. 2011 Census: Key Statistics and Quick Statistics for Local Authorities in the United 

Kingdom (2013). At: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/ke

ystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdom/2013-10-11 
7 Public Health England. End of Life Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/end-of-

life#gid/1938132901/ati/102 
8 Public Health England. Public Health Outcome Framework (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework 
9 Public Health England. Local Authority Health Profiles (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 
10 NOMIS Official Labour Market Statistics. Main language (detailed). (2013). At: 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/qs204ew 
11 Office of National Statistics. 2011 Census: Key Statistics for Local Authorities in England and Wales. (2013). At:  

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/20

11censuskeystatisticsforlocalauthoritiesinenglandandwales 
12 Public Health England. Common Mental Health Disorders (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/common-mental-

disorders#gid/8000041/ati/102 
13 Office of National Statistics. All data related to marriage, cohabitation and civil partnerships (2016). At: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/marriagecohabitationandcivilpa

rtnerships/datalist?filter=datasets 
14 Office of National Statistics. Sexual identity, UK: 2016. (2017). At: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2016 
15 Ministry of Defence. Defence personnel NHS commissioning bi-annual statistics: financial year 2018/19. (2018). At: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/defence-personnel-nhs-commissioning-bi-annual-statistics-financial-year-

345

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2014basedprojections
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland/2014basedprojections
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/bulletins/migrationstatisticsquarterlyreport/may2017
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/bulletins/migrationstatisticsquarterlyreport/may2017
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-pregnancy
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-pregnancy
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsbyareaofusualresidenceofmotheruk
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsbyareaofusualresidenceofmotheruk
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/keystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdom/2013-10-11
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/keystatisticsandquickstatisticsforlocalauthoritiesintheunitedkingdom/2013-10-11
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/end-of-life#gid/1938132901/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/end-of-life#gid/1938132901/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/qs204ew
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsforlocalauthoritiesinenglandandwales
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsforlocalauthoritiesinenglandandwales
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/common-mental-disorders#gid/8000041/ati/102
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/common-mental-disorders#gid/8000041/ati/102
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/marriagecohabitationandcivilpartnerships/datalist?filter=datasets
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/marriagecohabitationandcivilpartnerships/datalist?filter=datasets
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/defence-personnel-nhs-commissioning-bi-annual-statistics-financial-year-201819


43

201819 
16    Ministry of Justice. Stocken Prison information. (2018). At: http://www.justice.gov.uk/contacts/prison-

finder/stocken
17 Ministry of Justice. Offender Management Statistics - Prison Population Data Tool. (2018). At: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/676248/prison-

population-data-tool-31-december-2017.xlsx
18 FOI 180314018 (Ministry of Justice; ASD-JSAS)
19 Office of National Statistics. 2011 rural/urban classification (2011). At: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclas

sification 
20 Office of National Statistics. 2016 mid-year population estimates by output area. (2017). At: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/ce

nsusoutputareaestimatesintheeastmidlandsregionofengland 
21 Department for Communities and Local Government. English Indices of Deprivation 2015. (2015). At: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015 
22 Department for Communities and Local Government. English Indices of Deprivation 2015. Underlying Indicators. 

(2015). At: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/467775/File_8_ID_2015_Underlying

_indicators.xlsx 
23 The International Labour Organisation. Unemployment Bulletin. (2018). At: 

https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/UnemploymentBulletin/Headline

Data
24 NOMIS Official Labour Market Statistics. Labour Market Profile – Rutland. (2018). At: 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157132/report.aspx#tabjobs 

346

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/defence-personnel-nhs-commissioning-bi-annual-statistics-financial-year-201819
http://www.justice.gov.uk/contacts/prison-finder/stocken
http://www.justice.gov.uk/contacts/prison-finder/stocken
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/676248/prison-population-data-tool-31-december-2017.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/676248/prison-population-data-tool-31-december-2017.xlsx
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclassification
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2011ruralurbanclassification
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/censusoutputareaestimatesintheeastmidlandsregionofengland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/censusoutputareaestimatesintheeastmidlandsregionofengland
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/467775/File_8_ID_2015_Underlying_indicators.xlsx
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/467775/File_8_ID_2015_Underlying_indicators.xlsx
https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/UnemploymentBulletin/HeadlineData
https://public.tableau.com/profile/r.i.team.leicestershire.county.council#!/vizhome/UnemploymentBulletin/HeadlineData
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157132/report.aspx#tabjobs


APPENDIX G

RUTLAND JOINT STRATEGIC 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT
2018

THE BEST START IN LIFE
JULY 2018

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Leicestershire County Council

                                                                               

347



i

Public Health Intelligence

Strategic Business Intelligence Team
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executive’s Department
Leicestershire County Council
County Hall, Glenfield
Leicester LE3 8RA

Tel 0116 305 4266
Email phi@leics.gov.uk 

Produced by the Strategic Business Intelligence Team at Leicestershire County Council.

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained within this 
report, Leicestershire County Council cannot be held responsible for any errors or omission 
relating to the data contained within the report.

348

mailto:phi@leics.gov.uk


ii

FOREWORD

The purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is to:

 To improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce inequalities for all 
ages. 

 To determine what actions the local authority, the local NHS and other partners need to take 
to meet health and social care needs, and to address the wider determinants that impact on 
health and wellbeing.

 To provide a source of relevant reference to the Local Authority, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) and NHS England for the commissioning of any future services. 

The Local Authority and CCGs have equal and joint statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Rutland, through the Health and Wellbeing Board. The 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 to introduce duties and powers for Health and Wellbeing Boards in relation to JSNAs.

The JSNA has reviewed the population health needs for the people of Rutland in respective of a 
person’s early years aged 0-4. This has involved looking at the determinants of health, the health 
needs of this population in Rutland, the impact of services, the policy and guidance supporting 
young children, and the existing services and the breadth of services that are currently provided. 
The unmet needs and recommendations that have arisen from this needs assessment are 
discussed.

The JSNA offers an opportunity for the Local Authority, CCG and NHS England’s plans for 
commissioning services to be informed by up to date information on the population that use their 
services. Where commissioning plans are not in line with the JSNA, the Local Authority, CCG and 
NHS England must be able to explain why.

349



iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 This chapter presents a comprehensive overview of children (aged 0-4 years) in Rutland. 
There are many factors that influence the health of a child during their pre-school years. 
This is a vital time for development of a child whether that be physically, emotionally or 
socially, and many of the factors influencing a child’s health at this time can have an impact 
on their later life.

 The majority of indicators presented are from national sources so are subject to a time lag 
due to the time required for data collection, data analysis and publication. Where possible, 
comparisons have been made to national averages and local context has been included.

 The best start in life summary rank indicates Rutland’s position relative to other Local 
Authorities based on readiness for school and provision of new birth visits.  Rutland ranked 
91 in 2015/16 out of 152 Local Authorities which is better than average.1

 There are proportionally fewer children known to social care in Rutland than in other local 
authorities in England with lower rates of Children in Need, Children Looked After and 
those subject to a Child Protection Plan in Rutland in 2016/17. 

 School readiness is a measure of how prepared a child is to succeed in school cognitively, 
socially and emotionally. ‘Good level of development’ is used to assess school readiness. 
School readiness starts at birth with the support of parents and other caregivers, as 
children start to acquire these skills. School readiness at age 5 (the end of reception year) 
has a strong impact on future educational attainment and life chances.2 In 2016/17, 75.7% 
of children in Rutland achieved a good level development (GLD) at the end of Early Years 
Foundation Stage (reception) compared to the England value of 70.7%.  

 From 2014/15 to 2016/17 there has been a significant improvement in the percentage of 
children with obvious dental decay in Rutland (28.8% to 15.6%).

 The overarching recommendation of this chapter is: to provide support to aim for all 
children in Rutland to have a happy and healthy childhood, targeting resources in 
proportion to need and to those who are most vulnerable.

350



iv

CONTENTS
1. Introduction...............................................................................................................................................5

2. Who is at risk? ...........................................................................................................................................5

2. Level of need in Rutland ..........................................................................................................................10

3. How does this impact? ............................................................................................................................17

4. Policy and Guidance.................................................................................................................................17

5. Current services .......................................................................................................................................22

6. Unmet needs/Gaps..................................................................................................................................25

7. Recommendations...................................................................................................................................25

List of Tables
No table of figures entries found.

List of Figures
No table of figures entries found.

351



5

1. Introduction

This chapter presents a comprehensive overview of children (aged 0-4 years) in Rutland. The 
majority of indicators presented are from national sources so are subject to a time lag due to the 
time required for data collection, data analysis and publication. Where possible, comparisons have 
been made to national averages and local context has been included.

2. Who is at risk?

There are many factors that influence the health of a child during their pre-school years. This is a 
vital time for development of a child whether that be physically, emotionally or socially, and many 
of the factors influencing a child’s health at this time can have an impact on their later life.

1.1 Children in poverty

The Marmot Review (2010) suggests there is evidence that childhood poverty leads to premature 
mortality and poor health outcomes for adults. It therefore follows that reducing the numbers of 
children who experience poverty should improve adult health outcomes and increase healthy life 
expectancy.

In England in 2013, 20.2% of children aged 0 to 4 years of age were in low income families 
(children living in families in receipt of out of work benefits or tax credits where their reported 
income is less than 60% median income). The figure for the East Midlands was 20.5% and the 
Rutland value was 9.6% which is significantly better than the England value3. 

1.2 Homelessness

Homelessness often equates to severe poverty which is a social determinant of health. As a result, 
homeless children are often the most vulnerable in society.

Family homelessness (applicant households eligible for assistance (1996 Housing Act) 
unintentionally homeless and in priority need) in 2016/17 was 1.9 per 1,000 households for 
England, and 1.6 per 1,000 households for the East Midlands. Rutland’s rate was 1.2 per 1,000 
households (19 households) which is significantly better than the England value.4

1.3 Children’s Social Care in Rutland

There are proportionally fewer children known to social care in Rutland than in other local 
authorities in England with lower rates of Children in Need, Children Looked After and those 
subject to a Child Protection Plan in Rutland in 2016/17. 

The number and profile of Children Looked After (CLA) in Rutland has remained fairly stable over 

352



6

recent years with an average of around 40 children and young people in care at any one time and 
around 50-55 children looked after over the course of a year. The number of CLA has increased 
slightly over recent years in line with population growth and mirroring the national trend 
(although it is expected to show a decrease for 2017/18). The number of Care Leavers is also 
stable at around 23 over each of the last three years. 

Rutland is the smallest local authority in England and faces a different set of challenges to larger 
authorities in ensuring the best possible provision of services for children looked after and those 
leaving care. The profile of CLA in Rutland – and the cost of service provision – can fluctuate 
considerably due to the relative low number of children in the cohort at any one time. As such, the 
impact of a small number of sibling groups moving in or out of care can have a disproportionately 
large impact on the profile of the cohort, for example, in relation to age, gender, ethnicity, 
category of need or legal status. The same is true for other cohorts such as children subject to 
Child Protection Plans and Care Leavers.

The sections which follow describe the latest comparative data for Rutland and England in more 
detail. 

1.3.1 Children in need

In Rutland in 2016/17, 504 children under the age of 18 were classified as children in need. This 
equates to a rate of 573 per 10,000 population; better than the England average of 612 per 10,000 
population.5

The proportion of children in Rutland in 2017 in need due to abuse, neglect or family dysfunction 
was 71.7%. This is higher than the England average of 68.3%.6

The rate of children under the age of 18 years in need due to child disability or illness in Rutland in 
2017 was 27.2 per 10,000 population (21 children). This is similar to the England value of 31.2 per 
10,000 population.7

1.3.2 Children who are Looked After 
In Rutland on 31 March 2017, 40 children under the age of 18 were classified as looked after. 
This equates to a rate of 51.8 per 10,000 population. This is significantly better than the England 
average value of 62.0 per 10,000 population.4  The rate of children who are looked after (CLA) 
per 10,000 children for Rutland has increased over the last five years from 40 per 10,000 in 2012 
to 52 per 10,000 in 2017. The increase in the rate over the last five years has been greater for 
Rutland than for the national and regional comparators, with only a small increase regionally and 
the national figure remaining static over the last four years. This means that the increase over 
the last six years has brought Rutland’s rate of CLA proportionate to its local population much 
closer to the regional and national pictures. 

353



7

Rutland has the lowest number of CLA of any local authority in England; no other local authority has 
fewer than 100 CLA – Wokingham is the next smallest with 110 – and the average for a local 
authority is 649 children (average for all authorities over the last 5 years).

In 2017, 96.0% of eligible looked after school aged children (22 children) had an emotional and 
behavioural health assessment. This is higher than the England average value of 76.0%.5  The 
proportion of eligible children considered ‘of concern’ in 2016/17 was 59.0% (13 children). This is 
worse than the England value of 38.0%.5

In 2017, 100.0% of looked after children under the age of 5 in Rutland (6 children) had up-to-date 
development assessments5, and 100.0% of looked after children under the age of 18 (29 children) 
had an annual health assessment.5 

In 2016/17, the rate of children leaving care for Rutland was 25.9 per 10,000 population. This is 
lower than the England average value of 26.5 per 10,000 population.5

In Rutland, the total spend on CLA increased by 56% over the last 5 years; up from £990,000 in 
2011-12 to £1,546,000 in 2015-16. The spend on CLA in Rutland as a proportion of all spending on 
Children’s Services over the same period (2011-12 to 2015-16) has gone up from 26.7% to 34.6%, 
so CLA now accounts for around a third of all spending on Children’s Services in Rutland. However, 
it remains considerably lower than the comparative figure for the region (43.1%) or nationally 
(44.1%). The average cost per child looked after is also much lower in Rutland than the average for 
local authorities in England – around £14k lower – at £28,109 per child, compared to £41,785 per 
child nationally (2015/16). Thus, outcomes for CLA in Rutland are being achieved at a much lower 
cost than in other local authorities.

More detailed information on Children Looked After in Rutland is available in the Children Looked 
After and Care Leavers Strategy. 8 

1.3.3 Safeguarding of children

In Rutland at the end of March 2017, 20 children were subject of a child protection plan. This 
equates to a rate of 25.9 per 10,000 population. This is significantly lower than the England 
average value of 43.3 per 10,000 population.5

In Rutland during 2016/17, there were 32 new child protection cases for children aged less than 18 
years of age, this is a rate of 46.6 per 10,000 population. This is lower than the England rate of 
56.3 per 10,000 population.4 In Rutland, 36.1% of children aged under 18 years of age (13 children) 
became subject of a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time. This is higher than the 

354



8

England value of 18.7%.7

1.3.4 Children social care workforce

There have been a number of changes to the way in which children’s social care is delivered across 
Rutland in 2017/18. There was been a focused effort on reducing the number of agency staff and 
increasing the number of permanent employees to support consistency of practice and continuity 
of support for children and families. This has seen the number of permanent staff increase from 
around 50% in 2017 to 85% in 2017 (with a further increase expected in 2018 data). 

Changes to staff and structure have coincided with a halving of the absence rate. For the children’s 
social care workforce, the staff absence rate for Rutland in 2016 was 7.1%, around twice the 
National average of 3.5% (in 2016). In 2017 the absence for Rutland dropped to just 2.4% - two-
thirds lower than the previous year – bringing it below the National average of 3.1%.9

1.4 Maternal influences

Factors relating to the mother and method of delivery of a newborn child can have an influence on 
the health needs of a child.  

1.4.1 Young mothers

A child's long-term health can be impacted on as follows: children born to teenage mothers have 
60% higher rates of infant mortality and are at increased risk of low birthweight. The mental 
health effects for a teenage mother are that they are three times more likely to suffer from post-
natal depression and experience poor mental health for up to three years after the birth – this 
may impact on the child’s health and development. Living in poverty, is also an increased risk for 
teenage parents and their children.

In 2015, the number of births to mothers aged less than 20 years of age in Rutland was 9, a 
proportion of 2.6%. This is similar to the England value of 3.4%.10

1.4.2 Older mothers 

Higher rates of antenatal depression and anxiety have been found amongst older mothers. This 
may add to the risks for the newborn child.11

In 2015, the number of births to mothers aged 40 years and over in Rutland was 17. This equates 
to 5.0% of all live births. This is similar to the England value of 4.3%.10 

1.4.3 Caesarean section

When maternal or infant problems arise, there may be a need for a child to be delivered by 

355



9

caesarean section. Following delivery, there may be further health problems associated with the 
procedure for the newborn infant.

In Rutland, in 2016/17, 90 deliveries were made by caesarean section. This equates to 28.8% of 
the total number of deliveries. This is similar to the England value of 27.1%.4

1.4.4 Postpartum psychosis

Any mental health problems that a mother has may impact on her ability to care for her infant. 

In 2015/16, 5 women in Rutland were estimated to have postpartum psychosis, 10 were estimated 
to suffer from a severe depressive illness in the perinatal period and between 35 and 50 women 
were estimated to suffer from a mild-moderate illness and anxiety in the perinatal period.10

1.5.5 Deliveries to mothers from Black and Minority (BME) groups

In Rutland in 2016/17, 6.7% of deliveries were to mothers from BME groups (21 deliveries). This is 
lower than the England proportion of 23.3%.4 The 2011 Census tells us the percentage of the 
population from BME groups in Rutland is 2.9% whereas nationally the percentage is 14.6%.  This 
infers that both locally and nationally mothers of a BME background may be having more children 
than those from a non-BME background.

1.5 School readiness
School readiness is a measure of how prepared a child is to succeed in school cognitively, socially 
and emotionally. ‘Good level of development’ is used to assess school readiness. It is measured at 
the end of the reception year and covers: communication and language; physical development; 
personal, social and emotional development; literacy; mathematics; understanding the world; and 
expressive arts, designing and making. School readiness starts at birth with the support of parents 
and other caregivers, as children start to acquire these skills. School readiness at age 5 (the end of 
reception year) has a strong impact on future educational attainment and life chances.12

A child’s performance in school is a key indicator of their early years’ development.  In 2016/17, 
75.7% of children in Rutland achieved a good level development (GLD) at the end of Early Years 
Foundation Stage (reception) compared to the England value of 70.7%.  Although attainment as 
measured by GLD remains above that seen nationally, however, there are inconsistencies in 
performance over time.  Meanwhile, seven children with free school meal status achieved a good 
level of development at the end of reception (63.6%). This is similar to the England value of 
56.0%.3

356



10

2. Level of need in Rutland

In 2016, Rutland’s population of 0-4 year olds was estimated to be a total of 1,835 (887 females 
and 948 males).  This is projected to stay the same by 2039.

Further information regarding Rutland’s population can be seen in the JSNA Population chapter 
here: 

2.1. Best start in life summary rank

The best start in life summary rank indicates Rutland’s position relative to other LAs based on 
readiness for school and provision of new birth visits.  Rutland ranked 91 in 2015/16 out of 152 
LAs which is better than average.13

2.2. Infant mortality

Several factors can influence a baby’s chance of survival at birth, in their first few weeks of life and 
beyond.

Infant mortality is an indicator of the general health of an entire population. It reflects the 
relationship between causes of infant mortality and upstream determinants of population health 
such as economic, social and environmental conditions.

Reducing the gap between the richest and poorest groups, and infant mortality overall are part of 
the Government's strategy for public health (Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our Strategy for Public 
Health November 2010)

Rutland had 5 deaths under 1 year of age in the period 2014-16 – a rate of 4.9 deaths per 1,000 
live births. This is similar to England’s rate of 3.9 deaths per 1,000 live births.

2.2.1. Low birth weight

One contributing factor to the risk of childhood mortality and a child’s developmental problems 
and their health in later life is low birth weight. Low birth weight is defined as a weight under 
2500g and a gestational age of at least 37 complete weeks at birth.

A high percentage of low birth weight babies may indicate lifestyle issues of the mothers and/or 
issues with maternity services which could also impact on the health of the newborn.

The proportion of low birth weight babies was 2.67% for Rutland in 2016 (8 babies). This is similar 
to the England value of 2.79%. 

357



11

2.2.2. Smoking in pregnancy 

Smoking in pregnancy has detrimental effects for the growth and development of the baby and 
health of the mother. The encouragement of pregnant women to stop smoking during pregnancy 
may also help them kick the habit for good, and thereby provide health benefits for the mother 
and reduce exposure to smoke by the infant.

Smoking during pregnancy can cause pregnancy-related health problems. These include 
complications during labour and an increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, stillbirth, low 
birth-weight and sudden unexpected death in infancy.

The Tobacco Control Plan contains a national ambition to reduce the rate of smoking throughout 
pregnancy to 6% or less by the end of 2022.

The smokers at the time of delivery indicator is only available as a combined figure for 
Leicestershire and Rutland, due to the small numbers involved in Rutland. The proportion of 
mothers known to be smokers at the time of delivery for Leicestershire and Rutland combined was 
8.6% in 2016/17. This is better than the England rate of 10.7%. This is line with the latest smoking 
prevalence figures in Rutland where 8.6% of the adult female population smoke. This is 
significantly better than the national female smoking prevalence of 13.0% in 2017.14

2.2.3. Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding has been shown to have positive effects on an infant’s health and development. Not 
only does breast milk provide excellent nutrition for babies, breastfeeding is associated with lower 
levels of gastro-intestinal and respiratory infection, and therefore lower chance of hospitalisation 
for such infections. Children that are breastfed are also less likely to become obese. 

Breastfeeding also has positive effects for the mother, as mothers that do not breastfeed have an 
increased risk of ovarian and breast cancers, and they may also experience more difficulty in 
achieving their pre-pregnancy weight.  

In 2016/17, 81.1% of mothers breastfed their babies within the first 48 hours of delivery, this is 
significantly better than the England value of 74.5%.  In 2014/15, 52.8% of infants due a 6-8 week 
check were being either totally or partially breastfed. This is significantly better than the England 
value of 43.8%. 

2.3. Immunisation

Vaccination is offered to infants in order to protect them from the diseases and associated 
complication, and also to minimise the spread of the diseases within the wider population. 
Vaccination coverage is measured against benchmarked targets.

358



12

2.3.1. MMR

Vaccination to protect against the infectious diseases measles. mumps and rubella can prevent 
children from not only contracting those diseases, but also complications associated with the 
diseases, such as meningitis, encephalitis and deafness.

The population vaccination coverage for children having received two doses of the MMR vaccine 
at 5 years old was 93.8% for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for 2016/17.  This is within the 
benchmarked target range of 90% to 95%.

2.3.2. Hepatitis B

Mothers infected with the hepatitis B virus (HBV) are at risk of passing on the HBV infection to 
their babies.  Hepatitis B can lead to cirrhosis of the liver and liver cancer, so vaccination of babies 
born to infected mothers is important. In 2016/17, no children aged 1 and 2 years old received the 
vaccine for hepatitis B in Rutland. This is likely to be due the low numbers of infants born to 
hepatitis B virus infected mothers that are at high risk of acquiring HBV infection themselves.

2.3.3. Dtap/IPV/Hib

This combined vaccine (Dtap/IPV/Hib) protects against diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, haemophilus 
influenza type B and polio.

In 2016/17, in Leicestershire and Rutland combined, 97.3% of children aged 1 year old and 98.2% 
of children aged 2 years old had received the combined vaccine of Dtap/IPV/Hib. These 
proportions are better than the benchmarked target of 90% to 95%. 

2.3.4. Men C

Protection against infection by meningococcal group C bacteria is provided by the Meningococcal 
C conjugate (Men C) vaccine. Infection by meningococcal group C bacteria can cause meningitis 
and septicaemia. Boosted immunisations in the infant’s second year provide immunity that lasts 
into adulthood.

The population vaccination coverage for children having received the completed course of the 
Men C vaccine by their first birthday was 98.1% for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for 
2015/16.  This is above the benchmarked target range of 90% to 95%.

For 2016/17, the population vaccination coverage for children having received the Haemophilus 
influenzae type b (Hib) and Men C booster vaccine by their second birthday was 96.1% for 
Leicestershire and Rutland combined.  This is above the benchmarked target range of 90% to 95%.

359



13

2.3.5. PCV

The PCV vaccination protects against pneumococcal infections that can cause pneumonia, 
septicaemia and meningitis. 

The population vaccination coverage for children having received the completed course of the PCV 
vaccine by their first birthday was 97.3% for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for 2016/17.  
This is above the benchmarked target range of 90% to 95%.

The population vaccination coverage for children having received a dose of the PCV booster 
vaccine by their second birthday was 96.2% for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for 2016/17.  
This is above the benchmarked target range of 90% to 95%.

2.3.6. Influenza

Vaccination against influenza can prevent illness and hospitalisation. Vaccination is offered to 
those at risk of developing serious complications if they catch the virus.

The population vaccination coverage for children aged 2-4 years old was 49.3% for Leicestershire 
and Rutland combined for 2016/17.  This is within the benchmarked target range of 40% to 65%.

2.1 Excess weight

Being overweight at ages 4 to 5 years old can lead to a person being overweight in later life. This 
can lead to ill-health and associated problems.

The proportion of overweight (including obese) children in reception was 24.0% for Rutland for 
2016/17 (82 children). This is statistically similar to the England value of 22.6%. 

2.2 Tooth decay

Oral health problems in children are largely preventable.  Oral health is an important aspect of a 
child’s overall health status and is seen as a marker of wider health and social care issues, 
including poor nutrition and obesity. A combination of healthy diet and practising good dental 
hygiene can help to ensure a child has healthy teeth and gums.

2.2.1 Three year olds

The average number of decayed, missing or filled teeth in three year olds in Rutland in 2012/13 
was 0.33. This is statistically similar to the England value of 0.36.

High levels of consumption of food and drinks containing sugar (particularly long term bottle use) 
can lead to incisor caries. The prevalence of incisor caries in three year olds in the same time 

360



14

period was 1.8. This is better than the England value of 3.9.

Meanwhile, the proportion of three year olds free from dental decay was 85.1% for Rutland in 
2012/13. This is statistically similar to the England proportion of 88.4%.

2.2.2 Five year olds

In England, 23.3% of five-year-old children had experience of obvious dental decay (caries), having 
one or more teeth that were decayed to dentinal level, extracted or filled because of caries 
(%d3mft>0) in 2016/17.  d3mft is the standard measure of dental decay and refers to teeth that 
are decayed, missing and/or teeth with fillings. In Rutland, the percentage of children with obvious 
dental decay is significantly better than the national average at 15.6%. From 2014/15 to 2016/17 
there has been a significant improvement in the percentage of children with obvious dental decay 
(%d3mft>0) in Rutland (28.8% to 15.6%).

In England, the average (mean) number of teeth per child affected by decay (decayed, missing or 
filled teeth (d3mft)) was 0.8. In Rutland, the average number of teeth per child affected by d3mft 
was 0.4, half the national average. From 2014/15 to 2016/17 there has been a significant 
improvement in the average number of decayed teeth per child in Rutland (0.7 to 0.4).

Among the children with decay experience, the average number of decayed, missing (due to 
decay) or filled teeth (mean d3mft (% d3mft>0)) in England is 3.4. At upper-tier local authority 
level there is clear variation of this measure with affected children in Rutland and Wiltshire having 
only 2.3 teeth affected on average, while those in Harrow had 4.8.

2.3 Hospital attendances

There are many reasons why an infant may attend hospital, some of which might be preventable if 
mothers and their infants followed more healthy lifestyles or accessed primary care services.

2.3.1 A & E attendances

Accident & Emergency attendance are often preventable for children aged 0 – 4 years. Reasons for 
attendance are largely due to accidental injury or to minor illnesses which could be treated in 
primary care.

In Rutland, the rate of attendances at any Accident & Emergency (including walk in centres) from 
infants aged 0 – 4 years who are resident in Rutland was 607.6 per 1,000 population in 2016/17. 
This is similar to the England rate of 601.8 per 1,000 population.

2.3.2 Emergency Admissions

361



15

A healthy start in life and access to care and support for parents should minimise the occurrence 
of the majority of childhood emergency admissions. For example, by encouraging breast feeding, 
good diet and hygiene, better support for parents in the management of illness in their homes and 
the provision of health advice through primary care services. 

There were 103 admissions from children aged under 1 year old as an emergency in 2015/16, a 
rate of 300.3 per 1,000 population. This is similar to the England rate of 357.7 per 1,000 
population. In the same time period, there were 147 admissions from children aged 1 - 4 years old 
as an emergency in 2015/16, a rate of 103.3 per 1,000 population. This is similar to the England 
rate of 106.5 per 1,000 population. As this is a count of admissions, a child will be counted more 
than once if they have more than one admission.   

2.3.3 Admissions of babies under 14 days

Admissions of babies under 14 days of age are often related to the quality of health assessments 
before discharge after birth or to postnatal care once home.  Other reasons for admission are 
related to problems with feeding, such as dehydration and jaundice.

In Rutland in 2016/17, 20 admissions to hospital from babies under 14 days. This equates to a rate 
of 64.1 per 1,000 deliveries and is similar to the England rate of 71.0 per 1,000 deliveries. In 
2015/16 the rate of admissions of babies under 14 days in Rutland was significantly worse than 
the national average, equating to 32 admissions to hospital in the age range specified. It is 
important to note the numbers of admissions are small and are likely to fluctuate year on year.

2.3.4 Unintentional and deliberate injuries

Injuries are a major cause of mortality for children. They can also be a precursor to long-term 
health issues, including mental health conditions as a result of the experience(s).

They were 19 hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 0 – 4 year olds 
in 2016/17. This equates to a rate of 103.5 per 10,000 population. This is a similar rate to the 
England value of 126.3 per 10,000 population.

2.3.5 Emergency admissions for falls

The rate of emergency admissions for falls for children aged 0 – 4 years was 391 per 100,000 
population for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for the period 2014/15 – 16/17. This is better 
than the England rate of 509 per 100,000 population. 

Meanwhile, the rate of emergency admissions for falls from furniture for children aged 0 – 4 years 
was 67.1 per 100,000 population for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for the period 2012/13 
– 16/17. This is better than the England rate of 138.2 per 100,000 population. 

362



16

2.3.6 Emergency admissions for accidental poisoning

The rate of emergency admissions for accidental poisoning for children aged 0 – 4 years was 72.7 
per 100,000 population for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for the period 2014/15 – 16/17. 
This is better than the England rate of 145.5 per 100,000 population. 

Meanwhile, the rate of emergency admissions for poisoning from medicines for children aged 0 – 
4 years was 52.5 per 100,000 population for Leicestershire and Rutland combined for the period 
2012/13 – 16/17. This is better than the England rate of 101.5 per 100,000 population.

Children aged 0 – 4 years suffering poisoning may indicate safeguarding issues.

2.3.7 Admissions for respiratory conditions

The risk of a child having a respiratory tract infection is increased due to damp housing conditions 
and smoking in the home.

There were 15 admissions for respiratory tract infections for infants under 1 year of age in 
2015/16, a rate of 437 per 10,000 population. This is statistically similar to the England rate of 582 
per 10,000 population.

2.3.8 Admissions for gastro-intestinal conditions

Diet, hygiene and support in management of infections can all minimise the risk of infants 
contracting gastroenteritis.

In 2015/16, there were 8 admissions for gastroenteritis for children aged 2, 3 and 4 years in 
Rutland. This was a rate of 74.1 per 10,000 and is statistically similar to the England rate of 53.7 
per 10,000. 

2.3.9 Elective admissions

Elective admissions in infants are often related to congenital conditions, or complications relating 
to pregnancy and delivery.  After a child’s first birthday, dental caries are a significant reason for 
elective admission.

For Rutland, 51.5 per 1,000 children aged under 5 years were admitted electively in 2015/16. This 
is statistically similar to the England rate of 54.0 per 1,000 population. Of these elective 
admissions, over a third (36%) had a primary diagnosis of cancer and almost a fifth (18%) were due 
to congenital malformations, deformations and chromosomal abnormalities. Over half (58%) of 
these admissions went to University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust and a quarter (25%) went to 

363



17

Peterborough and Stamford NHS Trust.

3. How does this impact?

A model developed in 2007, estimated that “the total cost of preterm birth to the public sector 
was £2.9 billion. The incremental cost per preterm child surviving to 18 years compared with a 
term survivor was £22,885. The corresponding estimates for a very and extremely preterm child 
were substantially higher at £61,781 and £94,740, respectively.15”

Increasing breastfeeding not only decreases the chance of the mother developing breast cancer, 
but it also decreases the chances of the infant developing gastrointestinal and respiratory tract 
infections.

“Treating the four acute diseases in children costs the UK at least £89 million annually. The 2009–
2010 value of lifetime costs of treating maternal BC is estimated at £959 million. Supporting 
mothers who are exclusively breast feeding at 1 week to continue breast feeding until 4 months 
can be expected to reduce the incidence of three childhood infectious diseases and save at least 
£11 million annually. “

“The same increase could result in NHS savings of around £21 million related to breast cancer over 
the course of a first-time mothers' lifetime.16”

4. Policy and Guidance

The central piece of legislation guiding Children’ Social Care is the 1989 Children Act. The key 
element of it for this chapter is its focus on a ‘Child in need’ and a ‘Child in need of protection’. 
Section 17 of the Act places a general duty on all local authorities to ‘safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children within their area who are in need.’ A ‘child in need’ is a child who needs 
additional support from the local authority to meet their potential. 

Section 47 of the Act requires the local authority to investigate the child’s circumstances where 
they have ‘reasonable cause to suspect that a child … is suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant 
harm,’ and to ‘take any action to safeguard or promote the child’s welfare’. Local authorities have 
a duty to provide a level and range of services to safeguard children and promote their welfare. 
Consequently, a local authority has to investigate any concerns or allegations that suggest a child 
is likely to suffer physical, emotional or sexual abuse, or neglect, and to take action to prevent this.

The way that agencies and organisations should work together to carry out their duties and 
responsibilities under the 1989 Children Act and other legislation is set out in a document called 
Working Together to Safeguard Children.17 It sets out the responsibilities of all agencies in the 

364



18

protection of children. The Early Help Strategy18 in Rutland draws on existing best practice locally 
and nationally, with a vision, shared by the partners of Rutland’s Children’s Trust, to improve 
outcomes for our children and young people.

The Children’s Centre services are governed by statutory guidance from the Department for 
Education. This means that recipients must have regard to it when carrying out duties relating to 
children’s centres under the Childcare Act 2006. Children’s Centres currently have a key role to 
play in early intervention, particularly given their established work in the early years when the 
support has the biggest impact on long-term outcomes. Centres are also well placed to provide a 
wider range of services as Family Hubs, for any parent (including fathers) to access services or 
information about all family-related matters. The multi-agency Children’s Centre Governance 
Group is exploring how the opportunities offered by the integrated Children Centre and Library 
can deliver the intentions of a Family Hub. 

An integrated 0-19 (years) Healthy Child Programme service is now being delivered in Rutland, 
provided by Leicestershire Partnership Trust’s ‘Healthy Together Service’. The 5-19 healthy child 
programme services transferred from the former Primary Care Trust to Local Authorities in April 
2013. More recently the 0-5 healthy child programme services transferred from NHS England to 
local authorities in October 2016. This enables coverage of the five mandated services described in 
legislation as universal health visitor reviews (antenatal, new birth, 6-8 weeks, 1 year and 2 to 2½ 
years). It also delivers the  health outcomes as they as  described in the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework where the data flows directly from health visiting activities, such as breast feeding at 
6-8 weeks and an assessment of child development at 2 to 2½ years using the ages and stages 
questionnaire.

The 0-19 Healthy Child Programme recognises that the first years of life are a critical opportunity 
for building healthy, resilient and capable young people and adults. It follows Marmot’s ‘Life 
Course Approach’ from the Marmot Review,19 and complies with the Chief Medical Officer view in 
the Annual Report (2012) ‘Our Children Deserve Better: Prevention Pays’20: events that occur in 
early life (indeed in foetal life) affect health and wellbeing later, so it makes sense to intervene 
early. Public Health England carried out a Rapid Review to update the evidence for the Healthy 
Child Programme21.

5. Current services

The 0-19 Healthy Child Programme is delivered by Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust’s ‘Healthy 
Together’ team in Rutland, it is an evidence based programme delivered by Public Health Nurses 
(Health Visitors & School Nurses). It follows a 4-5-6 model: 4 Levels of Services, 5 Mandated 
Contacts, 6 High Impact Areas22. Safeguarding is central to the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme. The 

365



19

high impact areas for 0-5 year olds can make a valid contribution to providing children in Rutland 
with the ‘Best Start in Life’. In addition Oral Health has been identified as a local high impact area 
for Rutland. There is also a focus on Children & Young People’s Mental Health and Military families 
in Rutland.

The Early Start Programme (ESP) provides intensive early intervention and support for vulnerable 
first time parents with an infant 0-2 years living in Rutland. It is delivered by Public Health nurses 
(Health Visitors) to up to 10 families at a time in Rutland. 

There is information on ‘The Best Start in Life’ issues on the 3 Healthy Together websites including: 

Health for under 5’s: https://healthforunder5s.co.uk/

Health For Kids: https://www.healthforkids.co.uk/

Health for Teens: https://www.healthforteens.co.uk/

5.2 Children’s Social Care services

Children’s Social Care will assess a child and their family’s circumstances before the child can 

receive a service. The complexity of a child and family’s situation determines the type and 

timescale of the assessment. Further assessments are repeated periodically to assess effectiveness 

of services and interventions and to respond to unmet or changes in need.

100% of all children under 5 years in Rutland are registered with the Children Centre. 
The Children’s Centre also offers targeted early help to families in their homes and on the two 
MOD sites; this is delivered by family support practitioners. The Centre supports families to access 
their 2 year old childcare funding, which supports parents back to work and enables children’s 
early education and preparedness for school.

The integration of the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and Inclusion service with 
Early Intervention results in the identification of children’s needs at the very earliest stages.

366

https://healthforunder5s.co.uk/
https://www.healthforkids.co.uk/
https://www.healthforteens.co.uk/


20

6. Unmet needs/Gaps

Regular early health screening checks are in place but the area would benefit from the findings 
being formally shared routinely across the partnership to help join up responses to families. 
Although services are quick and responsive the impact of therapeutic services provided to children 
following referral is not always demonstrated as they are not yet routinely evaluated, this means 
we cannot be fully confident that some early support is effective in preventing the escalation of 
needs which is being addressed. 

7. Recommendations

These recommendations reflect those in the Rutland’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy where 
applicable. 23

 To provide support to aim for all children in Rutland to have a happy and healthy 
childhood, targeting resources in proportion to need and to those who are most 
vulnerable.

o Providing early help through the Children’s Centre and the 0-19 Healthy Child 
Programme

 Target resources in proportion to need to address the needs of any children living in 
poverty.

 Increase numbers of children being active, and encourage them to be active for longer.

 Outcomes should be measured in line with national outcome frameworks and 
commissioning reporting requirements. However other reporting requirements and 
measures need to be locally determined including outcomes regarding oral health and 
improving the health & wellbeing of children and young people from military families. 

 Additional outcome measures (including the Local High Impact Areas) should not add 
burden to data collection, should be collected within current systems and align to national 
reporting requirements. 

 Engagement with the whole family is an important component of the Healthy Child 
Programme and should apply across the whole system.

o Support and encourage healthy behaviour in pregnancy and beyond including 
maternal smoking, alcohol use, healthy eating and physical activity.

o Scale up support to families through parenting programmes and ensure that they 
are delivered to high quality standards.

367



21

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

BME 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CLA                     

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LSOA Lower Super Output Area

NHS National Health Service

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

PHE Public Health England

CLA – Children who are looked after

368



22

REFERENCES

1 Public Health England. Longer Lives Dashboard. (2018). At https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/ 
2 Public Health England. Improving school readiness: creating a better start for London (2015). At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-school-readiness-creating-a-better-start-for-london 
3 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework  
4 Public Health England. Overview of Child Health. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-

health/profile/child-health-overview 
5 Children in Need (CiN) Census 2016/16 (CIN and CP figures) At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-children-in-need-2016-to-2017 
6  Children Looked After 2016/17 At https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-

including-adoption-2016-to-2017 
7 Public Health England. Children & Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing. (2018).

 At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cypmh 
8 Rutland County Council. Children Looked After and Care Leaver Strategy 2018-2022. At 

https://rutlandcounty.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10991/14-

2018%20Appendix%20B%20CLA%20and%20CL%20Strategy%202018-2023%20UPDATED.pdf 
9 Statistics: children's social work workforce. At https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-childrens-

social-care-workforce 
10 Public Health England. Perinatal Mental Health Profiles. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-

group/mental-health/profile/perinatal-mental-health 
11 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4879174/
12 Public Health England. Improving school readiness: creating a better start for London (2015). At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-school-readiness-creating-a-better-start-for-london 
13 Public Health England. Longer Lives Dashboard. (2018). At https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/ 
14 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework. (2018). At https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-

health-outcomes-framework 
15 https://www.herc.ox.ac.uk/research/disease-cost-studies-2/studies-28/estimating-the-long-term-economic-costs-

of-preterm-birth-2
16 http://adc.bmj.com/content/early/2014/11/12/archdischild-2014-306701.short?g=w_adc_ahead_tab 
17 HM Government. Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018). At 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729914/Workin

g_Together_to_Safeguard_Children-2018.pdf
18 Rutland County Council. Early Help Strategy (2015). At: https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-

family/early-help/early-help-strategy/ 
19 Marmot. Fair Society – Healthy Lives (2010). At: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-

society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review

369

https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-school-readiness-creating-a-better-start-for-london
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/characteristics-of-children-in-need-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cypmh
https://rutlandcounty.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10991/14-2018%20Appendix%20B%20CLA%20and%20CL%20Strategy%202018-2023%20UPDATED.pdf
https://rutlandcounty.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10991/14-2018%20Appendix%20B%20CLA%20and%20CL%20Strategy%202018-2023%20UPDATED.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-childrens-social-care-workforce
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-childrens-social-care-workforce
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/perinatal-mental-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/perinatal-mental-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-school-readiness-creating-a-better-start-for-london
https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://www.herc.ox.ac.uk/research/disease-cost-studies-2/studies-28/estimating-the-long-term-economic-costs-of-preterm-birth-2
https://www.herc.ox.ac.uk/research/disease-cost-studies-2/studies-28/estimating-the-long-term-economic-costs-of-preterm-birth-2
http://adc.bmj.com/content/early/2014/11/12/archdischild-2014-306701.short?g=w_adc_ahead_tab
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729914/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/729914/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children-2018.pdf
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/early-help/early-help-strategy/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/early-help/early-help-strategy/
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review


23

20Department of Health & Social Care. CMOs Annual Report Our Children deserve better: Prevention pays (2012). At: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-

better-prevention-pays
21 Public Health England. Rapid Review to update the evidence for the Healthy Child Programme. (2015) At 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-rapid-review-to-update-evidence
22 Public Health England. Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young people and 

families. (2018). At: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716028/best_st

art_in_life_and_beyond_commissioning_guidance_2.pdf 
23 Rutland County Council. Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016). At: https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-

and-family/health-and-nhs/health-and-well-being-strategy/ 

370

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-better-prevention-pays
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-better-prevention-pays
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-rapid-review-to-update-evidence
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716028/best_start_in_life_and_beyond_commissioning_guidance_2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716028/best_start_in_life_and_beyond_commissioning_guidance_2.pdf
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/health-and-well-being-strategy/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-services/health-and-family/health-and-nhs/health-and-well-being-strategy/

	Agenda
	5 RUTLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING ANNUAL REPORT
	Appendix A - Rutland JHWS Annual Report 2017

	6 FUTURE IN MIND - CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH TRANSFORMATION PLAN
	3) LTP Presentation Rutland (002)

	7 BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE
	Appendix 1 Rutland BCF 2018-19 Budget v2
	Appendix 2 - 2018 08 BCF Performance Dashboard - Q1

	8 ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARDS
	LR SAB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 Appendix A
	LRLSCB Annual Report 2017-18 v0.5 - Appendix B

	9 DRAFT JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ANALYSIS
	Appendix A - Achieveing Educational Potential
	Appendix B - Ageing Well
	Appendix C - CYP - Staying Safe & Healthy 2018
	Appendix D - Mental Health of Adults
	Appendix E - Physical Health of Adults
	Appendix F - Rutland's Population
	Appendix G - The Best Start In Life


